MILLENNIUM & COPTHORNE
HOTELS plc

KEY TO gl
GATEWAY * |
CITIES

Annual Report & Accounts 2018

]

TUESDAY

g -

4\ LENG'S COLLECTION 1 .|| MILLENNIUM COLLECTION ’ M M COLLECTION (C coprHORNE coLLecTION




Cover: The Orchard Cafe, a prime establishment at Orchard

Hotel Singapore. With a legacy rooted in heritage- inspired

cuisine, the cafe has become a favourite dining destination for
many. As part of the Group's enhancement initiatives, The
Orchard Cafe has been transformed inre ahodcrn dining
paradise. :
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MILLENNIUNM COPTHORNE

We hold the kev Lo the
best hospitality

experience globally.

A Millenninm & Coprhorne Flowchs, we beliove thae experienay is ke, Bulding
on our collective CNpRrTse anid exporicnce across 134 botels in 79 locations
aromd the world, swe have comue a long way sinde our inceptian w create
2 antique brand of hospitalin: that pueses have grown o love and enjoy. Tor
s, the kev o the beat expericnces stares with having the right experioncy

to deliver the best,
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MILLENNIUM
BROADWAY,
NEW YORK
TIMES SQUARE

Ser against a spectacular New York City

backdrop, Millennium Broadway offers
breathtaking views of the Chrysler Building,
Empire State Building and glirtering light show
that defines Times Square. With spacious and
tasteful rooms filled with thoughtful amenities,
guests can look forward 1o experiencing the
vibrant city life in more ways than one.
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GRAND HOTEL PALACL, ‘Fhe Grand Hotel Palace is definitive of [aly's finest in every way.
ET'TI\W RROMIE Designed by Marcello Piacentini in the 1920 and subsequently
A refurbished by Ttalian archicecr Iealo Rora, this splendid boutique hoted s

an architectural masterpicee that is truly the cssenee of Dolee Vit - the

sweer life




FROM ICONIC
DESTINATIONS FOR
EVERY TRAVELLER

GRAXND MILLENNIUM BEIJING, Grand Millennium Beijing features a blend of heritage luxury and
CHINA contemporary living, where the opulence of Chuinas rich history is
4 FS. IFY

complemented by the pracrical ease of modern comforts. The hotel's
prime location in the business district of China’s capital connects guests
to worlds of fashion, culture, entertainment and are, making 1t the ideal

destination for any traveller.




With breathtaking views over the

Eln % Chelsea Harbour Marina and River

Thames, The Chelsea Harbour Hotel

TIIE CIIELSEA is the perfect place for a perfect
IIARBOUR HOTEL, sty Guests can discover the best of
LONDON both worlds, from the tranquility

of riverside living to enjoying the
high life ar some of London’s most
exciting attractions a stone’s throw

away.

TO INDULGING
IN THE
GOOD LIFE




FROM SIPPING
YOUR FAVOURITL

COCKTAIL
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HARD DAYS NIGHT
HOTEL, LIVE l{l’()()l

As one of the world’s only Bcatles-inspired hotels,
the magnificent Hard Days Night Hotel offers
guests a truly unique expetience in the heart
of a lively city. Situated in Liverpool’s ‘Beatles
Quarter’, the hotel’s luxurious accommodations
are elegantly furnished with the Fab Four's
artwork, specially commissioned by renowned
artist, Shannon. Beyond the legacy, the hotel’s
central location connects guests to a variety of
leisure and dining hotspots poised to delight
guests from all walks of life.




TO RECHARGING
YOUR BODY
AFTER A
HARD DAY’S NIGHT

THE BILTMORI,
MAYFAIR, LONDON

T he Bilanore s an lconm PropR with arich Tegacy 1 l\nll«hng At st
desianed by o hiteer Richard Scitercin the 19605 Sinee dhens the horel
undergone renovations o reteed e Tooks Despite dhanges inappearance,
one thing remains the same the toudh of lisury dae permcates cveny
aspect of the hoteh, Trom furnishings and amenivies o service and

experivnee. puests can abwas expedt nothing bu the bese
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Key to your home
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OUR HOTEL
COLLECTIONS

Bl miLLeNNIUM coLLECTION

Gur Millennium and Grand Millennium hotels offer timeless clegance
and personalised, gracious service to the seascned global traveller. They
are brilliant for corporate guests and groups as they are seen as a great
place 1o meet and network in the world's most fascinating cities.

GRANDMILLENNIUMAUCKLANTD , NEWZEALAND

MEOCIAL, SINGAPORE

M ™ cotLecTion

The M Collection showcases stylish and vibrant design with strong
local influence, offering guests a new, urban, and stimulating lodging
experience. These conveniently located hatels are colourful, lively, and
technelogically equipped with the aim of helping guests tap into their
own creative and adventurous spirits.

‘ @ LENG'S COLLECTION

Kwek family. Unique, authentic and elegant, these iconic hotels offer
guests a most distincrive hospitabity experience and provide the sense of
being part of a dub. They ate beautifully situated, characterful properties
| in some of the world's most desirable destinations.

l Leng’s Collection is a legacy of our founders, the Leng generation of the

HARDDAYSNIGHTHOTEL,LIVERPOOL

(C copTHORNE cOLLECTION

Our collection of Grand Copthorne, Copthome and Kingsgate properties
comprises comfortzble and competitively priced hotels, where friends and
families are welcomed with 2 warm smile and helpful service. As with all
of our properties, Copthorne hotels are in locations that put our guests
clese to the heart of their chosen destinations.

Millennium & Copthorne
Hotels ple
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CHAIRMAN’S
STATEMENT

KWEK LENG BENG
Chairman

““ — : .

2019 will be another challenging year for the Group, with significant capital projects underway and several large hotels earmarked for major
renovations. These investments will he carefully managed and phased to deliver the right returns to shareholders and underline the Group's
intention to maintain strict control of costs throughout the business.

j— - — ’, — -

"I he hospirality industry faced a range of geo-pelitical and global economic

headwinds in 2018, many of which look set to continue in the current year,
including US/China trade rclauons, Brexit and increasing mimimum wage levels
tn many jurisdictions.

The Board’s priority is to evaluate and develop new and innovative strategic
plans to meer the challenges facing our fast-changing operaung environment.
The shortage of talent—from rank znd file to senior management—is
intensifying with many ncw hotels being built around the world, not 1o mention
the growth of Airbnb and serviced apariments. Any hospirality business that
wants 10 progress will need to evolve and embrace these changes to stay relevant
and profitable in the immediate and medium term Restoring profitability in our
New York hotels also remains at the top of the Board's objectives

Meanwhile, we continue to invest in and reposition our hotels. We look forward
10 our Mayfair hote! being rebranded and opened as The Biltmore, Mayfair in
the second quarter of this year Thus is the first opening under Hilton’s new LXR.
Hotels & Resorts collection in Europe. This also will mark the Group’s debut

1n the London five-star deluxe marker and it 1s our aim to fast track our lost
carnings growth at this hotel after it re-opens.

During 2018, the Group continued to make progress in its hotel refurbishment
programme including the Mayfair hotel in London, the Orchard Hotel 1n
Singapore and smaller scale refurbishment work in other praperties to improve
its product offerings and maintain competitiveness.

The refurbishment work of the Mayfair hotel in London started during

the foutth quarter of 2017 on a phased basis with parrizl closures of guest
rooms. The property was then fully closed in July 2018 to facilitate an-going
refurbishment work to re-pasition it as the Group’s kuxury flagship hotel when it
re-opens in Q2 this year. Total cost is estimated to be around £50m

The Mayfair hotel has been one of the Group's biggest revenue and profic
contributors. The closure of the hotel resulted 1n an estimared £20m reduction
in revenue and £12m reducrion in operating profit during the financial ycar
ended 31 December 2018 with the Group centinuing to incur certatn fixed costs
such as payroll and property related expenditure at the hotel.

In Singapore, refurbishment work on the Qrchard Hotel commenced 1n Q4
2018 and is expecred to complete by Q2 this year. This upgrading of the
property is esumated to cost around $$20m (£11m) The hotel will remain

Miliennium & Curplhorne
Hatels plc



operauonal during the refurbishment peniod with phased room closures that are
not expected to have a matenal revenue impact.

Concerns abour Brexit have affected the Group’s UK hotels especially in
Londen, where the hotels started 1o face difficulties in recruitung EU workers
which currently comprise more than half of the Londen workforce The
minimum wage increase that came 1nto force in 2018 has further added
pressures to the Group's increasing labour costs

The Group's New York horels generated £159m during 2018 which is about

18% of roral hote! revenue. However, the region remained loss-making due to irs
inflexible operating cost structure atising mainly from the employment of trade
union staff

By comparison, the Group's hotels in New Zezland generated £85m of revenue
with an operaung profit of £36m This region continued 1o benefit from the
high visitor numbers to the country, as well as the re-opening of M Social
Auckland in the last quarter of 2017 and the acquisition of Millennmium New
Plymouth 1n February 2018,

The European and Asian regions cantributed £177m and £307m of hotel
revenue respectively in 2018 or 55% of the Group's hotel revenue The
combined operating profit from cthese twa regions in 2018 was £99m or 77% of
the Group's total hotel operating profit

Reported total revenue for the year decreased by £11m or 1.1% ro £997m
(2017: £1,008m). Reported hotel revenue fell by £13m or 1 5% 1o £867m
(2017, £880m)

REIT revenue fel! by £1m or 1.5% to £65m (2017: £66m) Property revenue of
£65m was higher by £3m or 4 8% (2017: £62m)

MANAGEMENT CHANGES

The deparrure of three Directors — Jennifer Fox, Sue Farr and Gervase
MacGregor — in the latter half of the year created an opportunity to re-
examine the composition of the Group's Board and 1ts commirtzee. On the
recommendation of the Nominations Commuttee, His Excellency Shaukat

Aziz was appointed Chair of the Remuneration Commuttee in November 2018,
having served as a member of the Commuttee since 16 June 2009, and Christian
de Charnacé was appointed as a member of the Audit & Rusk, Remuneration
and Nominatoens Commutzees, respectively during 2018

As previously reported, the Board is conducting a search for 2 permanent Group
Chief Executive Officer and new independent Non-Executive Directors With
regatds to the search for a permanent Group Chief Execurive Officer, we remain
apen to either hiring an external candidate or promating talent from within

the Group. Following the departure of Ms Fox, Kian Seng Tan was apparnted
nterim Group Chief Execurive Officer on 28 September 2018.

BIVIDENDS

The Board recommends z final ordinary dividend of 2.15p per share (2017:

4 42p) taking into account the Group's current cash position and future capiral
expenditure requirements, Together wich che intertm erdinary dividend of

2 08p per share (2017 2 08p), the total ordinary dividend for 2018 is 4 23p per
share (2017: 6 50p)

Subjecr te approval by shareholders at the Annual General Meeung to be held
on 10 May 2019, the final dividend will be paid on 17 May 2019 to sharcholders
on the register on 15 March 2019.

Revenue

O7TM

1]
2014

2015

2016

-Annual Re;;;t

RevPAR*

L81.57 77

2017: £80.97

* 2017 figure shaiwn in constant currency

PBT

£106M ™

2T LT M

& Accounts 2018



BUSINESS REVIEW
AND STRATEGY

BUSINESS MODEL The Group has a flexible and robust business model char generates profic predominately through its portfolio of
owned and managed hospitality assets. These assets are diversified by brand, market, geography and customer
offeting according to what we judge to be the most appropriate means of aptimising their carnings. We aim to
hold our assets for the long term, especially those in key gateway cities.

We employ complementary business models in certain circumstances. For example, we may engage third parry
operators on a selective basis 10 manage our brand asscts that we own. We also may operate through a licensing
model, through joint ventures or through arrangements where we manage hotcls on behalf of other third party
owners.

We regard the flexibility of our business modcls as an essential strength in a varied and rapidly changing global
hospitality market.

STRANIEGY Our strategy is to maximise returns on sharcholders’ capital through the ownership and operation of hospiraliry
assets in key gateway cities and other prime locations across the world that naturally artract large numbers of
business and leisure travellers. Underpinning this strategy are the twin aims of operational excellence and prudent
assct management. We seek to increase returns through quality service and efficient operations—by developing
our people, processes and technology—as well as through investment in the marerial fabric of our horel estate. We
also look to grow the business through asset acquisition in strategic locations.

Millennium & Copthorne
Hotels plc
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HOTEL OPERATIONS

In constant currency, hotel revenue increased by £5m or 0.6%. Reported
hotel revenue in 2018 fell by £13m with the impact from a stronger pound
sterling against the Group's main trading currencies. The increase of £5m
in hatel revenue in 2018 was due principally to higher contributions from
Millennium Hilton New York ONE UN Plaza and M Social Auckland in
New Zealand; offset partially by the loss of revenues from the closure of the
Mayfair hotel in London

Group RevPAR increased by 0.7% in constant currency. Hotel gross
operating margin was lower at 30.5% (2017: 32.2%)

DEVELOPMENLS

The Sunnyvale California project comprises the construction of a 263~
room hotel and a 250-unit residential apartment block on 35,717m?

mixed use frechold landsite. The ground-breaking ceremony was held on

[6 October 2018 and the project is scheduled to complete in Q1 2021 The
construction cost is estimated at US$180m (£142m). The hotel will be built
first and the plan 1s to brand it as M Social to fit with the expected guest
profile The Group hopes to capitalise from the location of this project as
Sunnyvale is the headquarters of many rechnology companies and is part of
California’s high-tech area of Silican Valley,

In South Korea, the Group plans to construct a 300-room hotel and a
250-unit serviced apartment complex on Yangdong development land,
situated adjacent to Millennium Seoul Hilton. It will take about three years
1o complete from the expected commencement date in the middle of 2020
Architecture and engineering designs are being amended with the exact
construction cost dependent on the final agreed design but anticipated to be
in the region of KRW130b (£91m),

HEYLEL REFURBISHMEN'TS

As noted above, on-going refurbishment work at the Mayfair hotel in
Londen, which started in November 2017, 1s on track to complete in Q2
2019. The hotel will be re-opened as a 5-star deluxe property as LXR.
Hotels & Resorts’ first UK property, following an agreement between
Hilton and the Group.

The hotel is situated 1n a prime Mayfair location on Grosvenor Square and
will be renamed “The Biltmore, Mayfair - LXR Hotels & Resorts™. The
hotel is designed by Goddard Littlefair and will have 257 luxurious guest
rooms plus 5I designer suites. The hotel will have a large 500m? ballroom
with capacity of up to 700 guests, and several other smaller function roems.
Current work also includes the provision of new restaurants, an all year
round alftesco terrace, a cocktail bur and a large gymtech fitness suite

Refurbishment work is also progressing well in the Orchard Hotel in
Singapore. The first phase including refurbishment of the lobby and food
& beverage outlets was completed at the end of last year. Refurbishment

is being undertaken on a phased basis, Work has recently started on guest
rooms, the ballroom and meeting spaces and 15 expected to complete in the
middle of this year.

ACQUISTUIONS

On 1 February 2018, the Group acquired The Warerfront Hotel 1n New
Plymouth, New Zealand, for a purchase consideration of NZ§11m (£6m).
The iconic 42-room hotel was rebranded a Millennium hotel 1n Q2 of
2018.

Annual Reporl

On 27 November 2018, CDL Hospitality Trusts (“CDLHT”) acquired
95.0% of the shares and voting interest in Event Hospitality Group IIL BV,
which whally owns Event Hospirtality Group 111 aly SRL, sole shareholder
of NKS Haospitality I for a purchase consideration of €33m (£29m).

NKS Hospitality 11 SRL is the legal owner of “Hotel Cerrerani Florence,
MGallery by Sofitel” and the fixtures, furniture and equipment therein

DISPOSALS

On 11 January 2018, CDLHT completed the divestment of two hotels in
Australia, the Mercure Brisbane and Ibis Brisbane for A$77m (£45m) 10 an
independent third party.

As previously reported, in December 2013 the Group entered into various
commercial arrangements with Birmingham City Council and the
developer of Birmingham’s Paradise Circus redevelopment scheme, now
known as Paradise Birmingham, as a result of a compulsory purchase
order by Birmingham City Council that covered the Copthorne Hotel
Birmingham and other praperties 1n us vicinity. Those arrangements
include options that provide for the sale of the exisung hotel to the
developer as well as the Group's acquisition of an alternate site in the
scheme for the development of 2 new 250-room hotel. In December 2018,
the Group exercised its option to acquire that alternative site and centinues
to cngage with the developer regarding the project.

With regard to the compulsory purchase order impacting the Millennium
Hotel Glasgow, pursuant to which Network Rail Infrastructure Limited
(“Network Rail”) acquired and demolished the 1970s-built, 51-room
extension of the hotel as part of the redevelopment of QQueen Street
Starion, negotiations are ongeing with Network Rail regarding the level of
compensation payable 1o the Group in connection with the taking. If the
partics arc unable to agree a value, the matter will be sertled at the Lands
Tribunal. Meanwhile, the Group continues to consider its options with
respect to the refurbishment and repositioning of the existing hotel.

OTHER GROUP OPERATIONS

Joint ventures and associates contributed £29m to profit in 2018 (2017:
£221). The Group has an effective interest of 36% in First Sponsor Group
Limited (“FSGL"), which is listed on the S1ngapore Exchange and reports
its results publicly.

In April 2018, the Group subscribed for its full entitlement of FSGL rights
issue of new Perpctual Convertible Capital Securities (“PCCS”) for a roral
cost of $358m (£32m) and the PCCS were allotted on 19 April 2018.

On 14 February 2019, the Group provided an irrevocable undertaking to
take up its full entitlement of FSGL's proposed rights issuc of new PCCS
for a total cost of $$53m (£30m). As part of the capital funding proposal,

1 new free warranr will be issued for every 1 new PCCS subscribed for, in
addition, 1 new bonus warrant will be issued for every 10 existing ordinary
shares held in FSGL Also, as part of the proposal additional funds would
be required within the nexr five years should the Group choose to exercise
its rights in respect of the new warrants and this will amount 1o $$90m
(£52m) 1f all warrants are exercised.

On 24 January 2019, FSGL acquired a bare sheil 65-room hotel located in
Milan, Italy for a total consideration of approximately €11m {£10m).

& Accounts 2018



KEY PERFORMANCE
INDICATORS

We use a set of carefully selected key performance
indicators (“KPIs”) to monitor our success in executing our strategy set oul
on page 20. These KPlIs are used to measure the Group’s progress
year-on-year against those strategic priorities, and are set out below:

GROMW'TH FINANCIAL LEVERAGE COSTF CONTROL
\
To achieve profitable growth and To ensure a sound financial base in! To ensure costs remain in line with
improved asset returns for our | order to provide a solid platform for| revenue  movements through a
hospitality business. These are shown | the development and growth of the | decentralised model, rtechnological
at constant rates of exchange. | Group. enhancements to drive efficiencies
( and rigorous monitoring of spending,

Revenue per " Occupancy Gearing ' Nel Debt ' Profil belore Tax
Availablc Room* ‘
SV P — 727
£ % % B ! £M 0 o0
""""""" E) a"-‘"'" ®/z- aﬁ"""" e
- P _
' T " W I B
............ —anas | sasmammmmann e -
[ W7 201N LT T [ 200720187 | [ 017 018
Average mom mte multspbed by Percentage of rooms avalable forsde | Net debn over otad ogairy T ol bortowings kas total cash Rafer
oCCupancy percentage. thar were actually sold m our guest. anribubk m equity holders of 1o Nots 21 for further detads
the parent.
Average Holel
Revenue
M T

R . The Group believes that the KPIs provide useful and necessary
; - information on underlying trends to shareholders and the
investment community and are used by the Group for internal
performance analysis. Given the decentralised model of the

(i 07 2008

fometon il | o, ol Group, regional management focuses on operational KPIs.
Komma " These include customer feedback, hotel gross operating profit

Basic Earnings
per Share
p

and staff retention. General Managers report their operating
KPIs to Regional Managers on a regular basis with comparison
numbers for the local competitive set of each hotel. The hotel
performance numbers are then consolidated into regional and
Group-wide figures. :

0 W7 28
Profit for the year annbumblke 10
oguiry holders of the parent divided
by the weightod wverage number of
sharcs i we.

“2017 figures shown tn constang currency Millennium & Copthorne
Hotels plc
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FINANCIAL
PERFORMANCE

FINANCIAL PERFORMANCE - FLLL YEAR OVERVIEW

REVENUN
2018 2017
B ) - LNE LM
Horel 867 BBO
Property 65 62
REIT 65 66
Total Revenue 997 1,008

REPORTED CURRENCY

CONSITANL CURRENCY

CHANGE CHANGI
- 2017 ) -
£\ 7 1Al At o
(13) (1.5) 862 5 0.6
3 4.8 59 6 10.2
RO N t5 ) 6 M _ 5
(i1) Ly 987 10 1.0

For the full year to 31 December 2018, hotel revenue in constant
currency increased by 0.6% as compared to 2017. The Group recorded
full year contributions from Millennium Hilton New York ONE UN
Plaza (rebranded in August 2017) and M Social Auckland (re-opened n
October 2017) 1n 2018. These higher hotel revenues were offset by lower
revenue at the Mayfair hotel which was closed for refurbishment in July
2018. The slight increase in hotel revenue is consistent with the increase
of 2.4% in like-for-like Group RevPAR.

Property revenues were also higher in 2018 as compared to 2017. Total
property revenue increased by £6m or 10.2% to £65m (2017: £59m)
due principally to higher sales of residennial sections in New Zealand of
£3m and the sale of two units of apartments in Australia of £2m,

Reporred toral revenue fell by 1.1% for the full year to 31 December
2018 reflecring a stronger pound sterling against the Group’s main
trading currencies.

Profit
Reported profit before rax for the full year to 31 December 2018 fell by
£41m or 27.9% 1o £106m (2017: £147m}.

During the year, a total of £36m (2017: £29m) of net revaluation

and impairment losses were charged to the income statement. The
impairment losses are a result of the Group’s impairment testing whereby
the carrying amount of the Group’s assets is compared against the
estimated recoverable amount, which is the greater of the fair value less
costs to sell and value in use. In assessing the value 1n use, the estimated
future cash flows are discounted to their present value using a discount
rate that reflects current market asscssments of the time value of money
and the nsks specific to cach asset.

Annual Report

Pre-tax prefit for 2018 also includes a gain of £3m from CDLHT's
disposal of two Australian hotels. For the same period during 2017,
pre-tax profit included a net credit from the reversal of loan impairment
of £12m.

After removing the effects of net revaluation and impairment losses, the
Group's reported profit before tax is £142m (2017: £176m).

Last year’s profit was also impacted by the release of £3m accruals no
longer required in relation to the Glyndebourne project which was
completed in 2013.

Finance cost was higher by £8m in 2018.

‘Taxation

The Group recorded a tax charge of £13m for the year ended 31
December 2018, Last year, a total tax provision of £17m in relation to
expaosures in Singapore which were not required, were released and this
gave rise to a tax credit of £12m.

Earnings per Share (“"EPS™)
Basic EPS decreased by 66% tw 13.1p {2017: 38.1p).

& Accounts 2018
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FINANCIAL
PERFORMANCE
CONTINUED

FOREIGN EXCHANGE TRANSLATION

The Company publishes its Group financial statements in pound sterling. However, the majority of the Company’s subsidiaries, joint ventures and
assaciates report their revenue, costs, assets and liabilities in currencies other than pound sterling. The Company translates the revenue, costs, assets
and liabilities of those subsidiaries, joint ventures and associates into pound sterling and this translation of other currencies into pound sterling could
materially affect the amount of these items in the Group’s financial statements, even if their values have not changed in their original currencies.

The table set out in Note 22c to the financial statements sets out the pound sterling exchange rates of the ather principal currencies in the Group.
Pound sterling strengthened compared to other major currencies during the financial year, the impact of which is reflected in the translation reserve

on page 108.

FINANCIAL POSTTHION AND RESOULRCES

26018 2007 CHANGE
o o o B _ ____i'.,\l (R o L\l_
Property, plant and equipment and lease premium prepayment 3,256 3.232 24
Investment properties 668 577 Pl
I[nvestment in joint ventures and associates 358 324 34
Other financial assets ) o o ) B o 43 - 43
Non-current assets 4,325 4,133 192
Current assets excluding cash 224 228 (4)
Provisions and other liabilities excluding borrowings (287) (274) {13)
Ner debt (727) (650) 77
I?c&rrgfl tax fiaf)ﬁ:ics o ] N o (17'2_) ____(I 88) !ﬁ_
Net assets 3,363 3,249 114
Equity atcributable to equity holders of the parent 2,770 2,676 94
Non-controlling interests ) o 59 513 20
Total equity 3,363 3,249 114

Millennium & Copthorne
Hatels plc



NON-CURRENT ASSETS

‘The Group states property; plant and cquipmen at cost, less depreciation
or provision for impairment. Investment properties are held at fair value.
External professional open market valuations took place at the end of
2018 for all investment properties and those property assets identified as
having impairment risks.

Non-current assets increased slightly by 4.6% compared to 2017,
principally due to the impact of exchange translation on property, plant
and equipment.

FINANCLAL POSITION

Group interest cover ratio for the year ended 31 December 2018
(excluding share of results of joint ventures and associates, and other
operating income and expense} is 5 times (2017: 8 times).

At 31 December 2018, the Group had £375m cash and £539m of
undrawn and committed facilities available comprising revolving credit
facilities which provide the Group with financial flexibiliry. Most of the
facilities are unsecured with unencumbered assets representing 88%
{2017: 88%) of fixed assets and investment properties. At 31 December
2018, gross horrowing amounted to £1,102m of which £198m was
drawn under £219m of secured bank facilities.

At 31 December 2018, the Group had net debt of £727m (Dec 2017:
net debe £650m). Excluding CDLHT, the net debt was £226m (Dec
2017: net debt £186m).

25

FUTURE FUNDING

Of the Group's total facilities of £1,815m, £705m matures within 12
months. Excluding CDLHT, the Group’s total facilities were £994m of
which £170m matures within the next 12 months. Plans for refinancing
of the facilities are underway.

TREASURY RISK MANAGEMENT

Group treasury matters are governed by policies and procedures approved
by the Board of Directors. The Treasury Commuittee monitors and
reviews treasury matters on a regular basis. A written summary of major
treasury activities are presented to the Board on a regular basis,

Annual Report
& Accounls 2018
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OUR
GLOBAL REACH

GROUP INVENTORY AS AT 31 DECEMBER 2018

Horels Room count
2018 2017 Change 2018 2017 Change
» Owned or leased o6 [ - 19,437 19672 (235)
& Managed 14 15 (0 3,537 4,098 (561) 40.323
® Franchised 44 38 6 13,062 10982 2080 [l
“» Tpvestment 15 17 (2} 4,287 4,650 (363

Toed 139 136 3 40,323 39,402 921
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REGIONAL INVENTORY AS AT M DECEMBER 2018

A\Sia Hotls Room wowit
2018 2017 Change AR 2017 Change
B Owncd or boased 12 12 - 597% 5981 [#]
& Maraged 3 9 W L6220 513 ;1)
C Franchied 2 2 - 644 A Ay ’
bcament 8 9 W 2,704 2RIl 3™ ;q%,:, 12,017
Jotat 30 32 ) 12,0017 122591 12341
Houls Reom count
2018 3017 Chunge 2018 2017 Change
@ Owned or leased p-. ] a1 ) 4290 {ole 1330}
® Manugd 5 5 - 804 K51 [Tl
1 runbused T K1 o 12,007 W¥e 16 4
Insesiment 4 5 L 86 oo HY )
: 17,987
Totai [ o) 6 17987 163523 1 46a
L'nitcd Slaleq Howcds Room ot
2018 2017 Chaoge 2018 217 Change
®Owned o leased 5] 19 - 6797 6707 -
@ Minamd - - - - - -
W | canchased - - - - - -
Investoienr - — - - -
Total 15 ™ - &TI 7Y -
A ustralasia Hoels Room conat
2018 2017 € hange 2018 27 Change
®Owind or feosed s 157 1 2,571 268 n3
@ Managed i I - [FERENNTEY -
B ranchised 5 ~ - Ei1l £33 -
Inetstniene 3 3 120 727113 [E3F4]

Tutal 24 Bal 13} 3,522 3,931 309}
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REGIONAL
PERFORMANCE

ASIA EUROPE
RevPAR 1OTAL ASIA® 2018 2017 CHANGE RevPAR 101AL ELROPE* 2018 2007 CHANGE
RevPAR(E) 72.29  71.09 1.7% £ RevPAR(£) 78.76 8245  (4.5%
8 ol Occupancy(%) 750 739 11 % Occupancy(%%) 756 769 (13)
 Average Room Rarc(£) 9642 9625  0.2% Average Room Rarc(f) 10422 107.27  (2.8)%
* Graphs represent rotal Asiz performance * Graphs represent total Europe performance
Occupancy SINGAPORE LONDON
% 60 ) RevPAR(£) 83.56  B3.06  0.6% RevPAR(£) 10189 10998 (7.4)%
Occupancy(%) 859 856 03 % B B Occupincy(®) 801 830 (29
 Average Room Rate(£) 9726 9701  03% “ . II Aversge Room Rare(£) 12722 13247 (40%
o707 2o
RESL OF asls ARR HES | OF ELROPE
RevPAR(£) 65.17 6353  2.6% & i WIMVIHE  RePAR(E) 5618 5385 4.3%
Occupancy(%) 681 664 17 Occupancy(®) ‘712 705 07
Average Room Rate(£) 9574 9564  0.1% Awcrage Room Racc(f) 7894 7643 33%

0T T 008

Qreuarn HoTel SINGAPORE

Asia RevPAR for the year ended 31 December 2018 increased by 17% to £72.29 (2017
£71 09) driven by increases in both occupancy and average toom rates of 1.1% pounts and
0 2% respectively

Singapore RevPAR increased slighty by 0 6%, reflecting O 3% porncs increase 1n occupancy and
20 3% mcrease in average room rate. All the hotels show RevPAR growth except Orchard Horl
Sh which exp d wezker d d from the

B4

£ scctor.

Rest of Asta saw an improvement 1n peeformance with higher RevPAR of 2 6% coneributed
matnly by the Group’s hotcls in Taipei and Betjing.,

THERILT MORE, MAYFAIR, LONDON

Europe RevPAR for the year ended 31 December 2018 fell by 4.5% with decreases m both
occupancy and average room rate of 1.3% points and 2.8% respectively. London RevPAR also
fell with a drop of 7.4% Qccupancy and average room rate were down by 2.9% pounts and
4.0% respecuvely

The Mayfair hotel which was fully dosed for refurbishment from July 2018 was the main
contributor to the drop in Lenden RevPAR. Like-forlike London RevPAR cxduding the
Mayfair hotd for 2018 increased by 3.3% with a slight increase 1n occupancy of 0.3% poincs
and higher average room rate of 2.9%.

RevPAR for Rest of Eutope mercased by 4 3% with occupancy up by 0.7% points and average
room rate up by 3.3%.

Millennium & Copthnﬁ;;
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UNITED STATES

AUSTRALASIA

RevPAR 1AL LS+ 2008 M7 CHANGE
£ 18 sms:  RevPARLE) 9452 9261  21%
';; Occupancy(%ij e 68.3 (1.2) .
% Average Room Rare(£) 140.96 13557 4 0%
40 * Graphs mpr:scr;:m:;l Us p:rfﬂrm:u:
=
(ccupancy NEW YORK
% 1007 RevPAR(E) 16549 15937  3.8%
Occupancy(%) 8.3 853 1.0
Average Room Rare(f) 19178 18677  2.7%
REGIONAL LS
RevPAR(E) 59.61 5984 (0.4)%
Occupancy(%) 576 600  (2.4)
Aversge Room Rare(f) 10351 9981  37%

o m s

]
MILLENNEUMBILTMORE, LOSANGELES

RevPAR TOTAL ALS T RALASIA 2018 W7 CHAMGE
RevPAR(E) 7313 6876  64%
 Occupancy(%) © m25 sl2 13
Average Room Rate(f)  88.61 8471  46%

US RevPAR for the year cnded 31 Deocember 2018 inoreased by 2.1% w £94.52 (2017,
£92.61) Average toom race for US increased by 4,.0% offscr parually by decrease in occupancy
of 1 2% poins

New Yotk RevPAR increased by 3 8% duc prncipally to mcrsases 1n both occupancy and
average room rate of 1.09% poines and 2 7% respectively The growth in RevPAR is mainly
driven by higher contribunion from Millennium Hilton New York ONE UN Plaza which was
re-opened 1n Seprember 2016 after refurbishment and later re-branded in August 2017.
Excluding Milknnium Hilwn New York ONE UN Plaza, US RevPAR for 2018 was up slightly
by 0 2% and New York RevPAR up by 0 6% as cornpared to last year

RevPAR for Regional US decreased by 0 4% to £59.61 (2017- £59 84) The results arc mixed
with half the hotel portfalio shawing increases and the ather half, decreases tn RevPAR.

Reported RevPAR for Australasia in 2018 increased by 6 4% helped by the inclusion of two
new hotels M Social Auckland which was re-opened 1n October 2017 contributed for the full
year m 2018. Millennium New Plymouth was acquited in February 2018 Excluding M Soual
Auckland and Millennium New Plymouth, like-for-like Australasia RevPAR grew by 3.1% n
2018,

The tourism market continued 1o grow during 2018 Internatonal visitor arrivals grew by 3.1%
for the first wn months of 2018, However, competitnon is mcreasing both from new mveniry
and non-traditional supply
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CORPORATE
RESPONSIBILITY

As an international hotel business operating in so many distinctive
countries and cultures, we remain committed to delivering service
excellence and to operating our hatcls in 2 responsible and sustainable
way.

We understand the importance of the role we can play in making

a difference to our stakeholders, through initiatives that promote a
sustainable environment, now and in the future, by being a preferred
employer of choice and by supporting the local communities in which
we operate with our charitable and other activities.

We made strides on all of these fronts in 2018 and this work was made
possibie duc to the hard work and dedication of our colleagues acrass the
globe. This report describes some of the progress made over the course of
the year,

GOVERNANCE

Hoard responsibility

The Board of Directors of the Company has overall responsibility

for the Group's corporate responsibility initiatives, with the Inrerim
Group Chief Executive Officer taking the lead from a management
perspective. Underpinning our commitment to sustainability, che Board
supports a number of palicies and procedures, collectively referred to as
“Responsible Hospitality,” which are designed to recognise and manage
the Group’s wider impact on the environment and the communities

in which we operate. These policies are reviewed regularly and are
updated as necessary. They arc also translated into multiple languages
where appropniate. Key policies can be found at hrtps://investors.
millenniumhotels.com/corporate-governance/policies.

Compliance

Within our operations, we are fully committed to meeting our legal and
regulatory comphance obligations. We strive to adhere not only to the
letter of the law, bur also the spirit of the law.

In 2018 we did not receive any material fines or penaltics associated with
non-compliance with any laws relating to the environment, human rights
violations, labour standards, anti-bribery or taxation.

In addition, we endeavour to report transparently on 1ax policy and
management, more information of which can be found in this Annual
Report and Accounts.

No donations were made by the Group for political purposes during the
year (2017: £nil).

To raise awareness of key operational risks and ensure we meet our
compliance requirements, our global online compliance training
platform continues to deliver training on and-bribery, anti-money
laundering in certain jurisdictions and competition law. In 2018 farther
training was provided on modern slavery and the new EU General Data
Protection Regulation.

Anti-bribery and anti-corruption

The Group’s anti-bribery policy has been developed in line with the
requirements of the UK Bribery Act 2010 and is routinely reviewed, with
the last update having taken place in Apnl 2016. A risk assessment is
conducted 1o identify those categories of employees who require training
on bribery and corruption, including colleagues in higher-risk functions
such as procurement and sales. The Group also maintains a confidential
hotline and e-mail account thar allows employees to report concerns
about illegal or uncthical behaviour directly 1o a group funcrion,
generally the Company Secretariat or [nternal Audit team. Such reports
are made frec from reprisal.

A Group-wide anti-bribery compliance guide sits behind our anti-bribery
policy and is also made available to all employees. This guide identifies
key operanonal activities and countries where corruption is perceived to
be a high risk and sets out a2 number of procedures for managing these
risks, including procedures for conducting due diligence on business
assoclates and counterparties, operational risk assessments and escalation
mechanisms.

We take breaches of these policies seriously and, if necessary, will
consider disciplinary action for non-compliance by our employees. In the
reporting year, we are unaware of any staff being disciplined or dismissed
duc 1o non-compliance with our anti-bribery policy.

Ethical operations

Beyond our legal and regulatory compliance obligations, the Group is
committed to maintaining the highest standards of ethics and integrity
in the way we do business. Our Code of Ethics and Business Conduct
{*Code of Ethics”) sets out the minimum standards we expect from all
cmployces in their dealings with collcagues, customers, suppliers and
other stakeholders to ensurc that our business is conducted responsibly.
We also expect our suppliers and business partners to follow the
standards set out within our Code of Ethics and other related policies
including, for instance, our Anti-Bribery and Business Hospirality and
Gifes policies, aver which the Board has oversight. As mentioned, these
policies are translated intc other languages where appropriate, including
Spanish and Simplified Chinesc.

Millennium & Copthorne
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Throughout our operations globally, we respect the human rights of
our colleagues and others, including customers, suppliers and business
partners. We have in place a human rights policy that reflects our
commitment to certain fundamental principles, which are aligned with
those of the International Labour Organisation and the UN Guiding
Principles on Business and Human Rights and include freedom of
association and collective bargaining.

In accordance with the requirements of the Modern Slavery Act 2015,
the Company regularly undertakes a review of its supply chain. Last year
we proposed a number of improvements to our compliance framework
as outlined in our formal slavery and human trafficking statement,
which is available at hteps:/finvestors.millenniumhotels.com/corporate-
responsibility/supply-chain-turansparency-statemnent. For mnstance, in the
UK we implemented regular training exercises with law enforcement
agencies to better train our hotel weams to spot the risks of modern
slavery and human trafficking In addition, our standard contracts have,
where relevant, been updated to include pravisions regarding compliance
with the Group’s human rights policy. Our European supplier intake
forms include questions about the policies and procedures our suppliers
have in place to prevent slavery and human trafficking, and we take
their answers into account when selecting reputable suppliers. This

area remains a priority for the Board and we will look to make further
improvements to our processes in 2019,

OUR PEOPLE

As a service business, it is our people, and their artirudes and skills, which
set us apart from our competitors. We are committed to developing all

of our colleagues, identifying and nurturing future leaders, and enabling
everyone within the business to perform to their true potential.

Learning and development

We ensure that our colleagues around the world are suitably skilled

and qualified to meet the operational needs of the business. The Group
recognises that successful hospitality businesses must deliver excellent
service and we are committed to developing, supporting and retaining
the right staff to provide this. Our aim is to offer opportunities for them
to develop and grow through effective succession planning processes.

Our hotels also help young people who are interested in the industry,
including those from disadvantaged backgrounds, by providing
employment skills training and vocational oppertuniues. For example,
our North American and European regions have introduced internship
and apprenticeship programmes within various functions, often in
partnership with local universities and training providers. In Singapore,
a talent development initiative was launched in collaboration with the

Singapore government. Ofien advanced certificates or professional or
specialist diplomas will be awarded to the participants upon completion.

In order to fulfil our commitment to developing, supporting and
retaining our employees, we are developing mechanisms ta help us
learn more about the needs of and communicate with our workforce.
We recognise the important role communication has in fostering good
working relanonships and we seck to inform employees about marters
relating to their employment, the organisation more widely and the
business in general. At the same time, we actively seck feedback and
ideas from our people in order o improve our operations and, where
appropriate, provide forums to allow employees to voice their views.

As part of these efforts, a formal workforce advisory panel framework
is being implemented within the Group in line with the requirements
under the revised version of the UK Corporate Governance Code that
took effect on 1 January 2019, Further information relating to this
framewotk can be found in the Dircctors’ Remuneration Report on
page 87 and will be reported on tn more detail in the Company’s 2019
annual report and accounts and beyond.

In addition, we continue to have in place a global ‘Outstanding Service
Excellence’ training programme where employees ate empowered to
adapt and deliver a tailored service to each guest. This inspiration-based
approach is designed 1o engage both our colleapues and guests on a
personal level, encouraging a genuine connection and creating true fans’
of our brands.

Breersity and equal opportunities

We believe that having a diverse workforce brings different perspectives,
backgrounds and ways of thinking to our business and allows us to better
understand and interact with our guests. That is why we launched, on

a global basis, a new diversity and inclusion policy in 2018, in order

to cultivate a mote inclusive work environment that embraces the
engagement and development of a diverse workforce. We are commirted
to treating all employees fairly and offering equal opportunities in all
aspects of employment and advancement regardless of age, disability,
gender reassignment, marital or civil partner status, pregnancy or
maternity, race, calour, nationality, ethnic or national origin, religion

or belief, sex or sexual orientation. More details of our diversity and
inclusion imitatives can be found in the Corporate Governance
Statement starting on page 57 and in the Nominations Committee
Report on page 88.

As at 31 December 2018, the Group employed 11,504 people worldwide
operating in over 26 countries (2017: 11,602).
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CORPORATE
RESPONSIBILITY
CONTINUED

For added assurance, quarterly reports covering health and safety matters

DIRFCTORS ANDLMPLOYRES BY GENDIR MALI 1 MALE
6. — - —— - — - — - —— " — © —— — —  argpresented to the Audit & Risk Committee. These provide updates on
Irectors 7 0 incidents, changes in relevant legal requirements and other health and
Senior managers’ 187 105 ; : -
safery marters in all of cur operating regions.
Other employees 5,932 5.280

1 Thas 15 based on the parricipants 1 the Group's 2018 bonus pool and excludes 36 subsidizry
who were 1 2ppoi of which 29 were male and 7 female

The number of employeces employed by the Group (excluding the
Company’s Directors) at the end of che year, analysed by category, was as
follows:

2018 27

o - - _ :\:l MBLRS . N L, \Jmii.\
Hotel operating staff 8,853 9,020
Management/administration 1,478 1,439
Sales and marketing 492 461
Repairs and maintenance . 681 682
11,504 11,602

A safe working environment

The health, safety and welfare of our employees, guests and all those
who visit the Group’s hotels and offices, as well as those who carry out
work on behalf of the Group is of paramount importance to us. Indeed,
this is a principal risk that is overseen by the Company’s Audirt 8 Risk
Committee. Policics, procedures and craining programmes are in place
to ensure compliance with relevant health and safery legislation and
enhanced risk assessment, management and monitoring measures are
being developed and rolled our, with the overriding goal of making our
sites safer and ready to deal with emergencies as they arise.

In the UK region, for example, we have put in place policies and
procedures thar are certified to OHSAS 18001 (externally audited by
the British Standards Institution). Management continues the process
of transitioning from OHSAS 18001 to the new standard ISO 45001
and aims to roll out the [SO 45001 occupational health and safery
rranagement syscen: across the whole of the UK portfolio. These effores
are supported by compliance management software, resulting in tighter
control of mandarory activiues, inspections and the creation of audit
trails.

We continuously work to improve our proactive and reacrive risk
management plans, in conjunction with local and natjonal law

enforcement autharities as necessary. We strive to regularly test and audit

the plans from time to time to ensure that they remain robust and fit for
purpose.

PRESERVING OUR ENVIRONMENT

We recognise that as a global hospitality company, we have a
responsibility 1o help protecr and preserve our environment. The
industry in general consumes a significant amount of energy and
produces a significant amount of emissions globally and as more
and more people travel, the need for action will increase. In light of
this trend, over recent years we have sought to minimise our impact
by actively focusing on reducing energy and water consumption in
particular.

In 2018, we prepared and circulated a sustainability questionnaire to
each of our owned and operated hotels around the world in order to
determine the current state of our sustainability efforts. We found that
many hotels were pro-actively engaging with their communities and
implementing innovative practices to help reduce our impact on the
environment. We then compiled the data, assembled the best practices
and developed best practice, practical guidelines which could be
implemented by our hotels, on a voluntary basis, depending on local
conditions and legal requirements. These guidelines, which are part of
our “Responsible Hospirtality” regime, will help o unify the Group’s
approach to sustainability practices and will provide us with a means
to better track the iniziatives being undertaken by our hotels and how
successful they are. We expect this work to grow over time as initiatives
are tested and refined.

Energy efficiency

Energy efficiency is a key component of our sustainability strategy.
Each of the Group’s operating regions work to identify encrgy savings
opportunities through operational efficiencies, upgrading plant and
equipment and other initiatives. Inn 2018, our hotels continued ta facus
on retrofitting LED lighting and upgrading HVAC systems, where
apptopriate, which will help to improve the clectricity efficiency of our
estate. Also, a number of cur hotels implemented an environmental
management system that is ahgncd with the requirements of [SO 14001,
which requires each hotel to have in place a framework to identify and
mitigate its environmental impact, as well as pracesses for identifying
relevant environmental legislation and ensuring compliance.

Our data sct for the Group's 2018 greenhouse gas reporting included
75 owned and operated hotels over which we had access o data for the

"Miilennium & Copth():t;
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reporting period.' Energy consumption by these primarily consisted of
electricity from grid, natural gas, dicsel, purchased steam and chilled
water. The Group’s overall encrgy consumption for the year decreased
by 3%, on an absolute basis, compared to 2017, mainly due to the
2018 dara set containing a lower number of operating hotels as a

result of refurbishment projects. At the same time, the Group's 2018
energy intensity, which measures the energy consumed per hotel room,
remained consistent with 2017, increasing by 1%.

In 2018, carbon equivalent emissions associated with our energy use
decreased by 5% and the carbon intensity per room decreased by 1%
as compared with the previous reporting year. This decrease largely
resulted from the Group purchasing electricity from suppliets with a
higher percentage of renewable encrgy in many countries with respect
to electricity provided by the grid. Whilst shifting to the use of cleaner
energy may not result in decreased total energy consumption, it does
help the Group to reduce its carbon emissions.

The 2018 energy consumption of our owned and operated hotels is
shown below.

2017

ABSOLLTE

PER ROOXN]

ABSOI T 1} 1R ROGM
L KwWH) RWIy (KWH) KM
492,783,538 22,358 507,724,416 22,195

Greenhouse gas reporting

The Group’s greenhouse gas repotting covers the period from 1 October
2017 ro 30 September 2018, similar to previous years. This period has
been chosen to allow sufficient time to gather and review emissions

data ahead of the year-end and to ensure that verification of the dara is
completed in advance of the reporting deadlines.

Last year we reported that we had successfully achieved our target of
reducing our absolute Scope 1 and 2 operational carbon emissions from
encrgy use and refrigeranc losses by an aggregate amount of 10% based
on a 2015 baseline year over the penod between 2015 and 2017, This
target was set in 2016 and we mer it ahead of schedule. As a result of this
encouraging start, over the course of 2018 we worked with an external
sustainability consultant, EcoAct (formerly Carbon Clear), 1o set a new
long-term target, a Science-Based Target (“SBT"), to reduce the Group's
carbon emissions. SBT5 are greenhouse gas reduction goals aligned with
the latest science on minimising climate impact. We submited our
proposed target to the Science Based Target initative, the organisation
mn charge of validating $BTs, in January 2019 and hope to receive a
response in the second quarter of the year.

The Group's Scope 1, 2 and 3 emussions, as well as the underlying
energy, refrigerant, waste, water and travel data, have been externally

! Exchades franchise hotels and investment hotels that were managed by third party operatars

33

verified by an independent third party, Carbon Credentials Energy
Services Limited, in accordance with ISO 14064-3: 2006 Standard.
A copy of the verification statement can be found at hrps://investors.
millenniumhotels.com/corporate-responsibility.

To calculate our emissions, we followed the Greenhouse Gas Protocol
Carperate Accounting and Reporting Standard methodelogy ("GHG
Protocol”) and the operational control approach to determine the
properties to be included within the dara set. Franchise hotels and
investment hotels that were managed by third party operators were not
included. In line with the latest guidance provided by the GHG Protocol
with regard to Scope 2 accounting, this year we also included marker-
based emissions as well as location-based emissions in arder to provide

a clearer picture of the nature of our electricity consumption. Deriving
emission factots from contractual instruments, market-based calculations
allows the Group to account for the real nature and consequent carbon
intensity of the electricity purchased. It should be noted that for the
purpose of year-over-year comparisons, location-based emissions will
continue to be used, as these provide a more accurate reflection of

the emission changes associated with the Company’s internal energy
efficiency initiatives.

Details of our total carbon footprint are summarised in the table below:

GEOBAL TONNES O COL

o L L LI
Scope 1! 48,218 50,024
Scope 2 Location-Based? 140,018 144,190
Scope 2 Market-Based® 135,809 147,267
Carbon intensity (tonnes of CO,¢efroom.
Includes scope one, two and three emtssions) 10.75 11.13
Scope 3* 48,649° 60,358°
No. of rooms S moar 22876
Total gross emissions (Location-Based) 236,885 Zj§,572
Total gross emissions (Market-Based) 232,676 257,649

1 Direct cmussions fram acnvities owned or controlled by our organisation that release emisseons

into the atmosphere

Indirect emissiens that are a consequence of our organisation’s activitics but which occur ar

sources we da not ewh or contral

3 Scope 2 market-based emissions reflece emissions frem clectricity that the Group has

purposcfully chosen

Onrher indurect thatarca g ¢ of the Group's acuvities, bue which occur at

sources that are not owned or controlled by us and which zre not classed as Scope 2 emissions

5 Includes emissions assocrated with water use, energy consumed by third parcy laundry, waste,
business cravel znd well-to-tank and transmission and distribution

2
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RESPONSIBILITY
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Relative: Carbon Emasstons by Source
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During the reporting period, absolute location-based emissions decreased by 7% compared to the same periad last year,
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mainly due to a decrease

in the number of hotels within the data set, greater energy efficiency as a resuit of a series of initiatives implemented ar site leve! and a widespread
decrease in the carbon intensity of the elecuricity grids in the countries in which we operate. Consequently, emissions per room also decreased by 3%,

to 10.75 wonnes of CO¢/room.

Waste

The amount of waste being sent to landfills is an increasing concern in
the hospitality industry. We have been implementing waste minimization
initiatives across the Group, including recycling paper, metal, plastics,
cardboard, glass bottles, cocking oil, printer cartridges, wet amenities,
soap, wine corks; food waste donation and composting; and the denation
of used items, such as furniture, fabric and electronic equipment. We also
strive o reduce organic waste and other consumables as appropriate.

The Group’ London hatels continued to wotk closely with their UK
wastc contractor to improve recycle facilities in the back of housc areas
and conference rooms. For example, glass botdes for drnking water

are now provided in the guest rooms and function rooms, thereby
climinating the use of plastics. By introducing this system, we have
reduced our annual plastic waste and the carbon emissions associated
with the production, transportation and recycling of plastic water bartles.

We are also driving change through our goal of climinating single-use
plastics, This initiative currently is being rolled out at our Singapare
hotels and they are expected to achieve this by mid-2019. We anticipate
that the rest of our owned and/or operated hotels will follow this
practice, which in turn will allow ys to improve resource cfficiency across
all of our propertics.

The Group set out to improve the quality of its waste volume reporting
in 2018. As a result, the reported volume of waste generaced by the hotels
within the data set increased by 32% on an absolute basis and by 37%
on a per-room basis, largely duc o better reporting of our waste. Where
data on recycling was not available for the period, we bave assumed

that all such waste was brought to a landfill in order o account for the

highest possible impact. Whilst this has resulted in an increase in the
amount of waste defined as "landfilled,” it also provides a clean baseline
from which we will be able to track our progress in waste reduction
going forward. For example, in 2019 our UK region will be performing
an audit with a third party supplier to review its waste management
contract across the UK. The audit will determine waste streamlines
such as who collects, how often and where the waste goes. The aim of
the audit will be to receive advice on areas such as segregation of waste,
preventing production of waste in the first place and helping hotels to be
better prepared wo efficiently and responsibly dispose of the waste chat is
generated cach day.

2018 2017
ABSOLL TE PLE ROOM ABSOEL 1k PERRODM
(LONNEST0 (TONNESTO {LONNES 10 (TONNES 1O
LANDFILL) LANDFILL) I ANDIILL) LANTIHIT)
13,351 0.61 10,436 046

Water use

The availability of clean, accessible water is essential to the services

we provide and critical ta the health and economic vitality of the
communities in which we operate. We also recognise that our hotcls are
watecr intensive, particularly where we operate spa facilities. As such, we
take water conservation scriously.

We understand that water is a scarce resource and that demand is
likely to surge over the next few decades; we therefore actively strive
and encourage our colleagues to conserve water usage throughout our
business, particularly where we operate in water-stressed regions.

Millenrium & Copthom;
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Based on the World Resources Institute’s analysis of furure warer stress,
we have identified that 8% of the Group's current operations are located
in Singapore, a country which is set to be facing extremely high water
stress by 2040 (World Resources Institute 2015). Additionally, two of
our hotels operate 1n regions set to undergo the greatest drop in water
security between 2020 and 2040.

To reduce our water footprint, we continued to execute a series of water
conservauon strategies throughout 2018, including investing in water
efficient technologies, process improvements and reusing and recycling
water. This work targeted kitchens, laundry areas, gardens, spas and
heating and cooling systems and is ongoing. We also continued to retrofit
motion sensors and low flow fixtures in common areas, back of house
areas and guestrooms.

Central o our water conservation plan is to increase the amount of
water that we can recycle and reuse, using alternative methods to provede
cooling to our chiller systems whilst maintaining high system efficiency.
This is best implemented at the design stage or in conjuncrion with
major system or property renovations. For example, the Millennium
Buffalo hotel in New York installed a rain monitor on irs irrigation
system to prevent automatic irrigation from happening during rain. Our
Grand Hyatt Tarpei uses recycled treated grey water from the pool and
feeds it into the cooling waters. At the Copthorne Hotel and Resort Bay
of Istands in New Zealand, ground water and water collected from the
greenhouse roof are used for irrigating the landscaping and vegetable
gardens at the hotel. The Millennium Hotel Chengdu in China has
implemented a water conservation plan and carries out water balance
tests to ensure there are no leakages in the pipe network.

Water consumption data is as follows:

2008 2007
ABSOLLTE PER ROGM ABSGLL TL PHIR ROOM
(MPCONSUMLD) (AP CONSUMED)  (VFCONSLMED) (M CONSUMEI
4,445,746 202 4,582,223 200

i Warer consumption data was collected from 75 hocels chat were owned or operated by the
Group and has been independently verified by Carbon Credentials Encrgy Services Limued

AWARDS
Since 2011, M&C has reported to the CDP
“‘CDP (formerly known as the Carbon Disclosure

- Project), an independent non-profit organisation

that analyses and rates the environmental

performance of participating companics. CDP data is used by various
stakeholders, including by investors when making ethical investment
decisions. [n 2018, the Company successfully maintained its prestigious
“A-" leadership raung, which places the Group among the ambitious
companies that are taking meaningful measures to reduce ¢missions and
is a clear indicator of the Group's advanced sustainability efforts.
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In further recognition of the Group's sustainability practices, a number
of our hotels in Singapore maintain Green Mark awards, an initative
set up by the Building and Construction Authority (BCA) of Singapore
to encourage environmentally friendly buildings. Three of the hotels
have acrained the BCA Green Mark Platinum Award, the highest tier for
Green Mark Awards.

RESPONSIBLE SOURCING

Another key area where we can make a difference is with our supply
chain. With all procurement decisions, whilst it is important that our
hatels are able to purchase the goeds and services they need to operate
effectively at the right price, we also must ensure that robust due
diligence is performed on our suppliers so that we can understand and
address any social or environmental issucs,

We work closely with our local and international suppliers to ensure

that their products and services meet the demands of our operations

and the expectations of our guests and other stakeholders. Morcover,

we CXPCCT our supplicrs i} demonslrate Eﬂ'cctivc managcmcnt ofcnl:rgy'
use, grcenhousc gas emlssions, ‘water use, waste, pollution, ICS0LICE usc
and biodiversity. We also question whether supplicrs have appropriate
corporate gavernance arrangements in place to operate in an ethical and
sustainable manner, whilst encouraging diversity and equal opportunities

throughout their business.

Qour selection process for suppliers is stringent and we request and review
information on their reduction of packaging, environmental palicies and
sustainable transport plans prior 1o contracts being signed. Within our
Europe region, we have established processes to assess all new suppliers
based on their environmental, labour, anti-bribery and human rights
practices. The system provides transparency and allows us to employ a
strict audit and review process. it also allows us to manage cur suppliers
centrally and it increases our visibility over their product sourcing and
ransportation.

Wherever practical, we purchase products made from local renewable
and ethically sound sources. Specific focus is placed on using suppliers
that reduce emissions and air pollution from food miles and our aim is to
use suppliers with a demonstrable commitment to sustainable production
methods. To demonstrate our commitment to sustainable and ethical
sourcing, we have implemented a number of initiatives, including our
commitment to eliminate the use of caged eggs from our UK supply
chain by 2020 and the use of wall-mounted dispensers in bathrooms to
replace small plastic amenity bottles at various hotels globally.

& Accounts 2018
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CORPORATE
RESPONSIBILITY
CONTINUED

SUPPORTING OUR COMMUNITIES bone cancer, disbursing grants to families to help with expenses such as
We care about out neighbourhoods and making a positive contribution transport costs or costs associated with accessibility renovations. Since
to our local communities and the people who work and live there. We 2014 hotel colleagues have raised over £10,000 for the charity through a

do this through fundraising activitics and community engagement, often  combination of various initiatives and festive rafHles.
donating not only needed goods and money, but volunteering our time
as well.

Below are some of the initiatives with which our colleagues were
cngaged during the year, in order to help build brighter futures for their

communities.

Grand Copthorne Waterfronl, Smgapore

On 15 March 2018, over 10 hotel staff took time off their busy work
schedules to bring warmth and laughter to residents at the Red Cross
Home for the Disabled in Singapore. Staff paired up with residents
one-ro-one for an art therapy session, called ‘Dancing Colours, Bridging
Love,” where they creared paintings and bonded with the residents.

Copthorne Hotel Newcastle, UK

The Copthome Hotel Newcastle continued to support the Henry The Copthorne Newcastle ream, with General Manager Mr Ken Ellington {(in blue tic),

Dancer Days charity, which SUppOrLs children and you[hs with Primm-)r presenting the cheque 1o Henry Dancer Days Charity Founder and Manager Ms Jane Nattrass
The hotel has cumulauvely raised £10,000 for the charity since 2014

The Red Cross Home far the Disabled 15 a residential home for people with multiple disabilitics serving over 100 adult and child residents.

Staff fram Grand Coprh Warterfront with the | from Red Cross Home for the Disabled and cheis finished masterpicces

Millennium & Copthorne
Hotels plc



The Lakefront Anchorage, USA

On 12 May 2018, hundreds of Alaskans atrived at The Lakefront
Anchorage to walk the 4.2-mile (6.76km) loop around Lake Hood, the
world’s largest and busiest seaplane base. The walk was for Anchorage’s
edition of the national fundraiser, *Walk MS, for people affected by

multiple sclerosis.

The hotel was proud 1o be an official community sponsor for the fifth
year in a row and provided the venue for the event, which saw over 350
artendees. Employees actively participated in the walk and raised close to
US8$1,000 for the important cause. A total of over U5$52,000 was raised
for the event.

In appreciation of the hotel’s continued efforts to support and raise
awareness for the cause, the National Multiple Sclerosis Society Greater
Northwest Chapter presented The Lakeftont Anchorage with an award
recognising their extraordinary partnership.

The "cake walkers”, (L-R) Coptharne Palmetston Norch Front Office Reccptionist Ms Zara
Murnhy, Ava, daughter of Executive Chef Mr Jono Mawley, and Food & Beverage Duty
Manager Ms Nikks Walker

Annual Heport
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b Y
The Lakefrons Anchotage Director of Sales and Markening Ms Brands Cooper and General
Manager Mr Greg Beltz at the fundraising walk's finish Linc at the entrance of the hotel

Copthorne Palmerston North, New Zealand

The Copthorne Palmerston North took part tn the Kind Hearts
Movement Charity Cake Auction for the first time in July 2018. The
bake-off saw thirty-two businesses and organisations in the Manawatu
district in New Zealand create innovative cakes and parade them ina
“cake walk” for an auction. The members of the hotel team, who were
proud to have achieved a second-place standing, helped the charity raise
NZ$410 from the auction of the cake. The goal of the organisation is to
inspire a kinder world through acts of unconditional kindness.

We must continue te balance our commercial priorites against our
responsibilities to the environment and our communities. Our colleagues
around the world continue to instil pride by demonstrating their
commitment to doing the right thing. Locking ahead, we will continue
to step-up our corporate responsibility efforts with the knowledge thar
this 1s a long-term pledge that will help to keep us on the path to creating
a more sustainable and responsible furure.

& Accounts 2018



OUR
RISKS

Being faced with financial and operating risks is an inherent part of
conducting business in a challenging and fluid business environment.
Many of our principal risks will be the same risks faced by similar
businesses in the hospitality industry.

Ia this section, we describe the principal risks that could affect the
Group's ability to deliver against its strategy together with the controls
and risk management framework in place to mitigate such risks.

MANAGEMENT OF RISK

The Group’s risk management framework has been developed to align
with the best practice risk management standard 1SO 31000. The
framework consists of a group risk management process for standardized
asscssment, reporting and monitoring of risks to ensure a robust and
consistent standard in line with the Group’s risk appetite. Under the
Group’s risk management framework, there are three levels of risks. Level
1 risks represenc che principal risks that are monitored clasety at Board
level. Level 2 risks are those within the areas of responsibility of the
regional and functional heads. Finally, Level 3 risks encompass hotel-level
and project-specific risks.

The Board have established a clear organizational structure for the
management of these risks in the Group, with well-defined roles
and responsibilities. The Board retains overall responsibility and

accountability for the effectiveness of the risk management framework
and internal control systems. [n 2018, upon review of the structure of
the Board’s committees, the Board decided ro amalgamate the duties

of the Risk Commictee and Audic Commiteee given the commonalities
of their remits and recognizing the progress made towards establishing

a robust risk management framework within the Group, and the

new Audit & Risk Committee commenced operation in May 2018.
Supporting the Audit & Risk Commuirtee, the Group Management Risk
Committee has accountability for ensuring cffective risk management at
the operational level in line with the Board-approved risk appetite limits.
The Group Management Risk Committee is comprised of the principal
risk owners, including regional operational heads and functional heads,
and is led by the Group Chief Executive Officer.

To support this structure, a Global Director of Compliance and Risk
Management has been appointed to work with the Group Management
Risk Committee and the business te help strengthen and further embed
the Group's regulatory compliance and enterprise risk management
framework. A third-party risk management consultancy also continues
to assist the Group in embedding risk management within the business.
As risks continue to evolve and grow in complexity, so o do our risk
management processes, ensuring continual improvement, and growth in
the organisation’s risk maturity. Work on these initiatives will continue
over the course of 2019,

RISK FRAMEWORK

Board Risk
Level 1 Profile
Regional l Functional
Level 2 Risk Profiles Risk Profiles
Project Risk ] Hotel Risk Project Risk
Level 3 Profiles Profiles Profiles

Mﬂien-nium & Cap-lhame
Hotels plc



RISK GOVERNANCE STRUCTURE

Board of Directors
Overall accouncability for strategic risk management
and setting of risk appetite.

Audit & Risk Committee
Responsible for conducting assessments of the principal financial
and non-financial risks and reviewing the effectiveness
of systems for internal financial control, financial reporting and risk management.

Group Management Risk Committee
Operational accountability for the management and control of risks
and the implementation of mitigation measures in line

with risk appetite.
Global Risk & Compliance Group Internal Audit
Supports the Group to strengthen and embed the Group’s regulatory Review the effectiveness
compliance and enterprise risk management framework. of internal controls.

- __Anm._la] Report
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PRINCIPAL RISKS
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OUR
RISKS
CONTINUED

DISCLOSURE REGARDING BREXT]

In the following table we have identified the key risks that are regarded as The Group does not consider the UK leaving the European Union a
the most relevant for the Group. The principal risks should be viewed as  principal risk. The Group has taken steps to mitigate risks within our
the risks that we sce as being material to our business’s performance and control and will continue to monitor developments and review our

prospects at this time.

position. A ‘Brexit Steering Group' has been established and contingency
plans are in place to deal with any challenges thar may arise post-Brexit.

The following pages provide a description of cach risk and how it could

impact the business, a summary of contrals and mitigating activities The order in which risks are prescated below s nert indicative of the
being undertaken and the ‘trend’ for the risk. This trend represents relative potential impact to the Group. The risks may, to varying deprees,
the forward-looking view of the net risk exposure for each risk, taking impact the Group's revenues, profits, net assets, operations, guests,

into account changes in the external risk environment and the Group’s employees, partners and/or reputation.

internal mitigation activitics.

Not all potendal risks are listed below; some risks that we are managing
and monitoring in the business are excluded because the Board considers
that they arc not material to the Group's long-term strategy, performance
or viability. In general, the diversity and geographical spread of the
Group's assets provide natural hedges against many of the principal

tisks identified below and our processes aim to provide reasonable, not
absolute, assurance that the principal risks thart are significant to our
business have been identified and addressed. Additionally, there may be
nisks that arc not reasonably foresecable as at the date of this report.

Millennium & Copthorne
Hotels plc
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cyclical sector, where competition, both online and

Risk Potential Impact Mitigation Activities ‘Irend
Compeution, The hotel industry operates within an mnherently The diverse nature of the Group's portfolio, both
trading and geographically and in respect of its breadth of brands,

market factors

offling, is increasing. The growth of room supply,
without corresponding increases in demand, may
lead to downward pressure on rates, which in tumn
could negatively impact the Group's performance.
The hospitality industry also is secing a degree of
consglidatton in pursuit of scale and the benefits
assaciated with it.

In addition, trading can be directly affected by localised
events—such as natural catastrophes, country or regional
geo-political matters—as well as global, macro-cconomic
trends impacting travel and hotel stays.

Finally, the Group operates in numerous jurisdictions
and trades in various internauonal currencies, but reports
its financial results in pound sterling. Fluctuations in
curtency exchange rates and interest rates may be either
accretive or dilutive to the Group’s reported trading
resuits and net asset value. The 2016 referendum vote

in the UK 1o leave the European Union, for instance,
resuited in a sustained devatuation of the pound sterling.
Unhedged interest rate exposures pose a risk too. Rising
interest rates may result in increased borrowing costs and
impact the Group’s profits,

provides a natural hedge against various external risks.
The Group has a concentration of hetels in key
gateway cities such as London, Singapore and New
York to benefit from corporate and leisure travel. Asa
niche owner-operator, the Group keeps a close watch
on local events and developments to align its
investment and markering spend to target relevant
customer segments and adapt to changing hospitality
trends.

The Group's internal Treasury Management
Committee monitors and addresses treasury marrers,
including investment and counterparty risks, in
accordance with the Group's treasury policy. The
Board and Audit & Risk Committee receive regular
updates on treasury matters.

Foreign exchange exposure is primarily managed
through the funding of purchases and repayment of
borrowings from income generated in the same
currency.

Interest rate hedges and fixed-rate lending facilities are
used from time to time to manage interest rate risks.

Investment
and asset
management

The Group's hotels require investment, typically in
cycles of minor and major refurbishments, to maintain
their competitiveness. Refurbishment projects invariably
impact on revenues, particularly when major renovations
require the hotel to be closed for extended periods.

Also, refurbishment projects or other capital projects
may overrun on time and costs or may not deliver the
expected returns on investment. The size of investment
and appropriate allocation of limited resources across a
diverse portfolio are also key considerations. The ability
of the Group to make the right investment decisions at
the right time, and devote appropriate resources to its
investment programme, is crucial to enabling long-term,
profitable growth.

The Group continues to develop property specific
refurbishment plans, which focus on the capital
expenditure requirements of cach property in terms of
regular maintenance and product enhancement ta
help ensure the products remain competitive. These
plans generally are developed by the hotel
management teams and reviewed and approved at the
Group level.

=

Refurbishment projects are generally phased in order
to minimise the impact on revenues. Where it is
justified, a decision 1o fully close and reopen a hotel
after tenovation can be taken, 1n order to help
reposition the hotel, for instance.

With regard to large-scale capital projects, such as the
Sunnyvale, California mixed-usc development, the
Yangdong development in Seoul and the
refurbishment of the former Millennium hotel in
Mayfair, London, dedicated project managers and cost
consultants are engaged to help oversee the projects
and track spending against approved budgets. A
Senior Vice President of Technical Services was
appointed in September 2018 to help improve global
oversight over, and monitoring of, large projects.

Annual Report
& Accounts 2018



OUR
RISKS

CONTINUED

Risk

Potential Impact

Brand equity and
customer loyalry

Health, safety
and sccuriry

Mitigation Activities Trend

Brand equity and customer loyalty influence consumer .

choice and are created by understanding customer needs,
clear and consistent communication and consistentdy
delivering products and services that meert those
customer needs. Further, the Group'’s ability to protect its
intellectual property rights in its brands is fundamental
to delivering on these endeavours. Competition is fierce,

and the Group's scale and marketing expenditure cannot

match those of larger competitors. Generally, the Group
operates propertics which it owns and therefore is able
10 exercise control over the service and product quality
of those hotels. In addition, management of hotels
involving third-party or joint-venture relationships in
certain markets gives rise to the risk of non-performance
by those partics, affecting the ability of the relevant
hotels to deliver service and product quality consistent
with the Group brand and operating standards. Failure
to create brand equity and customer loyalty could affect
the pace of future revenue growth as well as the pricing
power, image and reputation of the Group.

The Group has in place brand standards thart are
designed to maintain a level of product consistency
based on the brand collection to which a particular
hatel belongs whilst aliowing flexibility in order o
maintain the persenality of the property. The brand
standards capure the key messaging behind each of
the Group’s brands.

To raise the profile of our brands and to help build
brand cquity, marketing campaigns arc highly targeted
and often leverage strategic partnerships. In 2018, the
Group launched the M Collection and promoted the
Leng’s Collection. It also signed a sponsorship
agreement with the Chelsea Football Club and
redesigned its loyalty programme for launch in 2019,

=)

Investment continues o be made in prezecting the
Group’s brands from misuse and infringement, by way
of trademark registrations, enforcement of intellectual
property rights, domain name protection and
enforcement of management agreements. The Group
utilises third party online brand monitoring and
protection agencies to assist with the Group’s
enforcement activities.

The health, safety and security of guests, visitors and .

emplayces is a fundamental expectation and therc 15

a breadth of regulatory requirements across different
jurisdictions relating t health and safety marters. Failure
to implement and maintain sufficient controls regarding
health and safety issues could result in serious injury or
loss of life, lead to regulatory investigations and expose
the Group to significant claims, sanctions or fines, both

civil and criminal, as well as reputational damage. .

Whilst health and safety marters often are local to a
particular venue or location, sccurity concerns can be

affected by global geopolitical events,

The Group has health, safery and environmental
management syscems in place, which include policies,
procedures, testing, self and third-party audics,
training and reporting. Where possible, these seek to
align with the requirements of best pracuce accredited
systems (e.g., OHSAS 18001). By following these
standards, the Group strives to work to the highest
standards of health and safery.

Following the tragic event at Grenfell Tower in
London, in June 2017, related 1o flammable cladding,
the Group assessed its portfolio globally, testing and
confirming that such cladding is not used at 2ny of the
Group's owned and managed properties.

=

Management secks to identify emerging nsks at the
carliest opportunity to ensure clear roles and
responsibilities, internal controls and other steps to
minimize these exposures to the greatest extent

possible.

K/h—l!;nium & Cupthom;
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Risk

Potential Impact

Mitigalion Activities 1rend

Talent
management and
suLcession

Hospitality is a peaple business. The Group’s brands and
ability to deliver consistent service quality are dependent
on its ability to attract, develop and retain employees
with the appropriate skills, experience and apurude.
Generally in the industry, frontline employees are prone
to higher levels of turnover. Also, with the growth in
room supply, demand and consumer choice globally,

it becomes increasingly impaortant for operators to be
able to find and retain senior leaders who inspire and
mativate staff. Failure of the Group to properly plan for
the recruitment and succession of key management roles
may impact service quality, consistency and/or delay the
exccution of the Group's strategies.

Not unique to the Group, a considerable proportion

of hotel staff in the UK, and particularly in London,
otiginate from European Union countties. The ability of
the Group to retain appropriate staff; as well as the cost
of doing so, may be impacted depending on if and how
the UK exits the Europezn Union,

The Group has strong regional and local management
suructures threaded ogether with a common
commitment towards ensuring a rewarding and
empowering work environment. This is supported by
performance management and recognition systems,
compensatton and benefits programmes, e.g., bonus
plans, service reward programmes, share plans, and
internal and external training and development
programm:s.

)

The Group strives to provide internal talent wich
oppeortunities for development and advancement as a
matter of priority

The Nominations Committee and wider Board are
tasked with ensuring proper succession plans are
place for key members of the senior management
team,

The Group is keeping on top of the developments
relating to the UK’s potential exit from the European
Union as they unfold and management are continuing
to review the potenttal impact of the developments. A
‘Brexit Steering Group’ has been established to ensure
the Group considers material risks and to develop
approprizte mitigation strategies. This allows the
Group toe remain nimble and ready to respond to
different issues and scenarios.

Revenue channel
optimrsation and
cost of sale

Keeping abreast of digital transformation and online
competition is critical given the growing proportion of
the Group’s hotel rooms being booked online. Online
travel agencies (“OTA") tend to have higher commission
rates compared to traditional travel agents and are
taking an increasing share of bookings across the sector.
Qver time, consumers may develop loyalties to the
OTAs rather than to the Group’s brands. These trends
may impact the rising cost of sale ultimately affecting
profitability. Other costs related ro metasearch engines
and tools that help direct online traffic towards our own
websites are increasing. On the supply side, sharing
economy platforms, such as Airbnb, may expand their
market share and compete with more traditional business
and leisure accommodations.

The Group continues to refresh its digital marketing
strategy and invest in its e-commerce, customer
relationship management, revenue management and
reservations systems in order to help increase rates,
retain existing customers and generate new business.
In 2018, the Group restructured its sales organisation
and developed a global sales account management tool
to focus on growing corporate business in particular.

=

Fundamental to the Group’s distribution strategy is
growing brand recognition and loyalty along with
increasing direct channel bookings. In 2018, the
Group continued to enhance its brand website and it
will be launching a revamped loyalty programme in
the first quarter of 2019,

The Group is aggressively managing its portfolio of
distribution channel partners, including established
OTAs and new, niche or local players, to optimise
revenue, gain access to new customers and minimise
COMMISSION COStS.

Annual Report
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Risk

{nformation
security,
vulnerability o
cyber-atzacks
and PC1-DSS

<ompliance

OUR

RISKS

CONTINUED

Potential Impact

Increasing reliance on online distribution channels and
transactions over the internet and mobile applications,
and the aggregarion and storage of guest and other
information electronically, both on company-controlied
servers and nerworks and in cloud-based environments,
present heighrened risks of attacks affecting the operation
of those systems and networks and/or a potential loss or
misuse of confidential or proprietary information. The
occurrence of a cyber security event or loss of data could
disrupt business, the ability of the Group o take or fulfil
hookings or lead to reputational and monetary damages,
litigation or regulatory fines.

In additien, various aspects of the Group’s operations are
required to achieve compliance with the payment card
industry security standards (“PCI-DSS™), and failure

to do so could resule in penalties and/or withdrawal of
credit card payment facilities.

Trend

1)

Mitigation Activities

The Group’s regional Information Technology (“IT”)
teams conduct periodic sccurity and penctration
testing, often using external consultants, and any
recommendations ot enhancements are implemented
where necessaty.

Software systems are regularly updated to allow for the
latest security updates and patches to be installed.

Informarion technology policies and procedures have
been updated 1o reflect implementation of the latest

PCI-DSS compliance standards.

The Group has in place, and regulatly reviews, cyber
insurance coverage to protect against certain cyber

risks.

Legal and
regulatory
compliance

The Group operates in many jurisdictions and is exposed
to the risk of non-compliance with increasingly complex
statatory and regulatory requirements, including
competition law, anti-bribery and corruption and dara
privacy compliance regimes. Non-compliance with such
regulations, which differ by jurisdiction and are areas of
increasing focus by regulators, could result in fines and/
or other damages, including reputational damage, being
incurred, particuiarly in the event a data breach shouid
occur. An arca of particular regulatory focus in 2018, for
cxample, was in relation to the implementation of the
new EU General Data Protection Regulation (*GDPR”).

In addition, the Group has contractual relationships in
place with various counterparties, including customers,
suppliers, employces and other partics, and provides
goods and services to customers. As such, a breakdown
in any of these rclationships could lead to disputes and
ultimately litigation, which in turn could give tisc to
reputational damages, management distraction and/

ot the Company having to incur significant costs or
damages, particularly where claims are not insured or are
not fully insured.

In certain countries where the Group aperates,
particularly in emerging markets, local practices and the
legal envitonment may be such that enforcement of the
Group's legal rights is challenging.

»

The Group continues to monitor regulatory changes
in the jurisdictions in which it operates in order to
identify its obligations and implement appropriate
compliance and training programmes. The Group has
comprehensive global and, where applicable, regional
policies and procedures in place to address
competiuan law, data privacy, cthical business
conduct, whistle-blowing, anticorruption and bribery,
gifts and hospitality and charitable donations, among
others.

)

The Group undertook a comprehensive project o
ensure compliance with the GDPR, including data
mapping, updating palicics and procedures and
implementing additional controls and training.

The Group maintains in place industry standard
insurance cover to mitigate many potential litigaton
risks, such as employment practices liability, workers
compensation and general liability policies.

The Group has controls in place to manage and help
mitigate the risks associated with its various
contractual relationships, from exceution through ro
termination, insured and uninsured litigation and
other disputes. Regular litigation reports are provided
o the Board.

A dedicated Global Director of Compliance and Risk
Management has been hired to enhance the Group's
compliance and risk management regime.

Millennium & Copthorne
Hatels ple
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Viability risk assessment

Rusk reviews led by the Group Management Risk Committee and
overseen by the Audit & Risk Committee identify and evaluate the
Group’s principal risks in the context of its operating environment,
business objectives and enterprise risk management controls thar are in
place.

One element of this pertains to the assessment of the cash flow of

the Group over a three-year period for a viability risk assessment,
taking into account projected cashfiows available from operations and
lending facilities versus the estimated investment and working capital
requirements over the period.

Review period

For purposes of the Group’s viability risk assessment, the Directors once
again selected a three-year review period ending 31 December 2021,
alchough they have no reason to believe that the Group will not be viable
over a longer period. This three-year period was determined to be a
reasonable assessment period for several reasons:

First, the three-year period is in line with the Group’s rolling strategic
and financial plans, which are reviewed by the Board on an annual
basis;

* Sccond, many of the Group’s revolving credit lines have three-year
terms;

Third, the landscape of online competition has been changing rapidly,
as previously reported, and is likely to continue to change further in
the foresecable future, and it would be difficult to form a reasonable
judgment of how the online marketplace will evolve beyond a period
of three years.

Annual Report

Viability Statement

In accordance with provision C.2.2 of the UK Corporate Governance
Code, the Directors have carried out a robust assessment of the principal
risks facing the Group, including those that would threaten its business
model, future performance, solvency or liquidity. This assessment
involved a review of the prospects of the Group over the three-year
period o 31 December 2021, considering the Group's strategy and the
Group’s principal risks and how these are managed over this period, as
detailed on pages 40 ro 44.

The Directors believe the three-year periad is appropriate for the
reasons stated above. The three-year strategic and financial plans are
supplemented by regular Board briefings provided by management and
the discussion of any significant new initiatives, trends, transactions or
other marters that may impact the Group or its business. Based on this
assessment, the Directors have a reasonable expectation that the Group
will be able to continue in operation and meet its liabilities, as they fall
due, over the petiod 1 31 December 2021.

Approval of Strategic Report

‘The Strategic Report comprises the following sections: Chairman’s
statement, Business review and strategy, Key performance indicators,
Financial performance and regional performances, Corporate
responsibility and Our risks sections. The Strategic Report was approved
by the Board and has been signed on tts behalf by:

Kwek Leng Beng
Chairman of the Board

14 February 2019
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BOARD OF
DIRECTORS

WK NG BENG (N
Chairman of the Board and
Chairman ol the Nominations
Commitlee

HIS LXCLLLLNCY

SHAL AT VAL (NI
Senior Independent
Director and Chair of the
Remuneration Committee

Kwek Leng Beng has been the Chairman of
Millennium & Copthorne Hotels plic since 1ts
incorporation. Heisalso the Executive Chairman
of City Developments Limited and Chairman
and Managing Director of Hong Leong Finance
Limuted. He also was the Non-Executive
Chairman of Hong Leong Asia Limited unat s
Annual General Meeting in Apnl 2017, when he
stepped down as its Chairman and as a Director.

Mr Kwek holds an honorary doctorate in
Business Admumustration in Haospitality from
Johnson & Wales University in the US, and has
an honorary doctorate from Oxford Brookes

University in the UK.

Mr Kwek has distinguished himself in property
investment and development, hotel ownership
and management, finanoal services, and
industrial enterprises. He leads a business empire
worth over US$32b in diversified premium assets
wotldwide and has companies traded on 6 of
the world’s stock markets. Mr Kwek’s enterprise
employs over 40,000 employees across a range
of businesses 1n Asia-Pacific, the Middle Fast,
Europe, and North America.

Shaukat Aziz was appomted to the Board in
June 2009, He was elected as Prime Minister of
Pakistan and served berween 2004 and 2007,
having previously held the post of Finance
Minister for five years.

After  graduaung from Gordon  College,
Rawalpindi in 1967, Mr Azuz ganed a
MBA degree from the Insticute of Business
Admimstration, Universicy of Karachi. An
internship at Ciubank marked the beginning of
a 30 year career in global finance, encompassing
roles globally. As Execuuve Vice President,
he held several senior management posinons
in Cinbank, including Head of Institutional
Banking for Central Eastern Europe, the Middle
Fast and Africa, and later for Asia Pacific,
followed by Chief Executive of their global
wealth management business, A renowned
public speaker on economuc and geopolitical
affairs, Mr Aziz is a member of several boards
and advisory boards of various commercial and
non-profit entities around the world.

Millenmum & Copthorne
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KW FENG PO oy
Non-Executive Director

ISV I 1 T S NG
Non-lixeculive Director

MAREBINTHLECT o O0N
Independent Non-Execulive
Dircetor and Chair of the
Audit & Risk Commillee

Kwek Leng Peck was appointed to the Board
in February 1995, prior to the Hotation of the
Company on the London Stock Exchange.
He holds directorships 1n most of the fisted
companies within the Hong Leong Group
of companies in Singapore, including Ciry
Developments Limited, Hong Leong Finance
Limited, and China Yuchai International
Limited. He also serves as an Executive Drrecror
for Hong Leong Asia Limited, and is Non-
Executive Chairman of ‘lasek Corporation
Berhad.

Kwek Eik Sheng was appoimnted to the Board
in April 2008. He has been with the Hong
Leong Group of companies in Singapore since
2066 and joined City Developments Limited in
2009, where he currently serves as the Group

Chief Strategy Officer.

Mr Kwek holds a Bachelor of Engineering in
Flectrical and Electronics Engineening from
Imperial College of Science, Technology and
Medicine and a MDPhil in Finance from Judge
Business School, Cambridge University.

Marun Leitch was appomnted to the Board
i May 2017. Mr Lench is an internauonal
tinance executive with significant experience
in both publicly quoted and private equiry
owned groups. He is a Chartered Accountant
and has since 2013 provided finance. strategy,
corporate finance and other services to a number
of internanonal businesses, including Volac
Internarional and Constantia Flexibles. Before
that he was Chief Financial Officer ar Innovia
Films, Quest International and Antalis Group.
He began his corporate carcer at Pepsi-Cola
International 1n 1993, having worked for Price
Waterhouse in both the UK and US between
1979 and 1993.
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DIRECTORS
CONTINUED

CHRINTIAN DL

CHEVEN AV N
Independent
Non-Lxcculive Director

DANITL IR SEBAT LIS vy
Independent
Non-Execulive Director

Christian de Charnacé was appointed to the
Board in August 2017. He has over 40 years
of global experience in merchant, corporate
and nsdtutional banking. Most recently he
was CEQ, Investment Banking Asia Pacific, for
BNP Paribas based in Hong Kong. He has since
1980 led various divisions of the bank working
in Singapore, Hong Kong, Seoul, Los Angeles,
Taiper, Tokyo, Paris and London. Mr de
Charnacé has been involved 1n numerous capital
markets, financing and advisory transactions for
chents throughout Asia, the US and Europe,
and has considerable experience in advising
histed companies. He began his banking carcer at
Bank of America, workang in its Multinational
Drvision. He also serves as a Non-Executive
Director of Golden Agri-Rescurces Led and an
Independent President Commissioner on the
Board of BNP Paribas Sekuritas Indonesia.

Daniel Desbaillets was appointed to the Board
in September 2016, Prior to his appointment
Mr  Desbaillets was an Independent Non-
Executive Director of M&C REIT Management
Limited, the manager for CDL Hospitality Real
Estate Investment Trust (“H-REIT™), and also
of M&(C Business Trust Management Limited,
the trustee-manager for CDL  Hospitalicy
Business Trust ("HBT™)., Both H-REIT and
HBT are comprised as a stapled group in CDL
Hospitality Trusts (*CDLHT™) which is listed
on the Singapore Exchange Securties Trading
Limited.

Mr  Desbaillets has  extensive  hospiality
expetience. He has been in the hospitlity
industry since 1973 holding senior pesitions
with InterContinental Hotel Group, Hilton
and Shangn-La. He was appointed to the boards
of CDLHT as an Independent Non-Execurive
Director in July 2010.

A — Member of the Audit & Risk Commuttee
R — Member of the Remuneration Committee
N — Member of the Nominations Commuttee

Millennium & Copthorne
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DIRECTORS
REPORT

INTRODUCTION
The Ditectors present their annual report of the business and the Group,

together with the financial statements and auditor’s repaerr, for the year
ended 31 December 2018.

The Directors’ Report is required to be produced under the Companies
Act 2006 (the “Act™). The Financial Conduct Autherity’s (*FCA™)
Disclosure Guidance and Transparency Rules (“DTRs”) and Listing
Rules (*LRs") also require the Company to make certain disclosures.

The purposc of the Ditectors’ Repart is to provide shareholders with
ccrtain statutoty information about the Company, its Direcrors and its
operations. The Strategic Report informs shareholders of and helps them
assess how the Directors have performed i their duty to promore the
SUCCESS Df tht company.

Other informacion that is relevant to this report, and which is also incorporated by refetence, including information required in accordance with the

Act and LR 9.8.4R, can be located as follows:

DISCT OSURL SHCLION o N PAGE
Directors’ emoluments Directors Remuneration Report 71
Long Term Ingentive schemes Details of the Group’s employee share schemnes are set out

in Note 23 of the consolidated financial starements and

also on pages B0 and 82 of the Direcrors” annual report on

remuneration. Details of the shares held by the Millennium &

Copthorne Hotels plc Employee Benefit Trust can be found

In the Directors’ Report on page 53 and in Note 30 of the

o Conso[idatcdfinaﬂcﬂ Statements on page 167 -

Incerest capitalised by the Group Nate 12 of the fogp§glidgycd financial statements 135
Parent participation in a placing by a listed subsidiay ~~ None o o S
qugactiqfisiigniﬁmnce with a dizector or controlling shareholder ~ None S S o
Provision of services by a controlling shareholder Note 33 of the consolidated financial statements . leg -
Nen-preemptive issues of equity for cash None S o o
Non-preemptive issues of equity for cash in relation to major None
subsidiary undertakings L o o
Agreements with the controlling shareholder Corporate governance statement - 6{ -
Employee imvolvement and policies Corporate responsibility 3land32
Greenhouse gas emissions Corporare responsibility From page 32

COMPANY §'IAILS

Millennium & Copthorne Hotels plc 1s a public limited company
incarporated under the laws of England and Wales. It has a premium
listing on the London Stock Exchange main marker for listed sccurities
and 15 a constituent of the FTSE 250 index.

STRALRGIC REPORT

This report is prepared by the Directors and is found on pages 18 to

45. The Strategic Report is requited by the Act to provide a fair review
of the Company's business, together with a description of the principal
risks and uncertainties facing the Company. [t includes an analysis of
the development and performance of the Company’s business during the
year and the position of its business at the end of the year, as well as a
description of the Company's strategy and business model.

BOARD OF DIRECTORS

The names and biographical details of the Directors holding office as
at 31 December 2018 are shown on pages 48 1o 50. Three Direcrors,
including Jennifer Fox, Sue Farr and Gervase MacGregor, served as
Directors of the Company for a portion of the year, but stepped down
on 27 Seprember 2018, 31 Ociober 2018 and 1 December 2018,
respectively.

DIRECTORS' SHAREHOLDINGS

Details of the Directors’ shareholdings at 31 December 2018 are shown
on page 82. No change to these shareholdings has occurred between

31 December 2018 and the date of this report.

Annual Report
& Accounts 2018



DIRECTORS
REPORT
CONTINUED

APPOINTMENT AND REMOVAL OF DIRECTORS

A Director may be appointed to fill a casual vacancy or as an additional
Director by an ordinary resolution of shareholdets. In addidon, the
Directors may appeint a Dircctor to fill a casual vacancy or as an
additional Directer, provided that the individual tetires at the next
Annual General Meeting,

In line with the UK Corporate Governance Code, which provides that
all directors of FTSE 350 companies should stand for election or re-
election by shareholders every year, all members of the Board will retire
and scck re-clection at this year's Annual General Mecting. The eligibility
requirements for Directors 10 be appointed at a general meeting are
specified in the Company’s Articles of Association.

A Director may be remaoved by the Company in certain circumstances

as set out in the Company’s Articles of Association or the Director’s
appointment letter, including by an ordinary resolution of the Company,
upon terminatian of the Director’s appointment letter by the Company
or being given written notice to resign signed by all of the other
Directors, or in the event the Director becomes prohibited by law from
acting as a Direcror.

RESULTS AND DIVIDENDS
The results of the Group for the year ended 31 December 2018 are set
out on pages 104 to 185.

An inwrim dividend for the year ended 31 December 2018 of 2.08p per
share was paid on 28 September 2018. The Directors are recommending
a final dividend of 2.15p per share (2017: 4.42p), which, if approved at
the Company’s Annual General Mecting on 10 May 2019, will be paid
on 17 May 2019 to sharcholders on the register on 15 March 2019,

POLITICAL DONATIONS AND EXPENDITURE

No donations were made by the Group for political purposes and the
Group did not incur any political cxpenditure during the year (2017:
£nil). The Company operates a politically neutral policy with regard to
any political donations and expenditure it may elect to make. See the
Corporate Responsibilicy Report on page 36 for details of the Company’s
nan-palitical charitable activities.

FENANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

An indication of the Group’s financial nsk management objectives and
policies in respect of the use of financial instruments and exposure of the
Company to price risk, credit risk, liquidity risk and cash flow risk are set
out in Note 22 to the consolidated financial statements.

GREENHOUSE GAS EMISSIONS
All disclosures concerning the Group's greenhouse gas emissions can be
found in the Corporate Responsibility Report from page 32.

Rnlile nnium & Cop;hl;;ne

EMPLOYEE INVOLVEMENT AND DISABLED PERSONS
We valuc highly the rich cthnic and cultural diversity of our people. The
Group operates in over 26 countries and employed 11,504 employees
worldwide during the year. We are an equal opportunities employer

and our objective is to ensure that no employee or other worker or

job applicant receives less favourable treatment, directly or indirectly,

on the grounds of age, disability, gender reassignment, marital or civil
partner status, pregnancy or maternity, race, colour, nationality, ethnic or
national origin, religion or belief, sex ot sexual orientation.

Furthet, our policies encourage the employment, training and
advancement of disabled persons, having regard to their particular
apritudes and abilirties, provided that they can be employed in a safe
working cnvironment. Suitable employment would, if passible, be
found for any employee who becomes disabled during the course of
employment.

The Group values the engagement of its emplayees and endeavours

w kecp employees informed abour matters of concern to them and

the performance of the Company, whether through management
presentations, global and regional intranet sites and other
communications. Likewise, the Group seeks to consult with employees
through various means and on a regular basis so that their views can be
taken into account. The Group currently operates an HM Revenue &
Customs compliant Save as You Earn Scheme, an all-employee share
plan for employees in the UK, and Long Term Incentive Plan, Executive
Share Plan and Deferred Share Bonus Plan for certain levels of executives
globally. The primary objectives of these plans are to incentivise

and engage our employees and align their interests with the Group’s
performance. Further details of the Group’s employee benefits are set out
in Note 23 to the Company's consolidated financial statements.

During 2018, the Board received detailed reports in relation to the

new UK Corporate Governance Code {the “New Cade”) that became
cffective on 1 January 2019. The New Code has expanded the roles of
the Remuneration Committee and the Nominations Commmittee; in
particular, the Remuneration Commitree has been developing proposals
with regard to the wider worlforce. The Remuneration Cemmittee,

in conjunction with senior management and PricewaterhouseCoopers,
developed a formal framework that will allow the Board to understand
the views of and engage with the workforce. This has involved the
establishment of a workforce advisory panel. Further details relating 1o
the workforce advisory panel and work undertaken by the Remuneranon
Committee to address some of the New Code requirements, is detailed in
the Directors Remuneration Report and will be further claborated in the
company’s 2019 Arnual Repert and Accounts.

FUTURE DEVELOPMENTS
A discussion of the likely future devclopments in the business of the
Group can be found in the Strategic Report on page 18.

Hotels plc



RESEARCH AND DEVELOPMENT

Whilst we continue to teview ways to improve our service and product
offerings, and regularly invest in our people and assets, the Group did
not conduct significant research and development activities during the
year.

BRANCHES
The Company did not have any branches outside the UK during the

year.

GOING CONCERN BASIS OF ACCOUNTING

The Directors, having made appropriate enquiries, have a reasonable
expectation that the Group has adequate resources to continue in
operation for the foreseeable furure, which for this purpase is a period of
at least 12 months from the date of approval of the Company’s financial
statements, Accordingly, they continue to considet it appropriate

to adopt the going concern basis of accounting in preparing the
consolidated financial statements of the Group. Further derails on this
assessment are included on page 112, within Note 2.1 to the Group
financial statements.

AMENDMENTTOTHE COMPANY'S ARTICLES OF
ASSOCIATION

The Company's Articles of Association may only be amended by special
resolution of its shareholders in accordance with the Act.

SIGNIFICANT AGREEMENTS

There are no significant agreements to which the Company is a party
that take effect, are altered or rerminate upon a change of control of
the Company following a rakeover bid. However, as mentioned in
the “Payment for loss of office” sectzon in this Directoss’ Report, the
Company's share plans include change of control provisions.

SHARE CAPTIAL AND RELATED MATTERS

The Company’s issued share capital ar 31 December 2018 consisted of
324,791,486 fully paid ordinary shares of 30 pence each. The shares

arc traded on the Main Market of the London Stock Exchange. Durning
2018, 30,731 new shares were issued under employee share plans.
Further details of the changes w0 the Company’s ordinary issued share
capital during the year are shown 1n Notc 29 to the Company’s financial
statements.

RIGHTS NT'TACHED 10 SHARES

Rights and obligations artached to the Company’s erdinary shares are
set out in the Company’s Articles of Association, a copy of which can
be abrained from Companies House or from the Company's investor
relations website at https://investors.millennumhotels.com/corporate-
governance/policies.

53

With regard to the Company’s ordinary shares:

* each ordinary share of the Company ranks equally in all respects:

» the voting rights associated with the Company’s ordinary shares are
not restricted and there are no restrictions on the wansfer of the shares
or the voting rights artached to them aside from certain restrictions
that may from time to time be imposed by applicable laws or
regulations, such as insider dealing laws. Pursuant to the Company’s
share dealing policies, the Company’s Directots and certain other
catepories of employees, such as persons discharging managerial
responsibility, are required to seck approval to deal in the Company's
shares during various restricted periods;

* the Directors are not aware of any agreements between sharcholders
that may result in restrictions on the transfer of the Company’s shares
ot on the voring rights attached to them; and

» none of the Company’s shares carties special rights with regard te
control of the Company,

EMPLOYEE SHARE SCHEMFS

The Company has in place a discretionary Employec Benefit Trust
known as the Millennium 8 Copthorne Hotels plc Employee Benefic
Trust 2006 (the “EBT”), which 1s funded by the Company and

was established to acquire shares in the Company for the benefic of
employees participating in the Company’s share-based incentive schemes.
Details of shares held by the EBT at 31 December 2018 are set out on
page 167. During 2018, 22,365 shares were released from the EBT in
respect of share schemes for employees. The trustee of the EBT, currenty
First Names (NTC) Trustees Limited, has the power to exercise all voting
rights in relation to the Company’s shares held within the EBT, burt
generally abstains from voting,

PAYMENT FOR LOSS OF OFFICE

The Company does not have an agreement with any Director or
employee that would provide compensation for loss of office or
employment resulting from a takeover bid. However, all of the
Company’s employee share plans contain provisions relating to a change
of control pursuant 1o a general offer, scheme of arrangement or similar
event. On such a change of control, eptions and awards granted 1o
employees under the Company’s share plans may vest and become
exercisable, subject to the satisfaction of any applicable performance
conditions at that time. Further details about payments to be made to
Directors for loss of office can be found in the Directors’ Remuneration
Report on page 81.

POWER OF DIRECTORS

The Directors may excrcise all the Company’s powers that are not
required by the law or the Company’s Arucles of Association to be
exercised in a general meeting. In particular, the Directars may exercise
all the powers of the Company to borrow money, issue shares, appoint
and remove directors and recommend and declare dividends.

7 .;\;liamepn;t
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CONTROLLING SHAREHOLDER INDEPENDENCE
DISCLOSURE

As of the date of this report, City Developments Limited (“CDL”) is
the controlling sharehelder of the Company. As tequired under LR
9.2.2ADR, the Company and CDL have entered into the Amended and
Restated Co-Operation Agreement dated 14 November 2014

(the “Co-Operauon Agreement”), which is intended to ensure that the
Company’s controlling sharcholder complies with the independence
provisions set out in the Listing Rules.

In zccerdance with LR 6.5.4R. the Co-operation Agreement establishes,
amang other things, that CDL and its associates shall (i) conduct all
transactions and arrangements with the Company and its subsidiaries
at arm’s length and on normal commercial terms; (ii) not take any
action which would have the effect of preventing the Company from
complying with its cbligations under the LRs; and (iii) not exercise any
voting or other rights and powers to propose or pracute the proposal of
a sharcholder resolution which is intended or appears to be intended to
circumvent the proper application of the LRs.

The Co-Operation Agreement will continue in operation as long as the
Company's shares arc listed on the premium segment of the Official List
of the London Stock Exchange and will terminate should CDL cease to
be a ‘controlling sharcholder’ as defined in the Listing Rules.

The Company confirms that during the year it has complied with the
independence provisions included within the Co-Operation Agreement
and, in so far as it is aware, CDL has complied with such provisions as
well.

The Co-Operation Agreement allows CDL to appeint up to five
Directors to the Board. As at the date of this report, CDL has appointed
three Directors.

ALLOTMENT OF SHARES

Under the Act, Directors may only allot shares or grant rights to
subscribe for, or convert any security into, shares if authorised to do
so by sharchaolders at the Company’s Annual General Mecting. Ar the
Company’s 2018 Annual General Meeting, shareholders appraoved
resolutions authorising the Company to:

« allot shares up to an aggregate nominal value of £32,476,608
(representing one-third of the Company’s issued share capital as at
28 March Z018);

* allot shares up to an aggregate nominal value of £64,953,216
{representing two-thirds of the Company’s issued share capital as at
28 March 2018) in connection with an offer by way of a rights issue
(i} to holders of ordinary shares in proportion (as neasly as may be
practicable) to their respective holdings; and (ii) to holders of other
equity securities as required by the rights of those securities or as the
Directors otherwise consider necessary;

= disapply pre-emption rights for cash issues of shares in respect of
ordinary shares with 2 nominal value of up to £4,871,491
(representing approximately 5% of the Company’s issued share capital
as at 28 March 2018); and

» disapply pre-empuion rights for cash issues of shares in respect of
ordmary shares with a nominal value of up to an additional
£4,871,491 (representing approximately 5% of the Company’s issued
share capital as ar 28 March 2018) for purpose of financing (or
refinancing, if the authority is to be used within six months after the
original transaction) a transaction which the Directors determine to be
an acquisition or other capital investment, in hine with the Statement
of Principles on Disapplying Pre-Emption Rights most recently
published by The Pre-Emption Grougp.

The authority conferred on the Directors under chese resolutions will
expire at the conclusion of the Company’s next Annual General Mecting
or 30 June 2019, whichever is earlier. At the Company’s 2019 Annual
General Mesting sharcholders will be asked to renew these authorities.
Further details of these resolutions and other resolutions are contained in
the 2019 notice of Annual General Meeting.

The Co-Operation Agreement contains a provision that requires the
Company to use all reasonable endeavours to ensure that any issuc

of voting securities for cash (other than pursuant to an employee or
exccutive share option scheme) which takes place while the Company
is on the Official List of the London Stock Exchange, is carried out in
a mannet that provides CDL with an opportunity to acquire additional
ordinary shares at the time of such proposed issue for cash in such
amounts as are necessary to enable it to maintain its voting nights in the
Company at the same percentage level as is held immediacely prior to
such issue. These pre-emption rights are put to a vote of sharcholders
each ycar and most recently were approved at the Company’s Annual
General Meeting in May 2018,

PURCHASE OF OWN SHARES

The Company was zuthorised by sharcholders at its 2018 Annual
General Meeting to purchase its own shares on the market within
certain limits. In the period since the 2018 Annual General Meeting,
the Company has not exercised this authority. The Board will seck
shareholder approval ar the 2019 Annual General Meeting to renew this
authority to make market purchases of the Company’s shares.

DIRECTORS’ INDEMNITIES

The Articles of Association of the Company permit it to indemnify the
Directors of the Company ar any Group company against liabilities
incurred by them in relation to or in connection with their duties,
powers or office, to the extent permitted by law. The Company has
provided cach of its Directors with a qualifying third-party indemniry,

as defined in section 234 of the Act. In addition, the Company has
provided qualifying pension scheme indemnities to the directors of
Millennium 8 Copthorne Pension Trustee Limited, which acts as trustee

;'Iillennium & Coplhor;
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of the Group’s UK pension plan, and qualifying third-party indemnities
to the directors of its European subsidiary companies. The indemnities
do not apply in the event a covered person is preved to have committed a
criminal offence or otherwise where indemnification is prohibited by law.
These indemnities remain in force as at the date of this report.

In 2018, the Company purchased and maintained Directors’ and
Officers’ liability insurance coverage, which is intended to be renewed
again in 2019, No claim was made under any such indemnity or
insurance policy during the year.

ANNUAL GENERAL MEETING

The 2019 Annual General Meeting will be held at the Millennium
Hotel London Knightsbridge, 17 Sloane St, Knightsbridge, London
SWI1X 9NU on 10 May 2019 at 10.00 a.m. The Nortice of Meeting,
which will contain notes explaining the business to be transacted at
the meeting, will be seng to sharcholders under a covering letter from
the Chairman of the Company’s Board, together with a copy of the
Company 2018 annual report and accounts, at least 21 clear days in
advance.

At the meeting, the Chairman of the Board will present a review of the
Group's business first and a poll will be conducted for all resclutions
being pur forward to shareholders. Resolutions will be proposed to,
among other things, declare a final dividend, to receive the znnual report
and accounts, to approve the Directors’ remuneration report, to re-elect
all Directars, to re-appoint KPMG LLP as the auditor and to autherise
the Directors to approve their fees. In addition, sharcholders will be
asked to renew authorities referred to above. Following the meeting, the
voting results for each resolution will be published.

ENGAGEMENT WITH SHAREHOLDERS

The Board recognises and values the importance of maintaining an
effective investor relations and communication programme. The Board
is proactive in obtaining an understanding of sharcholder views on a
number of key matters affecting the Group and receives formal investor

feedback regularly.
In 2018, the Group’s sharehalders engagement activities included:

= formal investor presentations 1n respect of the Group’s 2017
preliminary results and 2018 interim results;

* various meetings or ¢onversations between the Company’s
management team, including the Group Chief Executive Officer,
Chief Financial Officer, Company Secretary and other members of the
team from time to time, and the Company’s major shareholders
during the year; and

Annual Report
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* various meetings of conversations between the Directors, including the
Chairman of the Board, the Senior Independent Director and other
Directors, and the Company’s institutional shareholders so that the
Board could gain a first-hand understanding of investor concerns.

In addition, the Company’s Annual General Meeting provides all
shareholders with the opportunity to ask questions on matters put forth
as tesolutions and to further develop their understanding of the business.

At the Company’s 2018 Annual General Meeting the company received
significant votes opposing the clection or re-clection of the independent
Non-Executive Directors. The Board is always mindful of sharcholder
concerns and has engaged regularly with sharcholders during the year wo
understand their concerns in respect of these resolutions this as well as
other maters.

His Excellency Shaukat Aziz, the Company’s Senior Independent
Director, is available to all shareholders if they have concerns that
communication through the normal channels has failed to resalve.

Qur website, hrtps://investars.millenniumhotels.com, contains
up-to-date information for our sharcholders and other interested parties,
including copies of previous annual reports and accounts, shareholder
citculars and presentations, share price information and information on
shareholder services.

ESSENTIAL CONTRACTS

The Group has contractual and other arrangements with numerous third
parties in support of its business activities. Whilst the termination of
some of these contracts might cause temporary disruption, none of the
arrangements is, individually, considered o be essential to the Group's
business.

RE-APPOINTMENT OF LHE AUDITOR

KPMG LLP has expressed their willingness to be reappointed as auditor
of the Company. Upon the recommendation of the Audit & Risk
Committee, resolutions 1o reappoint them as auditor and to authorise
the Directors to determine their remuneration will be proposed at the
Company’s 2019 Annual General Meeting.

& Accounts 2018
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SIGNIFICANT HOLDINGS

As at the date of this reporr, the Company had been notified, under DTR 5.1.2, of the following interests of three per cent or more in its total voting

rights:

# OF ORDINARY

SIGNIFICANT SHAREHOI DER SHARES

City Developments Limited - 21,749487
Inernational Value Advisers, LLC 21127368
é;ldmar{gacl;s Sccuritriicsr (Nominccsi)il.:d. 20,093,139 7
JNE Master Fund LP

Standard Life Aberdeen ple N 13707249

INTEREN (%)

NOTIFIED
NATLRE OF HOLDING

65.2 B lp}ijrem holding f!l}‘ﬂugh ;mriousisu-bsidiarics N

6-.51 o ﬁ_ qucs;rx::-r;t advisor o ] Vh_ o o

6.19 Discrct;mary investment manager ;)n behalf of
multiple managed portfolios™ o

;22 ) Discretionary investment manager on behalf of

- __ multiple managed portfolios o o

*On 3 January 2019 the Company was informed that the people subject to the noufication abligation were MSD Capral, L F , MSD Capital Management, LLC, JNE Partners LLP and Jonathan

Esfandi

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE STATEMENT

In compliance with DTR 7.2.1R, the disclosures required by DTR
7.2.2R r0 7.2.7R are set out in this Directors” Report and in the
Corporate Governance Statement on pages 57 1o 66, which together
with the Directors’ Statement of Responsibilities are incorporated by
reference into this report.

STALTEMENT OF THE DIRECTORS AS 10 DISCLOSURE OF
INFORMATIONTO LHE AUDITOR

In accordance with Section 418 of the Act, each Direcror who held ofhice
at the date of approval of this Directors’ Report confirms that:

= so far as he or she is aware, there is no relevant audit information of
which the Company’s auditor 15 unaware; and

* he or she has raken all the steps that he or she oughrt to have taken as 2
director in order to make himself or herself aware of any relevant audit
informarion and ta esrablish that the Company’s audiror is aware of
that information.

APPROVAL OF DIRECTORS REPOR'L
The Directars” Report and Corporate Governance Statement werc
approved by the Board on 14 February 2019.

By order of the Board

Jonathon Grech
Group General Counsel and Company Secretary

14 February 2619

Millenniym & Copthorne
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CORPORATE
GOVERNANCE STATEMENT

Dear Shareholders,

On behalf of the Board I present the Company’s Corporate Governance
Statement for the financdial year ended 31 December 2018. In this
statement, we describe our governance arrangements, how the Board and
its Commitrees operate and how the Directors discharged their duties
during the course of the year.

As we enter 2019, it is important that we have a highly engaged Board;
one that is knowledgeable and cognisant of the challenges faced by our
industry and our business and one that can support and challenge the
executive teamn, and is well equipped to oversee the development of
the Company, whilst maintaining appropriate and practical levels of
governance, financial controls and risk management,

BOARD CHANGES

The Nominations Comrmittee reviewed the structure of the Board's
committees during the year and the Board decided to amalgamare the
dunes of the Risk Commirtee and Audit Commirtee and form the Audic
& Risk Commirtee with effect from May 2018, This was done in light
of the commonalities of their remits and the establishment within the
Group of a robust risk management framework. The amalgamation of
the commirttees streamlines our Board’s resources and facilitates a holistic
ovessight of the Group’s business, financial, operatianal, regulatory,

compliance and risk management matters.

In addition, the departure of three Directors—Jennifer Fox, Sue Farr and
Gervase MacGregor—in the latter half of the year created an opportunity
for us to re-examine the composition of our Board and where deemed
appropriate adjust the membership of our Board and its Committees.

On the recommendation of the Nominations Committee, His Excellency
Shaukat Aziz was appointed as Chair of the Remuneration Commirtee

in November 2018, having served as a member of the Committee since
16 June 2009, and Christian de Charnacé was appointed as a member of
the Audit & Risk, Remuneration and Nominations Committees, during
the year.

As reported, we are in the process of conducting a search for a permanent
Group Chief Executive Officer and new independent Non-Executive
Directors. This is a top prierity for the Nominations Commurtee,

and, with regard to the search for a permanent Group Chief Execurive
Officer, we remain open to esther hiring an external candidare or
promoting talent from within the Company. We will cast the net as wide
as necessary to ensure we find the right candidates and that the Board
members have the appropriate mix of skills, diversity and experience,
aligned with the Group's strategics. These new appointments will require
time, careful deliberation and engagement by our Directors. More detail
on these efforts is provided in the Nominations Committee Report.

Annual Report

CHANGES TOTHE UK CORPORATE GOVERNANCE CODE
In July 2018, the Financial Reperting Council issued a revised version
of the UK Corporate Governance Code (the “New Code™), which

is effective for financial years beginning on or after 1 January 2019.
Therefore, the Company will be required to report on the application
of the New Code starting with the Company’s 2019 annual report and
accounts. [n anticipation of the New Code becoming effective, the Board
and its Committees received regular updates and reporis on the New
Code and developments in corporate governance during the course of
2018. The Directors have noted these changes and have considered the
Group's approach 1o addressing them within an enhanced governance
regime. We look forward to reporting on this work in due course.

BOARD PRIORITIES

In 2018, the business landscape remained challenging in light of the
geopolitical events and regulatory changes experienced around the world.
These included the possible withdrawal of the UK from the European
Union (“Brexit”) and the uncertainty surrounding that process; global
trade tensions, particularly between the US and China; the impact

of terrorism, especially in certain key gateway cities, such as London

and Paris; and increasing minimum wages in many jurisdictions. The
hospitality sector alse continued to face headwinds due o disruptive
innovation and change within the industry, with margins impacted by
the rapid growth of online travel agencies and intensifying competition
from large-scale, asset-light hotel management chains. The Group's
financial performance continued to be impacted in the near term

as a result of the full closure of the Millennium Mayfair Horel for
refurbishment, as reported earlier; weaker operating performance in
Europc as well as the level of capiral expenditure required o invest in
our hotel estate. Against this backdrop, the Board and management team
spent a considerable amount of time discussing these matters and their
impact on the business.

The Board is cognisant that in addition to meeting its fiduciary duties
and corporate governance requirements, one of the Board’s key priorities
is to focus on developing and implementing strategies to help the Group
navigate through these headwinds. In particular, the Board must find
solutions to turn around loss-making hotels and improve the Group’s
performance. This will help w accelerate growth and increase sharcholder
value. The Board remains diligent, watchful of the evolving landscape
within the industry, and we understand the need to act nimbly and
pragmatically in order to navigate this new landscape. As part of this, we
may at times consider affiliating with larger international hotel chains w
manage certain assets where we believe doing so will be accrerive to their
value. [ believe that our entrepreneurial and innovative culture will help
the Company become more resilient and rackle these challenges in 2019
and beyond.

& Accounts 2018
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The following is a list of the key priorities the Board has identified for
2019.

Governance

= Succession planning for the Board and Committee membership

= The devclopment and implementation of new policies and processes
to enhance the Group’s corporate governance regime in line with the
requirements under the New Code

« The dedication of more time to reviewing and sctting the high-level
strategy and priorities for the Group

Operations
« Increased capital investment to transform and reposition the Group's
hotel estate

« Service and product innovation through, among ather things, further
investment inte and enhancement of the Company’s website,
e-commerce capabilities, loyalty programmes and its digital strategy
overall, with a particular focus on business-to-business initiatives

* A focus on tighter cost control

People
*» Succession planning for the Group Chief Executive Officer role and
other members of senior management

+ Flattening the management structure generally to make the tcam more
cfficient and agjle

SUCCESSION PLANNING

Succession planning at the Board and senior management levels is
essential to help minimise instability and ensure an appropriate level of
talent and resources are available to execute on the Group’s strategy.

The Nominations Committee, together with the wider Board, has taken
time to consider the role of the Group Chicf Executive Officer. Mr Tan
Kian Seng, who first joined the Company as Group Chief of Staff and
interim President of Asia in October 2016, resumed the role of interim
Group Chief Executive Officer cffective, 28 September 2018 and has
proven to be a safe pair of hands and provides stability to the Group as
we work to fill the skills gaps in our regional and functional leadership
teams. Whilst the Board believes that the appointment of a permanent
Chief Executive Officer is vitally important fot the Group, the Board
will take time ro consider and search carefully for the next Group Chief
Executive Officer.

DIVERSITY AND INCLUSION

We believe that it is imporrant to have diversity in the boardroom and we
recognise the benefits and different perspectives that diversity in all of its
forms—including diversity of age, gender, of ethnic origin, and cultural
and educational backgrounds—can bring to Board deliberations.

The Board continues to be mindful of the recommendations made

by Lord Davics and his “Women on Beards” report, which initially
stated that companies should strive to achieve at least 25% female
tepresentation on the Boards of FTSE 350 listed companies, and

the subsequent Hampton-Alexander Review conducted by Sir Philip
Hampton and the late Dame Helen Alexander, which challenges FTSE
350 companies to achicve a target of one-third of Board positions to be
held by women by 2020.

Whilst the Board remains of the opinion that appointments to the Board
should be based on merit, the benefits of diversity will be considered as
part of the Board’s succession planning and review of the composition

of the Board and its committees. We acknowledge that more work will
be required if we are to achieve the aspirational targets set out by Lord
Davics and, more recently, the Hampton-Alexander Review and we are
working wowards these goals as a top pricrity.

1t should be noted that Sue Farr had served on the Board from December
2613 until her tenure ended in October 2018, when she stepped down.
The Nominations Committee is already in the process of identifying a
successor; however, the recruitment process cannot be rushed. We will
require time and must follow due process in order to identify a suirable
candidate. We affirm our commitment to improving gender diversity on
our Board and across our Group more generally.

Biographies of the members of our Board of Directors can be found

on pages 48 to 50. The strength of the Board lies in its diversity, with
our Dircctors having a wide range of backgrounds and experience frem
across different industries. In some instances, Board members may have
similar professional backgrounds, but have different skill sets, which can
add value to the operation of the Board. The Nominations Committee
tegularly keeps undet review the composition of the Board to ensure thar
it remains best placed to ensure the success of the business and deliver on
our stakeholders’ incerests.

CULTURE AND VALUES

Our corporate culture and values define who we are, what we stand

for and how we do business, and are integral to the success of the
Group. The Board helps to establish the culture and identify the values
that guide it. We remain committed to upholding the highest ethical
standards, operating under the principle that the tone at the top sets the
standards for the rest of the business. From a practical perspective, the
senior management team is responsible for "living” the culture and values
on a day-to-day basis, and for clearly articulating these to colleagues
globally. As part of the New Code, we welcome the renewed focus on
culture and values and have alrcady started work around examining the
way they shape our behaviours and whether our policies and practices
are aligned with them. We recognise that there is room for improvement
in cultivating a corporate culture that is cohesive, collaborative and
collective and is focused on helping the Company to achieve its
carporate goals and even surpassing them. As our industry continues to

Millepnium & éopthnme
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face challenges, we need to nurture an innovative culture which will have
a positive impact for our business.

SHAREHOLDER ENGAGEMEN'L

During the year under review, some of my fellow Directors and I met
with several of our major shareholders to discuss our business, corporate
governance and other matters. The Boatrd found these meertings very
useful as they helped to inform us abour the concerns of our institutional
sharehclders and allowed us to have a constructive dialogue with them,
In particular, as previously reported, significant time was spent speaking
to shareholders about their views of the 620-pence offer by Agapier
Investments Limited, a company wholly-owned by our controlling
shareholder, City Developments Limited, for the entire issued and to be
issued ordinary share capital of the Company not already held by City
Developments Limited and its subsidiaries, which was announced on

9 Ocrober 2017 and which subsequently lapsed on 26 January 2018.
Agapier Investments Limited secured acceptances from 47.14% of the
minority shareholders, marginally falling short of cthe 50% threshold
requited for the bid to become unconditional.
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BOARD EVALUATION

This year's Board evaluation was conducted by the Company Secretariat
team, with support from Linstock Limited, through tailored and targeted
questionnaires and conversations with the Directors, with the aim of
drawing out the significant issues concerning the operation of the Board
and its commirtees and identifying areas for improvement. Further
infoermation relating to the Board evaluation process and a summary of
its key findings can be found on page 64 of this Corporate Governance
Statement,

I am pleased to report thart the Board has determined that the Company
has complied with the provisions of the UK Corporate Governance Code
in 2018, as further derailed in this Corporate Governance Statement.

I would like to thank our Directors for their diligent efforts over the
course of the year and look forward to their continued contributions and
leveraging their connections and expertise to help grow the business. The
following pages provides greater detail and insight into the work carried
out by the Board on your behalf.

As we embark upon 2019, we are cognisant of the persistent headwinds
that lic ahead. We shall remain focused on our strategic initiatives, and
we shall ensure that we as a Board can work with speed and agility o
make difficult and dmely decisions to drive our business performance.

Kwek Leng Beng
Chairman

14 February 2019
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COMPLIANCE WITH'IHE UK CORPORATE GOVERNANCE
CODE

Millennium & Copthorne Hotels plc (“M&C” or the “Company”) is
the holding company of the Millennium Hotels 8 Resorts group of
companics (the “Group”™). M&C is a premium listed company with
equity shares traded on the Main Market of the London Stock Exchange
and therefore the Company is subject to the UK Corporate Gevernance
Code (the “Code”). The Company has applied the main principles of the
April 2016 edition of the Code, a copy of which 15 available at
www.frc.org.uk., for the year ended 31 December 2018. It is the Board's
view that the Company has complied with all of the provisians of the
Code. The Strategic Report on pages 18 to 45 provides informarion
abour the Group’s strategy and business model, its financial and
operating performance during the year and the outlook for its business,
the principal risks and uncertainties which it faces, and its corporate
responsibility initiatives.

THE ROLE OF THE BOARD AND I'1S COMMITIEES

The Board provides leadership to the Group. It sets the Group’s strategy
and oversces implementation of that strategy, ensuring that acceptable
risks are taken and mitigated where possible. The Board ensures that
adecquate resources are in place in order to deliver long-term value to
shareholders and benefits to the wider communities in which the Group
operates. The Board's overriding duties are to run the Company as
stewards for the Company’s stakehelders, with good governance, strong
values and a safety-driven and ethical culture.

The activities of our Audit & Risk, Remunecration and Nominations
Committees are set out in the repores of each commiteee, which reports
are deemed to be part of this report. Details of the Group’s principal
risks can be found in the “Qur risks” section of the Strategic Report on
pages 40 to 44. The Company Secretary acts as secretary to all standing
committees of the Board.

There is a formal schedule of marters reserved specifically for decision
by the Board. A summary of the matters reserved for the Board is
detailed below. These are mattets that are significant to the Group as

a whale because of their potential strategic, financial and reputational
consequences. The Board has three main committees to deal with
specific activities of the Group’s affairs. The chair of each committee
provides detailed reports to the Board on the matters discussed at each
committee meeting to ensure that all Directors have visibility of, and the
opportunity to discuss, the marters being considered by each commitee.

* Long term objectives and commercial strategy;
= Oversight over the Group's operations and internal controls;
» Annual operating and capital expenditure budgets;

* Extension of the Group’s activities into new business or geographic
areas;

Changes relating o the Group’s capital structure, corperate structure
and listing scarus;

The half-yearly report, interim management statements and any
preliminary announcement of the final results;

The Annual Report and Accounts, including the corporate governance

statement and Directors’ remuncration report;

Dividend policy, declaration of the interim dividend and
recommendation of the final dividend;

Significant changes in accounting policies or practices;
The Group’s treasury policies;
Capital expenditure above £5m and material contracts and leases;

Significant contracts of the Company, or any subsidiary, not in the
ordinary course of business;

The disposal of any significant assets, whether a single transaction or
series of related transactions;

Any acquisition of land, property, or any addition of a hotel into the
portfolio by acquisition or by means of 2 management contracr;

Major investments, including the acquisition or disposal of interests of
more than five per cent of the voting shares of any cotpany ot the
making of any takeover offer;

Marketing campaigns ar sponsorships where expenditure exceeds
£500,000;

Approval of tesolutions and corresponding documentarion to be pur
forward to sharcholders at a general mecting;

Approval of all circulars, prospectuses and listing particulars;

Changes to the structure, size and compaosition of the board, following
recommendations from the Neminations Committes;

Appointments to the board, following recommendations by the
Nominations Committee;

Membership and chairmanship of Board commireees;

Appointment, re-appointment and removal of the external auditer to
be put to sharcholders for approval, following the recommendation of
the Audit & Risk Commirtee;

Determining the remuneration policy for the directors, company
secretary and other senior exccutives;

The introduction of new share incentive plans or major changes w
existing plans, to be put to shareholders for approval;

Determining the independence of directors;

Review of the Group’s overall corporate gavernance arrangements;
The making of any political donation;

Prosecution, defence or settlement of significant litigation;

Major changes to the rules of the group’s pension schemes; and

Changes to the schedule of matters reserved for board decisions.

Millennium & Copthorne
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Copies of the terms of reference for cach commirtee can be found on The respective responsibilities of the Chairman and Group Chief
the investor relations section of the Group’s website at hups://investors. Executive Officer are sct our below and have been approved by the
millenniumhotels.com. Board.!

The Group Chief Execurive Officer, supported by the regional heads of BOARD AND COMMITTEE NITENDANCE
operation and key functional heads, is responsible to the Board for the The Board generally has up to six regularly scheduled meerings per

Group’s operational performance, including: year and convenes ad hoc meetings as necessary. The actual number of
regularly scheduled Board and committee mectings attended by each
» implementing the Group strategy, as determined by the Board; Director during the year is shown below next to the maximum number
+ maintaining adequarc internal cantrol systems and risk management of such meetings that each Director could have attended during the year.
processes;

* monitoring operational performance against plans and targets and
reporting to the Board any significant variances; and

* maintaining an effective management team and succession plans.

AUDI & RISK REMUNLRAITON NOMINATIONS RISK

. o - B I} L\RJL COMMILUTEE (COMMIIIFE ('().\Ir.\ﬂ'l 15!; COMMITILF

Kwek Leng Beng - 767(6)77 - _ - 13 (3) -
Shaukat Azi? 5 1) B

Chrisuan de Charnacé? o 6(6) 4_(fi) _____ ) } n 1 Ll) -

Daniel Desbaillets . 6® s 6® Y

Susan Fare Y -4 -

Martin Leirch . e® s - @ -

Gervase MacGregot 15 34 - 2
IZ\_w_ck Leng Peck® o o 5(6) - - 303 R

Kwek Eik Sheng 7 6 - - 2

Jennifer Fox

1 Has Excellency Shaukar Az1z was unable to attend one Remuncration Committes metting owing to a conflicuing appointment

2 Chrusuzn de Charnacé was appointed as a member of the Audit & Risk Commuteee on 23 March 2018 and the Nominations and Remunerarton Commutrees on 2 November 2018

3 Sue Fart was unable o attend one board meeting and ane Remuneration Commitcee meeting oweng to personzl reasons Suc Farr siepped down fram che Board effecave on 31 October 2018
4 Gervase MacGregor was unable o actend four Board mectings owing to prior commitments and one Audur & Risk Committee meetings generally owing to a prior appointment Gervase
MacGregor resigned from the Board on 1 December 2018

Kwek Leng Peck was unable to attend one Board mecting owing to a conllictng appoincment

6 The Risk Commuttee was tmerged ineo the Audic Committee at the conclusion of the Company’s Annual General Meeung held in May 2018
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In addition to the regularly scheduled meetings shown above, the Board BOARD MEMBERSHIP
held two ad hoc meetings, the Audit & Risk Committee held one ad hoc At the date of this Report, the Board is comprised of seven directors,

meeting, and the Remuneranon Committee held four ad hoc meetings. including the Chairman, four independent Non-Executive Directors
Aurendance at those mectings is not reparted. The Risk Committee and two other Non-Executive Directors who, like the Chairman, are
held one ad hoc meeting before the duties of the Risk Committee were appointees of the majority sharcholder, City Developments Limited.
amalgamated with the Audit Commirttee. Each Director is expected to fulfil his or her duties for the benefit of

all shareholders and will each seek re-election by shareholders at the
forthcoming Annual General Meeting, The Directors possess a vartety
of skills and have a mix of regional and global experience, as can be seen
from the biographical details of the Directors set out on pages 48 to 50.

1 The responsibilities assigned to Tan Kian Seng, as che intenm Group Chief Exccutive Officer, are substantially as set out in chas reperc
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DIVISION OF RESPONSIBILITIES

There is a clear division of responsibilities between the Chairman, Greup
Chief Executive Officer and Senior Independent Director. The roles

of these positions are dearly defined so that no single individual has
unfettered powers of decision. Summaries of the roles and responsibilides
of the Chairman, Group Chief Executive Officer and Senior
Independent Director are set out below.

The Chairman
The Chairman provides leadership to the Board on all aspects of its role.
His key duties are 1o:

take a leadership role in setting a clear vision for the Group;

mentor the Group Chief Executive Officer as and when required;
balance the interests of management and the Board as well as the needs
of shareholders and management;

act as a liaison berween management and the Board as well as between
the Company and its shareholders;

manage communications and information disscmination processes
between the Company and its sharcholders and work closely with the
Company’s public relations team to achieve this objective;

establish the agenda and manage Board meeungs;

offer advice to and draw on the collective wisdom and cxperience of
Board members;

take a proactive role in the appointment of Direcrors and, following
such appointments, oversee the development of individual Directors;
and

develop the top management team, in particular the Group Chicf
Executive Officer, and cstablish a succession plan fer the Group Chief
Executive Officer position.

The Group Chief Executive Officer

The Group Chief Exccutive Officer reports to the Board and has
ultimate accountability for the day-to-day running of the Group. He
is responsible for leading the management team, operational activities
and performance of the Group, including the effective delivery of the
Company's stratcgy and busincss plan, as agreed by the Board, while
managing and mitigating the principal risks faced by the Group.

His duties are to:

»

evaluate and develop for approval by the Board the strategic plan, as
necessary, and the business plan and budget and deliver the same 1o
the satisfaction of the Board;

lead and act as an advocate for the executive management team of the
Group;

oversee the execution of the strategic vision and plans set by the board,
and assess the Group's performance and progress in meeting them;
promote the growth of the Group;

develop the management team and establish for approval by the

Nominations Committee and the Board a succession plan for key
Mmanagement appointments;

* ensure an appropriare system of internal controls and risk management
framework are embedded within the business;

= take into account the Chairman’s assessments of his performance from
time to time;

* be responsible for the day-to-day management of the Group’s business
and affairs and cnsure thar significant issucs thar arisc are resolved in
an efficient and timely manner; and

* lcad the management team to improve performance in every division.

Senior Independent Director
His duties are to;

= provide a channel of communication between the Chairman and the
Non-Executive Direcrors;

* act as an intermediary for sharcholders who wish to raise concerns that
wete not able to be raised through the normal channels of
communication;

* act as a sounding board for the Chairman and serve as an intermediary
for the Non-Executive Directors, where necessary;

= meet with the Non-Executive Directors ar least once a year to appraise
the performance of the Chairman and on such other occasions as are
decmed appropriate; and

= meet with a range of sharcholders when requested, to develop a berter
undcrstanding of their issucs and concerns, and provide their feedback
to the Board.

NON-EXECUHVE DIRECTORS

The independent Non-Executive Directors are responsible for helping

to develop the Company's strategy and providing rigorous, objective and
constructive challenge to create accountability and drive performance.
Among them, the current independent Non-Exccutive Directors have
the appropriate balance of skills, experience, knowledge and independent
judgement gained through varied backgtounds and experiences, within
the business world,

The responsibilities of the independent Non-Executive Directors include:

* hclping management to develop the Company's strategic objectives by
drawing on their own business and commercial experience and
challenging assumptions;

* scrutinising management’s performance in delivering against the
stratcgy;

» satisfying themsclves on the integrity of financial information and
ensuring that the Group’s risk and control systems are robust; and

» determining appropriate levels of remuneration and reviewing
succession planning for Executive Directors and members of the senior
management team, as appropriate;

Millennium & Copthorne
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The Board considers that each of the independent Non-Executive
Directors continues to have:

* the nme required to undereake the responsibilities of his or her role;
* unquestioned honesty and integrity;

* an ability to provide straregic and pragmatic thought to the relevant
matters;

» an ability to manage and consider materiality and risk tolerance as key
considerations in decision-making; and

* an understanding of the business of the Group and the risk
environment in which it operates, including the potential for internal
and external events to impact on health and safety, environmental,
reputational, regulatory, market and financial matters.

THE INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE BDIRECTIORS

In accordance with the Cade it is the Company’s policy that at least half
of the Board comprises of independent Non-Executive Directors. The
independent Non-Executive Directors have wide ranging internauional
expetience at senior levels in areas of finance, accounting, hospuality,
nvestment banking and international affairs. They bring stong,
independent judgement to the deliberations of the Board, particularly in
respect of the Group’s corporate governance regime.

On appointment, each independent Non-Executive Director

receives a letter of appointment setting out the terms of his or her
appointment, the fees o be paid and provisions relating to matters such
as confidenualivy of informarion, potential conflicts of interest and
share dealing restrictions. Such letters of appointment are subject to
termination by erther party giving one month’s notice. The appointment
and any subsequent reappointment of a Non-Executive Director are
subject at all rimes to the Articles of Association of the Company and
any nccessary shatehelder approval or ratification.

Based on the principles oudined in provision B.1.1 of the Code, the
Board regularly asscsses the independence of each of the Company’s
Non-Executive Directors, taking into account whether the Non-
Executive Director is independent in character and judgement, and
whether there are any relationships or circumstances that are likely to
affect, or could appear 10 affect, their judgement. Since the Chairman of
the Board, Kwek Leng Beng, Kwek Leng Peck and Kwek Eik Sheng are
appointecs of the controlling shareholder, City Developments Limited,
they are not considered to be independent for the purposes of Code
provision B.1.1.

In June 2018 His Excellency Shaukat Aziz reached his ninth anniversary
on the Board. The Code provides that more than nine years of service
on a Board is a factor that weighs against a director’s independence and
that the Board should state its reasons if it determines that a director is
independent notwithstanding the director having served for more than
nine years. In accordance with the Code, the Nominations Commirttee
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and the Board assessed the independence of Mr Aziz during the second
haif of the year and determined that, despite his tenure, he remained
independent in character and judgement since (among other things):

(i) he continued to make thoughtful and valuable contributions to the
deliberations of the Board; (ii) he continued to challenge management
and other members of the Board as appropriate; (iii) he was not beholden
to the Company for remuneration other than his annual director fee;
and (iv) none of the other factors weighing against independence

were present in terms of Mr Aziz's relationships with the Company, its
directors and/or sharehelders. The Board alse determined that it would
be helpful for Mr Aziz to remain as a director given his global experience
and the fact that his presence would help to provide continuity w the
Board.

In addition to the robust assessment of Mr Aziz's independence,

the Board conducted its regular annual independence review in
December 2018 and determined that there had not been a change to
the independent status of all of the other independent Non-Executive
Directors. Their diverse business backgrounds, skills and experience,
the Directors concluded, enable all of them to continue to bring
independent judgement to bear on issues of strategy, performance,
resources, key appointments, standards of conduct and other marters
presented to the Board.

At least once during the year the Chairman and Independent Non-
Executive Directors met, without management being present, to discuss
the performance of senior management, the Board and other martters of
importance. This meeting took place in December 2018,

DIVERSITY AND INCLUSION

The Board continues to recognise that diversity 1s key for introducing
different perspectives into the Board's debate and for better anticipating
the risks and opportunitics in building a long-term, sustainable business.
Whilst relevance of skills is key, a balance berween the skills represented
is sought to ensure that there is an appropriate mix of members from
diverse backgrounds. This contributes to minimising the risk of
‘groupthink’ by promoting a healthy culture of challenge and scrutiny.

The Board meets the recommendation, set out in the Report into the
Ethnic Diversity of UK Boards published in October 2017 by Sir John
Parker and the Parker Review Committee, that at least one person on
the Board is from an ethnic minority. Qur senior management team
represents 7 different nationalities across the globe, embodying our
corporate diversity and inclusion policy. We seek to recruit the best
talent possible for any role and we strive to achieve a well-balanced
representation of backgrounds, nationalities, cultures, gender, skills and
experiences, at all levels across the Group.

Annual Report
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DIRECTOR TRAINING AND INFORNMATION

All Directors have access to the advice of the Company Secretary, who

is responsible for ensuring that proper Board procedures and applicable
corporate governance rules and regulations are observed. In addition, the
Directors are able, if necessary; to take independent professional advice
ac the Company’s expense, The Non-Executive Directors also have the
opportunity to meet separately with the Chairman durning the year.

The Chairman, in conjunction with the Company Secretary, is also
responsible for ensuring that Directors receive appropriare training at the
Company's expense where specific expertise is required in the course of
the exercise of their duties. All Directors receive a Board compendium
detailing matters relating vo Board procedures and their dutics as
directors. A bespoke induction programme is established for any new
Directors who are appointed, based on their needs and experience.

CONFLICTS OF INTEREST

The Board has established agreed procedures for managing patential
operational conflicts of interest. These procedures 2nd any potential
conflicts authorised in accerdance with section 175 of the Companies
Act 2006, as permitted by the Company’s Articles of Association, are
reviewed by the Board at least annually and other potential conflicts are
reviewed as they may arisc from time to time. The Board is sarisfied thar
the precedures for managing potential conflicts zemain effecrive.

CO-OPERATION AGREEMENT

The Co-Operation Agrecment between the Company and its majority
sharcholder, City Developments Limited (*"CDL"), which originally
had been entered into at the time of the Company’s listing in 1996 was
subsequently amended and restated in November 2014 in order to ensure
compliance with the revised Listing Rules for the protection of minority
shareholders, which came into force in May 2014. The primary putpose
of this agreement is to ensure that the Group is able to carry on business
independently of CDL and its associates and that all agrecments and
transactions between the Company and subsidiaties, on the one hand,
and CDL and/or any of its respective group undertakings, on the other
hand, will be at arm'’s length and on a normal commercial basis. Under
the terms of the Amended and Restated Co-Operation Agreement, CDL
and its associates have agreed not to take any action that would prevent
the Company from complying with its obligations under the Listing
Rules. Furthermore, the Board and Neminations Commirtee will ar all
times consist of a majority of Directors who are independent of CDL.
Whilst the Rernuneration and Audit & Risk Committees shall at all
times be comprised solely of independent Non-Executive Directors,
CDL is entitled to nominate for appointment to the Board up to five
ditectors. As the Board is comprised of a majority of independent Non-
Executive Directors and the Company's ability to operate independently
of CDL is protccted by the Amended and Restated Co-Operation
Agreement, as well as the requirements under the Listing Rules, the
Board considers that there are adequate safeguards for the protection of
minority sharehelder interests.

The Company has in place a formal rclated party transaction policy and
the Audit & Risk Committee is responsible for reviewing related party
transactions on behalf ef the Board. During the year no new material
contracts or transactions between the Company or a subsidiary of the
Company and CDL or any other subsidiary of the CDL were entered
into except as disclosed in Note 33 on page 169 herein.

Pursuant to LR 9.8.4R(14)(c), the Board confirms that in respect of the
2018 financial year:

i the Amended and Restated Co-Operation Agreement with CDL
was in place during the year as required under LR 9.2.2ADR(1});

{ii) the Company complied with the independence undertakings

set out in LR 6.5.4R during the year as required in LR

9.2.2ADR(1); and

(iii)  so far as Board is aware, the independence undertakings in

LR 6.5.4R have been complied with during the year by CDL

and its associates;

EVALUATION PROCESS

The effectiveness of the Board is of paramount importance to the overall
success of the Group and the Company undertakes a formal and rigerous
annual review of the Board and its committees. The Board evaluation 1s
an important part of the Company’s corporate governance framework
and both the process and outcome are taken seriously by the Board.

Pursuant to the UK Corporate Governance Code the Company
conducted a board evaluarion in respect of the Board performance
during 2018. This evaluation was led by the Company Secretariar team
and was facilitated by Linstock Limited. Linstock Limited had no other
connection with the Company save for the provision of insider st
saftware.

The evaluation consisted of targeted questionnaires, which were
circulated by Linstock and focused on key themes relating to the effective
functioning of the Board and its committees. A report with anonymous
feedback and recommendations was then produced and distributed

to the Board and these results were discussed by the Directors at the
Company’s Board mecting in February 2019. As part of the excrise,

an evaluation of the Chairman was completed by the Non-Executive
Directors and individual performance reviews were submitted by the
Directors as well as performance reviews of each commiteee.

The principal areas for improvement arising from the survey resules
included the development of further opportunities for Directors te meet
and hear from management, a greater focus on key strategic initiatives
and challenges facing the hospitality industry; increased awareness of
employee and customer views and the Group's regional markets; and
succession planning at the Board and senior management levels. The
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Company Secretariat team will work with the Board’s Chairman and
other Directors 1o help enhance the operation of the Board and s
committees in these areas.

SUMMARY OF BOARD'S WORK DURING THE YEAR
During 2018, the Board considered all relevant marters within its remit,
with a particular focus on the following issues:

strategy and resource allocation;
+ finance and treasury;

risk assessment and mitigation;
stakeholder engagement;
governance and compliance;

assurance, risk and internal audit; and

succession planning,

INTERNAL CONTROL AND RISK MANAGEMEN'L
SYSLTEMIN RELATION 10 PREPARNTION OF
CONSOLIDATED ACCOU N LS

The Board is responsible for the Group's internal control and risk
management systems, including oversight over the processes and
procedures that are in place in connection with the preparation of
the Group's consolidated accounts. In establishing these systems, the
Directors have considered the nature of the Group’s business, the
principal risks to which the business is exposed, the likelihood of such
nisks occurring, their potential impact and the costs and resources
associated with mutigaung or protecting against such nisks, In most
instances such systems are designed to manage these principal risks,
rather than eliminate them. As such, they can provide only a teasonable,
and not absolute, assurance against them. The Group’s principal risk
factors and mitigating activities are described on pages 40 to 44.

The main features of the Group’s internal contrel and risk management
framework are set out below.

Strategy

+ The Group’s strategic direction is reviewed by the Board, generally on
an annual basis. Often as part of that process, a dedicated Board
straregy session 1s held with the Group Chief Execurive Officer and
other senior manapement as appropriate. Further details about the
Group's business model and strategy can be found on page 20.

Management prepares an annual budger for each year, in line with the
Group's strategy, and that budget is submitted to the Board for its
review and approval.

The Board reviews, management’s progress in developing, refining and
executing the Group’s strategy.

The Board reviews, at least quarterly, the Group’s performance and
how it tracks against the annual budget.
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Internal controls

« The Company reviews and confirms its level of compliance with the

Code on an annual basis.

The matters reserved to the Board require that significant transactions,
projects and prograrmmes must have specific Board approval.

If Board approval is not tequired, authority levels are prescribed and
delegated to ensure segregarion among management and proper
escalation of approval limits.

Group financial and treasury policies, controls and procedures are in
place and regulatly reviewed and updated.

All financial information published by the Group is subject to the
approval of the Audit & Risk Committee and the Board.

Risk management

» The principal risks of the Group are assessed annually by the Audit &

Risk Commitree.

During the yeat, there is an ongoing process for identifying, evaluating
and managing those risks and, if appropriate, modifying the risks in
light of changing conditions. This process is reviewed by the Audit &
Risk Committee on behalf of the Board and has been in place for the
year under review and up tw the date of approval of the Annual Report
and Accounts.

Operation

» Primary responsibility for the day-to-day operaticn of the internal
control and nsk management systems is delegated to the Group's
Chief Executive Officer, who chairs the management-level risk
committee. The heads of the Company’s operating regions and global
functions carry out regular reviews to ensure appropriate actions are
implemented to meet the Group’s objectives and manage its principal
risks appropriately.

Assurance

* The effectiveness of the internal control and risk management systems
is reviewed by our internal audit function and, where appropriate, by
the Group’s external auditor and/or external consultants, who report
te management and to the Audit & Risk Committee. As part of that
process, the internal audit department produces individual reports,
which ate issued to appropriate members of the management team
who are accountable to rectify any deficiencies and implement any
recommendations. These reports are summarised and discributed, as
appropriate, to the Audit & Risk Committee members, the Group
Chief Executive Officer, senior management and the external auditor
and, where necessary, issues ate drawn to the attention of the full
Board.

Annual Report
& Accounts 2018



CORPORATE
GOVERNANCE STATEMENT
CONTINUED

COMMUNICATIONS WITH SHAREBOLDERS
The Board and exccutive managerment teamn regularly meeract with
shareholders and analysts. In particular:

* Presentations are made after the announcement of the Group’s final
and halfyearly results. During these presentations, analysts have the
opportunity to ask questions of the Group Chief Executive Officer
and Chairman of the Board.

« Management meets with institutional shareholders on an ongoing
basis to review the Group’s performance, business model and
objectives. In addition, the Senior Independent Director often
conducts meetings with z range of major shareholdets during the year;
other Non-Executive Directors have the opportunity to atrend such
meetings. Significant feedback expressed by shareholders during those
mieetings is then provided to the Board in a timely manner.

* As part of the Company's regular investor relations activities, the
Group Chicf Executive Officer, the Company Secrctary and senior
finance personnel are available to answer querics raised by analysts and
institutional investors frorp tirpe to time.

* The Group’s website provides regular updates for investors and
contains all announcements made by the Group.

= At the Annual General Meeting, all sharcholders have the opportunity
to question the Chairman and other Directots, including the Chairs of
the Audit & Risk, Remuneration, and Nominations Committees. The
Company prepares individual resolutions en each substantially
separate issue to be put ta shareholders and does not combine
resolutions together inappropriately, and the Annual Report and
Accounts is laid before the sharecholders at the Annual General
Mecting. Notice of the Annual General Meeting and related papers are
sent to sharcholders at least 21 working days prior to the date of the
meeting, and the Company encourages all shareholders o make
positive use of the opportunity to communicate with the Board. A
schedule of the proxy votes cast at the meeting is then made available
on the Company’s website after the conclusion of the meeting,
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AUDIT & RISK
COMMITTEE REPORT

ANNUAL CHAIRMAN'S STATEMENT

Dear Shareholders,

As Chairman of the Audit & Risk Commirtee (the “Committee”), I am pleased to present the Committee’s report for the year ended 31 December
2018. The following pages provide an insight into how the Committee discharged 1ts responsibilities during the year and the key topics that it
considered in doing so. I will also share some of the details from the executive updates presented to the Committee from across the business.

OUR OBJECTIVES

The key objective of the Commitree throughout the year has remained the provision of effective governance over the appropriateness of the
Group's financial reporting including the adequacy of relared disclosures, the performance of both the internal audit function and the external
auditor, and the oversight of the Group's systems of internal control, business risks and related compliance activities.

OUR MEMBERS
The Board believes that amongst the members of the Committec who are Martin Leitch Chair, Danicl Desbaillers and Christian de Charnacé they
have suitable broad commercial knowledge and significant business experience.

The Interim Group Chief Executive Officer, Chief Financial Officer, senior finance managers, Company Secretary and Head of Internal Audir,
although not members of the Commirtee, also atcend the meetings, as does the senior statutory anditor from our external auditor, who is not
present when we discuss the auditor’s performance and/or remuneration.

As part of this process of working with the Board and to maximise cffectivencss, meetings of the Committee generally take place just prior
to Company Board meetings. The Chairman of the Committee reports to the Board as pare of a separate agendz item, on the activity of the
Committee and mateers of particnlar relevance to the Board in the conduct of their work.

OUR ROLE
The Committee’s terms of reference are available from the Group's website at htips://investors. millenniumbotels. com/corporate-governance/board-
commiteees

The Audit & Risk Committee holds regular, structured meetings and consults with senior management. The Committee frequently requests that
scniot operational and functional heads attend meetings in order to update the Committee with events in the business. Occasionally exvernal
business consultants werc also invittd 1o artend dre meetings to present specific projects. These meetings provide the Commirtee an opportunity to
understand the projects and assess management’s decisions.

The Commitree regulasly reviews steategic and operational risks and the associated controls and mitigating factors. The Committee receives
reports and bricfings from internal aydir and has reviewed the level of internal audit resource available within the Group and believes that it is
adequate for the size, structure and husiness risks of the Group and is supplemented with appropriate external resources where expertisc is needed.

FINANCIAL REPORTING the Committee as a whole prior to formal consideration by the Board.
The Committee plays a key role in overseeing the integnity of the Groups  Any issues which were deemed to be significant were discussed by the
financial statements, including any formal announcements relating 1o Committee members and other attendees, including management,
financial performance, and considering significant financial reporting external and internal auditors.

issues, judgements and estimates.
The Committee has sausfied itself that conrtrols over the accuracy and

The Committee reviewed the content and message of results and consistency of information presented in the annual report and accounts
the announcements, annual report and accounts, as well as trading are robust; and has confirmed to the Board that it believes this annual
updates. Draft reports are reviewed by the Commiutee Chairman and report and accounts is fair, balanced and understandable.
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AUDIT & RISK
COMMITTEE REPORT
CONTINUED

The significans issues considered by the Commitzee in relation ro the
financial statements during the year ended 31 December 2018, and the
actions taken to address these issues, are set out below:

+ Hotel trading performance. The Committee reviewed the Group’s
hotel performance with reference to average room rate, occupancy and
operating cost. Revenue per available room ("RevPAR’) of each hotel
was used as performance measurement to compare one hotel with
another within the Group, and also with other hotels within the
competitive set. The Group’s performance was monitored against the
previous year’s resules and budget.

+ Capiral expenditure and project funding, The Committee reviews
capital expenditure of the Group and monitors the performance of
newly refurbished hotels. The Committee reviewed the Group’s cash
position taking into account its future commitments on new capital
projects such as the Sunnyvale Califarnia project and Yangdong
development in Seoul with a combined funding requirement of
around £233m.

* Going concern statement. The Committee reviewed management's
analysis supporting the going concern basis of preparavion of the
Group’s financial statements. This included consideration of forccast
cash flows, availability of committed debr facilities and expected
covenant headroom. As a result of the assessment undertaken, the
Committee satisfied itself that the going concern basis of preparation
remained appropriate.

* Viability statement. The Commitrtee considered whether
management’s assessment adequately reflected the Group's risk
apperite and principal risks as disclosed on pages 40 to 44; whether the
period covered by the statement was reasonable given the strategy of
the Group and the regiens in which it operates; and whether the
assumptions and sensitivities identified, and stress-tested, represented
severe but plausible scenarios in the context of solvency and liquidity.
The Committee concurred with management’s assessment and
recommended the viability statement to the Board.

* Revenue recognition. The Committee and the external auditor
considered the appropriateness of the accounting treatment applied by
management in relation to revenue recognition. In particular, the
Committee considered the weatment of ‘IFRS 15 Revenue from
Contracts with Customers’ which was effective from the start of the
Group's financial year ended 31 December 2018. The Committee
concurred with management’s conclusion that there is no marterial
impact to revenue.

* Valuation and classification of investment properties and
impairment of hotel assets. The Commitice and the external auditor
considered the appropriateness of the accounting treatment applicd by
management in relation to revenue recognition. Further deails on the
assessment in this area is covered separatcly hereinafier.

IMPAIRMENT OF HOTEL ASSELS

Note 12 to the consolidated financial statements states that the carrying
amount of property, plant and equipment as at 31 December 2018 is
£3,153m (2017: £3,129m). Operating hotel assets are valued at historic
cost (or otherwise as permitted by the transitional provisions of [FRS 1)
and are reviewed annually to consider whether these values have been
impaired. The Group continucs to engage external valuation experts

to assist with the valuation exercise and impairment review. Financial
petformance and sensitivity of the valuation models to the other key
inputs means that the valuation remains inherently subjective.

The Committee examined management’s recommendations in

respect of the valuaticn of the Group’s hotel and property portfolio.

The Committee also analysed the reports of significant properties

and challenged the assumptions made where it thought fit. This is in
particular to the valuation of assets located in New York. The Committee
was satished with the valuation process and agreed thar:

« the sclection of assets tested was done appropriately, taking into
account indicators of impairment risk and matcriality;

« there was the appropriate use of third-party valuarion expertise;

+ sufficient robust challenge was given ro management by the external
auditor;

material judgemental assumptions thar were used 1n the valuations
were within reasonable parameters; and

conclusions have been appropriately drawn.

VALUATION ANLD CLASSIFICATION OF INVESTMEN']
PROPERTIES

In general, the carrying amount of investment properties is the fair value
of the properties as determined by a registered independent appraiser.
Fair values were determined having regard to recent market transactions
for similar properties 1n the same location as the Group's investment
properties. Where a fair value cannot be reasonably determined, the
property is held at cost.

Classification of an asset as investment property requires judgement;

and is determined by reference to future intentions and the Group’s
business model. The total carrying amount of investment properties as at
31 December 2018 is £668m {2017: £577m) as shown in Note 14 to the
consolidated financial statements.

The Committee reviews the valuation obrained from external valuers bi-
annually, which includes the assessment of net cash to be generated from
the properties, valuation assumptions and availability of comparable
market evidence, The Committec was satisfied with the valuation process
and the reasonableness of the valuation provided by the external valuers.
The Committce also agreed with the external auditor on the relevant
valuation disclosures to be included in the annual report.
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RISK MANAGEMENT AND INTERNAL CONTROLS
During the year, the Group had in place systems of internal contrals
and risk management and the Board has delegated to the Committee
responsibility for overseeing the effectiveness of these systems. In
particular, the Commirtee has oversight over the activities of the Group
Management Risk Committee, the Group internal audit function and
the external auditor.

At the full and half year, the Commirtee reviewed the Group’s principal
tisks, including those that would threaten its business model, future
performance, solvency or liquidity, and considered how risk exposures
had changed during the period as well as any new risks that had arisen.
As part of this process, the Commuttee also reviewed the status of key
risk indicators throughout the year against the risk appetite set, focusing
on any which were outside optimal ranges. Risks associated with Brexit
also were discussed and contingency plans were identified and, where
possible, implemented.

‘The system of internal controls is audited by the Group’s Internal Audit
funcuon (and commented on by the external auditor from time to time),
and it encompasses all controls including those relating to financial
reporting processes, operational and compliance controls and those
relating to risk management processes.

Based on the work conducted by the Committee i reviewing the
effectiveness of its systems of internal controls and risk management,
whilst matters were raised and considered by the Commirttee over the
course of the year, the Committee is satisfied that the Group's risk
management and internal control systems were adequate and effecuve o
address in all material respects the financial, operational and compliance
risks in light of the nature of the business and scale and diversity of the
Group's aperations. This review covered the period from the date of the
Company’s last annual report and accounts up to the date of approval of
this annual report and accounts.

With regard to CDL Hospitality Trusts (a Singaporean listed hospitality
trust in which the Group has a 37% interest but which is consolidated
within the Group’s results under IFRS 10} and Millennium &
Copthorne Horels New Zealand Limited and CDL Investments New
Zealand Limited (both of which are separately listed on the New Zealand
Stack Exchange), the Committes notes that these subsidianes provide
assurances on the effectiveness and adequacy of their internal control
frameworks in their annual reports, that they operate under stringent
requirements of their respective stock exchanges and have their own
governance regimes. These assurances form the basis on which the
Committee has concluded thar the businesses have effective internal
control and risk management systems in place.
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EXTERNAL AUDITOR PROCESS

There has been regular partner rotation, and Jonathan Downer took over
from Steve Masters after completion of the 2015 audit in February 2016.
The Committee is satisfied that KPMG continues to possess the skills
and experience required to fulfil its duties effectively and efficientdy.

The Committee is responsible for rccommending the appointment,
reappoinmment and remaval of the external auditor. A resolution to re-
appoint KPMG as the Group's external auditor will be propesed at the
Company's forthcoming Annual General Meeting.

Considerauon is given each year to an audit tender process as KPMG
LLP has been the Group's auditor since the listing of the Company on
the London Stock Exchange in 1996. Under the current transitional
rules, the latest year in which KPMG would be abie to undertake an
audit of the Company is to 31 December 2022,

NON-AUDIT SERVICES

In order to ensure the continued independence and objecuvity of the
Group's external auditor, the Group has strict policies regarding the
provision of non-audit services rendered by the external auditor. The
Committee’s approval ts required in advance for the provision of non-
audit services if the fee exceeds £30,000 for an individual assignment.
The Commuttee reviews non-audit fecs regularly. The Group's external
audirtor is prohibited from providing any service that would conflict with
their statutory responsibilitics or which would otherwise compromise
thesr objectiviry or independence.

With effect from financial year commencing from 1 January 2017,
KPMG is further prohibited from providing tax compliance services and
other conflicting non-audit services directly or indirectly to the Group’s
controlled entities in the EU to comply to the requirements issued in
the revised Ethical Standard for EU auditors. in this respect, PwC was
appointed to act as the tax adviser for the European region in 2017
whilst KPMG was retained for the other regions.

From the beginning of 2019 or ar the earliest practical date, KPMG will
cease to offer non-audit services to entities of the Group outside the EU.
Arrangement is currently made to appoint another advisors for these
regions.

During the year ended 31 December 2018, KPMG's audit fee

amounted to £3m {2017; £3m) and KPMG’s non-audir fees were £1m
(2017: £1m),
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AUDIT & RISK
COMMITTEE REPORT
CONTINUED

EFFECTIVENESS OF THE AUDIT & RISK COMMITTEE

The Board is satisfied that Martin Leitch and Christian de Charnacé have
recent and relevant financial experience as required by the provisions

of the UK Corparate Governance Code. The other member is Daniel
Desbaillets.

The Committee’s performance is reviewed annually through a facilitated
evaluation gonducted by Lintstock Limited, the results of which showed
that the Committee was effective. During the year, the Committee has
also undertaken the following:

Discussed changes in accounting policies and initial work indicated
that the impact on the Group's financial statemnents due wo [FRS 16;

Monitor the progress of major capital expenditure work such as the
£50m refurbishment at the Mayfair hotel;

Reviewed the schedule of Board reserved matters;

Discussed quarterly reports relating to health and safety, litigation,
treasury and tax.

Martin Leitch
Chair of the Audit & Risk Commitree

14 February 2019
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DIRECTORS’
REMUNERATION REPORT

ANNUAL CHAIRNIAN'S STATEMENT

Dear Shareholders,

I am pleased to present the Director’s Remuneration Report for the

year ended 31 December 2018. This is my first report to sharehelders
since | was appointed as chair of the Remuneration Commirree in
November 2018. I would like to thank my predecessor, Sue Farr, for her
contribution and leadership of the Committee during her tenure.

As usual, the Directars’ Remunerartion Report is split into two sections:
the first is our Remuneration Policy, which was last approved by
shareholders ar the Company’s Annual General Meeting in May 2017,
and the second is our annual repart on remuneration, which includes
this letter and is subject o an advisory vote at the Company’s 2019
Annual General Meeting to be held on 10 May 2019.

REVIEW OF 2018

During the year, Jennifer Fox was appointed as the Company'’s Group
Chief Executive Officer and as a Director of the Company. She served 1n
that capacity until 27 September 2018 at which point her employment
with the Group ccased after she and the Board mutually agreed it would
be best for her to step down. In addition to her contractual entidements,
the Committee considered carefully whether any payments should be
made under the Group’ variable pay arrangements. The Commirree
agreed thar it would be fair and equitable to pay Ms Fox a pro-rata bonus
payment of £234,375 for the period chart she was employed, taking into
consideration her effores and achievements during that time. Full details
are included in the body of the report.

Aside from Ms Fox’s remuneration arrangements, the primary focus of
the Committee this past year was to consider the changes to the UK
Corporate Governance Code thar will take effect from 1 January 2019.
Given the expansion of the Committee’s remit under the new version of
the Corporate Governance Code, we wanted to take care to consider the
new requirements and how they will impact our work as a Committee.

Other key matters considered by the Committee during the year include:

Considering a new diversity and inclusion policy that was rolled-out

across the Group;

+ Discussing the results of our first gender pay gap report and how we
can improve the position over rime;

= Determining the outcome of the performance conditions of the Long

Term Incentive Plan (“LT1P") awards granted on 3 August 2015;

Reviewing the structure of awards under the Company’s Executive
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Share Plan, which applies to the most senior members of the executive
management team, and determining the level of the awards made
during the year;

* The onboarding of the Committee’s remuneration consultant,
PricewaterhouscCoopers {“PwC"), which was engaged from 1
December 2017; and

* Reviewing the Committee’s own performance and its terms of
reference.

Several principles guidc the deliberations of the Committee.
Fundamentally, our work is about finding a balance: ensuring that
remuneration structures are designed 1n a way thar incentivises the
team to look after the medium-to-long term interests of stakeholders
when executing the Company strategy while allowing for sufficient
flexibility for us te recruit the best peaple to deliver on thar strategy.
Like many multinational companies, we source talent globally in an
increasingly competitive markecplace, so a “one-size-fits-all” approach to
remuneration is not well suited for our business. At the same time, we
remain cognizant of best practice in the UK and the expectations of our
institutional shareholders in terms of compensating our executive team,
as well as the need to have 1n place fair employment and remuneration
practices across the wider workforce. One change implemented over the
course of the year, for instance, was to require a two-year post-vesting
holding period for any LTIP awards made in the future. This will be
reflected in the next version of our Remuneration Policy.

LONGTERMINCENTIVE PLAN AWARDS

In connection with Ms Fox’s departure in September 2018, the
Committee agreed that her LTIP award lapsed effecuve as of the date
she ceased to be employed by the Group. No other awards were made
under the LTIP during the year and the only outstanding ETIP award
was the award made to Aloysius Lee, the former Group Chief Executive
Officer, in March 2016. After reviewing the Company’s achievement
against the relevant performance conditions for thar award, the
Committee determined that the Company had met a portion of one of
the performance conditions and that as a result 4,401 shares will vest in
March 2019.

GENDER PAY GAP

This was the first year the Group published its gender pay gap report. As
required by legislation, this information 1s based on snapshot of darta as
at 5 April 2017 and further information relating to this can be found at
https://investors.millenmumhotels.com/corporate-responsibility.
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DIRECTORS’
REMUNERATION REPORT
CONTINUED

Our gender pay gap report, prepared for our operating subsidiary

that manages two of our Londan properties, reflects an industry-wide
structural phenomenon where we have more men in senior, higher-
paid roles than women rather than unequal pay for similar jobs. We
are cammitted to achicving better gender balance across all positions in
the Company and this remains a key priority for the Group in 2019.
Accordingly, we will continue te measure our gender pay regulatly o
ensure that what we are doing is having the desired cffect, and if not,
what we can de differently.

LOOKING AHEAD

in 2019, the Committee will continue to oversee the implementation of
the new standards under the revised UK Corporate Governance Code,
review whether cur Remuneration Policy, which we intend to put forth
for rc-approval by sharcholders at our 2020 Annual General Mceting,
remains fit for purpose and recommend appropriate changes to the
policy following that review, and we stand ready to consider any future
Executive Director appointments that may be made durning the year.

CHANGES IN COMMITTEE MEMBERSHIY

As previously noted, Sue Farr, the former chair of the Commirtee,
resigned from the Board on 31 October 2018, and on the
recommendation of the Nominations Committee, the Board approved
not only my appointment as chair of the Committee, but also the
appointment of Christian de Charnacé as a member of the Committee,
in each case with effect from 2 November 2018. We welcome Christian
ra the Committee and look forward to his participation in 2019.

We will continue to strive to apply best practice when it comes to our
remuneration policies and practices and listen carcfully te feedback from
our sharchoiders. We therefore hope that you show your support for our
approach te remuneration by voting for the Directors Remuneration
Report at our 2019 Annual General Meeung,

Yours faithfully,

His Excellency Shaulat Aziz
Chair of the Remuneration Commitree

14 February 2019
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COMMITTEE GOVERNANCE

The composition of the Remuneration Committee, as at the date of this
report, comprises of His Excellency Shaukat Aziz, who was appointed to
the Committee in June 2009 and now acts as its chair, Daniel Desbaillets
and Chnstian de Charnacé, all of whom are independent Non-Exccutive
Directors. There were six scheduled meettngs in 2018 and four ad hec
meetings. Attendance at the regularly scheduled meetings is shown in the
Corporate Governance Statement on page 61,

The Chairman of the Board, interim Group Chief Executive Officer
and Chief Financial Officer are invited to attend Committee meetings
as appropriate. The Committee considers their views when reviewing
the remuneration of Executive Directors and other senior executives;
however, no Directors are involved in the consideration of their

own remuneration. The Company Secretary acts as sectetary to the
Committee and an appointed remuneration consultant is in place ro
support the work of the Committee. Further information regarding the
Committee’s adviser can be found on page 85 of «his report.

No member of the Commuttee has any personal financial interest in the
matters to be decided by the Commirtee or involvement 1n the day-to-
day management of the business of the Group.

ROLE

The Committee has delegated authority from the Board to determine,

in consultation with the Chairman of the Board and Interim Group
Chief Executive Officer as appropriate, the temuneration policies and
individual remuneration arrangements for the Chatrman of the Board,
Executive Directors, the Company Secretary znd the senior management
team. It also oversees the Group’s share-based incentive arrangements.

In addition, the Committee is authorised to:

administer the Company’s share schemes;

oversee major changes to employee benefit structures throughout the
Group;

ensure that performance telated elements of remuneration form a

significant proportion of the total remuneration of Executive Direcrors

and are designed to align their interests with those of sharcholders;

consider whether the Executive Directors should be eligible for annual
bonuses and benefits under long-term incentive schemes;

ptovide packages needed to attract, retain and motivate Executive
Directors of the quality required;

approve the terms and duration of any service agreement to be entered
into with an Executive Director;

* consider the compensation commitments payable to Executive
Directors under their service agreements or otherwise in the event of
carly tcrmination; and

* select and appoint consultants engaged to advise the Commireee,

The Committee’s terms of reference are available at hrtps://investors.
millenniumhortels.com/corporate-governance/board-committees and
recently have been updated to take into account the expansion of the
Committee’s remit under the revised version of the UK Corporate
Governance Code that has applied to the Company since 1 January
2019. In particular, the key new areas of responsibility under the revised
Code will be for the Committee to.

* Ensure that remuneration policies and practices are designed to
support strategy and promore long-term sustainable success of the
Group;

* Ensure that executive rernuneration is aligned to the Company’s
purpose and values, and is clearly linked to the successful delivery of
the Company’s long-term strategy;

Determine the remuneration of senior management, in addition w
Board members

Ensure that executive pension contributions are in line with those
available to the rest of the workforce; and

Provide enhanced reporting in the Company’s annual report and
accounts.
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SLMMARY OF’THE REMUNERATION POLICY

The Directors’ Remuneration Policy (the “Policy”) was approved by sharcholders at the Company’s Annual General Meeting on 5 May 2017 (94.63%
of votes cast being in favour). There are no proposals to amend the Directors’ Remuneration Policy at the upcoming Annual General Meeting to be
held on 10 May 2019,

A summaty of the policy is included for reference 1o assist with the understanding of the contents of this report. The full policy is detailed 1n our 2016
Annual Report and Accounts, which can be found hups://investors.millenniumhotels.com/financial/annual-reports

The following table sets out each ¢lement of remuneration and how it supports the Company’s short and long-term strategic objectives.

Basc Salary

Purpose and link to strategy Salaries arc a k:y component of thc rcwa.rd packagc in attracting, motivating and retaining executives who are
mstrumcnta.l in dnvmg and growing :hc busmess and delwenng thc Cumpanys strategu: goa]s

Operation Salaru:s in thc Group arc bascd on the value of the individual, the lcvel of responsibility, experience and marker
conditions. Salaries are reviewed at least annually but are not necessarily increased. The Committee may award
salary increases at other times of the year 1f it considers such an award to be appropriate. In reviewing salaries,
account is taken of market conditions, significant changes in role, pay and conditions elsewhere 11 the Group,
mﬂauou and 'oudgcts

Maximum The salary payable to hxecunvc Du‘ccmrs wnll m:rma.lly be cappcd at Lhc upper quamle of thc relcvant markct

benchmark for the role under review. This maximum salary represents the highest end of the range at which the
Committee would cxpect the base salary to be set, rather than the actual amount to be paid. Salaries will be sec
on a case-by-case basis to reflect the role and the experience and qualifications of the individual.

There is no scparate cap on the annual increase to basc salaries. However, the Commirtee will normally
devermine the appropriate level of increase for Executive Directors taking into account the general level of
increase for the broader workforce, but on occasion may need to make a more significant increase o recognise
additional responsibilitics, or an increasc in the scale or scape of the role.

Larger increases alse may be considered appropriatc if a Dircctor initially had been appoinzed 1o the Board on a
below-market salary.

Annua.l Bonus

Purpose :md hnk to strategy Exccunvc Dlrcctors are chgxblc to participate in an annual bonus scheme to:

* incentivise executives to drive Group strategy and performance over the short term; and

= ensure that a significant proportion of the total reward of executives’ packages is linked to performance
during the year.

Millennium & Copthorne
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The performance period for annual bonuses cortesponds with the financial year. Bonus measures, weightings
and targets are set annually at the start of the financial year by the Committee which retains discretion to revisc
any calculated bonus downwards, but not upwards, if it is felt 1o have become misaligned with the Group's
performance.

Payment of the annual bonus is normally contingent on the employee still being employed by the Group ar the
ume of payment and the employee or the Company not having served notice of rermination.

Annual bonus is not pensionable. The Committee may defer and pay a proportion {(up to 100% of the earned
annual bonus) in shares which must be held for up ro three years before vesting. No performance conditions
apply to such deferred bonus shares, but their release is subject to continued employment over the vesting
period. Deferred bonus share awards would be eligible, at the Committec’s discretion, for a dividend equivalent.

The bonus plan includes clawback and malus provisions.

The level of bonus epportunity for Exccutive Directors is:

Group Chicf Exccutive Officer: Other Executive Directors:
* Threshold: 0% of base salary * Threshold: 0% of base salary
= Targer: 75% of base salary ¢ Tarpet: 50% of base salary

*  Maximum: 150% of base salary ¢  Maximum: 100% of base salary

70% of the bonus opportunity will be linked to financial performance, with the remainder linked to non-
financial measures, which may include personal objectives and other non-financial operational measures as
determined by the Committee, such as corporate social responsibility performance targets. However, the
Committee has discretion to vary those percentages by plus or minus 10% for any year to reflect particular
corporate abjectives. Financial measures may include, but are not limited to, operaning profit, profit before rax,
revenue and revenue per available room.

The Commirtee determines bonus performance measures, weightings and rargers annually which are closely

aligned with the Group’s short-term strategic priorities. Targets for financial measures are set by reference w the
Group's budget, while the personal element of the bonus is driven by personal performance objectives set at the
start of the year.

The Company’s 2016 Long-Term Incentive Plan ("LTIP") forms the long-term variable element of executive
remureration at the Company and 1s intended to incentivise long-term outperformance. The LTIP allows for the
award of performance shares, nil cost share options and deferred bonus shares.

For the three-year period over which this policy is intended to apply, LTIP awards will normally comprise awards
of performance shares, which are aimed at: driving and rewarding sustainable performance over the long termy;
aligning the interests of executives and shareholders; and supporting retention,

Performance share awards are made annually and normally vest on the third anniversary of the date of grant,
subject to the achievement of performance conditions over three years, continued employment with the Group
and the rules of the Plan. LTIP awards may additionally be subject to an additional post-vesting holding period
{of up to two years). There is no re-testing of performance conditions under the Plan. The Plan allows dividends
or dividend equivalents to accrue, subject to the Committee’s discretion.

The Plan includes clawback and malus provisions.
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The maximum annual valuc of pcrforma.ncc sharcs and ml cost sharc options awardcd unclcr the LT]P is
150% of base salary; although awards with face values of up to 200% of salary may be awarded in exceptional
circumstances including, bur not limited 10, the recruitment of a new Executive Director. The level of award is
otherwise determined by the Committec at the time of grant, details of which will be disclosed in the relevant
Annual Repor: on Remunerauon

Thc performanc: measures attached to LT[P awards Wlll comprise a blcnd of measures dctermlncd by thc
Committee from time ta time, with at least a 50% weighting en Earmings Per Share (“EPS”). A small element,
not exceeding 10% of any award, may be based on a discretionary assessment of the achievement of key strategic
objectives, such as those relating to asset management and the timely delivery of key projects within budger.

Under each measure, entry level performance will result in 25% of maximum vesting for that element, rising on a
straight-line basis to full vesting.

Th: provision of retirement bcncﬁts supports the Cumpany in attracting and retaining executives and promoting
long—tcrm retirement pLanmng,

A defined msh conmbutlon may be made into :lthcr a Company sponsored pension plan or a private pension
plan or as cash in lieu ofpcnxlon

Up w0 20% of b:sc salary.

Allows thc Company to tecruit and retain appropriate executive talent through the provision of cost effective

benefits consistent with marker practice.

Executive Directors alsa may alse participate, along with other employees, in the Group's tax advantaged United
Kingdom Save as You Earn (*SAYE"), or other equivalent savings-based share schemes 10 share in the success of

Standard benefits are offeted to ensure thcy are comperitive with mark::t practice by loczuon ancl the level and
responsibilities of the individual. These may comprise {although are not limited to) a motor vehicle and driver or
an appropriate allowance, insurances for life, personal accident, disability and family medical cover.

Special benefits such as relocation, removal, tax equalisation, house purchase/rental allowance and children’s
education allowance may be offered to attract the right candidate in the event that an Executive Director is
appmmed on cxpatmtc or international assngnment terms.

SAYEIsaVIngs-bas:d schemes are subject to individual limits. In the UK the ]lmlt is set by the Commmce up to
the limics prescribed by legislation.

The value of ‘standard benefits” is consistent with relevant market practice and is kept under review by the
Committee, but would net be cxpected to exceed more than the equivalent of a month's salary, other than in
exceptional circumstances. The value of any ‘special benefits’ is reviewed on a case-by-case basis butr would
not be expected to exceed more than the equivalent of three months’ base salary other than in exceptional
circumstances.

Millenruum & Copthorne
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Shareholdmg requlrement

Overview Wlthm ﬁve years of being appoml:cd o the Board Exccutlvc Directors are reqmred o bulld up, and retain,
ordinary shares in the Company equivalent in value to 200% of their base annual salary. Should an Executive
Director not hold the required level of shares then at least 50% of any vesting under a Company incentive plan
is required to be retained until the requirement is met. Provided that Executive Directors hold and maintain the
appropriate level of shares, they may sell shares, subject to the normal requirement for directors’ dealings under
applicable regulations.

Share interests which do not count towards the sharcholding guidelines include:

* unvested performance share awards;

* SAYE cpuions;

» unvested deferred bonus shares; and

* any notional accrued dividend equivalent shares with vesting subject to future performance.

Directors to whom this requirement applies are prohibited from engaging in any hedging transactions with
respect to Company shares, including trading in any derivative securities. There are no formal shareholding
guidelines for the Chairman, the Non-Executive Directors and the senior management, however, they are
encouraged o hold sharcs in the Company in order to ahgn thclr interests with those of sharchalders.

Non- hxecut:ve Dm:cmr Fees

Chairman f:c In the case of the Chairman, the Ch:urman receives  set fee am:l the fee level is determined by the Commirtee.
The Chairman’s fee is determined by taking into account the time commitment and responsibilities of the role, as
well as the role holder s skllls gravitas and qualifications to lcad the board.

Basic fee Fees paid to Non-Exccuuve Directors are determined by the Board asa wholc takmg into account the time
commitment and responsibilities. The policy is to set fees at or around the median for companies of a similar size
and complcxu:y The:r - purpose is to attract and retain Non-Executive Directors.

Addmonal fees Non-Executive Directors are paid an addmonal fce for bemg Senior Independent Du-ccwr, a mernbcr ofa Buard
comrmtr.:c and for chairing a2 Board commitree.

Other marters The Independent Non-Executive Directors each havc rolling letrers of appointment which may be tcrmmated
by either party on one month'’s notice. Non-Executive Directors are not entitled to bonuses, benefits or pension
scheme contributions or to participate 1n any share scheme operated by the Company. In addition to any
remuneration payable, a Non-Exccutive Director may be paid reasonable travel, hotel and ather expenses properly
incurred in discharging the Director’s duties. Fees cease immediarely in the event the Non-Executive Director
ceases to be a Director.

REMUNERNLION ON RECRUITMEN'L

Reward packages for new Executive Directors will be consistent with the approved Remuneration Policy. Fixed remuneration elements would be paid
only from the date of employment and any bonus will be pro-rated to reflect the proportion of the year employed. The maximum level of variable
remuneration is as stated in the policy table above.

If, consequent to joining the Group, a new director forfeits clements of variable reward linked to their previous employment, the Committee reserves
the right to make compensatory awards up to the maximum amount of the individual’s actual or estimated loss. Any such awards would be made
taking into account the performance conditions and time horizon of the forfeited awards. In the event that an internal candidare is appointed as an
Executive Director, any contractual obligation in respect of a previous role will be honoured even if it is inconsistent with this policy ar the time the

obligation is fulfilled.
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The Commirtee retains discretion to use Listing Rule 9.4.2(2) (and for this purpesc only) to compensate an Executive Director for long-term
incentive scheme awards forfeited on leaving a previous employer. Such buyour awards will have a fair value no greater than the awards forfeited.
The arrangements that exist for current Executive Directaors, as set out in the Policy Table, would then apply to the balance of the individual’s
remuneration package.

TERMINATION PAYMENTS

‘The Company’s normal policy is to limit payments to Executive Directors on rermination to contractual entitlements under their service agreements
and the rules of any incentive and pension plans. There is no autematic entitlement to bonus as part of the termination arrangements, and the value
of any terminating arrangement will be at the discretion of the Commitree, having regard to all relevant factors. This discretion allows the Commirtee
to determine good leaver status, the consequences of which are ser out in the rable below:

GOOD LFAY ERS OLHER I EAVERS CHANGE OF CONTROL DISCRETION

Performance Shares Petformance conditions Award lapses Performance conditions To disapply the pra rata
applied taking into account applied taking into vesting, or decide that the
the foreshortened performance account the foreshortened  award will vest on the normal
periad. performance period. vesting date.

A time pro rata reduction is A time pro rata reduction is
then applied. then applied.

Annual Bonus Performance conditions No bonus payable Performance conditions To disapply pro rata reduction
applied taking into account applied taking into and maintain original sum,
the foreshortened performance account the foreshortened
period. performance period.

A time pro rata reducton is A time pro rata reduction is
then applied. then applied.
Deferred Bonus Shares Vest in full Award lapses Vest in full To determine the number

of shares that vest, up to the
~ value of the applicable bonus.

Reasons for “good leaver” status include death, ill health, retirement with the approval of the Company, a office or emplayment being with cither
2 company which ceases to be a2 Group Member or relating to a business or part of a business which is transferred to 1 person who is not a Group
Member or any other reason determined by the committee.
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AUDITED INFORMATION
Single total figure of remuneration for each Director in 2018
The total remuncration for cach person who served as a Director of the Company during 2018 is set out in the table below:

REMUNERATION (£ ‘000) -
SALARY AND ALL TAXABLE " ANNUAL LTIP PENSION

FEES! BENEﬁl?'ITSV N B()E\TLS - 7AWABDS CONTRIBUT:I_U_NS o TOTAL )
DIRRECTOR ZDIE .- wm7 _[.GIS . il ms8 B Z(E _2015 2047 %f_lls__ 29!17
Chairman
Kwek Leng Beng? . 2 - - - - - - - - m
Exccutive Director
Jennifer Fox? 187 - 6 - - - - - 36 - 229 -
Alﬂyﬁusl.ec - - - - - - - _ - = - s____ = . 8
Non-Executive Directors
Shaukar Aziz* 69 64 - - - - - - _ - 69 &4
Christian de Charnacé** 55 19 - - - - - - - - 55 19
Daniel Deshaillets® 61 58 - - - - - - - - 61 58
Martin Leitch 67 39 - - — - - - - - 67 39
Kwek Eik Sheng®’ 54 56 - - - - - - - - 54 56
Kwek Leng Peck” 6 6 - - - - - - - T &
Past Non-Executive Directors
Susan Farr® 56 65 56 65
Gervase MacGregor®? B8 - - - - - - - - % &
Total 934 705 6 — - - - - 36 8 976 713
Noces:
1. Salaries and fees are shown inclusive of sums reccivable by che Di fmmdmCompnylndnnynfmliryundﬂukmp
2. Inaddition t his basic fee, Kwek Leng Beng received £21,565 in di fecs from subsidiary i l(wel:wnrh:h;hﬂ(pudbmcmruntﬂlf‘ ber 2018. His biography on

page 48 reports the dicectorships and positions he holds in ocher publicly-traded Group subsdi ica and 3

3 ]mmquaxmnppomudqupChufEmumoﬁmm.DumaulB]ungzoﬂmd PP 'dmmon!?" bet 2018. Details of payments made to Ma Fox for loss of office,
-r--lpm-nubon\upqmt.mmwtmth “Puymencs for loss of office™ lecunnnfdmmpon-

4 Sh"knﬂww-ppommduchwofrhe' ittee oa 2 November 2018 and Chrirtisn de Charnacé joined the R ion Committee and the Nominations Committee on,
that dase.

5. Christian de Charnact was appainted to the Audic & Ruk Commicvee as from 23 March 2018.

6. Gervase MacGregor, Danicl Desbaillers and Kowek Eik Sheng relinguished their roles on the Risk Commirtee as from 4 May 2018, when the remits of the Risk Committee and Audit Commirtee
were amalgamated with the formation of the Audit & Risk Committee.

7. In addition to their basic fee, Kwek Leng Peck and Kwek Eik Sheng received £7,725, and £3,337 respectively in di fees from subsidiary comp

8. Sue Farr resigned from the Board on 31 Ocmber 2018.

9. Gervase MacGregor resigned from the Board oy 1 Deceraber 2018,
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SHARE INTERESTS AWARDED IN 2018

In June 2018, Jennifer Fox, the only Executive Director who was a member of the Board during the year, was awarded 178,299 conditional shares

of the Company under the Company’s LTIPE. The table below sets out the terms of the award. The Remuneration Commirtee agreed that this award
would not accrue dividends during the performance period. Vesting of this award in full required achievement of certain performance conditions over
the three-year performance period. This LTIP award was also subject to a two-year post-vesting holding period.

AMARKEL EXERC( INE
DATE OF SHARESN OVERWHH H PRM E XN] DATE EXFROISE FACE IVESTING
GRANTLEE GRANE AWARDS GRANTED OF AWARDY PRIE VALUE® PERFORMANLCE PERIOD PERIOD
Jennifer Fox 27 junc 2018 178,299 nil cost £5.258 n/a £937.496 1 January 2018 — 31 December 2020 27 June 2023

Naotes
1 The market price on the date of the award is the average of the mid-market closing price of the Company's ordinary shares on the five dealing days immediarcly preceding 27 Junc 2018
2 The face valuce of sharcs under option for Jennifer Fox 15 calculated as the rumber of shares multiphed by the market ptice at the date of the award

In line with the Company’s Remuneration Policy, vesting of Ms Fox’s award was dependent on the achievement of certain targets which were
cumulative earnings per share (“"EPS"), annualised growth of the Company's revenue per available room, or RevPAR, measured on a like-for-like and
constant currency basis and relative total sharcholder return (“TSR”) over the three-year performance period. The weighting and targets that were
applicable to each condition are set out in the following rable.

'{.\l{(-l;’l R‘\‘,\S'},

IHRISHOLD MAXINL M

l’l':RF[)R.\_li.\_'S.E (3().\7]_)“]()N . L . “'hl_(ﬂll,\__(j {(23% \'}:'\’jfﬂ._)“ {100% VES] L\:ﬂ_
Cumulative EFS - I - 60% 100p 120p
Annualiscd RevPAR growth . S % 1s% 3.0%
Rgl;tlvc TSR Vc_ompg{eid“ w0 the companies in ii'_‘c FTSE 256 cxdudjl;‘g_ investment trusts B 20% Media:; ,,QPP" qu;.;t;c

On 27 September 2018 Jennifer Fox ceased to be an Executive Director and Group Chief Executive Officer of the Company and the Remuneration
Commiuee exercised their discretion that her LTIP award over 178,299 conditional shares would lapse in full effective from that date.

SCHEME INTERESTS AWARDED IN 2016

In 2016, Mr Aloysius Lee, the then Group Chief Execurive Officer, was the only Director to be awarded performance shares under the Company’s
LTIP that year. An award of 185,643 shares was made to him on 29 March 2016 and, subject to the achievement of the following performance
conditions, was due to vest on the third anniversary of the award, 29 March 2019,

The performance conditions applicable to Mr Lee’s 2016 LTIP award included cumulative earnings per share ("EPS”), net asset value ("NAV”) plus
dividend growth, and relative total shareholder return (*“TSR”) over the three-year period ended 31 December 2018. The weighting and targers that
were applicable to each condition are summarised in the table below.

MAXIMUM

PERFORMANCE CONDIION WEIGHTING (Q0U% VESTING)

Cumulative EPS 0% 115p

NAV plus dividend growth 20% 5% p.a. 11% pa.

Relative TSR compared to the companies 1n the FTSE 250, excluding 10%  Inlinc with the index ~ Qutperform index by 9% p.a.

nyestment {ruses

Relative TSR compared to a peer group' 10% Median Outperform median by 9% p.a.

Notes

1 The peer group comprises Accor, Banyan Tree Holdings, Belmond, Choice Hatels Intcrnational, Hongkong 8 Shanghzi Hotcls, Hotel Properties, Hyatt Hotels, InterContinental Hotels Group,
Mandarin Onerical, Marrioe Incernational, Melia Hotels Incernanional, NH Hotels, Overscas Union prese, Rezidar, Shanghai fin Jiang I t, Shanger-La Asra, Scarwood Hotels &

Resorts”, Whitbread and Wyndham Worldwide
*  Merged with Marriow International o 23 September 2016

Millenmum 3 Copzhomé
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The Commirtee conducted an assessment of these performance conditions and determined that the Company partially had mer 38.5% of the "NAV
plus dividend growth” condition after achieving an average annual growth rate of 6.1% for this metric over the performance period. Based on the
scheme rules for the LTID Mr Lee’s relevant service for the purpose of time pro-rating this result is from the date of grant, 29 March 2016, to the
date of his retirement, 28 February 2017, relative to the three-year vesting period. Therefore, his award should be pro-rated by 30.8% to reflect the
proportion of the performance period for which Mr Lee served as a Director (calculated on a days basis), resulting in 4,401 shares vesting on 29
March 2019.

No shares were awarded ro any Executive Directors in 2017.

PAYMENTS MADE 10O PAST DIRECTORS

Wong Hong Ren retired as a Directot and the Group Chief Executive Officer on 28 February 2015, but continued to serve as a director of certamn
subsidiaties of the Company, primarily M&C REIT Management Limited and M&C Business Trust Management Limited (until 12 February 2018
in each case), managers of the trusts that comprise CDL Hospitality Trusts. As previously disclosed, as part of Mr Wong’s retirement arrangements,
he renounced any fees payable to him in relation to those directorships for the period berween 1 March 2015 and 29 February 2016, bur Mr Wong
was entitled to retain any subsidiary directorship fees carned 1 respect of any period after February 2016. As such, he was paid fees rotalling 557,658
for serving as a Non-Executive Chairman of, and as a member of the Nominations and Remuneration Committees of, the Boards of M&C REIT
Management Limited and M&C Business Trust Management Limited for the peniod from 1 January 2018 through 12 February 2018. No other
payments were made to past Directors during the year.

PAY MEN LS FOR LOSS OF OFFICE

Jennifer Fox stepped down as Group Chief Executive Officer and an Executive Director on 27 September 2018. Upon the terminanon of her
employment and in accordance with the terms of her service agreement with the Company, Ms Fox received contractual termination payments of
£625,000 (representing 12 months of her annual base salary), £125,000 in lieu of her annual pension contribution and £20,000 for her annual car
allowance. She alsa received £10,000 for reimbursement of legal fees in connection with her review of her exit arrangements, £18,029 for accrued but
unused annual leave and she will remain under the Company’s private health insurance until 30 September 2019.

In determining the terms of her departure, the Committee considered carefully whether any payments should be made under the Company’s variable
pay arrangements. The Committee agreed, in the aggregare, that it would be fair and equitable:

+ for the LTIP award made 1o Ms Fox in June 2018 to lapse in full on her ceasing to be employed with the Group; and

* to pay Ms Fox a small pro-rata bonus payment of £234,375 for the period that she was employed, taking into consideration her efforts and
achievements during that ume,

This pro-rata bonus payment represents around 90% of her maximum pro-rata entitlement. Of these amounts, £192,501 was deferred and paid in
three equal instalments of £64,167 each in November 2018, December 2018 and January 2019.
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STATEMENT OF IMRECTORS’ SHAREHOLDINGS AND SHARE INTERESTS
The interests of the Directors who served during 2018, and their persons closely associated, in the ordinary shares of the Company were as follows:

NLMBER OF ORDINARY SHARES
OWNED OL TRIGHT? NUMBER OF SCHEME INTERENLS

LTI AWARDS

11D AWARDS WHICIH ARE
WIHCH ARE NO | SUBJEC 1 VALUE OF
SLBJLCT 1O TOFLUILRL ORDINARY
PEREFORMANCE PLREORMANCE TOTAL  SHAREN OWNED
HOLDING ON HOLDINGON CONDEPLIONS AL CONDILIONS AT INTERESTS AS AL OUIRIGHT ah A
31 DECEMUBER 1 JANLUARY 31 DECEMBER JIDFCENMBER JLDECEMBER PERCEN LAGE O
DIREL TOR 2UHE 01 2R MY 018 SALARY
Chairman
Kwek Leng Beng' - - - - - N/A
Past Executive Director
Jennifer Fox® - - - - - N/A
Non-Executive Directors
Shaukar Aziz - - - - - N/A
Christian de Charnacé - - - - - N/A
Daniel Desbaillets - - - - - N/A
Kwck Eik Sheng! - - - - - N/A
Martin Leitch - - - - - N/A
Kwek Leng Peck’ - - - - - N/A
PPast Non-Executive Directots
Susan Farr - — - - - N/A
Gervase MacGregor - - - - - N/A
Nartes
1 The intcrests of the Direcrots app d by City Develop Limued in that company and its ulumate parent company, Hong Leong Investment Holdings Pee Ltd, are disclosed in the accounts

of those companies.

2 InJune 2018 Ms Fox was awarded 178,299 condinonal shares of the Company under the LTIF, however, these shares lapsed in full in September 2018 upon cessation of Ms Fox's employment with
che Group

There have been no changes to the Directors’ interests between 31 December 2018 and the date of this report.

SHAREHOLDING REQUIREMENTS

As set out in the Campany’s Remuneration Policy, within five years of being appointed 1o the Board, Executive Directors are required to build up, and
retain, ordinary shares in the Company equivalent in value to 200% of their base annual salary. Since Jennifer Fox was the only Executive Director
who served during the year and she stepped down from her paosition in September 2018, none of the Directors wha served during 2018 were required
to comply with these requirements.

UNAUDITED INFORMATION
IMPLEMENTATION OF THE REMUNERATION POLICY IN 2019
This section provides an overview of how the Committee is proposing to implement the Remunerarion Policy in 2019,

Remuneration of any Executive Directors to be appointed in 2019

The Committec cxpects that any rectuitment benefits or compensation and the salary, bonus and share scheme arrangements, and pension and other
benefits to be provided to any new Executive Director appointed during 2019 will be in linc with the Directors’ Remuneration Policy last approved by
the Company’s sharcholders, as disclosed in the 2016 Annual Report and Accounts.

In the event a new Executive Director is to be appointed in 2019, the Committee, mindful of the guidance set out in the Investment Asscciation
Principles of Remuneration and the requirements of the revised version of the UK Corporate Governance Cade that wook cffect as of 1 January 2019,

Hatels plc
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the Cornmittee has agreed to apply a two-year post-vesting holding period to any awards under the Company’s LTIP so that, in total, the performance
and holding period for any such award will cover a period of ar least five years. In addition, the Committee anticipates wotking with its remuneration
advisor to develop a more tailored and fit-for-purpose remuneration package for any permanent Group Chief Executive Officer or other Executive
Director to be appointed during the year.

Non-Executive Director fees

Payments to Non-Executive Directors will be in accordance with the current Directors’ Remuneration Policy. Non-Executive Directors therefore will
continue to receive a basic fee for Board membership and separate annual fees for their service as a member and, to the extent applicable, the Chair of
a Board committee. The Senior Independent Director will be paid an addiuonal fee, currently of £10,000 per year, to serve in such capacity. Derails of
the current additional committee and chair fees are set out in the table below and no changes are being proposed for 2019:

ANNUALLFEEFOR

MIABERSHIP OF ADDITION AL
COMDMEIEE L COMMITTLE ‘\.\'.\LL’\], CHAIR FEF
Audit & Risk Committee £5,000 £10,000
Remunetation Committee £5,000 £10,000
Nominations Commirrtee £2,000 -

The Chairman of the Board will receive a set fee determined by the Committee from tume to time. The total annual fee for the Charrman is £250,000
and this will remain the same in 2019. The Chairman also may continue to receive additional fees for serving as a director of certain subsidiary
companics.

ADDIHIONAL DISCLOSURES

Performance of the Company and historic remuneration of the Group Chief Executive Officer

The following graph illustrates the toral shareholder return of the Company’s shares versus comparator indexes over the past ten years. As the
Company 1s a constituent of both the FTSE 250 and the FTSE All Share Travel & Leisure index, the Directors consider these indices to be the most
appropriate broad equity markert indices agarnst which the Company’s performance should be compared for these purposes.
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DIRECTORS’
REMUNERATION REPORT
CONTINUED

The remuncration history of the Group Chief Executive Officer over the same peried is as follows:

REMUNERATION HISTORY OF THE GROUP CHIEF EXECUL TIVE OFFICER

o o o 010 7 2!)171’ B 7772(7)11 2013 - _2!]1_4__ Z(J_I‘: 2016? - "7"’.52'{‘_" o Z(lm;
Total remuneration (£000) 1,243 4,404 1,495 2,287 1,429 1,389 832 51 229
Annual bonus 100% 63% 37% 67% 62% 19% 15% N/A N/A
(as a percentage of mazimum opportuniry) o S ]
LTIP vesting rates 0% 100% 100% 50% 0% 0% 0% 0% 0%

as a percentage of maximum opporunity) S

Nortes.

Richard Hartman retired as Group Chief Executive Officer and Wong Hong, Rett was appotnted to the post on 27 Juns 2011 These figutes 21¢ for both and are restated to be consistent with che

other years

2 Wong Heng Ren siepped down as Group Chief Executtve Officer on 28 February 2015 and Aloysius Lee was appointed as Group Chief Exceutive Ufficer Designate from [ February 2015 and
assumed the full role as of | March 2015 These figures arc for both

3 Includes the final twa months of paymencs under Mr Wong Hen Ren's service contract

4 Aloysius Lec's pay, allowances and penston concributions ceased on 31 January 2017 Remuncerauon for Mr Tan Kiar Seng interim Chief Executive Officer has not been included as he did not serve
as an executive directar during the year

5 Jennufer Fox's pay, all cs and p cantributions were for the period of her employment during the year, which commenced on 19 June 2018 and ended on 27 September 2018

Percentage change in remuneration of the Group Chief Executive Officer
The tables below show the percentage change in remuneration (based on salary and fees, taxable benefits and annual benus) between 2017 and 2018
for the Group Chief Executive Officer and employees within the Group's bonus pool.

% INCREASE/A(DLCREASE)Y FROM 2017 10 2018

BASIC
o - OMARY BENERNSONL
Group Chief Executive Officer? (70.0) (0.3) (100.0)
Employees o (10.0) (179.9)7 14.0

1 All percentages are based on converting relevant local curzencies inte pounds sterling using the average races for the respective year
2 The percentage change figures are based on average employece base pay, bencfits and bonus amounts for cach year

Relative importance of spend on pay

The table below illustrates the year-on-year change in total pay for colleagues across the Group (being the aggregate personnel expenses as set out in
Note 8 to the financial statements) and distributions to shareholders (being declared dividends). The number of colleagues employed by the Group in
2018 was 11,504 (2017: 11,602).

o7 M8 8% INCREASE/

- - S . l{\l_ o LM {(NEC Hl'.f\S}.]_
Employee remuneration costs 370 374 1.1
Dividends distribured 25 21 (16.0)

Statement of voting at general meeting

The following table sets our the proxy voting in respect of the resolutions to approve the Directors’ Remuneration Policy and the 2017 Directors’
Remuneration Report, which resolutions were passed at the Company's Annual General Meetings held en 5 May 2017 and 4 May 2018, respectively.
The Directors were pleased with the support received from shareholders.

VOITES VO'IES
RESOLUTION VOTES FOR* % OF VOLE AGAINST ,,,Z;',(,)f }’I’?'f [ ‘YE'H"EL]L
Approve the Directors’ Remuneration Policy 296,111,136 94.63% 16,813,616 5.37% 5,707
Approve the Directors’ Remuneration Report for the year ended 31
December 2017 303,034,683  96.98% 9:437,101 3.02% 442454

* includes discretionary votes

Millennium & Copthorne
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Consideration by the Committee members of matters relating to Directors’ remuneration
The Committee is authorised by the Board to appoint external advisers to support it in its efforts. Following a tender process in 2017, PwC were
selected as the Committee’s new remuneration adviser, with effect from 1 December 2017, and attended most of the Committee meerings in 2018.

PwC advises the Committee directly on matters within the Committee’s terms of reference to the extent the Committee chooses to consult PwC

on these marters. Its scape of work includes attending Committee mectings; updating the Committee on developments in the market and trends

in remuneration best practices and governance; reviewing this report; carrying out total remuneration benchmarking for Executive Directors;
arrangements concerning the on-boarding of Executive Directors, carrying out IFRS 2 valuanions for the Company in relation to the Company’s share
schemes; providing regular TSR monitoring reports and independently validaring the Company’s annual ITIP vesting calculations. PwC was paid
£63,912.50 in respect of such services provided n 2018.

PwC may also be called upon to advise the Board of Directots of the Company (or those Directors charged by the Board to make recommendatians)
from time to time on the remuneration of Non-Executive Directors, including the Chairman.

In 2018, PwC also acted as the primary tax advisor to the Group in the EU and provided tax consulting services to the Group in other regions upon
request. In 2019, PwC will be the Group’s primary tax advisor on a global basis. Aside from these services, PwC did not provide other significant
services to the Group over the course of the year and currently 15 not engaged to provide any services in 2019, other than the tax consulting services,
for which PwC has implemented confidentiality barriers between their tax consulting and remuneration advisory teams to help ensure that their
remuneration advice remains independent.

The Committee reviewed the potential for conflicts of interest in connection with PwC’s advice and the Committee is comfortable that the PwC
¢ngagement partner and team that provide remuneration advice to the Committee do not have connections with the Company that may impair the
independence of their judgment. In addition, as a founder member of the Remuneration Consultants Group, PwC operates under the Voluntary
Code of Conduct in relation to executive remuneration consulting in the UK. Finally, as a member firm of the Institute of Charrered Accountants
in England and Wales (*ICAEW"), PwC complics with the [CAEW’s cthical guidelines. As a result, PwC operates under rigorous independence,
compliance and quality assurance regimes. For the reasons outlined above, the Commurtee has determined that the advice provided by PwC is
objective and independent.

External appointments

The Company recognises that Executive Directors may be invited to become Non-Executive Directors of other companies and that such
appointments can broaden the executives' knowledge and experience, for the benefit of the Group. If an Exccutive Director wishes to take on an
external Non-Executive Director appointment, the Company's policy is to support an Executive Director with that appointment provided thar there
are no conflicts of interest and the role does not interfere with the executive’s commitment or duties. They may retain any fees paid in connection
with such other appointments, with the approval of the Commitree.

During her tenure as Group Chief Executive Officer and a Director of the Company, Jennifer Fox also served as a Direcror of Village Roadshow
Limited, which for the relevant period of her employment was listed on the Australian Securities Exchange.

Annual Report
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DIRECTORS’
REMUNERATION REPORT
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Directors service agreements and letters of appointment
Ix is the Company’s policy for Executive Directors to have service contracts that provide for a notice peried for termination of up to 12 months.

The dates on which the Directors’ initial service agreements or letters of appointment commenced and the current expiry dates are as follows:

NAME DXIEOF CONTRALCT NOTHE PERICD / UNLXPIRED TERM
Chairman
Kwek Leng Beng Appointed since listing Terms of appointment refreshed on Nominee of controlling sharcholder

15 February 2017

Independent Non-Executive Directors

Shaukar Aziz 16 June 2009 Rolling letters of appointment terminable
Daniel Desbaillets 11 August 2016 by either party on ene month'’s notice
Martin Leitch 22 May 2017
Christian de Charnacé 16 August 2017
Other Non-Executive Directors
Kwek Eik Sheng 13 May 2011 Nominees of controlling sharcholder
Kwek Leng Peck Appoimed since listing Terms of appointment refreshed on

15 February 2017
Notes.
1 The date of Mr Desballets’ appointment to the Board was 14 September 2016

Letters of appointments for the Directors are kepr at the Group’s corporate headquarters at Millennium & Copthorne Hotels ple, Scarsdale Place,
Kensington, London, W8 55Y.

CONSIDERATION OF SHAREHOLDER VIEWS

We are committed to maintaining good communications with investors. The Committee considers that its Annual General Meeting provides a good
opportunity to meet with investors and consider their feedback. In addition, the Commitree secks to engage directly with major sharcholders and
their representative bodies should it consider any material changes to the Company’s Remuneration Policy.

REVISED UK CORPORATE GOVERNANCE CODE

During the course of the year, the Committee received detailed reports concerning changes arising from the revised version of the UK Corporate
Governance that tock effect on 1 January 2019. In terms of the Commirtee’s remir, key changes include expanded responsibilities for setting the
remuncration arrangements for senior management, reviewing remuneration policies and practices applicable to the wider workferce of the Group
and ensuring that they are designed to support the Company's strategy and long-term success and ensuring that executive remuneration is aligned to
the Company’s purpose and values, to name but a few.

Expanding on some of these requirements further, with regard 1o the requirement that the Committee set the remuneration arrangements for senior
management, the Committee has developed and approved a senior management remuncration policy that applies to all Senior Vice President level
cmployees as this level of employec generally reports into the Group Chief Execative Officer. The policy, which includes maximuim salary, bonus
and share scheme elements, is designed to provide a framework within which remuneration packages for senior managers can be negotiated without
requiring Committee approval, as long as the terms are within the parameters of the policy and any deviations from this policy and the final terms of
any new appointments are approved by the Commirree.

Millennium & Copthorne
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The Committee also assisted the full Board, 1n conjunction with senior management and PwC, in developing a formal framework that will allow the
Board to berter understand the views of and engage with the workforce. This involves the establishment of a workforce advisory panel structure and
assignment of a Director to help oversee the operation of this panel. Whilst mechanisms were in place to engage with colleagues, this new structure
will formalise the process to a greater extent,

THE GROUIS SHARE SCHEMES
In addition to the LTIP the Group operates two other share schemes for senior employees other than Executive Directors, the Deferred Share Bonus
(“DSB”) scheme and the Executive Share Plan (“ESP”).

Under the ESP awards of conditional shares are made to senior executive management. The ESP was approved by the Group on 18 February 2016 1o
replace participation in the LTIP for this population. The Committee determines the size of the awards to be made taking into account the Group's
performance and the achievements of the executive management team over the previous year. The shares are released o participants in tranches,
subject to continued employment and the rules of the plan, with 25% vesting one year after grant; 25% twa years after grant; and 50% three years
after grant. The awards are subject to malus and clawback provisions under the rules of the ESP.

In 2018, ESP awards were made on 4 December 2018 to 9 senior executives, over a total of 65,649 shares.

The DSB is the deferred element of the Group’s annual bonus plan. Awards of conditional shares are made to senior employees, but not to those whe
participate in the ESP, and arc calculated based on a percentage of a participant’s bonus earned in respect of the previous year. Awards also are subject
to malus and clawback provisions under the rules of the DSB.

In December 2018 awards were made to 43 employees over 57,358 shares and vest as to 25% after one year, 25% after two years and the final 50%
after three years, subject to continued employment and the rules of the scheme.

Satisfaction of performance share awards

Performance share awards are made for nil consideration and are satisfied either by the issue of new shares or through marker purchases of shares.
Currently the company has in place an employee benefit trust known as the Millennium & Captharne Hotcls plc Employce Benefit Trust 2006 (the
“EBT"), which was established 1o acquire shares to satisfy performance share awards that may vest from time to time. As at 31 December 2018, the
EBT held 2,483 unallocated shares {2017: 3,437 unallocated shares), representing approximately 0.0007% of the Company'’s issued share capital as at
the same date. Executive Directors who participate in the LTIP together with other employees of the Group who participate in other share schemes,
are potential beneficiaries of the EBT and, as such, are deemed 1o be interested in any shares held,

Dilution

The Company ensures that the level of shares granted under the Company’s share plans and the means of satisfying such awards remains within best
practice guidelines so that dilution from employee share awards does not exceed 10% of the Company’s issued share capiral for all employcc share
plans and 5% in respect of execurive share plans in any 10 year rolling period. The Company monitors dilution levels on a tegular basis and the
Committee reviews these at least once a year.

Share price
The market price of an ordinary share of the Company as at 31 December 2018 was 467.5 pence and the range during the year was 580.0 pence per
share to 459.0 pence per share.

The Directors confirm that there exist no other obligations that might give rise to, or impact on, remuneration payments or payments for loss of
office which are not disclosed elsewhere in this repore and that this report has been prepared in accordance with the Companies Act 2006, reflects the
provisions of the Large and Medium-sized Companies and Groups (Accounts and Reports) {Amendment) Regulations 2013 and was approved at a
meeting of the Board held on 14 February 2019.

On behalf of the Board

His Excellency Shaukar Aziz
Chair of the Remuneration Committee

14 February 2019 I -
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NOMINATIONS
COMMITTEE REPORT

CHAIRMAN'S STATEMENT

Dear Sharcholdets,

¥ am pleased to present the Company’s Nominations Commitiee
Report for 2018. This report provides a summary of the Commirtee’s
responsibilities and its acuvities throughout the year.

During the year, the primary areas of focus for the Committee were
Board and committee composition, reviewing the role profiles for new
Director appointments, and succession planning for the independent
Non-Executive Director and Group Chief Executive Officer roles.

The progress made in these areas is outlined below. As Chairman of the
Cemmittee, I take an active role in overseeing the progress made towards
appoincments to the Board and senior management team, and ensuring
that the Group has appropriace talent to be able to deliver on che strategy
of the Group.

GROUP CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER SUCCESSION

With Mr Tan Kian Seng in place as interim Group Chief Executive
Officer ar the start of the year, the Committee was tasked with finding
someane to fill that role on a permanent basis. After conducting a search
during the first quarter of the year, the Commitee recommended, and
the Board approved, the appointment of Jennifer Fox as Group Chief
Exccutive Officer and a Director of the Company. She joined in June
2018 and, as reported previously, the Board and Ms Fox subsequently
mutually agreed thar it would be best for her to step down, which she
did on 27 September 2018. At that point, Mr Tan, resumed the interim
Group Chicf Executive Officer role. Since then, the Commirree has
been examining the role profile and assessing the optimal characteristics,
skills and background which candidates should possess and a search

for a successor was commenced. Whilst the Board believes that the
appointment of a permanent Group Chief Executive Officer is vitally
important, the Board is prepared to take its time in order to find the
right candidate.

BOARID AND COMMITTEE COMPOSITION

In my introduction to the Corporatc Governance Statement, I refer
to the importance to the business of having an engaged Board, with
the appropriate mix of skills, diversity and experience, that offers
both support and robust challenge to our senior management team.
These principles were firmly in mind as the Committee reviewed the
composition of the Board and its commuttees throughout the year.

First, in March 2018, the Commitice reviewed the structure of

the Board’s committees and, bearing in mind the progress made in
developing the Group’s risk management framework, decided that it
would be appropriate to once again combine the Audit Committee and
Risk Committee, to form the Audit 8¢ Risk Committee. The Committee
also decided in March 2018 that Christian de Charnacé should be
appointed as 2 member of the to-be-formed Audit & Risk Committec
given his investment banking background and the fact that he had not
yet been appointed t¢ a Board commirttee, These changes wete approved
by the Board and 1ook cffect in May 2018, immediately following the
Company's Annual General Mceting.

Secend, as part of the Committee’s remit to regularly review of the
composition of the Board and its committees, the Committee considers
the tenure of existing Dircctors and whether a Director’s length of
service has in any way impacted his or her ability to remain independent
in character and judgement and perform his or her duties. The Board
generally believes that Non-Executive Directors should sty for a
significant period of time, with the appointment of new directors adding
diverse perspectives and skalls. It is important we ensure that the Board
has continuity and on occasion we may determine that it is in the
Company’s best interests for a Non-Executive Director to stay beyond a
nine-year term. Accordingly, when His Excellency Shaukar Aziz reached
his ninth anniversary on the Board in June 2018, the Commirttee,

in accordance with the UK Corporate Governance Code, conducted

an independence assessment and concluded that Mr Aziz remained
independent in character and judgement for the reasons set cutin the
Corporate Governange Statement on page 63.

Millennium & Copthorme
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Third, with Sue Farr and Gervase MacGregor resigning from the Board
in the latter half of 2018, after having served nearly five and four years,
respectively, we made some further changes to the composition of the
Board's committees. Mr Aziz was appointed as chair of the Remuneration
Committee. Given his experience and knowledge of the Company and
since he had been 2 member of the Remuneration Committee since 16
June 2009, the Committee considered that his appointment as chair of
the Remuneration Committee would help bring continuity to the role.
In addition, Christian de Charnacé was appointed as a member of both
the Nominations Commirttee and Remuneration Committee, All of these
changes were effective from 2 November 2018, and a search for at least
onc new independent Non-Executive Director was commenced and is
ongoing.

With the changes made during the year and in light of the Board being
comprised of a majority of independent Non-Executive Directors, the
Board considers the current compeosition of the Beard and its commitees
o be adequate for the time being, That said, the Commirtee will
continuc to progress the scarches for a permanent Group Chief Executive
Officer and one or more new independent Non-Executive Directors as
marters of prionty and will provide further updares on the progress of
these searches as appropriate.

DIVERSITY

The Board continues to support the aspirational targets set by the Lord
Davies report “Women on Boards” and those set in the Hampron-
Alexander Review and acknowledges that the Board currently is not
reflective of the value that we place on diversity and inclusion within our
business. We recognise the need to take corrective action following the
departures of Ms Fox and Ms Farr and will, over the coming years, seek
to redress the current imbalance in the representation of women on the

Board.

The Board 15 also mindful of the recommendations made by Sir John
Parker, in his Report into the Ethnic Diversity of UK Boards published
in Ocober 2017, to increase the ethnic and cultural diversity of the
boards of FTSE 350 companies. With regard to the recommendations
in that report, the Board is pleased to confirm that four Directors,
representing over half of the Board, are considered to have ethnic
minority backgrounds.

As part of the Group's continuing cffort to address gender and ethnic
diversity more broadly within the business, a new diversity and inclusion
policy was adopted and rolled ourt across the Group during the course of
the year. That policy, which involves the education of emplayees on the
benefits of diversity in the workforce and includes procedures that will
allow the Board to monirtor progress, reinforces the Group's commitment
to promoting an inclusive work environment, one in which every
member of its workforce feels valued and respected. Our commitment

extends to embracing diversity in all its forms—including but not limited
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1o, age, gender, ethnicity, abilities, sexual orientation and religious
beliefs—with the objective of having a workforce that is representative of
the communities in which we operate. We also encourage our franchised
hotels, where we do not employ personnel directly, to follow the same
guiding principles as set out m the Group’s diversity and nclusion

policy. As a multinational company with a diverse set of stakeholders, the
Board and our colleagues across the Group must be sensitive to different
cultures, lifestyles and preferences.

2008 ANNUAL GENERAL MEETING

The Nominaticns Committee was mindful of shareholder concerns
received at the Company’s 2018 Annual General Meeting, reflected in
part by the significant votes received from independent shareholders
opposing the election or re-election of the independent non-execurive
Directors. In order w berter understand those concerns, as well as others,
various Board members engaged with sharcholders throughout the year
and these issues were discussed at several Board mectings.

FUTURE PPRIORITIES
The Committee’s primary objectives for the coming year are to:

Continue the process of recruiting and appointing a permanent Group
Chief Executive Officer and at least one new independent Non-
Execurive Director;

Continue to review the balance of skills, diversity and experience of
the Company’s Directors to determine if any further changes or
appointments are needed to ensure the Board has the talent necessary
to help the Group deliver its strategic objectives;

Consider the requirernents under the revised version of the UK
Corporate Governance Code ("New Code”), that will apply to the
Group in respect of its 2019 financial year and beyond, and ensure
appropriate plans are in place to address the expanded role of the
Nominations Committec under the revised version of the Code;

Identify ways to improve the effectiveness of the Board and its
committees; and

Continue to review succession plans for key management roles across

the Group.

Kwek Leng Beng
Chairman of the Nominations Commuittee

14 February 2019
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NOMINATIONS
COMMITTEE REPORT
CONTINUED

OVERVIEW

The Nominations Committee reviews the composition of the Board
and its committees and oversees succession planning of the Company’s
Directors. By identifying and recommending candidates as Direcrors,
the Committee aims to ensure that the Board and its commirrees are
fit for purposc and have the appropriate balance of skills, diversity and
experience to be able to meet the challenges facing the Group.

MEMBERSHIP AND MEETINGS

The Committee is comprised of a majority of independent Non-
Executive Directors. During the year the following Directors were
members of the Commirttee.

» Kwek Leng Beng (Chairman)

* Kwck Leng Peck

» His Excellency Shaukat Aziz

* Susan Fart!

» Martin Leitch

+ Christian de Charnacé®

1 Susan Farr Stepped down from the Board on 31 October 2018

2 Ch de Ch ber of the Commuttee effective from
2 November 2018

4 d
was app asa

The Company Secretary acts as secretary to the Commuttee and attends
all meetings. Other Directors or members of senior management and
external advisers may attend the meetings at the invitation of the
Commurtee chair.

The Committee mer three times during the year.

BOARD APPOINTMENTS
Part of the remit of the Committee is to ensure that the Board has the
right balance of skills, experience, independence and knowledge to

cenable it to discharge its duties effectively. In order to fulfil this remit, the

Committee may conduct searches to fill certain roles from time to time
and recommend new appointments for such roles.

During 2018, the Commitree spent considerable time conducting

a search for a permanent Group Chicf Exccutive Officer, a role that
would sit on the Board. The process started with the Commiutree
reviewing the requirements of, and preparing a new job specificarion

for, the role. The Committee then conducted a search, based on that job
specification, through internal resources and this is how Jennifer Fox was
identified. The Committee members and other members of the Board
interviewed Ms Fox and referencing was conducted. Her appointment
was recommended to and approved by the Board and her employment
began in June 2018. After she stepped down in September 2018, the
Commirtee recommended that Tan Kian Seng resume his role as interim
Group Chief Executive Officer, and the Board fully supported this
recommendation. Since then the Committee has, once again, refreshed
the job specification for the role and resumed its scarch for a permanent
Group Chicf Executive Officer.

Also, following the departures of Sue Farr and Gervase MacGregor in
the third quarter of 2018, the Committee agreed on the approprate
profile for 2 new independent Non-Executive Director and commenced
its search for onc or morc new appointments. That scarch is ongoing
and the Committee remains open to using an external search agency to
facilitate the process, as well as utilising the Directors” own contacts and
networks. However, in 2018 the Group did not utilise an external search
agency for any of the open Board positions.

The searches for a permanent Group Chief Executive Officer and at
least one new independent Non-Executive Director will be as broad as
necessary to ensure thar the right candidates are identified and that the
composition of the Board and its comemittees remains appropriate. New
Director appointments will be announced in duc course.
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INDUCTION

On appointment to the Board, each Director undergoes a comprehensive
induction programme as appropriate. The programme is tailored 1o each
Director’s individual needs, but is intended to provide an in introduction
to the Group’s business, challenges and risks. Newly appointed Directors
also receive an overview of their duties, the corporate governance
landscape applicable to listed companies in the UK and Board processes
and policies. This process was followed with regard to the appointment
of Jennifer Fox.

NOMINATIONS COMMITTEE PERFORMANCE REVIEW
As part of the Board’s annual performance review, an assessment of the
Committee’s performance in 2018 was completed in January 2019, The
results of the performance assessment were discussed and presented at
the Board meeting held during February 2018 and the key finding of the
evaluation, 1n respect of the Committee, was that the Committee was
considered to he effective and rernains independent in nature.

During the year, the Commirttee received regular updates on
developments in corporate governance reform. The Committee was
provided with detailed reports on the revised UK Corpotate Governance
Code issued by the Financial Reporting Council and proposals for

the Group’s approach to the changes. As the revised UK Corporate
Governance Code does not apply until accounting years beginning
on or after 1 January 2019 the Group is not required to report on the
application of the Code until then. We will cherefore report on whar
changes, if any, to the Group's governance regime will be required as a
result of the revised Code in the Company’s 2019 annual report and
accounts and beyond.
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TIME COMMITMEN'L

All Directors are tequired to commit sufficient time to fulfil their
responsibilities and this obligation 1s reflected in their letters of
appointment. The Nominations Committee monitots the extent of the
Directors’ other interests to ensute that the effectivencss of the Directors
and the Board as a whole is not compromised. The Nominations
Committee is satisfied that each of the Non-Executive Directors commits
sufficient time to their duties.
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NOMINATIONS
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ROLE OF THE COMMIITTEE
The role of the Committee is, among other things, to:

review the structure, size and composition of the Board, including the
skills, knowledge, experience and diversity of the Directors and make
recommendations to the Board regarding any changes;

consider succession planning for directors and other senior executives,
taking into account the challenges 2nd opportunities facing the
Company and the skills and expertise needed;

identify and nominate for approval by the Board candidates to fill
Board vacancies when they arise;

keep under review the [cadership needs of the crganisation, with a
view to ensuring the continued ability of the organisation to compete
cffectively in the markerplace;

review the time commitments required of Non-Executive Directors;
in consulation with the chairs of the Board's committees, review and
if appropriate recommend changes to the composition of the
committecs;

consider the re-appointment of Non-Executive Direcrors at the
conclusion of their specified terms of office, giving duc regard o their
performance and ability to continue to contribute to the Board;

make recommendations to the Board on the independence of Non-
Executive Directors;

assess the appointment of any Director to an executive or other office
within the Group; and

review the Committee’s terms of reference from time to time.

DIVERSITY

The Board takes diversity seriously and this forms part of the Board and
Committee deliberations when considering new appointments to the
Board. The Board’s diversity policy is based on four principles, set out
below, that support the Board’s commitment to achieving diversity:

+ The Board will not impose quotas regarding diversity, although it will
remain committed to achieving diversity in the composition of the
Board;

The Commuttee will on a regular basis consider and make
recommendations, if applicable, to the Board on its diversity
objectives;

In reviewing the composition of the Beard, the Committee will
consider the balance of skills, experience, independence and
knowledge of the Board members; and

In identifying suitable candidates for appoinument, the Committee
will assess abjective criteriz with duc regard to the bencfits of diversity
on the Board.

I'ERMS OF REFERENCE

The Committee’s terms of reference are available at:

www.investors. millenniumhotels.com/. They were updated in 2018 to
reflect changes arising under the New Code.

Millenniurn & Copthomne
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STATEMENT OF DIRECTORS’
RESPONSIBILITIES IN RESPECT
OF THE ANNUAL REPORT AND ACCOUNTS

The Directors are respansible for preparing the Annual Repaort and the
Group and parent Company financial statemnents in accordance with
applicable law and regulations.

Company law requires the Directors to prepare Group and parent
Company financial statements for each financial year. Under that law
they are required to prepare the Group financial statements in accordance
with Internarional Financial Reporting Standards as adopred by the
European Union (IFRSs as adopted by the EU) and applicable law and
have elected to prepare the parent Company financial statements in
accordance with UK accounting standards, including FRS 101 Reduced
Disclosure Framework.

Under company law the directors must not approve the financial
statements unless they are sarisfied thar they give a true and fair view

of the srate of affairs of the Group and parent Company and of their
profit or loss for that periad. In preparing each of the Group and parent
Company financial statements, the directors are required to.

= select surtable accounting policies and then apply them consistently;

make judgements and estimates that are reasonable, relevant, reliable
and prudent;

for the Group financial statements, state whether they have been
prepared in accordance with IFRSs as adopted by the EU;

» for the parent company financial statements, state whether applicable
UK accounting standards have been followed, subject to any material
departures disclosed and explamned in the parent company financial
statements;

+ assess the Group and parent Company’s ability to continuc as a going
concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern;
and

= use the going concern basis of accounting unless they cither intend o
liquidate the Group or the parent Company of to cease operations, or
have no realistic alternative but to do so.

The directors are responsible for keeping adequate accounting records
thar are sufficient to show and explain the parent Company’s transactions
and disclose with reasonable accuracy at any time the financial
position of the parent Company and enable them to ensure that its
financial statements comply with the Companies Act 2006. They are
responsible for such internal control as they determine 15 necessary

to enable the preparation of financial statements that are free from
marerial misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and have general
responsibility for taking such steps as are reasonably open to them to
safeguard the assets of the Group and to prevent and detect fraud and
other irregularities.

Under applicable law and regulations, the direcrors are also responsible
for preparing a Strategic Report, Directors’ Report, Directors’

Remuneration Report and Corporate Governance Statement that
complies with that law and those regulations.

The directors are responsible for the maintenance and integrity of the
corporate and financial information included on the company’s website.
Legsslation in the UK governing the preparation and dissemination of
financial scatements may differ from legislation in other jurisdictions.

Responsibility statement of the direcrors in respect of the annual
financial report

We confirm that to the best of our knowledge:

« the financial statemnents, prepared in accordance with the applicable set
of accounting standards, give a true and fair view of the assets,
liabilities, financial position and profit or loss of the company and the
undertakings included in the consolidation taken as a whole; and

« the strategic report includes a fair review of the development and
performance of the business and the posiuon of the Company and the
undertakings included in the consolidation taken as a whole, together
with a description of the principal risks and uncertainties that they

face.
We consider the annual report and accounts, taken as a whole, is fair,
balanced and understandable and provides the information necessary
for shareholders to assess the group’s position and performance, business

meodel and strategy.

On behalf of the Board

Kwek Leng Beng
Chairman

14 February 2019
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naepencent
tors report

to the members of Millennium & Copthorne Hotels plc

1. Owur opinion is unmodified

Woe have audited the financial statements of Millennium
& Copthome Hoteis pic {“the Company™} for the year
ended 31 December 2018 which comprise the
Consolidated Statement of Profit or Loss, the
Consolidated Statement of Other Comprehensive
Income, the Consolidated Staternent of Financial
Position, the Consolidated Statement of Changes in
Equity, the Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows, the
Company Statement of Financial Pasition, the Company
Statement of Changes in Equity, and the related notes,
including the accounting policies in note 2.2 of the Group
financial statements and note B of the Company financial
statements.

In our opinion:

—- the financisal statements give a true and fair view of
the state of the Group’s and of the Parent Company’s
affairs as at 31 December 2018 and of the group’s
profit for the year then ended;

— the Group financial statements have been propsrly
prepared in accordance with International Financial
Reporting Standards as adopted by tha European
Union;

— the Parant Company financiat statements have been
properly prepared in accordance with UK accounting
standards, including FRS 101 Reduced Disclosure
Framework; and

— the financial statements have been prepared in
accordance with the requirements of the Companies
Act 2006 and, as regards the Group financial
statements, Article 4 of the |AS Regulation.

Basis for opinion

We conducted our audit in accordance with Intermational
Standards on Auditing [UK) {*1SAs {UK)") and applicable
law. Our responsibilities are described below. We
believe that the audit evidence we have obitsined is a
sufficient and appropriate basis for our opinion. Our audit
opinion is consistent with our report to the Audit & Risk
Committes.

We were first appointed as auditor by the company before
1884 priar to the company becoming a pubfic interest antity.
For the period ended 31 December 2018, the total
uninterrupted engagement pariod is for 22 financial years
whilst the company was a public-interest entity, We have
fulfilled our ethical responsibilities under, and we remain
independent of the Group in accordance with, UK ethical
requirements including the FRC Ethical Standard as applied
1o listed public interest entities. No non- audit servicas
prohibited by that standard were provided.

] £6.0m {2017:£7.0m)
Group financial

4.2% (2017: 4.0%) of
statements as a whole normalised profit before tax
Coverags 97% {2017: 95%} of group

profit before tax
Key audit matters vs 2017
New risk The impact of A
uncertainties due to the
UK exiting the European

Union on our audit

Recurring risks Valuation of hotel assets ap

Classification and L1
valuation of investment

properties

Recoverability of parent Ll

company’s investment

T\/llﬁmium & Cupiho;a_

Hotels plc
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2 Koy audit metters: including our assessment of risks of material misstatement

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional judgment, were of most significance in the audit of the financial
statements and include the most significant assessed risks of material misstatement {whether or not due to fraud) identified by
us, including those which had the greatest effect on: the overall audit strategy: the allocation of resources in the audit; and
directing the efforts of the engagement team. We summarise below the key audit matters, in arriving at our audit opinion
above, together with our key audit procedures to address those matters and, as required for public interest entities, our results
from those procedures. Thase matters were addressed, and our results are based on procedures undertaken, in the context
of, and solely for the purpose of, our audit of the financial statements as a whole, and in forming our opinion thereon, and
consequently are incidental to that opinion, and we do not provide a separate opinion on these matters.

The risk Our response

The Impact of uncertainties Unprecedented levels of uncertainty We developed a standardised firm-w:de approach to the

due to the UK existing the All audits assess and chalienae th consideration of the uncartainties arising from Brexit in
European Union on our audit el S and cnaenge the planning and performing our audits. Our procedures
reasonableness of estimates, in particular as included:
described in valuation of hotel assets and ’
Refer to page 69 (Audit & ralated disclosures and the appropnatoness of Brexit knowledge: . ‘
Risk Committee Report). the going concern basis of preparation of the Our o: we considered the Diractors

assessment of Brexit-related sources of risk for the
Group's business and financial resources compared with
our own understanding of the nsks. We considered the
Directors’ plans to take action to mitigate the risks.

financial statements (see going concern
section balow). All of these depend on
assessments of the future economic
environment and the Group’s future prospects

and performance. Sensitivity analysis: when addressing valuation of hotel
assets and other areas that depend on forecasts, we
compared the Directors’ analysis to our assessment of
the full range of reasonably possible scenarios resulting
from Brexit uncertainty and, where forecast cash fiows
are required to be discounted, considered adjustments to
discount rates for the level of remaining uncertainty.

In addition, we are required to consider the
other information presented in the Annual
Report including the principal risks disclosure
and the viability statement and to consider the
Dirgctors’ statement that the annual report
and financial statements taken as a whole is
fair, balanced and understandable and
provides the information necessary for
shareholders to assess the Group's position
and performance, business model and
strategy.

Assessing transparency: as well as assessing individual
disclosures as part of our procedures on valuation of hotel
assets, we considered all of the Brexit reiated disclosuras
together, including those in the strategic report, comparing
the overall picture against our understanding of the risks.

Brexit is one of the most significant economic Our results

events for the UK and at the date of this report 5.0 vad under valuation of hotel assets, we found the

its effacts are subject to unprecedented levels .o ying astimates and related disclosures to be

of uncertainty of cutcomes, with the full range  ,..ontahie. We also found the assessments and

of possible effects unknown. disclosures in relation to going concem to be acceptable.
No audit should, however, be expected to predict the
unknowable factors or all possible future implications for a
company and this is particularly the case in relation to
Brexit. .

m 77A;1nua] Hciporti N
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Valuation of Hotel Assets
(£3,153m; 2017: £3,129m)

Subjective valuation

The Group's hotel assets are subject to an
annual review to assess whether or not they

Refer to page 68 (Audit & may be impaired.

Risk Cornmittee Report),
page 114 {accounting policy)
and page 133 (financial
disclosures).

The Group first identifies the hotel assets
where there is an indication of impairment.
These assets are then subjected to detsiled
impairment review referenced to either
current externat valuations or internal trading
updates derived from the most recently
available external valuation.

Cartain hotel assets were considered at risk
of impairment due to being subject to
impairment in previcus years land therefore
any decline in performance may result in a
further impairment being recorded) or
because the Group has experienced a difficult
trading environment in 2018, particularly in
the US and certain parts of Asia.

External valuations are generally performed
on a third party operator basis. This assesses
the value of the hotel on the same basis that
an “efficient operator’ market participant
would and therafore assesses the net cash
flows that an efficient operator believes it
could achieve.

This analysis is subjective due to the inherent
uncertainty involved in determining
appropriate assumptions such as expected
free cash flows and future markst growth,
terminal rate and discount rates. therefore,
the review and challenge of these
assumptions is one of the key judgmentat
areas that our audit is concentrated on.

Assessing valuers’ credentials: we assaessed the
independence, professional qualifications, competence
and experiance of the extarnal valuers used by tha Group.

Test of detalls: we challenged the Group’s assessmaent of
the properties at risk by referance 1o relevant impairment
ingicators using our understanding of the asset's
performance in relation to previous forecasts and the
market performance and assessing the quantum of
available headroom from previous valuations.

Maeth cholee: using our valuation specialists, we
challenged the appropriateness of the valuars’ reports by
assessing whether their valuations ware in accordance
with the RICS Valuation professional Standards ‘the red
book’ and relevant accounting standards.

Benchmarking assumptions: we challenged tha key
assumptions used in external valuations performed during
the year, in particular forecast free cash flows and future
market growth, terminal and discount rates, by comparing
them to externally derived data, internal budgets and
source data, where applicable. Our valuation specialists
assisted in the evaluation of the most subjective and
complex assumptions and analyses.

Our sector sxperience: for those properties at rigk of
impasrment but that were not externally valued during the
year, we assessed the trading resuits of the properties and
whather this provided avidence of any significant changes
in the key assumptions applied in the most recent external
wvaluation. This included comparing the current
performance of tha assets to the foracasts made in the
last external valuation and assessing unusual trends in
updated cash flows against source data, where applicable.
Owr valuation specialists assisted in the evaluation of the
most subjactive and complex assumptions and analyses.

analysis: we performed sensitivity analysis on
the key assumptions noted above for the most subjective
and complex valuations to assess the range of possible
alternative outcomes and used these to challenge the
appropriateness of the valuation conclusions.

Assassing transparency: we considered the
approprigteness of the Group's disclosures about the
impairment test and the sensitivity of the outcome of the
impairment assessment to changes in key assurmptions.

Our results
We found the resulting estimate of the recoverable
amount of the hotel assets to be acceptable (2017:
acceptable).

Hotels plc
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The risk Our responss

Classification and Subjective valuation
valuation of investment | is one of the Group's
properties nvestrnent property is ene of the Group

largest asset categories and the models
applied to datermine the fair value of
Investrnent properties are complex and
sensitive to assumptions around rental rates
and future market growth, terminat rate and
discount rates.

(£650m; 2017: £668m}

Refar to page 68 (Audit &
Risk Committee Reporl),
page 116 {accounting policy)

and page 136 (financis! During the year, the Group made a material

Asssssing valuers’ credantials: we assessed the
independence, professional qualifications, competance and
experience of the extamal valuers used by the Group.

Maethodology choice: using our valuation specialists, we
challengad the appropriatensss of the valuer's reports by
assessing whether their valuations were in accordance
with the RICS Valuation professional Standards ‘the red
book’ and relevant accounting standards.

Banchmarking sssumptions: we challenged the key
assumptions used in the valuations, in particular rental
rates and future market growth, terminal rate and discount
rates by comparing them to externally derived data, intemal
budgets and source data, where applicable. Our valuation
specialists assisted in the evaluation of the mare subjective
and complex assumptions and analyses.

Our sector experience: we assessed the appropriateness
of the classification of new investment properties by
understanding the business models and management'’s
intentions, comoborated with inspection of contracts and
agrearnents.

Assessing transparency: we assessed whether the
Group's disclosures properly reflected the risks inherent in
the calculations and met the requirements of relevant
accounting standards.

Our results
Woe found the valuation of investment properties to be
acceptable {2017 acceptable).

disclosures). acquisrtion of a property. Classification of an
asset as Investment property requires
judgermnent, and is determined by reference
to the Group’s future intentions and
business model.

Recoverabliity of parent Low risk, high value

company’s investments

The camying amount of the parent company’s
investments in subsidiaries represents 96%
(2017° 97%) of the company’s total assets.

{£1,988m; 2017: £1,970m)

Refer to page 183 (accounting
policy] and page 181 {financia!
disclosures).

Their recoverability is not at a high risk of
significant misstaterment or subject to
significant judgement. However, due to their
materiality in the context of the parent
company financial statements, this is
considered to be the area that had the
greatest effect on our overall parent company
audit.

Annual Report
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Tests of detall: we compared the carrying amount of
100% of investments to the relevant subsidianes’
consolidated trial balances to identify whether their net
assets, being an approximation of their minimum
recoverable amount, were in excess of their camying
amount.

Assessing subsidiary audits: we assessed the work
performed by the subsidiary audit teams on all of those
subsidiaries and considered the results of that work, on
those subsidianes’ profits and net assets.

Our results:
Woe found the Group's assassment of the recoverability
of the investment in subsidiaries to be acceptable {2017
acceptable).



3. Our application of materiality and
an overview of the scope of our
audit

Materiality for the Group financial
statements as a whole was set at
£6.0m {2017: £7.0m), determined with
reference to a benchmark of group
profit before tax normalised to exclude
impairment on hotel assets and
revaluation adjustments on investment
properties as disciosed in note 12 and
14, of which it represents 4.2% (2017:
4.0%}). These items are excluded due
1o their volatiity.

Materiality for the parent company
financial statements as a whole was
set at £5.7m (2017: 6.7m). This 18 lower
than the materiality we would
otherwise have determined by
reference to net assets, and reprasents
0.41% of the company’s net assets
{2017. 0.48%).

Woe agreed to report to the Audit & Risk
Committae any corrected or
uncorrected identified misstatements
exceeding £0.3m (2017: £0.35m), in
addition to other identified
misstatements that warranted reporting
on qualitative grounds.

The components within the scope of
our work accounted for the
parcentages illustratad opposite.

Of the Group's 6 {2017: 6}
components, we subjected 4 (2017: 4)
to full scope audits for Group’s audit
purposes. These compenents are: the
parent company, UK, US and Asig -
excluding Beijing.

The remaining 3% of total Group
revenue, 3% of Group total profits and
losses that made up profit before tax
and 2% of total Group assets is
represented by 2 components (Europe
and Beijing). For these remaining
components, we performed analysis at
an aggregated Group level to re-
examine our assessment that therg
were no significant risks of material
misstatement within these.

Normalised profit before tax
£142m (2017: £176m)

98

Group revenue

The Group audit team instructed
component auditors as to the
significant areas to be covered,
including the relevant risks detailed
above and the information to be
reported back.

The Group audit team approved the
component matenalities, which
ranged from £3.0m to £5.7m {2016:
£3.5m to £6.7m) having regard to the
mix of size and risk profile of the
Group across the componants.

The work on 2 of the 4 components
{2017: 2 of the 4 componants} was
parformed by component auditors
and the rest, including the audit of
the parent company, was
performed by the Group audit team.
The Group audit team performed
procedures on the items excluded
from normalised group profit before
tax.

In 2018, the Group audit team visited
both of the two component locations
subject to full-scope sudit (2017: 2) to
assess the audit risk and strategy.
Telephone conference meetings
were also held with these
component auditors. At these visits
and meetings, the findings reportad
to the Group audit team were
discussed in more detail and any
further work required by the Group
audit team was then parformed by
the component auditor.

|:| Residual components

Group Materiality
£6.0m {2017: £7.0m)

£8.0m

Whole finsncial
statemnants materiality
2017 £7m)

£4.0m

Range of materiality at 3
components {£3.0m to £4.0m})
{2017: £3.5m to £4 5m)

® Normalised profit before £0.3m
tax Misstaterments raported o the
Audit & Risk Committee
{2017: £0.35m)

Miliennium & Copthorne
Hotels plc

- Full scope for Group sudit purposes 2018
_ Full scope for Group audit purposes 2017



4. Woe have nothing to report on going concern

The Directors have prepared the financial statements onthe
going concern basis as they do not intend to liquidate the
Caompany or the Group or to cease their operations, and as
they have concluded that the Company's and the Group's
financial position means that this is realistic. They have alsc
concluded that there are no material uncertainties that
could have cast significant doubt over their ability to
continue as a going concern for at least a year from the
date of approvat of the financial statements {"the going
concern period”).

Qur responsibility is te conclude on the appropriateness of
the Directors’ conclusions and, had there been a material
uncertainty related to going concern, to make reference to
that in this audit report. Howsver, as we cannot predict all
future events or conditions and as subsequent events may
rasult in outcomes that are inconsistent with judgements
that were reasonable at the time they were made, the
absence of reference to a material uncertainty in this
auditor's report Is not a guarantee that the Group and the
Company will continue in operation.

In our evaluation of the Directors’ conclusicns, we
considered the inherent risks to the Group's and
Company’s business model, including the impact of Brexit,
and analysed how those risks might affect the Group’s and
Company’s financial resources or ability to continue
operations over the going concern period. We evaluated
thosa nsks and concluded that they were not significant
enough to require us to perform additional audit
procedures.

Basad on this work, wae are required to report to you if:

— we have anything material to add or draw attention to in
relation to the Directors’ statement in Note 1 to the
financial staternents on the use of the going concem
basis of accounting with no material uncertainties that
may cast significant doubt over the Group's and
Company's use of that basis for a period of at least
twelve months from the date of approval of the financial
statements; or

- the related statement under the Listing Rules set out on
page 51 is matenally ingonsistent with our audit
knowledge.

We have nothing to report in these respects, and we did

not identify going concern as a key audit matter.

5.

Wa have nothing to report on the other information in
ths Annual Report

The Directors are responsible for the other information
presented in the Annual Report together with the financial
statements. Our opinion on the financial statements does
not cover the other information and, accordingly, we do not
express an audit opinion or, axcept as explicitly stated
below, any form of assurance conclusion thereon.

Our responsibility is to read the other information and, in
doing so, consider whether, based on our financial
statemnents audit work, the information therein is materially
misstated or inconsistent with the financial statements or
our audit knowledgs. Based solely on that work we have
not identified material misstatements in the other
information.

Strategic report and Directors” report

Based solely on our work on the other information:

— we have not identified material misstatements in the
Strategic report and the Directors” report;

— in our opinion the information given in those reports for
the financial year is consistent with the financial
statements; and

— in our opinion those reports have been prepared in
accordance with the Companies Act 2006.

Directors” Remuneration Report

In our opinion the part of the Directors’ Remuneration
Report to be audited has been properly prepared in
accordance with the Companies Act 2006.

Disclosures of principal risks and longer-term viability

Based on the knowledge we acquired during our financial
statements audit, we have nothing material to add or draw
attention to in relation to:

— the Directors’ confirmation within the Viability
statement on page 45 that they have carried out a
robust assessment of the principal risks facing the
Group, including those that would threaten its business
model, future performance, solvency and liquidity;

— the Principal Risks disclosures describing these risks
and explaining how they are being managed and
mitigated; and

— the Directors’ explanation in the Viability statement of
how they have assessed the prospects of the Group,
over what period they have done so and why they
considered that period to be appropriate, and their
statement as to whether they have a reasonable
expectation that the Group will be able to continue in
operation and meset its liabilities as they fall due over the
period of their assessmant, including any related
disclosures drawing attention to any necessary
qualifications or assumptions.

Under the Listing Rules we are required to review the

Viability statement. We have nothing to report in this

respect.

Qur work is limited to assessing these matters in the

context of only the knowledge acquired during our financial

statements audit. As we cannot predict all future events or
conditions and as subsequent events may rasult in
outcomes that are inconsistent with judgments that were
reasonable at the time they were made, the absence of
anything to report on these statements is not a guarantee
as to the Group's and Company’s longer-term viability.

Annual Report

& Accounts 2018
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Corporate governance disclosures

We are required to report to you if:

— we have identified material inconsistencies between the
knowledge we acquired during our financial staternents
audit and the Directors’ statement that they consider
that the annual report and financial statements taken as
a whoie is fair, balanced and understandable and
provides the inforrmation necessary for shareholders to
assess the Group’s position and performance, business
model and strategy; or

— the section of the annual report describing the work ofthe
Audit Committee does not appropriately address matters
communicated by us to the Audit Committee.

We are required to report to you if the Comporate Govemance

Statement does not properly disclose a departure from the

eleven provisions of the UK Corporate Governance Code

specified by the Listing Rules for our review.

We have nothing to report in these respects.

We have nothing to report on the other matters on which

we ars required to report by exception

Under the Companies Act 2006, we are required to report to

you if, in our opinion:

— adequate accounting records have not baen kept by the
parent Company, or returns adequate for our audit have
not been received from branches not visited by us; or

— the parent Company financial statements and the part of
the Directors’ Remuneration Report to be audited are not
in agreement with the accounting records and returns; or

— certain disclosures of directors’ remunaration specified by
law are not made; or

— we have not received all the informaticn and explanations
we raquire for our audit.

We have nothing to report in these respects.

7. Respective rasponsibilities

Dirgctors’ responsibilities

As explained more fully in their statement set out on page
51, the Directors are responsible for: the preparation of the
financial statements including baing satisfied that they give a
true and fair view; such internal contro! as they determine is
necessary to enable the preparation of financial statements
that are free from material misstaternent, whether due to
fraud or error; assessing the Group and parent Company’s
ability to continue as a going concern, disclosing, as
applicable, matters related to going concern; and using the
going concern basis of accounting unless they either intend
to liquidate the Group or the parent Company or to ceass
operations, or have no realistic alternative but to do so.

Auditor's responsibilities

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about
whether the financial statements as a whole are free from
material misstatement, whether due to fraud or other
irregularities {see balow), or arror, and to issue our opinion in
an auditor’s report. Reasonable assurance is a high level of
assurance, but does not guarantee that an audit conducted
in accordance with 1SAs {UK) will always detect a material
misstaterment when it exists. Misstatements can arise from
fraud, other irregularities or error and are considered
material if, individually or in aggregate, they could reasonably
be expected to influence the economic decisions of users
taken on the basis of the financial statemants.

A fuller descniption of our responsibilities is provided on the
FRC’s website at www.frc.org ukfauditorsresponsibilities.

Irregularitias - ability to detect

We identified areas of laws and regulations that could
reasonably be expected to have a matenal effect on the
financial statements from our general commercial and
sector expefience, through discussion with the Directors
and other management {(as required by auditing standards},
and from inspection of the Group’s regulatory and legal
correspondence and discussad with the Directors and other
management the policies and procedures regarding
compliance with laws and reguiations. We communicated
identified laws and regulations throughout our team and
remained alert 1o any indications of non-compliance
throughout the audit. This included communication from the
Group audit tearn to component audit teams of relevant
laws and regulations identified at Group level.

The potential effect of these laws and regulations on the
financial statements varies considerably.

Firstly, the Group is subject to laws and regulations that
directly affect the financial statements including financial
reporting legislation {including related companies
legislation), distributable profits legislation and taxation
legislation, and we assassed the extent of compliance with
these laws and regulations as part of our procedures on the
ralated financial statement items.

Millennium & Copthorne
Hotels plc



Secondly, the Group is subject to many other laws and
regulations where the consequences of non-compliance
could have a material effect on amounts or disclosures in
the financial statements, for instance through the
imposition of fines or litigation or the loss of the Group's
license to operate. We identified the following areas as
those most likely to have such an effect: health and safety,
anti-bribery, employment law and certain aspects of
company legislation recognising the financial and regulated
nature of the Group’s activities and its legal form. Auditing
standards limit the required audit procedures to identify
non-compliance with these laws and regulations to enquiry
of the Directors and other management and inspaction of
regulatory and legal correspondence, if any. These limited
procedures did not identify actual or suspected non-
compliance.

Owing to the inherent limitations of an audit, there is an
unavoidable nsk that we may not have detected some
material misstaternents in the financial statements, even
though we have properly planned and performed our audit
in accordance with auditing standards. For example, the
further removed non-compliance with laws and regulations
{irregularities) is from the events and transactions reflected
in the financial statermnents, the less likely the inherently
limited procedures required by auditing standards would
identify it. In addition, as with any audit, there remained a
higher risk of non-detection of irregularities, as these may
involve collusion, forgery, intentional omissions,
misreprasentations, or the override of internal controls, We
are not responsible for preventing non-compliance and
cannct be expected to detect non-compliance with ail iaws
and regulations.

kbt *
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The purpose of our audit work and to whom we owe
our responsibilities

This report is made solely to the Company's members, as a
body, in accordance with Chapter 3 of Part 16 of the
Companies Act 2006. Our audit work has been undertaken
so that we might state to the Company’s members those
matters we are required to state to them in an auditor's
report and for no other purpose. To the fullest extent
permitted by law, we do not accept or assume
responsibility to anyona other than the Company and the
Company's members, as a body, for our audit work, for this
report, or for the opinions we have formed.

Jonathan Downer

{Senior Statutory Auditor)

for and on behaif of KPMG LLP,
Statutory Auditor

Chartered Accountants
15 Canada Square
London,

E14 5GL

14 February 2019
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CONSOLIDATED INCOME
STATEMENT

For the year ended 31 December 2018

2018 017
o B . o . NOTES &M &M
Revenuc 5 997 1,008
Cost of sales o _ ] o 46 @)
Gross profit 561 577
Administrative expenses [ (423) 415)
Other operating income 7 30 30
Other operaring expense 7 (63) _@n
Opcrating profit 105 145
Share of profit of joint ventures and associates 15 29 22
[ T - - —
' Finance income [ ] 11 .
i Finance expensc B _ /) (1) |
Net finance expense o - 9_ @8 @0
Profit before tax 5 106 147
Income tax {expenscl/oredit _ . 10 _ 12
Profit for the year 93 159
Artributable vo:
Equity holders of the parent 43 124
Non-conrrolling interests _ _ L . _ _s® |35
93 159
Basic carnings per share (pence) 11 13.1p 38.1p
Diluted earnings per share (pence} 11 13.1p 38.1p

The financial results above derive from continuing activitics.

The notes on pages 111 to 180 are an intcgral part of these consolidated financial statements.

Millennium & Copthorne

Hatels plc




105

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF

COMPREHENSIVE INCOME

For the year ended 31 December 2018

2018 2017
] e I . NOTE £M _EM
Profit for the year 93 159
Other comprehensive income/(expense):
Ttems that are not reclassified subsequently to income statement:
Remeasurement of defined benefit plan actuarial net gains, net of tax 23 4 4
Net change in fair value of equity investment - - 5 -
9
[tems that may be reclassified subsequently v income statement:
Foreign currency translation differences — foreign operations 72 (102)
Foreign currency wranslation differences — equity accounted investees 9 (16)
Net (loss)fgain on hedge of net investments in foreign operations S . 12
78 (106)
Other comprehentive income/(expense) for the year, ot of tax S S 4 (102
Total comprechepsive income for the year, net of tax 180 57
Total comprehengive income areributable to:
Equity holders of the parent 112 22
Non-controlling interests I o - . & B
Total comprehensive income for the year, net of tax 180 57

The notes on pages 111 o 180 are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF
FINANCIAL POSITION

As"at 31 December 2018

w0017

o o o . o o - \EO'IES 7777§M o M 7
Non-current assets
Property, plant and equipment 12 3,153 3,129
Lease premium prepayment 13 103 103
Investtent properties 14 663 577
Investment in joint ventures and associates 15 358 324
Other financial assers o ~ 15 43 -
4,325 4,133
Carrent assets
Inventoties 17 -] 4
Development propertics 18 115 923
Lease premium prepayment 13 2 2
Trade and other receivables 19 102 88
Cash and cash equivalents ) B 20 375 354
599 541
Assets held for sale 36 - 41
I I __ _ L 582
Total assets 4,924 4,715
N liabilig
Interest-bearing lnans, bonds and borrowings 21 (789) (791}
Employee benefits 23 (14) (19)
Provisions 24 ©) )]
Otther non-current ligbilities 25 (15} {13;
Deferred tax liabilities o o % am asy
(999) (1,020
C liabiliti
Interest-bearing loans, bonds and borrowings 21 (313) (213)
Trade and other payables 27 (220) (208)
Provisions 24 2 2
Income taxes payable _ - : . @n @3
(562) (446)
Total lisbilitics (1,561) (1.466)
Net assets 3,363 3,249

The notcs on pages 111 to 180 arc an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.

Millennium & Coplhorn:
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2018 2017
e — —. NOTES = &M iM
Equity
Issued share capital 29 97 97
Share premium 843 843
Translation reserve 30 491 431
Treasury share reserve 30 [€1] @
Fair value reseeve 30 5 -
Reuined earnings - - - 1,338 1309
Total equity attributable to equity holders of the parent 2,770 2,676
Non-controlling incerests o o S 593 573
Total equity 3,363 3,249

‘These financial statements were approved by the Board of Directors on 14 February 2019 and were signed on its behalf by:

Kwek Leng Beng
Chairman

Registered No: 3004377
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF

CHANGES IN EQUITY

For the year ended 31 December 2018

TREASURY FAIR NON-
SHARE SHARE TRANSLATION SHARE VALUE RETAINED CONTROLLING CONTROLLING TOTAL
CAPITAL  PREMIUM RESERVE  RESERVE  HESERVE INTERESTS  EQUITY
S M M iMoo &M iM M ™
Balance at 1 Janoary 2018 97 843 431 4 - 573 3249
Profit - - - - - 50 93
Orher comprehensive income L - - & - 5 18 &
Total comprehensive income - - 60 - 5 68 180
Transactions with owners,
recorded dircctly in equity
Coatributions by and distributions to cwners
Dividends — equity holders - - - - - - 21)
Dividends — non-controlling inverests - - - - - 43) 43
Changes in ownership interests
Change in interests in subsidiacies
without loss of control - - - - - 3 3 -
Return of capital to non-controlling intercsts - - - - - - @ @
Total transactions with owners - - - - - “8) €0
Balance at 31 December 2018 97 843 491 ) 5 593 3,363
Balance at 1 Jaouary 2017 97 843 537 1] - 502 3,170
Profit - - - - - 35 159
O comprehenive (xpenasyincome - wo - - - am
Toual comp he (expense)/income - R .. - T 7
Transactions with owners,
Coatributions by and distributions to owners
Dividends — equiry halders - - - - - - 25)
Dividends — non i _ - - - - 40) (40
Changes in ownership interests
Change in interests in subsidiaries
without loss of control - - - - - {11) -
Rights issue by subsidiary with NCI - - - - - 89 89
Retun of capital to non-controlling interests - - - - - @ 7]
Toul wransactions with ewners - - - - - 3% zn
Balaace at 31 December 2017 97 843 431 @ - 573 3,249

The notes on pages 111 to 180 are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.

Millennium & Copthorne
Hotels plc




CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF
CASH FLOWS

For the year ended 31 December 2018

Wws 2017

NOTES M &M
Profit for che year 93 159
Adjustments for:
Depreciation and amortisation 12,13 69 75
Share of profit of joint venrures and associates 15 (29) 22
Other operating income 7 (30) 30
Other operating expense 7 63 47
Finance income 9 o {an
Finance expense 9 37 31
Income tax expensef{credit) 10 13 (12)
Operating profit before changes in working capital and provisions 207 237
Movement in inventories, trade and other reccivables (15) 9
Movement in development properties @2) @
Movement in trade and ather payables 7 (13)
Movement in provisions and employee benefits - 1
Cash gencrated from operations 177 230
Interest paid (24 @n
Interest received 5 4
Income tax paid (1) - Ga
Net cash generated from operating activitics 127 180
Dividends received from joint ventures and associates 4 2
Proceeds from settlement of shareholder's loan - 12
Proceeds from sale of investment properties 45 -
Acquisition of subsidiary, net of cash acquired - (52)
Acquisition of property, plant and equipment, leasc promium prepayment and investment properties (109) (142)
Subscription of Perpctual Convertible Capital Securities of associate (32) -
Net cash used in inrvesting activities 92) (180)
Balance carried forward 35 -

The notes on pages 111 to 180 are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF

CASH FLOWS
CONTINUED

2018 2007
. NOTES &M M
Balance brought forward 35 -
Repayment of borrowings (145) (306)
Drawdown of borrowings 189 309
Dividends paid v non-controlling interests “3) (40)
Return of capital wo non-controlling intetests 2) (¢}
Dividends paid to equity holders of the parent 28 (21) 25)
Proceeds from issue of share capital ] - 89
Nucaahmaudﬁoml(mgdiw financing sctivities o (22) 25
Net increase in cash and cash equivalents 13 25
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of the year 354 337
Effect of exchange rate fluctuations on cashbeld . @
Cash and cash equivalenes at end of the year 375 354
Reconcilistion of cash and cash
Cash and cash equivalents shawn in the consolidated statement of financial position 375 354
Bank overdafts included in borrowings o - - -
Cash and cash equivalents for consolidated statement of cash flows 20 375 354

The notes on pages 111 to 180 are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

I REPORTINGENTITY

Millennium 8 Copthorne Hotels plc (the “Company”) is a limited company incorporated in England and Wales whase shares are publicly traded
on the London Stock Exchange. The registered office is located at Victoria House, Victoria Road, Horley, Surrey RH6 7AF, United Kingdom.
These consolidated financial statements comprise the Company and its subsidiaries (collectively the “Group”). The consolidated financial statements
of the Group for the year ended 31 December 2018 were authorised for issue in accordance with a resolution of the Directors on 14 February 2019.

1.1 BASIS OF PREPARATION

The consolidated financial statements are prepared on the historical cost basis except for investment properties, derivative financial instruments and
equity investrnents at fair value through other comptehensive income (“FVOCI”) are stated at their fair values. Hotel properties are stated at cost or
deemed cost. Deemed cost is calculated based on the hotel’s frozen valuation as at 1 January 2004. Non-current assets held for sale are stated at the
lower of carrying amount and fair value less costs to sell. The Group's income statement and segmental analysis separately identifies operating profit
and other operating income and expense. This is in accordance with IAS 1 ‘Presentation of Financial Sratements’ and is consistent with the way that
financial performance is measured by management and assists in providing a meaningful analysis of the trading results of the Group. The financial
statements are presented in the Company’s funcrional currency of scerling, rounded 1o the nearest million.

The Company has elected to prepate its parent company financial statements in accordance with Financial Reporting Standard 101 ‘Reduced

Disclosure Framework’.

Basis of accounting
These consolidated financial statements have been prepared in accordance with IFRS as required by EU law (IAS Regulation EC 1606/2002).
Details of the Group’s accounting policies, including changes during the year, are included below.

Basis of consclidation

{it  Subsidiaties

Subsidiaries are entities controlled by the Group. The Group controls an entity when it is exposed to, or has rights to, variable returns from its
involvement with the entity and has the ability to affect those returns through its power over the entity. The financial statements of subsidizaries are
included in the consolidated financial statements from the date that control commences until the date that control ceases.

(i} Interests in equity-accounted investees
The Group's interests in equity-accounted investees comprise interests in joint ventures and associates.

An associate is 2n entity in which the Group has significant influence bur not control or joint control, over the financial and operating policies. A
joint venture is an arrangement in which the Group has joint control, and where the Group has rights w the net assets of the arrangement, rather
than rights to its assets and obligations for its liabilities.

Interests in joint ventures and associates are accounted for using the equity method. They are initially recognised at cost, which includes transaction
costs. Subsequent to initial recognition, the consolidated financial statements include the Group’s share of the profit or loss and other comprehensive
income of cquity-accounted investees, until the date on which significant influence or joint contrel ceases.

(iii) Transactions eliminated on consolidation

Intra-group balances and transactions, and any unrealised income and expenses arising from intra-group transactions, are climinated. Unrealised
gains arising from transactions with equity-accounted investees are climinated against the investment to the extent of the Group’s interest in the
investee. Unrealised losses are eliminated in the same way as unrealised gains, but only to the extent that there is no evidence of impairment.

Annual Report
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
CONTINUED

Going concern

The Group’s business activities, together with the factors likely to affect its future development, performance and position are set out in the Strategic
Report on page 18 to 45. The financial position of the Group, its cash flows, liquidity position and borrowing facilitics are described in the Surategic
Report — Financial performance on pages 23 to 25 and in the key performance indicators on page 22. In addition, Note 22 of the financial
statcments includes the Group’s objectives, policies and processes for managing its capital; its financial risk management objectives; details of its
finzncial instruments and hedging activities; and its exposures to credit risk and liquidity risk. The Group has considerable financial resources and
plans for refinancing maturing facilities are under way.

Cash flow forecasts for the Group have been prepared for a period in excess of twelve months from the dace of approval of these consolidated
financial statements. These forecasts reflect an assessment of current matket conditions. The forecasts completed on this basis show that the Group
will be able to operate within the current committed debt facilities and show continued compliance with the financial covenants. In addition,
management has considered various mitigating actions thac could be taken in the eveat that market conditions are worse than their current
assessment. Such measures include further reduction in costs and in capital expenditure. On the basis of the exercise as described above and the
available committed debt facilities, the Directors have a reasonable expectation that the Group and Company have adequate resources to continue in
operational existence for at least 12 months from the signing of this annual report. Accordingly, they continue to adopt the going concern basis in
preparing the financial statements of the Group and the Company.

In assessing whether the Group is a going concern, the Directors follow 2 review process which is consistent with the principles set out in the
“Guidance on Risk Management, Internal Control and Related Financial and Business Reporting 20147 published by the Financial Reporting
Council.

2.2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
The Group has consistently applicd the following accounting policies to all periods presented in these consolidared financial statements.

A Business combinations and goodwill

Business combinations ate accounted for using the acquisition method. The cost of an acquisition is measured as the aggregace of the consideration
transferred, measured at acquisition date fair value and the amount of any non-controlling interest in the acquiree. For cach business combination,
the acquirer measures the non-controlling interest in the acquiree either at fair value or at the proportionate share of the acquiree’s idencifiable net
assets. Acquisition costs incurred are expensed and identifiable net assets aoquired are measured at the acquisition date fair value.

When the Group acquires a business, it assesses the financial assets and liabilities assumed for appropriate classification and designadion in
accordance with the contractual terms, economic circumstances and pertinent conditions as at the acquisition date.

If the business combination is achicved in stages, the acquisition date fair value of the acquirer’s previously held equity interest in the acquiree is
remeasured to fair value as at that date through the income statement.

Any contingent consideration is measured ar fair value at the date of acquisition. If an obligation to pay contingent consideration that meets the
definition of a financial instrumen is classified as equity, then it is not remeasured and settlement is accounted for within equity. Otherwise, other
contingent consideration is remeasured at fair value at cach reporting date and subsequent changes in the fair value of the contingent consideration
are recognised in profit or loss.

Goodwill is initially measured at cost, being the excess of the consideration transferred over the fair value of the Group’s net identifiable assets
acquired and liabilities assumed, and is allocated to each of the Group’s cash-generating units that are expected to benefit from the combination. If
the consideration is lower than the fair value of the net assets of the subsidiary acquired, the difference is recognised in the income statement.

Mllamnlm;& Copthon‘x;.
Hotels plc




13

After initial recognition, goodwill is measured at cost less any accumulated impairment losses. For the purpose of impairment testing, goodwill
aoquired in a business combination is, from the acquisition date, allocated to each of the Group’s cash-generating units that are expected to benefit
from the combination, irrespective of whether other assets or liabilities of the acquiree are assigned to those units.

Whete goodwill has been zllacated to 2 cash-generating unit and pare of the operation within that unit is disposed of, the goodwill associated with
the disposed operation is included in the carrying amount of the operation when determining the gain or loss on disposal. Goodwill disposed in
these circumstances is measured based on the relative values of the disposed operation and the portion of the cash-generating unit rerained.

B Foreign currency
The financial statements of each of the Group'’s businesses are prepared in the functional currency applicable to that business.

i Foreign currency translation

Transactions in foreign currencies other than the functional cutrency arc translated at the foreign exchange rate ruling at the dare of the wransacrion.

Monetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currencics ar the balance shect date are translated into sterling at the foreign exchange rate at
that date. Foreign exchange differences arising on translation are recognised in the income statement. Non-monetary asscts and liabilities that are
measured in terms of historical cost in a foreign currency are translated at the date of the transaction. Non-monctary assets and liabilities
denominated in foreign currencies that are stated at fair valuc arc translated inte stering at foreign exchange rates ruling at the date the fair value was
determined.

(ii}  Financial statements of foreign operations

On consolidation, the assets and liabilities of foreign operations, including fair value adjustments arising on consolidation, are translated o sterling
at foreign exchange rates ruling at the balance sheer dare. The revenues and expenses of foreign operations are translaved 1o sterling ar rares
approximating ro the foreign exchange rates ruling at the dates of the transactions. Foreign exchange differences arising on retranslarion are
recognised directly in equity in the foreign currency transladon reserve. When a foreign operation is disposed of, in patt or in full, the relevant
amount in the translation reserve is transferred to the income statement.

(iti} Net investment in foreigh operations
Exchange differences arising from the translation of the net investment in foreign operations, and of related hedges are taken to translation reserve.
They are released inte the income statement upon disposal or partial disposal of the foreign operation,

C  Derivative financal instruments
The Group holds derivative financial instruments to hedge its foreign currency and interest rate risk exposures.

Derivatives are initially measured at fair value; any directly attributable transaction costs are recognised in profit or loss as incurred. Subscquent to
initial recognition, derivatives are measured at fair value, and changes therein are generally recognised in profic or loss.

D Hedges

@  Cash flow hedges

When a derivative financial instrument is designated as a hedge of the vartiability in cash flows of a recognised asser or liability, or a highly probable
transaction, the effective part of any gain or loss on the derivative financial instrument is recognised directly in equity. When the forecast transaction
subsequently results in the recognition of a non-financial asset or non-financial liability, the associated cumulative gain or loss is removed from
equity and included in the initial cost or other carrying amount of the non-financial asset or liability. If 2 hedge of a forecast transaction subsequently
results in the recognition of a financial asset or a financial liability, then the associated gains 2nd losses that were recognised directly in equity are
reclassified to the income statement in the same period or periods during which the asset acquired or liability assumed affects the income statement
(i.c. when interest income or expense is recognised).
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
CONTINUED

For cash flow hedges, other than thosc covercd by the abave policy, the associated cumulative gain or loss is removed from equity and recognised in
profit or loss in the same period or periods during which the hedged forecast transaction affects profit or loss. The incffective part of any gain or loss
is recognised immediately in the income statement.

When a hedging instrument expires ot is sold, terminated or exercised, or the entity revokes designation of the hedge relationship but the hedged
forecast transaction is still expected to occur, the cumulative gain or loss at that point remains in equity and is tecognised in accordance with the
above policy when the transaction occurs. If the hedged transaction is no longer expected to take place, then the cumulative unrealised gain or loss
recognised in equity is recognised immediately in the income statement.

(it}  Hedge of monctary asscts and liabilitics
When a derivative financial instrument is used as an economic hedge of the foreign exchange exposure of a recognised monetary asset or liability,
hedge accounting is not applied and any gain or loss on the hedging instrument is recognised in the income statement.

(iii) Hedge of net investment in foreign operations
The portion of the gain or loss on an instrument used to hedge a net investment in a foreign operarion that is determined to be an effective hedge is
recoghised direcdy in equity within the translarion reserve. The ineffective portion is recognised immediarely in the income statement.

E Property, plant and equipment and depreciation

(i)  Recognition and measurement

Land and buildings (other than investment properties) are stated at cost, except as allowed under IFRS 1 transition rules, less depreciation and any
provision for impairment. All other property, plant and equipment is stated at cost less depreciation and any provision for impairment. Any
impairment of such propertics below depreciated historical cost is charged to the income statement.

Under the transition provisions of IFRS 1, land and buildings which were previously revalued under UK GAAP were measured on the basis of their
deemed cost, being their UK GAAP carrying value, including revaluations, as at T January 2004 being the effective date of the Group’s conversion to
IFRS.

(ii) Depreciation
Frechold land is not depreciated. All other assets are depreciated to their residual values on a straight-line basis over their estimared useful lives as
follows:

Building core 50 years or lease term if shorter
Building surface, finishes and services 30 years or lease term if shorter
Plant and machinery 15— 20 yeats

Furniture and equipment 10 years

Soft furnishings 5—7 years

Computer cquipment 5 years

Software up to 8 years

Motor vehicles dyears

No residual values are ascribed to building surface finishes and services. Residual values ascribed to building core depend on the nature, location and
tenure of each property.

(i1} Subsequent costs
Capital expenditure on major projects is recorded separately within property, plant and equipment as capital work in progress. Once the project is
complete the balance is transferred to the appropriate fixed asser caregorics, Capital work in progress is not depreciated.

Millennium & Copthome
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Interest attributable to funds used to finance the construction or acquisition of new hotels or major extensions to existing hotels is capitalised net of
tax relief and added to the cost of the hotel core.

Operating supplics, which include china, linen, glass and silverwarc, were stated at their decmed costs as at 1 January 2008 and subsumed into the
costs of the hotel buildings. Subsequent renewals and replacements of such stocks and new supplies upon initial hotel opening are written off as
incurred to the income statement.

F Leases

i) Leased assets

Leases where the Group assumes substandially all the risks and rewards of ownership are classified as finance leases. The leased asset is initially
recorded at the lower of fair value and the present value of minimum lease payments,

The equivalent liability, categorised as appropriate, is included within current or non-current liabilities. Assets are depreciated over the shorter of the
lease cerm and their useful economic lives. Finance charges are allocated to accounting periods over the period of the lease to produce constant rates
of return on the outstanding balance.

Rentals payable by the Group under operating leases are charged to the income statement on a straight-line basis over the lease term even if
payments arc not made on the same basis. In cases where rents comprise a fixed and a variable clement, the fixed clement only is charged to the
income statement on a straight-line basis with the variable 2mounts being charged as they become due. Lease incentives received are recognised as an
integral part of the total lease expense.

Rentals receivable by the Group as lessor under operating leases, including the sub-letting of retail outlets within hotel properties, are credited to the
tncome statement on a straight-line basis over the lease term even if the receipts are not made on such a basis. Costs, including depreciation incurred
in camning the lease income, are recognised as an expense.

{ii) Lease premium
The Group makes and receives initial payments on enteting into both long and short leases of land and buildings. Where payment for leased land is
equivalent to the purchase of the frechold interest, the lease is classified as a finance lease. All other payments for leases of land are classified as

operating leases.

On the statcment of financial position, finance lease payment attributable to the land is recorded as property, plant and equipment and for opcrating
leases, the land is recorded as a lease premium prepayment. Both lease types are charged to the income statement on a straight-line basis over the
term of the leasc. Interest attributable to funds to finance the purchase or leasc of land is capitalised gross of tax relicf and added to the cost of lease.

In the case of lease premiums received, these are reflected on the statement of financial position as defersed income, appropriately classified berween
current and non-current liabilities and are credited to the income statement on a straight-line basis over the term of the lease.

G Impairment

The carrying amounts of the Group’s assets, other than investment properties, inventories, employee benefit assets and deferred tax assets are
reviewed at each reporting date to determine whether there is any indication of impairment. If any such indication exists, the asset’s recoverable
amount is estimated.

The recoverable amount of assets is the greater of their net selling price and value in use. In assessing value in use, the estimated furure cash flows are
discounted to their present value using a pre-tax discount rate that reflects current market assessments of the time value of moncy and the risks
specific to the asset.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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Impairment is recognised in the income statement whenever the carrying ameunt of an asset or its cash-gencrating unit exceeds its recoverable
amount. [lapairment losses are reversed if there has been a change in the cstimates used w determine the recoverable ‘Where permissibl
under IFRS, an impairment loss is reversed only to the extent that the asset’s carrying amount does not exceed the carrying amount that would have
been determined, net of depreciation ot amortisation, if no impairment had been recognised.

In the case of equity investments, a significant or prolonged dedline in fair value of the asset below its cost is considered in determining whether the
asset is impaired, If any such evidence exists for these assets, the cumulative loss — measured as the difference between acquisition cost and the
current fair value, less any impairment loss on that financial asset previously recognised in the income statement — is removed from equity and
recognised in the income statement,

H  Invesunent properties

Investment properties held by the Group are properties which ate held cither to earn rental income or for capital appreciation or both. Investment
properties are stated at fair value. Any increase or decrease in the fair value on annual revaluation is recognised in the income statement in
accordance with [AS 40 Investment Property. In limited circumstances, the determination of fair value is uncertain, and these properties are carried
at cost. Impairment analysis over these properties is catried out annually.

An external independent valucr, having 2n appropriate recognised professional qualification and recent experience in the location and category of the
property being valued, values the portfolic annually. The fair values are based on market values, being the estimated amount for which a property
could be cxchanged on the date of valuation between a willing buyer and a willing scller in an arm’s length transaction after proper marketing
wherein the parties had cach acted knowledgeably, prudentdy and without compulsion.

I Inventories
I ries are recorded at the lower of cost and net realisable value. Net realisable value is the estimated selling price in the ordinary course of
business, less the estimated costs of completion and sclling expenscs.

J Development propertics

Development properties are stated at the lower of cost and net realisable value. They are held for sale in the short cerm and are therefore classified as
current assets. The cost of development properties includes interest and other related expenditure incurred in order to get the asset ready for its
intended use. Borrowing costs payable on loans funding a development property are also capitalised, on a specific identification basis, as part of the
cost of the development property until the completion of development. Payments received from purchasers arising from pre-sales of the property
units prior to the completion are included as deferred income under other financial liabilities in the statement of financial position,

K Cash and cash equivalents
Cash and cash equivalents comprise cash balances and call deposits with an original maturity of three months or less.

Bank overdrafts that arc repayable on demand and form an integral part of the Group’s cash management are included as a component of cash and
cash equivalents.

E Bormgwings

Borrowings are recognised inirially at fair value, net of transaction costs incurred. Borrowings are subsequently stated at amortised cost: any
differcnce between proceeds (net of transaction costs) and the redemption value is recognised in the income statement over the period of the
borrowings using the effective interest method.

M  Taxarion
Income tax on profit or loss comprises current and deferred tax, Income tax is recognised in the income starement except to the excent thar it relares
to items recognised directly in equity, in which case it is recognised in equity.
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Current tax is the expected tax payable on the taxable income for the year, using tax rates cnacted or substantively cnacted at the balance sheet date
and any adjustment to tax payable in respect of previous years.

Deferred tax is provided for using the balance sheet method, providing for temporary differences between the carrying amounts of assets and
liabilities for financial reporting purposes and the amounts used for taxation purposes. The following temporary differences are not provided for: (i)
the initial recognition of 2ssets ot liabilitics that affect ncither accounting nor axable profit; and (ii} differences relating to investments in subsidiarics
to the extent that they will probably not reverse in the foreseeable future. The amount of deferred tax provided is based on the expected manner of
realisation or serdement of the carrying amount of assets and liabilicies, using tax rates enacted or substantively enacted at the balance sheet dace.

A deferred tax asset is recognised only to the exvent that it is probable that future taxable profits will be available agzinst which the asset can be
utilised. Deferred tax assets are reduced to the extent that it is no longer probable that the benefit will be realised.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are offset only to the extent that: (i) the Group has a legally enforceable right to offsct current wx asscrs against
currenc tax liabilities; (i} the Group intends o secde net; and (iii) the deferred tax assets and the deferred tax liabilities relate to income taxes levied
by the samc taxation authority.

N Employee benefits
(i}  Defined conmibuton plans
Obligations for contributions to defined contribution pension plans arc rccognised as an expense in the income statement.

(ii) Defined benefit plans

The Group operates a number of defined benefit pension plans. As sct out in Note 23, the calculation of the present value of the Group's defined
benefit obligations at cach period end is subject to significant estimation. An appropriately qualified, independent actuary is used to undertake this
calculation. The assumptions made by the actuary are the best estimates chosen from a range of possible actuarial assumptions, which due to the
timescale covered may not necessarily be borne out in practice. The valuation of scheme assets is based on their fair value ar the balance sheet dace.
As these assets are not intended to be sold in the short term, their values may be subject to significant change before they are realised. In reviewing
the work of the independent actuary, management is required ¢o exercise judgement to satisfy themselves that approptiate weight has been afforded
to macro-economic factors. Details of the assumptions usad are set out in Note 23.

‘The Group's net obligation in respect of defined benefit post-employment plans, including pension plans, is calculated separately for each plan by
estimating the ameunt of futurc benefit that employees have carned in retuen for their service in the current and ptior periods. Thart benefic is
discounted to determine its present value, and the fair value of any plan assets is deducted. The calculation is performed by a qualified actuary using
the projected unit credit method.

When the benefits of a plan are improved, the portion of the increased benefit relating to past scrvice by employees is recognised immediately as an
expense in the income statement.

The Group recognises remeasurement gains and losses within the consolidated statement of comprehensive income in the period in which they
occur.

The Group determines the net interest expense (income) on the net defined benefit liabilities (asser) for the period by applying the discount rate
used to measure the defined benefit obligation at the beginning of the annual period to the net defined benefit liability (asset), taking into account
any changes in the net defined benefit liability (asset} during the period as a result of contributions and benefit payments. Net interest expense and
other expenscs related to defined benefit plans are recognised in the income statement.
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(iii) Long-term service benefits

The Group’s net obligation in respect of long-tenm service benefits, other than pest-cmployment plans, is the amount of future benefit that
employees have earned in return for their service in the current and prior periods. The obligation is calculated using the projected unit credit method
and is discounted to its present value and the fair value of any plan assets is deducted.

(iv)  Share-based payment transactions
The share-based incentive schemes allow the Group’s employees to acquire shares of Millennium & Copthorne Hotels ple.

The cost of equity-sertled transactions with employces for awards granted after 7 November 2002 is measured by reference to the fair value at the
date on which they are granted. The fair value is determined by using an appropriate pricing model, further dewils of which are given in Note 23.

The cost of equity-sertled transactions is recognised, together with a corresponding increase in equity, over the period in which the petformance and/
or service conditions are fulfilled. The cumulative expense recognised for equity-sentled transactions at each reporting dace until the vesting date
reflects the extent to which the vesting period has expired and the Group’s best estimate of the number of equity instruments that will ultimacely
vest. The income statement expense or credit for a period represents the movement in cumulative expense recognised as at the beginning and end of
that period.

No expense is recognised for awards that do not ultimately vest, except for equity-scrtled transactions where vesting is conditional upon a marker or
nan-vesting condition, which are treated as vesting irrespective of whether or not the market or non-vesting condition is satisfied, provided thar all
other performance and/or service conditions are satisfied.

Where the terms of an equicy-settled transaction award are modified, the minimum expense recognised is the expense as if the terms had not been
modified, if the original terms of the award are met. An additional expense is recognised for any modification chat increases the ol fair value of the
share-based payment transaction, or is otherwise beneficial to the employee as measured at the dace of modification.

Where an equity-settled award is cancelled, it is treated as if it vested on the date of cancellation, and any expense not yet recognised for the award is
recognised immediately. This includes any award where non-vesting conditions within the control of either the entity or the employee are not met.
However, if a new award is substituted for the cancelled award, and designated as 3 replacement award on the date dhat it is granted, the cancelled
and new awards are treated as if they were 2 modification of the original award, as described in the previous paragraph. All cancellations of equity-
settled transaction awards are treated equally.

The dilutive effect of outstanding options is reflected as additional share dilution in the compuration of diluted earnings per share (further details are
given in Note 11).

O Provisions

A provision is recognised on the balance sheet when the Group has a present legal or constructive obligation as a resule of 2 past event, and it is
probable that an cutflow of economic benefits will be required to settle the obligation. If the effect is material, provisions are determined by
discounting the expected future cash flows at a pre-tax rate that reflects cutrent market assessments of the time value of money and, when
appropriate, the risks specific to the liability. Further details on provisions are given in Note 24,

P Revenue and its recognition
Revenue comprises:

« Income from the ownership and operation of hotels — recognised at the point at which the accommeodation and related services are provided;
* Management fees — carned from hotels managed by the Group, usually under long-term contracts with the hotel owner. Management fees include

a base fee, which is generally a percentage of hotel revenue, and/or an incentive fee, which is generally based on the hotel's profitability: recognised
when earned on an accrual basis under the terms of the contracy;
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* Franchise fees — received in connection with licensing of the Group’s brand names, usually under long-term contracts with the hotel owner. The
Group charges franchise royalty fees as 2 percentage of room revenuc; recognised when earned on an accrual basis under the terms of the agreement;

« Income from property rental — recognised on a straighe-line basis over the lease term, lease incentives granted are recognised as an integral part of
the total rencal income; and

+ Development property sales — recognised when the wansfer of control of the property has passed to the buyer, which is usually when legal title
transfers depending on jurisdictions. The trigger for revenue recognition depends on the laws within each jurisdiction.

Q  Dividend distribudon

Dividend distribution to the shareholders is recognised as a liability in the Group’s financial statements in the period in which the dividends are
approptiately authorised and approved for payment and are no longer at the discretion of the Company. Unpaid dividends that de not meet these
criteria are disclosed in the notes to the financial statements.

R Operating scgment information

Disclosure of segmental information is principally presented in respect of the Group's geographical segments. The segments reported reflect the
operating information included in internal reports that the Chicf Operating Decision Maker (“CODM?"), which is the Board, regularly reviews.
Further derails are given in Note 5.

An operating segment is a component of the Group that engages in business activities from which it may carn revenues and incur expenses,
including revenues and expenses that relate to transactions with any of the Group's other components. Discrete financial information is reported to
and is reviewed by the CODM on 2 geographical basis. Operating segments have Chief Operating Officers (*COOQs”) or equivalent who are directly
accountable for the functioning of their segments and maintain regular contact with the Group Chief Executive Officer and Chairman of the
CODM to discuss the operational and financial performance. The CODM makes decisions about allocation of resources to the regions managed by
the COOs. No operating scgments have been aggregated to form the reportable operating segments.

Segment resules that are reported to the CODM indlude items directly attributable to a scgment as well as those that can be allocated on a reasonable
basis. Unallocated items principally comprise interest-bearing loans, borrowings, cash and cash equivalents, net finance expense, taxation balances
and corporate expenses.

S Non-current asscts held-for-sale

Non-current assers (or disposal groups comprising assets and liabilities) that arc cxpected 1o be recovered primarily through sale rather than through
continuing use are classified as held-for-sale. Generally the assets {or disposal group) are measured at the lower of their carrying amount and fair
valuc less cost to sell. Any impairment loss on a disposal group is first allocated to property, plant and equipment and lease preminm prepayment,
and then to remaining assets and liabilicics on a pro rata basis, except that no loss is allocated to inventories, financial assets, deferred tax assers,
employee benefit assets and investment property, which continue to be measured in accordance with the Group'’s accounting policies. Impairment
losses on initjal classification as held-for-sale and subsequent gains or losses on remeasurement are recognised in the income statement. Gains are not
recognised in excess of any cumulative impairment loss.

T Onher financial assets and liabilides

Trade investments are classified as either equity instruments at FVOCI or fair valuc through profit and loss (“FVTPL”) and are included under
non-current assets within ‘other financial assets’. They are recorded at market value with movements in value taken o equity. Any impairment to
value is recorded in the income statement.

Trade and other receivables are stated at their nominal amount (discounted if material) less any impairment. Trade and other payables are stated at
theit nominal amount (discounted if material).
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U  Related parties

For the purposc of these financial statements, parties are considercd to be related to the Group if the Group has the ability, directly or indirectly, to
control the party or exercise significant influence over the party making financial and operating decisions, or vice versa, or where the Group and the
party are subject to common control or commen significant influcnce. Related parties may be individuals or other entities.

vV  New ting standatds adopied in the current year

(i) IFRS9 Pm:ncul Instruments: Recognition and Measurement

The Group has adopted IFRS 9 cffective from the stare of the Group’s cuerent financial year. IFRS 9 addresses the assification, measurement and
derecognition of financial assets and financial liabilities, introduces new rules for hedge accounting and a new impairment model for financial assets.
Changes in accounting policies resulting from the adoption of IFRS 9 have been applied as follows by the Group:

« Changes 1o hedge accounting policies have been applied prospecrively;

» All hedging relationships designated under 1AS 39 at 31 December 2017 met the criteria for hedge accounting under IFRS 9 at 1 January 2018 and
are therefore regarded as continuing hedging relationships;

+ The expected credit loss model was applied; and

+ Comparative periods have not been restated as the Group assessed the impact of the standard on the accounts to be immaterial.

{ii} [FRS I5 Revenue from Contracts with Customers

The Group has adopved IFRS 15 effective from the start of the Group’s current financial year using the modified retrospective approach. IFRS 15
provides a principles-based approach for revenue recognition and introduces the concept of recognising revenue for obligations as they are satisfied.
‘The Group asscssed the impact of the standard on its revenue streams and concluded that there is no matesial impact to revenuc,

3 ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES AND JUDGEMENTS
Management has discussed with the Audic & Risk Committee the selection and disclasure of the Group's critical 2ccounting policies and estimates
and the application of these policies and estimates.

‘The preparation of financial statements under IFRS requites the Group to make estimates and assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets
and liabilities and the disclosure of contingencies and the reported amount of revenue and expenses during the year. The Group evaluates its
cstitnates and assumptions on an ongoing basis. Such estimates and judgements are based upon historical experience and other factars it believes o
be reasonable under the circumstances, which form the basis for making judgements about the carrying value of assets and liabilities that are not
readily apparent from other sources.

Certain critical accounting policics, among others, affect the Group’s more significant estimates and assumptions used in p lidated
financial statements. Actual results could differ from the Group’s cstimates and assumptions.

ing the co

r

3.1 JUDGEMENTS
The key judgements are:

Classification of investnent propertics

The Group holds 2 number of investment properties and accounts for such properties in accordance with the accounting policy set out in Note
2.2H. The Group owns assets which are leased to external third parties with lease rentals and related charges varying according to the agreement
involved. The Group accounts for such assets in its financial statements in accordance with the accounting policy set out in Note 2.2H.

‘Where the indicators are such that on balance the Group is shown to be a passive i , the rel prog ty is d for in accordance with
1AS 40 and the Group acoounts for the fair value change through the income statement as other operating income or cxpense. Indicators considered
include (1) party that has the power to make the significant operating and financing decisions regarding the operations of the property ina

Millennium & Copﬂmrne
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management contract, (2) calculation of the lessor’s return, (3) lessor’s power of intervention under the management contract, and (4) duration of
the contract.

Consolidation of entities in which the Group holds less than a majority of voting rights {de facto control}
In 2014, the new consolidation accounting standard, IFRS 10 introduced 2 new control model that focuses on whether the Group has power over
an investee, exposure or rights to variable returns from its involvement with the investee and ability to use its power to affect those revurns.

This required the Group to consider whether it has de facto control over its investees, pardcularly when it owned less than 50% of the veting rights.
In 2014, in accordance with the transitional provisions of IFRS 10, the Group reassessed the control conclusion fot its investees and changed its
control conclusion in respect of its investment in CDL Hospitality Trusts ("CDLHT™), which was previously accounted for as an associate using the
equity method. Although the Group owns less than half of the voting power of the investee, management determined thac, under IFRS 10, the
Group has had control over the investee since its inception. This is because a 100% owned subsidiary of the Group, M&C REIT Management
Limited acts as REIT Manager with its fees having a performance-based element and chercfore the Group has exposure to variable returns from its
involvement with the investee, Accordingly, in 2014, the Group applied acquisition accounting to the investment from the year it was first
esuablished in 2006, and restated the relevant amounts as if the investee had been conselidated from that year. This judgement was reconsidered this
year and continues to be appropriate.

Business combination

For each acquisition, the Group has to make a judgement whether to account the transaction as an asset purchase or a business combination, which
resules in a different accounting treatment. In particular, under business combination accounting, goodwill and additional intangible asscts may atise
and the valuation of acquired assets is complex. In addition, transaction costs can be capitalised in an assct acquisition, but have to be charged
through the income statement for a business combination. The classification of cach acquisition and related accounting is highly judgemental.
Details of acquisitions undertaken by the Group during the year, including the specific judgements, are set out in Notes 12 and 14,

Land leases dassification

The Group holds a number of hotels with leases of land that are determined to have an indefinite economic life. These are classified as a finance
lease, even if at the end of the Icasc term title docs not pass to the lessee. In determining whether the lease of land should be accounted forasa
finance or an opcrating lease, the following factors were considered:

* transfer of ownership
* purchase options
+ present value of minimum lease payments in comparison to fair value of land.

3.2 ESTIMATES
The key estimates are:

impairment of tangible assets

The Group determines whether tangible fixed assets are impaired when indicators of impairments exist or based on the annual impairment
assessment. The annual assessment requires an estimate of the recoverable value of the cash genetating units to which the tangible fixed assets are
allocated, which is predominantly at the individual hotel site level. Where appropriate, extetnal valuations are also underraken. Estimation of the
recoverable value of the hotel assets is done with the reference to fair value less cost to sell, using income approach, which requires estimarion of
furure cash flows of a third party efficient operator, the time period over which they will occur, an appropriate discount rates, terminal capicalization
rates and growth rates. The Directors consider that the assumptions made represent their best estimate, and that the discount rave and terminal
capitalisation rate used are appropriate given the risks associated with the specific cash flows. A sensitivity analysis has been performed over the
estimates (see Note 12).
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4 NEW STANDARDS AND INTERPRETATIONS NOT YET ADOPTED
The following standards and interpretations, which have been issued by the IASB, become effective after the current year end 2nd have not been
catly adopted by the Group:

+ In January 2016, the [IASB issued ‘IFRS 16 Leases’, The standard is effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2019 and was
endorscd by the European Union in November 2017. IFRS 16 results in lessecs accounting for most leases within the scope of the standard in 2
manner similar to the way in which financc Icases are currcntly accounted for under IAS 17 Leases. Lessees will recognise 2 ‘right of use’ assetand a
corresponding financial liability on the balance shect. The asset will be amortised over the period of the lease and the financial liability measured at
amortised cost. Lessor accounting remains substantially the same as in IAS 7. The Group is currently in the process of collating information from
various regions as part of assessing the impact the standard will have on the Group’s financial statements, As at the date of the publicadion of these
financial statements, it is not practicable to quantify this impact.

5 OPERATING SEGMENT INFORMATION

Disclosure of segmental information is principally presented in respect of the Group’s geographical segments.

Segment results, assets and liabilities include items directly atiributable to 2 segment as well as those that can be allocated on a reasonable basis.
Unallocated items principally comptise: interest-beating loans, bortowings, cash and cash equivalents, net financial expense, taxation balances and
COLPOrate cxpenses.

Geographical segments

The hotel and property operations are managed on a worldwide basis and operate in seven principal geographical areas as follows:

« New York

Regional US

* London

+ Rest of Europe

* Singapore

* Rest of Asia

o Australasia

The segments reported reflect the operating segment information included in the internal reports that the Chief Operating Decision Maker
(*CODM?™), which is the Board, regularly reviews.

The repottable segments are aligned with the structure of the Group's internal organisation which is based according to geographical region, Discrete
financial information is reported to and is reviewed by the CODM on a geographical basis. Operating segments have Chief Operating Officers
{*COOs™) or equivalent who are directly accountable for the functioning of their segments and who maintain regular contact with the Group Chief
Executive Officer and Chairman of the CODM ro discuss the operational and financial performance. The CODM makes decisions about allocation
of resources to the regions managed by the COOs.

The resules of CDLHT have been incorporated within the existing peographical regions. In addition, CDLHT aperations are reviewed separately by
its board on a monthly basis.

Liillennlmn & Copth;);
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Segment results
e w0 B -

NEW REGIONAL REST OF REST OF CENTRAL  TOTAL

YORK US LONDON  EUROPE SINGAPORE ASIA  AUSTRALASIA COSTS GROUP
BN oM M M £M iMoo EM M M M
Revenue
Hotel 159 139 106 71 130 177 85 - 867
Property operations - 5 - - 3 9 48 - 65
REIT* _ o - - - 3 16 13 5 - &5
Total revenue 159 144 106 102 149 199 138 - 97
Hotel gross opersting profit 25 pr4 43 16 51 60 42 - 264
Hocel fixed charges' I B ) @) _ay @ (33) e - (%
Hotel operating profit/(loss) @ 2 20 5 47 27 36 - 129
Property operating profit - 2 - - 2 8 25 - 37
REIT operating profit/(loss} - - - 11 @ 1 5 - 15
Central costs - - - - - - - (43} 43
Other operating income* - - - - 3 5 - - 8
Other aperating expensc? &1 19 - (&)} - © - - 59
Other operating income — REIT? - - - 10 9 - 3 - 22
Other operating expense — REIT* - LT - @ - - @
Operating profit/(loss) 39 (15) 20 23 59 31 69 (43) 105
Share of joint ventures and associates profit - - - 13 - 16 - - 29
Add: Depreciation and ameortisation 9 12 6 4 13 20 3 2 69
Add: Net revaluation gain/deficit &
impairment oo LA 19 S S 5 - L%
EBITDA® 1 16 26 33 60 72 72 (41) 239
Less: Depreciation, amortisation, net
revaluation gain/deficit 8 impairment (105)
Net finance expense S I 28)
Profit before tax 106
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FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
CONTINUED
.. LA § .
NEW RECIONAL REST OF REST OF CENTRAL  TOTAL
YORK CS  LONDON ELCROPE SINGAPORE ASIA AUSTRALASIA COSTS GROUP
) N B &M £M £M £M EM M M sM &M
Revenue
Houwd 156 144 i22 70 132 176 80 - 880
Property operations - 5 - - 3 9 45 - 62
REIT' . .. - B 8 12 _ 8 - %
Total revenue 156 149 122 93 151 204 133 - 1,008
Hotel gross operating profit 23 3 60 16 54 60 39 - 283
Hotel fixed chacges' 6y e @ a0 @ 65 ® _ - W
Horel operating profit/(loss) (10) 5 a7 6 50 25 33 - 146
Property operating profit - ~ - - 5 8 24 - 37
REIT operating profit/(kss) - - - 5 (3) 5 7 - 4
Central costs - - - - - - - (35) (35)
Other operating income? - - - - - 21 - - 21
Other operating expense® (i ® - @ - ® - - (31
operating income — REIT? - - - - - - 9 - g
Other operaring expense — REIT? - - -6 - an S )
Operating profit/(loss) (21) 3) 37 2z 52 40 73 (35} 145
Share of joint venrures and associates profir - - - 3 - 19 - - 2
Add: Depreciation and amortisation 9 13 6 6 13 2 3 3 75
Add: Net revaluation gain/
defich & impaimmens w8 - % - e - B
EBITDA* 1) 18 4 20 65 91 &7 (32) 271
Less: Depreciation, amortisation, nct
revaluation gain/deficit & impairment {104}
Net finance expense o T N
Profit before tax 147
1 Hooel fined changes include dey isarion of loasc prep property reat, taex end itstirance, operating louse ronrals and Risnsgetat focs.
2 Sce Note 7 for deils of other operating income and expense.
3 EBITDA is carnings before interest, tax, depreciacion and amortisation.
4 CDLHT operuses the REIT business.
‘Millennhum & Copthome
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Segmental assets and labilities
e 2018 - B
NEW REGIONAL REST OF REST OF TOTAL
YORK US LONDON EURQOPE SINGAPDORE ASIA AUSTRALASIA GROUP
o _ _£.M__ o 5;1_\1 o L\:[_ &M &M B E.M - £}\[ &M
Hotel operating assets 614 309 514 228 24 652 188 2,536
REIT operating assets - - - 258 626 130 155 1,169
Hotel operating liabilivies (30 48) (13 (39 (25) (66) (11} (228)
REIT operating liabilities - - - D 9] @ (3 24)
Investment in joint ventures and associares - - = 1 - % - 162
Total hotel operating net assets 583 261 501 446 618 877 329 3,615
Property operating assets - 48 - 35 89 195 115 486
Property operating liabilitics - n - - )] @ (2) ®
Investment in joint ventwees and associaves - - - 36 - e - 1%
Total property operating nct asscts - 47 - 75 87 352 113 674
Deferred tax liabilities (172)
Income taxes payable 27
Netdebe o . T £ 2
Net assets 3,363
- 27 B -
NEW REGIONAL REST OF REST OF TOTAL
YORK LS LONDON  EUROPE SINGAPORE ASIA AUSTRALASIA GROUP
o . E.M i S;“ = _S%V[ _ M M &M 7151\17 o $;M
Hotel operating assets 613 320 496 232 21 670 181 2,533
REIT operating assets - - - 207 598 117 194 1,116
Hotel operating liabilities (29) (39 (13) (36) (23) (68) (10) (218)
REIT operating liabitities - - - 8 8 (3 (6 25
Investment in joint ventures and associates: - T T T - 12 - 12
Total hotel operating net asscts 584 281 483 395 588 868 359 3,558
Property operating assets - 36 - - 84 176 92 388
Property operaring liabilitics - n - - ) €)) 2 ®
Investment in joint ventures and associates - - - 3 = 141 - 172
Total property operating net assets - 35 - 31 82 314 90 552
Deferred tax liabilities (188)
Income taxes payable (23
Netdebe ] ] _ (650)
Net asscts 3,249
 AnnualReport
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Geographic information

Revenue from external customers
United Stages
Unived Kingdom
Singapore

New Zealand
Taiwan

South Korea
China

Malaysia

France

Australia
Maldives
Philippines

lealy

Indonesia

Other

Tocal revenue per consolidated income stasement
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208

w0n
M

305
195
151
123
73
47
26
14
12
10
14
6

6

5
21

1,008

The revenue information above is based on the locadon of the business. The £997m (2017: £1,008m) revenue is constituted of £867m

(2017: £880m) of hotel revenue, £65m {2017: £62m) of property operations revenue and £65m (2017: £66m) of REIT revenue. The property
operations revenue comprises £48m (2017: £45m) from New Zealand, £3m (2017: £3m) from Singapore and £14m (2017: £14m) from other

countries,

Millennivm &
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M8 2017

M o M
Non-current assets
United Staves 938 943
United Kingdom 756 740
Singapore 728 692
China 250 278
Taiwan 276 277
New Zealand 238 231
Japan 235 212
South Korca 191 199
Hong Kong 121 108
Germany 106 94
Australia 85 89
Maldives 84 75
Ialy 83 43
Netherlands 73 3!
Malaysia &6 64
France 36 37
Indonesia 12 12
Philippines 7 8
Total non-current asscts per congolidated statement of financial position 4,325 4,133

Non-current assets for this purpose consist of property, plant and equipment, lease premium prepayment, investment propertics, investment in joint
ventures and associates and other non-current financial assets.
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& Accounts 2018



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED

FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
CONTINUED

6 ADMINISTRATIVE EXPENSES
The following items are included within administrative

=

2018 007
- 7 - L o o _ &M _ M
Included in administrative expenses is the auditor’s remuneration, for audit and non-audit services as follows:
Auditor's remuneration
Statuvory audit services:
— Annual audit of the Company and consolidated financial 1 1
- Audir of subsidiary companies o . ~ 2 2
3 3
Non-audit related services:
- Taxadvisory . ] _ 1 ot
Total 4 4
2018 207
o ) o N o ;™ M
Repairs and maintenance 54 51
Depreciation 66 72
Lease premium amortisation 3 3
— land and buildings 4 1
— plant and machinery 3 7
7  OTHER OPERATING INCOME AND EXPENSE
2018 2017
S _ - _ _NOTES ™M iM
Revaluation gain/{deficit) of investment properties 10))
— REIT properties 16 3
- Millennium Mitsui Garden Hotel Tokyo 5 9
~ Biltmeore Court 8 Tower 1 16)]
~ Tanglin Shopping Centre 3 -~
Impairment of property, plant & equipment . _ _® G968
(36) (29)
Revetsal of impairment of loan (repayment of loan) {0 - 12
Gain on disposal of imvestment properties S & B
(33 (17

(a) Revaluzcon gain/(deficic} of investment propertics

At the end of the financial year, in accordance with the Group’s policy its investment properties were subject to external professional valuation on an
open-market existing use basis, Based on these valuations, the revaluation gain or deficit was recorded as considered appropriate by the Directors.

Further details on these valuations are provided in Note 14.

.
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(b)  Impairment of property, plant & equipment

The Directors undertook their annual review of the carrying value of hotels and property asscts for indication of impairment and where appropriate,
external valuations were also obtained. As a result of this review, the total impairment charge for the year ended 31 December 2018 was £59m
consisting of £31m in New York, £19m in Regional US, £3m in Rest of Europe and £6m in Rest of Asia. For 2017, a total impairment charge of
£38m was recognised in relation to £11m in New York, £4m in Rest of Europe, £13m in Rest of Asia and £6m for Regional US. Also included in
2017 was £4m of goodwill impaired in relation to the acquisition by CDLHT of The Lowry Hotel in Manchester. Further informartion is given in
Note 12,

()  Reversal of impairment of loan {repayment of loan)

On 31 July 2017, the Group disposed of its 50% interest in Fenz Estate Co. Lid in exchange for a token sum and repayment of the sharcholder
loan, which had been impaired in earlier years. The Group re-instated the loan on its balance sheet as at 30 June 2017 with an income of £12m
recognised in the income statement. This amount was settled during 2017,

(d} Gain on disposal of investment properties
On 11 Janyary 2018, CDLHT completed the divestment of two hatels in Australia, the Mercure Brisbane and Ibis Brisbane for A$77m {(£45m} and

a gain of £3m was recognised by the Group.
8 PERSONNEL EXPENSES

2018 2017
. . . - . , M M
Wages and salaries 309 305
Compulsory sacial security contributions 49 51
Contributions to defined contribution schemes 19 16
Defined benefit pension (gain)/cost — recorded in the statement of comprehensive income {5) 4
Defined benefic pension cost - recorded in the income suutement .
374 370
The number of employees employed by the Group as at year end analysed by category was as follows:
2018 2007
- B o o S NUMBER B NUMBER
Hotel operating staff 8,853 9,020
Management/administration 1,478 1,439
Sales and marketing 492 461
Repairs and maintenance o - S & 682
11,504 11,602
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Directors’ remauneration
2018 2017
. e _ L o _ _iM iM
Remuneration 1 1
Received by the Directors under:
- Long-term incentive schemes - -
- _ Pensions o _ _ - T
1 1
9 NET FINANCE EXPENSE
o8 2017
B - o M . M
Interest income 5 5
Foreign exchange gain B __4 _ 5
Iiu'umoe income 9 ~
Intcrest expense (28) {26)
Farcign exchange loss . i} O )
Finance cxpense _ _ ] __on B,
Net finance expense (28) (20)
Miflernium & Copthorne
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10 INCOME TAX EXPENSE

018 2017

— - S I ___ M M
Current tax
Cotporation tax charge for the year 34 38
Release of tax provision duting the year - an
Adjusunent in respect of prioryeas ] 1 1
Total current wx expense 35 22
Deferred tax (Note 26)
Origination and reversal of timing differences (14) (14)
Effect of change in tax rate on opening deferted taxes - (1)
Benefits of tax losses recognised ®) (18)
(Ovedfunder provision in respect of prior years B N 1 O3
Total deferred tax credic o - L o (22) B4
Total income tax charge/(credif) in the consolidated income statement 13 (12)
UK 2 5
Ovesseas I , B : ... nu 47
Toal income tax charge/(crediv) in the consolidated income statement 13 (12)

For the year ended 31 December 2018, the Group has a tax charge of £13m (2017: £5m) excluding the tax relating to joint ventures and associates.
In 2017, a £17m provision in relation to exposures in Singapore were finalised which resulted in a total tax credit of £12m.

The effective tax rate relating to the tax charge of £13m is 16.9% (2017: 4.2% before the release of provision). The effective tax rate has been
affected by a number of factors which include the following items:

* Increased irrecoverable withholding taxes;

* Reduction in non-taxable income;

+ One off reduction in tax rates applied to brought forward net deferred tax liabilities in the US not repeated in currenc year; and
» 'Tax adjustments in respect of previous years.

Excluding the impact of the items noted above, the Group's underlying effective tax rate is 20.4% (2017: 5.2%).
For the year ended 31 December 2018, a charge of £7m (2017: £7m) relating to joint ventures and associaces is included in the profit before tax.

Adjustments in respect of settlement of prior years” tax liabilities

The Group's tax charge on ordinary activities is the sum of the total current and deferred tax charges. The calculation of the Group’s total tax charge
necessarily involves a degree of estimation and judgement in respect of certain items whose tax treatment cannot be finally determined undl
resolution has been reached with the relevant tax authority or, as appropriate, through a formal legal process. The final resolution of some of these
items may give rise to matetial profit and loss and/or cash flow variances. The geographical complexity of the Group's structure makes the degree of
estimation and judgement more challenging. The resolution of issucs is not always within the control of the Group and it is often dependent on the
efficacy of the legal processes in the relevant tax jurisdictions in which the Group operates.
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income tax reconciliatian

2018 2017
I L o e _iM M
Profit before income tax in consolidated income statement 106 147
Less share of profits of joint ventures and associates @) @
Profit on ordinary activitics excluding share of joint ventures and associates o 77 125
Income tax on ordinary activities at the standard rate of UK tax of 19.00% (2017: 19.25%) 15 24
Tax cxempt income 22) (23}
Non-deductible expenses 10 @
Unrecognised tax losses arising during the year 3 2
Other effect of ax rates in foreign jurisdictions 5 3
Effect of change in tax rarc on opening deferred taxes - m
Orther adjustments to tax charge in respect of prior years 2 2
Release of tax provision during the year o - a7
Income tax expense/(credic) per consolidated income statement 13 (12)
11 EARNINGS PER SHARE
Earnings per share are calculated using the following information:
L I 2018 LT
(a) Basic
Profit for the year attributable w holders of the parent (£m) 43 124
Weighted average number of shares in issue (m) 325 325
Basic carnings per share (pence) 13.1p 38.1p
(b) Dikued
Profit for the year atributable to holders of the parent (£m) L 43 124
| Weighted average nutnber of shares in issue {m) 325 325 |
' Potentially dilutive share options under the Group’s share option schermes (m) . - =
Weighted average number of shares in issue (diluted) {m) 325 325
Dituted carnings per share (peace) 13.1p 38.1p
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12 PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

FIXTURES,
CAPITAL FITTINGS AND
LAND AND WORK IN PLANT AND EQUIPMENT
BUILDINGS PROGRESS ~ MACHINERY AND VEHICLES TOTAL
M M M £M M

Cost
Balance at 1 January 2017 3,299 97 341 368 4,105
Addiriens — Others 14 6 15 18 53
Adjustments - 2} - - 2)
Acquisirion through business combinarian 47 - 2 3 52
Transfets 43 (59 4 12 -
Disposals - - ) N @
“Writeen off - 2 - V) (11)
Foreign exchange adjustmenes (106) @ (12 - (19 (132)
Balance at 31 December 2017 3,297 36 349 381 4,063
Balance at 1 January 2018 3297 36 349 381 4,063
Additions — Acquisitions 5 - - 1 6
Additions — Others 2 43 10 15 70
Reclassification between asset categories 3 ©) - 3 -
Transfer to investment propertics - 3) - - (3)
Disposals - - - @ @
Writeen off n - 3 (4} 8)
Foreign exchange adjustments 82 2 12 12 108
Balurnce at 31 December 2018 3,388 72 368 406 4,234
Balance at 1 January 2017 486 1 122 258 867
Charge for the year 22 - 15 35 72
Impairment 31 - 3 - 34
Disposals - - - §}] 3]
Written off - - - )] (¢]]
Forcign exchange adjustments o o a - 6] 5 {29)
Balance at 31 December 2017 520 1 135 278 934
Balance at 1 January 2018 520 1 135 278 934
Charge for the year 19 - 14 33 66
Impairment 58 - 1 - 59
Disposals - - - 2) 2
Writeen off - - 2 “ (6
Forcign exchange adjustments 16 - 5 9 30
Balance at 31 December 2018 613 1 153 314 1,081
Carrying amounts
Az 31 December 2018 2,775 71 215 92 3,153
At 31 December 2017 2,777 35 214 103 3,129

The carrying value of property, plant and equipment held under finance leases at 31 December 2018 was £nil (2017: £nil).
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a Impairment

Property, plant and equipment are reviewed for impairment based on cach cash generating unit (“CGU”), The CGUs arc individual hotels. The
carrying value of individual hotels was compared to the recoverable amount of the hotels, which was derived with the reference to fair value through
creation of discount cash flow models. Under this methodology, the fair value measurement reflects current market expectations about the third
party efficient operator’s is future cash flows, discounted to dheir present value. The underlying basis for the impairment model involves cach hotcl’s
projected cash flow for the financial year ending 31 December 2019, extrapolated to incorporate individual assumptions in respect of revenue
growth (principally factoring in room rate and occupancy growth) and major expense lines. The futurc cash flows are based on assumptions about
competitive growth rates for hotels in that arca, as well as internal business plans. Thesc plans and forecasts include management’s most recent view
of trading prospects for the hotel in the relevant market. Where appropriate, the Directors sought guidance on value from 2 registered independent
appraiscr with an appropriately recagnised professional qualification and recent experience in the location and catcgory of the hotel being valued.
On the basis of external valuations in 2018, the Group recorded an impairment charge of £59m consisting of £31m in New York, £6m in Rest of
Asia, £19m for Regjonal US and £3m in Rest of Eurape. For 2017, a total impairment charge of £34m was recognised in relation w £11m in New
York, £4m in Rest of Europe, £13m in Rest of Asia and £6m for Regional US. Further information is given in Note 12.

Circumstances and events that led w impairment are largely due to the performance of the hotels. The fair values assumed through the impairment
assessment ate considered to fall within level 3 of the fair value hierarchy. Refer to Note 22d for more detail,

b Key assumprions used by the external appraisers
The key assumprtions used were as follows:

Pre-tax discount rate — The discount ratc is based on the country in which the hotel is located and is adjusted for risks associated with the hotel.
Discount rates ranged from 6.5% to 13% in the US, 10% in Europe and 8% to 99 in Asia.

Occupancy rate — The occupancy growth rates ranged up to 9.5% in the US, up to 4.3% in Europe and up to 9.0% in Asia.
Average room rate ~ The average room rate growth ranged from 3% to 4% in the US, 4% in Europe and 2% to 2.5% in Asia.
Terminal rate — These rates ranged from 5% to 11% in the US, 6.5% in Europe and 6% to 7% in Asia.

The forecasts cover a five to ten year period, and cash flows beyond this period are extrapolated using a growth rate ranging berween 1.5% and
2.59%, which is based upon the expected trading growth for each hotel and inflation in the country.

< Scositivities

The Group’s impairment review is sensitive to changes in key assumptions used, most notably che discount and terminal rates. Based on the Group's
sensitivity analysis performed on properties in New York {which represents 53% of the total impairment recognised), assuming that all other
varizbles were to remain constant, the increase/(decrease) in the Group’s total impairment recognised would be as follows:

™
Terminal rate decreased by 0.25% (8
“Terminal rare increased by 0.25% s
Discount rate decreased by 0.25% 5
Discount rate inc d by 0.25% 5

Millennium & Copthomne
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Land and buildings includes long leasehold building assets with a book value of £681m (2017: £669m). The net book value of land and buildings

held under short leases was £105m (2017: £105m), in respect of which depreciation of £3m (2017: £3m)} was charged during the year.

No interest was capitalised within land and buildings during the year (2017: £nil), The cumulative capitalised interest within land and buildings is

£5m (2017: £5m).

[ Pledged assets

Ar year-end, the net book valuc of asscts pledged as collateral for secured loans was £477m (2017: £458m). The security for the loans is by way of

charges on the properties of the Group companies concerned.

13 LEASE PREMIUM PREPAYMENT

Cost

Balance at 1 January 2018
Foreign exchange adjustments
Balance at 31 December 2018
Amortisation

Balance ar 1 January 2018
Charge for the year

Foreign exchange adjustments
Balance at 31 December 2018
Carrying amount at 31 December 2018
Analysed between:

Amount due after more than one year included in non-current assets
Amount due within one year included in cusrent assets
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14 INVESTMENT PROPERTIES
Completed investment propertics comprise Tanglin Shopping Centre, Biltmore Court 8¢ Tower, COLHT properties and Millennium Mitsui
Garden Haortel Tokyo. Investment properties under construction represents the site at Sunnyvale.

Movements in the year analysed as:
INVESTMENT
COMPLETED PROPERTIES
PNVESTMENT UNDER
PROPERTIES CONSTRUCTION TOTAL
— e S M M LM
Balalwe at 1 ]amﬂ-ry 2017 525 9 534
Transfer to current asset held for sale (41) - 41)
Additions 2 - 2
Acquisition of property 94 - 94
Adjustment to fair value 9 - 9
Foreign exchange adjustment B @y - @y
Balance at 31 December 2017 o o . 568 * 57
Balance ac 1 January 2018 568 9 577
Transfer from property, plant and equipment - 3 3
Additions - 6 6
Acquisition of property 38 - 38
Adjustment to fair value 22 - 22
Forcign exchange adjustment e ®2__ - z
Balance at 31 December 2018 650 18 668

In general, the carrying amount of investunent property other than those under construction is the fair value of the property as determined by a

registered independent appraiser having an appropriate recognised professional qualification and recent experience in the location and category of
the property being valued. Fair values were determined having regard to recent market transactions for similar properties in the same location as the

Group’s investment property.

Consistent with the prior year, only the land site at Sunnyvale, California, is classified 2s investment properties under construction as the project of
building a hotel and an apartment complex is still in progress. This asset is carried at cost on the balance sheet.
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The Group’s investment propertics were subject to external professional valuation on an open market existing use basis by the following accredited
indcpendent valuers:

PROPERTIES VALUERS
Tanglin Shopping Centre, Singapore Edmund Tie & Company (SEA) P Led
Biltmore Court & Tower, Los Angeles Sequoia Hortel Advisors, LLC
Land site at Sunnyvale, California Sequoia Hotel Advisors, LLC
Millennium Mitsui Garden Hotel Tokyo Jones Lang LaSalle KK
CDLHT - Singapore Knight Frank Pte Ltd
CDLHT - Australia CBRE Pre Lud
CDLHT — Maldives CBRE Pre Lid
CDLHT ~ Germany CBRE Pte Lud
CDLHT - Iraly HVS Global Hospitality Services

Based on these valuations together with such considerations as the Directors consider appropriate, Millennium Mitsui Garden Hotel Tokyo,
Biltmore Court & Tower and Tanglin Shopping Centre recorded a revaluation grin of £5m (2017: revaluation gain £9m), a revaluation deficie of
£1m (2017: revaluation deficit £3m) and a revaluation gain of £3m (2017: immatetial revaluation deficit) respectively. In addition, the REIT
properties recorded a net revaluation gain of £16m (2017: net revaluarion gain of £3m). All the other investment properties recorded no change and
no impairment was identified.

Fair value hicrarchy
The fair value measurement for investment propetties not under construction of £650m (2017: £568m) has been categorised as a Level 3 fair value
based on inputs to the valuation technique used.
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Valuation technique and significant unohservable inputs
The following table shows the valuation technique used in measuring the fair value of investment property, as well as significant unobservable inpurs
uscd.

INTER-RELATIONSHIP BETWEEN KEY
UNOBSERVABLE INPUTS AND FAIR VALUE

VALUATION TECHNIQUE SIGNIFICANT UNOBSERVABLE INPUTS MEASUREMENT

‘The technique spplied in the valuarion of the Tanglin Tanglin Shopping Centre The estimated fair value would inctease/ (decrease) if:

Shopping Centre is based on market comparison of salex of  Open market values for other propertes.

similar propettics in the vicinity. Further adj arc Expected market rental growth were highet/ (krwex); and

made vo this value w for diffe in location, size, Bilemore Court & Tower

wenure, vicw, accessibility, condition and other fuctors, Discount rate of berween 7% to 119% and capinalisation e Risk adjusted discount rae was lowes/ (higher), capiualisation
of 7.5% to 9%. rate was higher/ (lowes) and terminal yield was lower/ (higher).

Biltmore Court & Tower and Millenniym Mitui Garden

Hotel Tokye were valued wiing a discounted cash flow Millenniuss Mitvai Garden Hotsl Tokyo

hnique based on exp d rental i and di me  Di rate of 3.8% and capitalisation rate of 4.0%.

approprise for the property.
CDLHT properties Discounr e of b

Iavestment proerties held by the REIT were valued using. 6% and 109%, capitalisation rare of 5% to 8% and terminal

the discounced cash flow, capitlisation or comparison yicld of 4% o 89%.

techniques.

Further details in respect of investment property rentals are given in Note 31.

Acquisition of property

On 27 November 2018, the H-REIT Group acquired 95.0% of the shares and voting interest in Event Hospitality Group III B.V., which wholly-
owns Event Hospitality Group III Italy SRL, solc sharcholder of NKS Hospitality I1I (collectively, the “Italy Acquisition”) for a total consideration
of €33m (£29m). NKS Hospitality III SRL is the legal owner of Hotel Cerretani Florence, MGallery by Sofitel and the fixtures, furniture and
equipment thercin (collectively, the “Italy Property™). The acquisition was accounted for as an acquisition of assets.

Identifiable asscts acquired and Liabilities assumed
The following table summuarises the recognised amounts of assets acquired and liabilities assumed at the date of acquisition.

. S B o o R ™ M
Investrment property 43 38
Trade and other receivables 1 1
Cash at bank 3 3
Current liabilities (4] (1)
Borrowings L e o o an (10)
Total identifiable net assets 35 31
Less: Non-controlling interest, based on their proportionate interest in the
recognised amounts of the assets and liabilities of the acquiree N T < TR -
Identifiable net assets acquired 33 29
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Consideration transferred

o S o i S €M i B SM
Total consideration for 95.0% equity interest acquired 33 29
Add: Acquisition related costs 2 2
Less: Cash at bank of subsidiarics acquired 6] 3
Less: Acquisition related costs not yet paid I S B O}
Net cash outflow on acquisition' 30 26

1 Included in cash flows from investing activitics.

Acquisition of property

On 14 July 2017, the H-REIT Group acquired 94.9% of the shares and voting interests in NKS Hospitality I B.V. ("NKS”) and Munich Furnityre
B.V. (“FurnitureCo”) (collectively, the “German Acquisition”) for a total consideration of €101m (£89m). The H-REIT Group acquired NKS and
FurnitureCo which own Pullman Hotel Munich (the “German Hotel”) and its office and retail components (collectively, the *German Property™).
The acquisition was accounted for as an acquisition of assets.

Identifiable assets acquired and liabilitics assumed
‘The following table summarises the recognised amounts of assets acquired and liabilities assumed at the date of acquisition.

. e o M &
Investment property 107 94
Deferred tax assets — -
Trade and other receivables - -
Cash at bank 3 3
Trade and other payables - -
Borrowings e : S
‘Total identifiable net assets 65 55
Less: Non-controlling interest, bascd on their proportionate interest in the
recognised amounts of the asscts and liabiliries of the acquiree S L -}
Identifiable net assets acquired 62 52
Consideration wransferred

o ) ) - ] €M £M
Cash paid 101 89
Effect of the acquisition of NKS and FurnirureCo on cash flows:
Total consideration for 94.9% equity intercst acquired 59 52
Add: Borrowings assumed 43 38
Add: Acquisirion-related costs 3 3
Less: Cash at bank of subsidiaries acquired 3 (3
Less: Consideration not yet paid 2 2
Net cash cutflow on acquisition’ 100 83

[ Included in cash Bows from invening acuvidies.
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15 INVESTMENTS IN JOINT VENTURES AND ASSOCIATES
The Group has the following investments in joint ventures and associates:

FAIR
VALUE OF EFFECTIVE GROUP
OWNERSHIP INTEREST
PRINCIPAL PLACE INTEREST o i

OFBUSINESS &M 208 2017
Joint ventures
New Unity Holdings Limited ("New Unity”™) Hong Kong - 50% 50%
Fetgurson Hotel Management Limited Hong Kong - 50% 50%
Associate
First Sponsor Group Limited (“First Sponsor”) People’s Republic of China 170 36% 36%
Prestons Road Limited New Zealand - 17% 17%
CDL Houels Japan Pre. Led. . Singapore - 0% 0%

The Group has 509 in New Uniry which operates the Group’s hotel business in Hong Kong. First Spansor is a property company which is listed
on the Singapore Exchange and has interests in China, the Netherlands and Germany. It is also involved in the Chinese property financing business
which carrics additional risk of recovcrability of ccrtain assets.

JOINT

VENTURES ASSOCIATES TOTAL
e M AM M
Share of net asscta/cost i S , ,
Balance at 1 January 2017 113 207 320
Share of profit for the year 5 17 22
Dividends received - 2 @
Foreign exchange adjustments e (10) ® (16)
Balance ar 31 December 2017 108 a6 24
Balance at 1 January 2018 108 216 324
Share of profit for the year 7 22 29
Dividends received - @ @
Forcign exchange adjustmenss e 6 3 ’
Balance at 31 December 2018 121 237 358
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The following is summarised financial information for First Sponsor and New Unity based on their respective financial statements prepared in
accordance with IFRS. Thesc arc considered to be the most significant investments in joint ventures and associares.

FIRSTSPONSOR  NEWONITY
2018 2017 1018 2017

. ] o - M M M sM
Non-current assets 749 508 361 340
Current assets 621 667 101 94
Non-current liabilities (476) (356) {104) (124)
Current Labilities . . _ @y ey 6y @)
‘Total assets less total liabilities 670 608 320 281
Less: Non-controlling interest R v/ @ @) (66)
Net asscts (100%) - . 663 604 oM 215
Group’s share 237 216 121 108
Revenwe N o 14 26 1M 128
Operating profic 76 63 28 25
Interest income/(cxpense) 4 5 {2) @
Income tax expense L - I e ¢ “@ @
Profit for the year 65 52 22 19
Non-controlling ineerests ] L G 3 ® a9
Profit for the ycar after non-controlling interests 62 49 13 9
Other comprebensive income - - as 12 - -
Profit and total comprehensive income (100%} _ 49 57 _ 13 .9
Group' share of profit and voal comprehenive ncome T T = 7 5
Dividends received by the Group 4 2 - -

At 31 December 2018, the Group's share of the total capital commitments of joint ventures and associates amounted to £15m (2017: £18m). At
31 December 2018, the Group's joint ventures and associates had no contingent liabilidies (2017: £nil).
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16 OTHER FINANCIAL ASSETS

2018 2017
. . ; &M AM
Equity investment at FVOCI 19 -
Derivative financial assets 2 -
Deposits receivable . o S ,, B - L -
43 -
17 INVENTORIES
208 2017
. o } . L ™ o.M
Consumables 5 4
18 DEVELOPMENT PROPERTIES
2018 2007
o - a —— , N . ;™ M
Development propertics comprise:
Development land for resale
—  New Zealand residential sections % 66
Developrment propertics
= ZenithResidences _ - I - » 7
115 93
19 TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES
2018 2017
S S - _ S . M
Trade receivables 45 41
Other receivables 27 19
Prepayments and accrued income 29 28
Trade reccivables due from holding and associate companies o B 1 -
i02 88

Trade reccivables are shown net of an impairment allowance of £4m (2017: £3m) relacing to the likely insolvencies of cerrain customers and non-

recoverability of debrs.

The Group’s exposure to credit and currency risks and impairment losses related to trade and other receivables are disclosed in Note 22.
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20 CASHAND CASH EQUIVALENTS

2018 007
— . _ _ _ _EM EM
Cash at bank and in hand 228 209
Short-verm deposits 225 205
Cashpool overdrafts L B
Cash and cash equivalents on the statement of financial position 375 354
Overdrafts included in borrowings S - = -
Cash and cash equivalents shown in the cash flow statement 375 354

The Group's exposure to intcrest rate risk and a sensitivity analysis for financial asscts atc disclosed in Note 22. As ar 31 December 2018, £1m
{2017: £1m) of the cash balance was restricted

21 INTEREST-BEARING LOANS, BONDS AND BORROWINGS

2018 2017
o o B - ____?.M o £M
Included within non-current liabilities:
Bank loans 614 553
Bondspagable ) - 175 238
789 791
Included within current Liabilities:
Bank loans and overdrafts 234 146
Bondspayable N S . - ... 7 67
313 213

Net debt of £727m (2017: £650m) is the total of the interest-bearing loans, bonds and borrowings of £1,102 (2017: £1,004m) less cash and cash
equivalents of £375m (2017: £354m). Further details in respect of financial liabilities are given in Note 22.

12  FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

Orverview

The Group has exposure to the following risks from its usc of financial instruments:

+ credit risk;

* liquidity risk; and

 marker risk.

This note presents information about the Group’s exposure to each of the above risks, and the Group’s pelicies and processes for measuring and
managing tisk.

(a} Credit risk
Credit risk is the risk of financial loss to the Group if a customer or counterparty to a financial instrument fails to meet its contractual obligations,

and arises principally from the Group's receivables from customers and investment securities.
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Exposure to credit risk is monitored on an ongoing basis, with credit checks performed on all clients requiring credit over certain amounts. Credit is
not extended beyond authorised limits, cstablished where appropriate through consultation with a professional credir vetting organisation. Credit
granted is subject to regular review, to ensure it remains consistent with the client’s current creditworthiness and appropriate to the anticipated
volume of business.

Investments are allowed only in liquid short-term inseruments within approved limits, with investment counterparties approved by the Board, such
that the exposute to a single counterparty is minimised.

The maximum expasure to credit risk is represented by die carrying value of each financiat asset on the balance sheet, these being spread across the
various currencies and jurisdictions in which the Group operates.

The maximum exposure to credit risk at the reporting date was:

CARRYING VALUE

2018 2017
. e . . L MM
Cash at bank and in hand (see Note 20) 228 209
Short-term depasits (sec Note 20) 225 205
Cash pool overdrafis {see Note 20} 78) (60)
‘Trade receivables (see Nots 19) 45 41
Other receivables (sec Note 19) 27 19
Equity investment at FVOCI (see Note 16) 39 -
Deposits receivable (scc Note 16) 2 -
Trade receivables due from bolding and associate companies (soc Note 19) L L -
489 414
The maximum exposurc to credit risk for trade reccivables at the reporting date by geographic region was:
_ CARRYINGVALUE
2018 2017
—_ o . A ——— MM
New York 7 7
Regional US 4 4
Rest of Europe 10 7
Singapore 7 7
Rest of Asia 10 11
Australasia o o ) L L I A
45 41
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The ageing of trade receivables at the reporting date was:
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_ GROSS RECFEIVABLE IMPAIRMENT ALLOWANCE CARRYING VALUE

2018 2017 2018 2017 2018 2017

o o - B iMoo M B M iM &M &M

Not past due 28 27 - - 28 27

Past due 0 — 30 days 11 10 - - 11 10

Past due 31 — 60 days 3 3 - - 3 3

Past due 61 — 90 days 1 1 - - 1 1

More than 90 days i 6 3 4 3 ¥3 -

49 44 @ 3 45 41

‘The movement in the allowance for impairment in respect of trade reccivables during the year was as follows:

2018 w017

o B L B L o L iM . ) M

Balance at 1 January 3 2

Impairment recognised 2 1
Bad debes written off L o m Nl

Balance at 31 December 4 3
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CONTRACTUAL MATURITIES OF FINANCIAL ASSETS 2018

6 MONTHS 6 MONTHS 1-5 MORE THAN
TOTAL OR LESS -1 YEAR YEARS 5 YEARS
M iM £M M M
Financial Asscts
Fized Rate
US dollar 4 4 - -
Korean Won 8 8 - -
Singapore dollar 108 69 - 39 -
New Taiwan dollar 24 2 - - 2
Ausvralian dollar 38 38 - - -
New Zealand dollar 62 62 - - -
Malgysian Ringgit 21 21 - - -
Eurg 2 - - 2 -
Chinese Renminbi 20 20 - - -
Noa-Tnterest Bearing
Sterling 9 9 - - -
US dollar 34 34 - - -
Singapore dollar 29 29 - - -
Australian dollar 5 5 - -
New Zcaland dollar 5 5 - -
Malayxian Ringgit 1 1 - - -
Euro 22 22 - - -
Japanese Yen 17 17 - - -
Others 4 4 _ _ _
Interest Bearing Cash Pool deposits
S dollar 53 53 - - -
Non-Interest Beating Cash Pool deposits
Sterling 30 30 - - _
Total cash and other financial assets 496 453 - 41 2
Interest Bearing Cash Pool Overdrafts
Stetling 24 4 - - -
Houg Kong dollar (19) 19 - - -
Non-Interest Bearing Cash Pool Overdrafis
Sterling (28 (28) - - -
Euro 7 ) - - -
Total overdrafis (Note 20} (78) 73) - -
418 375 — 41 2
Represented by
Cash and cash equivalents (Note 20) 375
Financial assets (Note 16) 43 )
418
Millennium & Copthome
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CONTRACTUAL MATURIT [ES OF FINANCIAL ASSETS 2017

SMONTHS  6MONTHS -5 MORETHAN
TOTAL OR LESS -1YEAR YFARS SYEARS
M iM M &M &M
Financial Asscts
Fixed Rate
US dollar 13 13 - - -
Korean Won 6 6 - - —
Singapore dollar 50 90 - - -
New Taiwan dollar 18 18 - - -
Australian dollar 5 5 - - -
New Zealand dollar 65 65 - - -
Malaysian Ringgit 18 18 - - -
Eure 1 1 - - -
Chinese Renminbi 17 17 - - -
Others 1 1 - - -
Non-interest Bearing
Sterding 29 29 - - -
US dollar 32 32 - - -
Singapore dollar 18 18 - - -
New Taiwan dollar 1 1 - - -
Malaysian Ringgit 1 1 - - -
Euro 17 17 - - -
Japanese Yen 14 14 - - -
Others 13 13 - - -
Inverest Bearing Cash Pool deposits
Singapore dollar 53 53 - - -
Japanese Yen 2 2 - - -
Total cash and other financial assets 414 414 - - -
Interest Beatiog Cash Pool Overdrafts
Seciling 249 (24) - - -
Hong Kong dollar (22) (22) - - -
Non-Interest Bearing Cash Pool Overdrafis
Stedling 14 (14 - - -
Total overdrafts (Note 20) (60) (60} - - -
354 354 - - -
Represented by:
Cash and cash equivalents (Note 20) 354 i
354
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(&) Liquidity risk

Liquidity risk is the risk thar the Group will nor be able 1o meet its financial obligations as they fall due. The Group’s approach to managing
liquidity is to ensure, as far as possible, thar it will always have sufficient liquidity to meet its liabilitics when due, under both normal and stressed
conditions, without incurring unacceptable losses or risking damage to the Group’s repuration.

The following are the contractual marurities of financial liabilities, including estinated interest payments using the interest rates prevailing as at the
reporting dace.

CONTRACTUAL MATURITIES OF FINANCIAL LIABILITIES

CARRYING CONTRACTUAL 6 MONTHS 6-12 1-2 2-5 MORE THAN

AMOUNT CASHFLOWS OR LESS MONTHS YEARS YEARS 5 YEARS
31 DECEMBER 2018 M AM M ™ M M - _£_h_4_
Floating rate financial Liabilitics
Secured loans 61 64 28 - 1 35 -
Unsecured loans 451 475 52 75 157 191 -
Secured bonds 20 20 - - 20 - -
Unsecured bonds 157 167 3 80 3 81 -
M m E . ] ll l .]I -
Unsecured loans 296 321 4 95 29 193 -
Sccured loans 40 44 - - 1 2 41
Secured bonds 77 78 - - 78 - -
Trade and other payahles
Trade payables 32 32 32 - - - -
Other creditors 53 53 53 - - - -
Non-current lisbilities
Other non-current liabilities 15 15 - - 2 3 10

1,202 1,269 172 250 291 505 51
Millennium & Copthome
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CONTRACTUAL MATURITIES OF HI\A\CIAI LlABlLI FEES
CARRYING CONTRACTUAL 6 MONTHS 6-12 1-2 -3 MORE THAJ.\

AMOUNT CASHFLOWS R LESS MONTHS YEARS YEARS SYEARS
31 DLLEMBER 2m7 M iM £M ™ M M iM
Floating rate financial liabilities
Secured loans 65 68 3 3 62 - -
Unsecured loans 423 449 29 84 51 285 -
Secured bonds 39 39 - - - 39 -
Unsecured bonds 149 159 2 2 77 78 -
Fixed rate financial liabilities
Unsecured loans 210 221 39 2 91 39 -
Unsecured bonds 67 68 1 67 - - -
Secured bonds 51 51 - - - 51 -
Trade and other payables
Trade payables 27 27 27 - - - -
Other creditors 61 61 61 - - - -
Non-current liabilities
Other non-current liabilities 13 13 - - - 2 11

1 105 1,156 162 158 281 544 n

Undrawn committed borrowing facilities
At 31 December 2018, the Group had £539m (2017: £556m) of undrawn and commirted facilities available, comprising committed revolving
credit facilities which provide the Group with financial flexibility. Maturities of these facilities are set out in the following table.

The conditions precedent to the availability of these facilities are all satisficd at the balance sheer dare.

2018 2007
B - o iM M

Expiring in one year ot less 223 295
Expiring after more than one year but not more than two years 165 69
Expiring after more than two years but not mote than five years 151 192
Expiring after more than five yeats o S - -
"Total undrawn commirted borrowing facilities 539 556
Total undrawn uncommitted borrowing facilicies B . L 13 4
Total undrawn borrowing facilities 712 599
Security

Included within the Group’s total bank loans and overdrafts of £849m (2017: £703m) arc £100m (2017: £65m) of sccured loans and overdrafts.
Total bonds and notes payable of £254m (2017: £216m) consist of £157m unsecured

Loans, bonds and notes are secured on land and buildings with a carrying value of £477m (2017: £458m) and an assignment of insurance proceeds
in respect of insurances over the mortgaged properties.
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Of the Group's total facilities of £1,815m, £705m matures within 12 months comprising £79m unsecured bonds and notes, £97m committed
revolving credit facilities, £194m uncommitted facilities and overdrafts subject to annual renewsl, £308m unsecured term loans and £27m secured
term loans. Plans for refinancing the facilitics are underway.

(¢) Market risk
Market risk is the risk that changes in market prices, such as foreign exchange rates, interest rates and equity prices will affect the Group’s income or
the value of its holdings of financial instruments.

The primary objectives of the treasury function are to provide secure and competitively priced funding for the activities of the Group and to identify
and manage financial risks, including expostre to movements in intetest and foreign exchange rates arising from those activities. If appropriate, the
Group uscs financial instruments and derivatives to manage these risks, as set out below.

(i)  Foreign currency risk

The Group is exposed to foreign currency risk on revenus, purchases, borrowings and cash deposits denominated in currencies other than the
functrional currencies of the respective Group entities. The currencies giving risc to this rigk are primarily US dollars, Singapore dollers, New Zealand
dollars, New Taiwan dollars, Korean won, Chinese renminbi, Japanese yen and Euro.

The Group’s principal policy, wherever possible, is to maintain 2 natural hedge whereby liabilitics are matched with assets denominated in the same
currency. Foreign currency investment exposure is also minimised by borrowing in the currency of the investment.

To mitigate foreign currency translation exposure, an appropriate proportion of net assets are designated as hedged against corresponding financial
Liabilities in the same currency.

Net investment hedging

The Group has US$161m (2017: US$163m) US dollar loans and €7m (2017: €7m) Euro loans designated as hedges of corresponding respective
propottions of its net investment in foreign operations whose functional currencies are US dollars and Euros. The risk being hedged is the foreign
currency exposure on the carrying amount of the net assets of the foreign operation upon consolidation. The fair value of the hedging instruments as
at 31 December 2018 was £133m (2017: £128m).

An analysis of borrowings by currency and their fair values as at 31 December is given below:

31 DECEMEBER 2018 31 DECEMBER 2017
BOOK VALUE FAIR VALUE BOOKVALUE  FAIR VALUE
M £M &M M
Sterling 146 146 120 120
Singapore dollar 23 223 211 211
US dollar 468 468 432 432
New Zealand dollar 34 34 35 35
Japanese yen 120 120 111 111
New Taiwan dollar - - 4 4
Korean Won 14 14 24 24
Euro - 7 70 37 37
1,102 1,102 1,004 1,004
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Exchange differences arising on foreign currency loans during each accounting period arc recogniscd as 2 component of equity, to the extent that the
hedge is effective. The foreign exchange exposure arising on the Group's net investment in its subsidiaries is expected to be highly cffective in
offsetting the exposure arising on the Group’s foreign currency borrowings. However during the year 2 £2im credit (2017: immarerial amount) was
recognised in the consolidated income statement that arose from hedges of net investments in foreign operations chat were considered to be
incffective.

Foreign currency transaction exposure is primarily managed through funding of purchases from operating income streams atising in the same
currency.

Hedging of transaction exposure is undertaken with approved counterparties and within designated limits, using spot or short-term forward
contracts to buy or sell the currency concerned, once the timing and the underlying amount of exposure have been determined. Foreign exchange
detivatives may also be used to hedge specific transaction exposure where appropriate.

The following significant exchange rates applied during the year:

AVERAGERATE CLOSING RATE

4201_8___ 007 2018 2017
US dollar 1.334 1.290 1270 1.339
Singapore dollar 1.799 1.782 1.741 1.796
New Taiwan dollar 40.237 39.338 39.152 40.083
New Zealand dollar 1.927 1.814 1.885 1.896
Malaysian ringgit 5.390 5.544 5306 5.473
Korean won 1,465.85 1,455.88 1,428.30 1,438.03
Chinese renminbi 8.825 8.722 8.736 8.779
Euro 1.129 1.143 1.115 1.127
Japanese yen 147.426 144.878 140.298 151.569

o l;p;rt,,,,
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Sensitivity analysis

With respect to the Group’s foreign currency exposure, and assuming that all other variables, in particular interest raves, remain constant, it is
estimated that a 10% strengthening of sterling against the following cusrencies at 31 December 2018 (31 December 2017: 10%) would have

increased/(decreased) equity and profit before tax by the amounts shown below:

31 DECEMBER 20i8
PROFIT

31 DECEMBER 2017

PROFIT

FQUITY BEFORE TAX EQUITY REFORETAX

o _ o o o o B ~ EM o £M £7N} . ) 7£M
US dollar 28 7 33 4
Australian dollar ()] ) & t
Singapore dollar 6 @ 5 @
New Taiwan dollar - (1) - 1}
New Zealand dollar - 5) 1Y) (L4
Euro 4 2 3 -
Chinese renminbi (¢Y] 1) 4 2}
Hong Kong doliar - - - ()
Japanese Yen 2 @ 2 [#3]
Thai Bahe ] ) ) N ) - ] - - m
28 (4] 30 ( 12)

A 10% weakening of sterling against the above currencies at 31 December 2018 (31 December 2017: 10%) would have had the equal but opposite

effect on the above currencies to the amounts shown above, on the basis that all other variables remain constant.

{ii) Interest rave risk and interest rate swaps
The Group adopts a policy of ongoing review of its exposure to changes in interest rates on its

taking into account market expectations

L . :
with regard to the perceived level of risk associated with each currency, the mawrity profile and cash flows of the underlying debt, and the extent 10

which debt may potentially be cither prepaid prior to its macurity or refinanced ar reduced cost,

The Group’s policy is to maintain 2 mixture of its financial liabilitics on a fixed and floating-rate basis with 2 greater emphasis on floating razes
presently as this flexibility is considered to be appropriate in the context of the Group’s overall geographical diversity, investment and business cycle

and the stabilicy of the income streams, cash balances and loan covenanes.

Interest rate derivatives are used to manage interest rate risk, to the extent that the perceived cost is considered to cutweigh the benefit from the
flexibility of variable ratc borrowings, and the Group actively monitors the need and timing for such derivatives, Where used, interest ratc derivatives
are classificd as cash flow hedges and stated at fair value within the Group’s consolidated statement of financial position. Further details of interest

rate derivatives in place at 31 December 2018 are provided hereafter.

Millennjum & Copthome
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Cash flow sensitivity analysis for variable rate instruments
Assuming that all other variables, in particular foreign currency rates, remain constant, a change of one percentage point in the average interest rates
applicable to variabic rate instruments for the year would have increased/(decreased) the Group’s profit before tax for the year as shown below:

3 DECP{M}?Ell 29!3 - 31 DECEM.BEBiT L
1% 1% 1% 1%
INCREASE DECREASE INCREASE DECREASE
S o M B - 721\‘7[ M M
Variable rate financial assets 2 [#]] 2 2
Variable race financial liabilities S o 11 ! D ¢ ) 10
Cash flow sensitivity (net) )] 9 (8) 8

{d)  Fair value
Set out below is a comparison of the fair and book values of all the Group’s financial instruments by catcgory. Fair values are determined by
reference to market values, where available, or calculated by discounting cash flows at prevailing interest rates.

2018 2018 017 2017
BOOK VALUE FAIRVALUE BOOKVALUE  FAIRVALUE
&M M M M
Financial asscts
Cash at bank and in hand 228 228 209 209
Short-term deposits 225 225 205 205
Cash pool overdrafts 78) (78) (60) (60)
Loans and receivables
Trade receivables 45 45 41 41
Tradc reccivables due from holding and associate companies 1 1 - -
Other receivables 27 27 19 19
Other financial assets
Equity itrvestment at FVOCI 39 39 - -
Deposits receivable 2 2 - -
489 489 414 414
Financial liabilit
Overdrafts and borrowings (1,102) (1,102) (1,004) (1,004)
Trade payables 32 (32) @7 27)
Other creditors (53) (53) (61) 61)
Other non-current liabilities as) (15) (13) a3
(1,202) (1,202) (1,105) (1,105)
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Estimation of fair values
The following summarises the major methods and assumptions used in estimating the fair values of financial instrumends reflected in the mble.

Derivatives
Forward exchange contracts are cither marked 1o market using listed market prices or by discounting the contractual forward price and deducting
the current spot rate. For intceest rate swaps, bank valuations are used.

Interest-bearing loans and borrowings
Fair valuc is calculated based on discounted cxpected future principal and interest cash Hows.

Finance lease liabilities
The fair value is estimated as the present value of future cash flows, discounted at market interest rates for similar lease agreements, The estimated
fair values reflect changes in interest rates.

Trade and other receivables/payables
For receivables/payables with a remaining life of less than one year, the notional amount is deemed to reflect the fair value. All other receivables/
payables are discounted to determine the fir value,

Interest rates used for determining fair value
Prevailing market interest rates are used to discount cash flows to determine the fair value of financial assets and liabilities.

Fair value hierarchy
As ar 31 December 2018, the Group held certain financial instruments measured at fair value.

The Group uses the following hictarchy for determining and disclosing the f&ir value of financial instruments by valuation techaique:

Level 1: quoted (unadjusted) prices in active markets for identical assets or liabilities

Level 2: other techniques for which all inputs which have 2 significant effect on the recorded fair value are observable, either directly or indirectly
Level 3: techniques that use inputs which have a significant effect on the recorded fair value that arc not based on observable market data

The table below provides a hicrarchy analysis of financial inscrumencs carried ac fair value:

- o o o -
LEVEL 1 LEVEL 2 LEVEL 3 TOTAL LEVEL 1 LEVEL2 LEVEL3 TOTAL
e . . M &M M W M M M M
Equiry investment at FVOCI - a9 - 39 - - - -
Comency derivativeasses =~ - 2 - 2 = . __ T _-
Assets - a0 - I - - -
Interest rate derivative liabilities - - 1 o= = L
Linbilitics - 1 - 1 - 1 - 1

During the year ended 31 December 2018 there were no transfers between Level 1 and Level 2 fair value measurements, and no transfers into and
out of Level 3 fair value measures.

Millennium & C0pthomg
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Capital management

The Board's policy is to maintain a strong capital basc 5o as to maintain investor, creditor and market confidence and to sustain future development
of the business, The Company’s objective for managing its capital is to ensure that Group eatities will be able to continuc as 2 going concern while
maximising the rerurn to sharcholders, as well as sustaining the furure development of its business. In order to maintain or adjust the capital
structure, the Group may alter the total amount of dividends paid to sharcholders, return capital to shareholders, issue new sharcs, draw down
additional debr or reduce debt.

The Group's capital structure consists of debr, which includes the loans and borrowings disclased in Note 21, cash and cash equivalents disclosed in

Note 20 and the equity attributable to the parent, comprising shate capital, reserves and retained earnings, as disclosed in the consolidared statement
of changes in equity. The Group seeks to maintzin a balance between the higher returns that might be possible with higher levels of borrowings and

the advantages and security afforded by a sound capital position.

Onc of the Group’s subsidiaries, CDLHT which is a stapled group comprising CDL Hospitality Real Estate Investment Trust (“H-REIT”) and
CDL Hospitality Business Trust (“HBT™), a business trust, is required to maintain certain minimum base capital and financial resources.

H-REIT is subject to the aggregate leverage limit as defined in the Property Fund Appendix of the Code on Collective Investment Schemes ("CIS
Code”) issued by Monetary Authority of Singapore. The CIS Code stipulates that the total borrowings and deferred payments (together the
“Aggregate Leverage”) of a property fund should not exceed 45.0% of its Deposited Property except that the Aggregate Leverage of a property fund
may exceed 45.0% of its Deposited Property (up to a2 maximum of 60.0%) if a credit rating of the property fund from Fitch Inc., Moody's or
Standard and Poor’s is obtained and disclosed to the public. The property fund should continue to maintin and disclose a credit rating so long as its
Aggregate Leverage exceeds 45.0% of its Deposited Property.

For this financial year, H-REIT has a credit rating of BBB- from Fitch Inc. The Aggregate Leverage of H-REIT as at 31 December 2018 was 34.2%
(2017: 32.6%) of H-RETT’s Deposited Property. This complied with the aggregate leverage limit as described above.

HBT, H-REIT and CDLHT have complied with the borrowing limit requirements imposed by the relevant Trust Deeds and all externally imposed
capital requirements for the financial yeats ended 31 December 2018 and 2017,

Except for the abave, neither the Company nor any of its subsidiaries are subject to externally imposed capital requircments.

23 EMPLOYEE BENEFITS

Pension arrangements

The Group opetates various funded pension schemes which are eseablished in accordance with local conditions and practices within the countries
concemned. The most significant funds are described below.

Unired Kingdom

The pension atrangements in the United Kingdom operate under the ‘Millennium 8 Copthorne Pension Plan’, which was set up in 1993. The plan
operates 2 funded defined benefit arrangement together with a defined contribution plan, both with different categories of membership. The defined
benefit section of the plan was closed to new entrants in 2001 and at the same time rights t0 a Guaranteed Minimum Pension ("GMPs“) under the
defined contribution scheme also ceased. The plan entitles a retired employee to receive an annual pension payment.

The contributions requircd are determined by a qualified actuary on the basis of triennial valuarions using the projected unit credic method. The last
full actuarial valuation of this scheme was carried out by a qualified independent actuary as at 5 April 2017 and chis has been updated on an
approximate basis to 31 December 2018. The contributions of the Group during the year were 11% (2017: 24%) of pensionable salary.
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As the defined benefit section is closed to new entrants, the current service cost, as a percentage of pensionable payroll is likely to increase as the
membership ages, although it will be applied o a decreasing pensionable payroll. The assumptions which have the most significant cffect on the
results of the valuation arc those relating to the discount rate and the rates of increase in salaries and pensions.

South Korea

The Group operates a defined benefit pension plan for its employees in South Korea. The contributions required are determined by an external
qualified acruary using the projected unit credit method. The mest recent valuation was carried out on 31 December 2018. The assumprions which
have the most significant effect on the results of the valuations are those relating to the discount rate and rate of increase in salaries.

Taiwan

The Group operates a defined benefit pension plan for its employees in Taiwan. The contributions required are determined by an external qualified
actuary using the projected unir credit method. ‘The most recent valuation was cartied out on 31 December 2018, The contributions of the Group
were no less than 6% (2017: 696} of the employees’ carnings. The assumptions which have the most significant effect on the results of the valuations
are those relacing to the discount race and rate of increase in salaries.

The defined benefit plans are administered by pension funds that are legally separated from the Group. The boards of the pension funds are required
by law to act in the best interests of the plan participants.

These defined benefic plans expose the Group to actuarial risks, such as longevity risk, currency risk, interest rate risk and market investment risk.

The above plans are subsmnually funded by the Group’s subsidiaries. The funding requirements are based on the pension funds’ actuarial
1t fra k sct our in the funding policies of the plans.

The assets of cach scheme have been taken at market value and the liabilities have been calculaced using the following principal assumptions:

s 2007

2018 SOUTH 2018 017 SOUTH 2017

UK KOREA TAITWAN UK KOREA TATWAN

Inflation rate 3.5% 2.0% ~ 3.5% 3.0% -
Discount rate 2.9% 2.5% 1.0% 2.5% 3.0% 1.0%
Race of salacy increase 4.0% 3.0% 3.0% 4.0% 3.0% 3.0%
Rate of pension increases 3.3% - - 3.5% - -
Rate of revaluation 2.5% - - 2.5% - -

The methodology for computing the discount rate has changed during 2018 from the spot method to the yield range method.

The assumptions used by the actuaries are the best estimates chosen from a range of possible actuarial assumptions, which due to the timescale
d. may not n ily be bome out in practice. The present values of the schemes’ liabilities are derived from cash flow projections over long
periods and are inherently uncertain,

Millennium & Copthome
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Reasonably possible changes at the reporting date to onc of the relevant actuarial assumptions, holding other assumptions consistent, would have
altered the defined benefit obligation by the amounts shown below:

DEFINED BENEFIT OBLIGATION

2018 2018 2007 2017
INCREASE DECREASE INCREASE DECREASE
. o __ . M M ) M iM
Discount rate (1% movemen) ) ) I, - 14 (14) 14
Rate of salary increase (1% movement) 1 1) 2 2)

Although the analysis does not take account of the full distribution of cash flows expected under the plans, it does provide an approximation of the

sensitivity of the assumptions shown,

Amounts recognised on the balance sheet are as follows:

018 w07
1018 SOUTH 2018 2018 2018 017 SOUTH wor 2017 27
CK KOREA TAITWAN OTHER TOTAL LUK KOREA  TAIWAN OTHER TOTAL
i __ o L EM iM §.§l __il\l o _;5_.1\4_{____ M M _S,l_\rl __S,M o _ily[ }
Present value of funded obligations 66 4 10 2 82 74 5 11 2 92
Fair value of plan assets 6y @ e - & & 6 6 - @3)
Plan deficit 8 - 4 2 14 11 - 6 2 19

Changes in the present value of defined benefic obligations are as follows:

018 w7
Wi SOUTH 2018 T8 2018 2017 SOUTH 207 017 2H7

UK KORFA TAIWAN OTHER TOTAL UK KOREA  TAIWAN OTHER TOTAL

£M iM £M M iM &M M iM M £M
Balance at 1 January 74 5 11 2 92 75 5 11 2 93
Past service cost 1 - - - 1 - - - - -
Interest cost 2 - - - 2 2 - - - 2
Benefits paid, death in service
insurance premiums and expenses @ 1Y) L - @ ¥ m {0 - “
Remeasurement losses/
(gains) arising from:
— Financial assumptions 9) - - - © 1 - - - -
— Demographic assumptions - - - - - - - - - 1
— Expetience adjustment - - - - - 2 - - - {2
Foreign exchange adjustments - - - - - - 1 1 - 2
Balance at 31 December &6 4 10 2 B2 74 5 11 2 92
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Changes in the fair value of plan assets are as follows:

2018 2017
2018 SOUTH 018 2018 w7 SOUTH 2017 017
UK  KOREA TAIWAN  TOTAL UK KOREA TAIWAN  TOTAL
o L o o iIM M £M M M - 7£M S’ﬂ iM
Balance at 1 January 63 5 5 73 60 5 5 70
Interest income 2 - - 2 2 - - 2
Group contributions - - 2 2 - 1 1 2
Benefics paid 2 4)) ¢V] @ 2 {1 (1 4
Remeasurement gains arising from:
~ Return/(loss) on plan assets excluding interest income 6) - - L - - 3
B_a.lancc&tﬁ?lDwenibcrii - 58 4 6 ) 9 ) 63 b] 5 73
Actual rerurn/(loss) on plan assets (3) - - (£} 5 - - 5
The fair values of plan assets in each category are as follows:
2018 2007
2018  SOUTH 2018 2018 017 SOUTH 2017 2017
UK KOREA TAIWAN TOTAL UK KOREA  TAIWAN TOTAL
: - (A M M M M &M EM M
Quoted equities 19 - - 19 2 - - 22
Bonds 4 4 - 8 4 5 - 9
Property 1 - - 1 ~ - - -
Cash and cash equivalenss - - 6 ¥ -5 2
58 4 6 68 63 5 73

The Group values plan assets in accordance with IAS 19 as follows:

» Quoted equities listed on recognised stock exchanges are valued at closing bid prices;

» Bonds arc measured using pricing models making assumptions for credit risk, market risk and market yicld curves; and

» Propertics are valued on the basis of the open market value,

_Milletmlum & Eo e
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The expense recognised in the income statement is as follows:

2018

TK

M

Current service cost -
Past service cost * 1
Interest cost 2
Interest income 2)
1

2018
SOUTH
KOREA

&M

2018
TATWAN

_ ™
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2018
OTHER

&M

M8
TOTAL
M

1
2

@

1

2017
UK

M

2017
SOUTH
KOREA

M

2007
TAIWAN
M

2017
OTHER
M

2017
TOTAL

*The English High Court ruling in Lioyds Banking Group Pension Trustees Limited v Lloyds Bank ple and others was published on 26 October 2018, and held chat UK pension schemes with GMPs accrued
from 17 May 1990 must equalise for the different effects of these GMP1 between men and women. The esumated GMP equalismtion impact for the UK acheme 1 an increase of 1.83% of the coral value of
scheme babilitses on the IAS19 bass as at 31 Decetnber 2018, or £1m.

Total cost is recognised within the following items in the income statement:

2018 2017
S - - E}i! M
Administrative expenses 1 1
The gains or losscs recognised in the consolidated statement of comprehensive income are as follows:
018 20017
018 SOUTH 2013 018 018 2007 SOUTH 2017 07 2017
UK KOREA TAIWAN OTHER TOTAL UK KOREA  TAIWAN OTHER TOTAL
- - 7 iM M o f.l“_ o _.f.&i o £M &M M ?.i\L 7 £M &M
Actual return less expected
return on plan assets s) - - - 5) 3 - - - 3
Remeasurement {(losses)/
e arising £
~ Financial assumptions 9 - - - 9 (1) - — - (1)
—  Experience adjustrent - - - - - 2 - - - 2
Defined benefit plan
remeasurement gains/(losses) 4 - - - 4 4 - - - 4
Acruarial losses recognised directly in equity arc as follows:
218 217
B B _ £M iM
Cumulative as ar 1 January 23 27
Remeasurement gains recognised during the year 1) )]
Cumulative as at 31 December 19 23
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The life expectancies underlying the value of the accrued liabilities for the UK Plan, based on retirement age of 65, are as follows:

018 017

77777 7 7 o i - o . o _Y]_?‘ARS e YEARE

Males 22 24
Females 24 26

‘The weighted-average duration of the defined benefit obligations s at 31 December 2018 was 18 years (2017: 25). The Group expects £2m in
contributions to be paid to the defined benefic plans in 2019.

The Group monitors the deficit of the fund and believes any risk associated with the deficit is mitigated by the Group’s strong balance sheet
position.

Share-based payments
The Group operates 2 number of share option schemes, a majority being designed to link remuneration to the future performance of the Group.
Details of these schemes are given in the Remuneration Committee report.

In accordance with the Group's accounting palicy 2.2N(iv) on share-based payment transactions, the fair value of share options and long-term
incentive awards is recognised as an employee expense with a corresponding increase in equity. The fair value is measured at grant date and spread
over the petiod during which the cmployees become unconditionally entitled to the share options and long-term incentive awards,

The charge to the income statement for the year was £ail (2017: £nil).

The Group has applied IFRS 2 to its active employec share-based payment arrangements from 1 January 2005 except for arrangements granted
before 7 November 2002,

i) Millennium & Copthome Hotels plc 2006 Long-Term Incentive Plan (“LTIP”)
Performance Share Awards under this scheme are awarded to Execurive Directors and senior management of the Group.

AWARDS AWARDS AWARDS AWARDS
AWARDS AWARDED VESTED FORFEITED EXPIREDR AWARDS CREDITED CREDITED
QU ISTANDING DURING DURING DURING DURING OQUTSTANDING TOSHARE TOSHARE
AS AT THE THE THE THE ASAT CAPITAL PREMIUM VESTING
DAFE OF AWARDS AN 208 _YEAR  YEAR  YEAR  YEAR  JIDEC2MS  £M &M = DATE
03.08.2015 219,362 - - (182,601) - 36,761 - — 03.082018
10.09.2015 11,867 - - (1,867) - - - — 10092018
29.03.2016 185,643 - —  (148,515) - 37,128 - - 29.03.2019
27.06.2018 o - 78299 - (78299) - _T.. _T=  ._rT %mosz0zi
416872 178299 - (521,282 - 73,889 - -
‘Millennium & Copthorne
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(i) Millennium & Copthorne Hotels ple 2006 and 2016 Sharesave Schemes
Share options under this scheme arc granted to UK bascd employces.

EXERCISE AWARDS ~ AWARDS  AWARDS  AWARDS AWARDS CREDITED CREDITED

PRICE OUTSTANDING AWARDED  VESTED FORFEITED OUTSTANDING [OSHARE [0 SHARK

PER SHARE ASAT  DURING  DURING  DURING ASAT  CAPITAL  PREMIUM
DATE OF AWARDS & UJAN 2018 THE YEAR THE YEAR THE YEAR 31 DEC 1018 iM M EXERCISE PERIOD
19.04.2013 4.480 2,677 - (669) - 2,008 - - 01.08.2018-31.01.2019
06.05.2014 4.460 15,731 - (5.325) (10,406} - - — 01.08.2017-31.01.2018
06.05.2014 4.460 941 - - — 941 - - 01.08.2019-31.01.2020
14.04.2015 4.690 29,721 - (24,737) (3,528) 1,456 - — 01.08.2018-31.01.2019
14.04.2015 4.690 5.371 - - 639 4,732 - - 01.08.2020-31.01.2021
12.04.2016 3.300 106,717 - - (5.343) 101,374 - — 01.08.2019-31.01.2020
12.04.2016 3.300 909 - - - 909 - — 01.08.2021-31.01.2022
11.04.2017 3.660 43,798 - - 6,099 37,704 - — 01.08.2020-31.01.2021
11.04.2017 3.660 2,867 - - (409) 2,458 - - 01.08.2022-31.01.2023
05.06.2018 4.360 - 57,582 - (1,402) 56,180 - — 01.08.2021-31.01.2022
05.06.2018 4.360 - 1,582 - - 1,582 - — 01.082023-31.01.2024

208732 59,064 (30731) (27.821) 209344 - -

The weighted average share price at the dares of exercise of share options in the year was £4.60 (2017: £5.59).

The options outstanding at the year-end have an exercise price in the range of £3.30 to £4.69 (2017: £3.30 to £4.69) and a weighted average
contractual life of 1.88 years (2017: 2.07 ycars).

(iii} Annual Bonus Plan ("ABP™}
Under the ABP, deferred share awards are granted annually to selected employees of the Group. Shares in Millennium 8¢ Copthorne Hotels plc are
transferred to participants as follows if they continue to be employed by the Group:

+ 2015 awards, at the end of three years; and
+ 2016, 2017 and 2018 awards, 25% after years onc and two and 50% after three years.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED

CONTINUED

FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The fair values for the deferred share awards were determined using the market price of the sharcs at the date of grant. The share price for deferred
share awards granted in 2018 was £4.68 (2017: £4.62).

AWARDS AWARDS AWARDS AWARDS CREDITED CREDITED

AWARDS  AWARDED VESTED FORFEIIED EXPIRED AWARDS 18] TO

OUTSTANDING DURING DURING DURING DURING QUTSTANDING SHARE SHARE

AS AT THE THE THE THE AS AT 31 DEC CAPITAL PREMIUM

DA"[:EVOF AWARDS i 1JAN 201}% o YEAR Y[:IAR o YEAR YF.AR 2(!!5757 o jEM ) gv[ VESTING I{.’E?ES B

08.09.2015 46,074 - (33909 (10,639) - 1,530 - - 08.09.2018
06.11.2015 4,325 - {4329 - - - - - 06.11.2018
13.05.2016 35,904 - (8855 (10,040) - 17,009 - —  13.052017/8/9
12.08.2016 1,782 - (594) - - 1,188 - - 12.082017/8/9
09.11.2016 732 - (244) - - 488 - ~ 09.112017/8/9
14.06.2017 46,978 - (9493 (10363) - 27,122 - ~  14.062018/9/20
14.12.2018 - 5738 - - - 57,338 - - 14.122019/20/21

135795 57358  (57416) (31,042) - 104,695 - -

(iv}  Execurive Share Plan (“ESP™)

The ESP was approved by the Company on 18 Fcbruary 2016 to replace participation in the LTIP by senior exccutive management. These awards
will vest over a three year period (25% aftcr years one and two, 50% after thre years), subject to the rules of the ESP.

The fair values for the awards were determined using the marker price of the shares at the date of grant, The share price for awards granted in 2018

was £4.66 (2017: £4.65).

AWARDS

AWARDS AWARDS AWARDS AWARDS AWARDS CREDITED CREDITED
OUTSTANDING AWARDED VESTED FORFEITED EXPIRED OUTSTANDING TOSHARE TOSHARE
AS AT DURING DURING DURING DURING AS AT CAPITAL PREMIUM
DATEOFAWARDS 11AN2018 THEVEAR THEYEAR THEYEAR THEYEAR —  SLDEC2018 &M _EM  VESTINGDATES
29.03.2016 24,464 - (8,154) - 16,310 - —  29,03.2017/8/9
15.08.2017 56,838 - (14,211) - 42627 - - 15.08.2018/9/20
04.12.2018 - 65649 - - 65649 - _— 04.12.2019/20/21
81,302 65649 (22,365) - 124,586 - -

Millennium & Copthomne
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The following awards/options were granted in the current and comparative years:

AWARDS/OFTIONS

e e SHARE PRICE
GRANTED PREVAILING
ONDATECF  EXERCISE FAIR EXPECTED EXPECTED  RISK-FREE
DATE OF NON- GRANT PRICE VALUE [ERM  EXPECTCD DIVIDEND  INTEREST
2018 AWAPED% o _ _(}RANT DIRECTORS DlRE({T‘E)Ei B o j B 717 £ (_Y_E_!\RS) VOL-\TT”TY E_E_l:n . iﬁﬁi
Executive Share Plan 04.122018 - 16412 4.66 - 4.60 1.00 - 1.3%% -
Executive Share Plan 04.12.2018 - 16412 4.66 - 4,53 2,00 - 1.39% -
Exccutive Share Plan 04.122018 - 32,825 4.66 - 447 3.00 - 1.39% -~
Sharesave Scheme {3 ycar) 05.06.2018 - 57582 5.32 4.36 1.35 3.16 26.0% 1.22% 0.75%
Sharcsave Scheme {5 year) 05.06.2018 - 1,582 5.32 4.36 1.54 5.16 26.0% 1.22% 0.97%
Deferred Share Awards 14.12 2018 - 14,340 4.68 - 461 1.00 - 1.39% -
Deferred Share Awards 14.12.2018 - 14,340 4.68 - 4,55 2.00 - 1.39% -
Deferred Share Awards 14.122018 - 284678 4.68 - 448 3.00 - 1.39% -
AWARDS/OPTIONS
GRANTED SHARE PRICE
"7 PREVAILING
ONDATEOF  EXERCISE FAIR EXPECTLD EXPECTED  RISK-FREE
DATE OF NON- GRANT PRICE VALUE TERM EXPECTED DIVIDEND  INTEREST
2017 AWARDS o GRANT DIRLCTORS DIRECTORS & £ £ (YEARS) VOLATILITY YIELD RATES
Executive Share Plan 15.08.2017 - 14,210 4.65 - 457 1.00 - 1.7% -
Executive Share Plan 15.08.2017 - 14,210 465 - 450 2.00 - 1.7% -
Executive Share Plan 15.082017 - 28418 4.65 - 442 3.00 - 1.7% -
Sharesave Scheme (3 ycar) 11.042017 - 46,550 4.47 3.66 1.05 331 26.0% 1.7% 0.2%
Sharcsave Scheme (5 yta.r) 11.04.2017 - 11,226 447 3.66 1.09 5.31 24.0% 1.7% 0.4%
Deferred Share Awards 14.06.2017 - 55,750 462 - 4.62 3.00 - 1.7% -
Measurement of fair value

The LTIP and Sharesave awards, which are subject to an EPS performance condition, were valued using the Black-Scholes valuation method. The
LTIP awatds which are subject 1o a share price related performance condition (i.e. TSR) were valued using the Monte Carlo valuation method.

The option pricing model involves six variables:

« Exercise price
« Share price at grant
* Expected term

+ Expected volatility of share price

» Risk-free intcrest rate
= Expected dividend yicld
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24 PROVISIONS
BEIJING

LEGAL INDEMNITY TOTAL
o o . S i EM . o &M ;f.M_
Balance at | January 2018 2 9 11
Recognised during the year - - -
Forcign cxchange adjustmens o _ T - -
Bal ar 31 D ber 2018 2 9 u
Analysed as:
Non-current provision - 9 9
Current provision ) o o 2 = 2
Totsl provision 2 9 11

Provision for legal fees as at 31 December 2018 of £2m (2017: £2m) relates to disputes in several hotels. The Beijing indemnity of £9m (2017:
£9m) relate to the tax indemnity to the former shareholders of Grand Millennium Hotel Beijing in which the Group acquired an additional 40%
interest in 2010,

25 OTHER NON-CURRENT LIABILITIES

2018 017
B ] S } . LM EM
Other liabilitics 15 13
16 DEFERRED TAXATION
Movements in deferred tax liabilities and assets (prior to offsetting balances) during the year are as follows:
CHARGEDACREDITED) TO INCOME
R _ . STATEMEKT I o
OTHER
AT ADJUSTMENT  CURRENT ACQUISITION AT
1JANUARY CHANGEIN TOOPENING YEAR OF CHARGEDTO EXCHANGEON M DECEMBER
2018 TAX RATE PROVISION MOVEMENT SUBSIDIARY RESERVES TRANSLATION 2018
R ™M iMoo M Mo EM Mo EM &M
Deferred tax liabifitics
Property assew’ s - - ud - ST (B
239 - - (14) - - 234
Deferred tax assets
Tax losscs (48) - 2 )] - - 3) (58)
Employee benefits® 4 - 4 - - 1 n -
Others o R . SRR . 10 . U S S @
. o -1 . - . r @ ()
Net deferted tax lisbilities 188 - 2 (24 - 1 5 172

1 Property siseta comprise plant, property and equip lease jurn prepy and i propetti
1 Employce benefiny comprise defined benefir pension schemes and share-based payment arrangenents.

Millennium & Cupﬂme
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Deferred tax assets and liabilities are offset when there is a legally enforceable right to set off current tax assets against current tax liabilitics and when

deferred tazes relate to the same taxation authority.

Deferred vax assets have not been recognised in respect of the following items because it is not probable that future taxable profit will be available

against which the Group can utilise the benefits.

prtit]

£M

Deductible emporary differences -

Tax losses 3
Adjustments due to:

- Tax losses in respect of prior year 18

21

15
18

The deductible temporary differences do not expire under current tax legislation. The tax losses are subject to agreement by the tax autherities and

compliance with tax regulations in the respective countries in which certain subsidiaries operate,

The gross tax losses with expiry dates are as follows:

o M

Expiry dates:
—within 1 to 5 years 25
—after 5 years 8
—noexpn'ydzre o B - -8
114

At 31 December 2018, a deferred cax liability of £8m (2017: £13m) relating to undistributed reserves of overscas subsidiarics and joint ventures of
£1,000m (2017: £1,000m) has not been recognised because the Group determined that the distributions will not be made and the liability will not

be incurred in the foresceable future.
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27 TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES

Trade payables

Other creditors including taxation and social securiry:
— Social security and other taxes

— Value added tax and similar sales taxes

— Other creditors

Accruals

Deferred income

Rental and other deposits

BSG

bt
—
-

Bl

The Group’s exposure to cusrency and liquidity risks related to trade and othet payables are disclosed in Note 22.
28 DIVIDENDS

2008 2017
o PENCE PENCE
Final ordinary dividend paid 442 5.66
Interim ordinary dividend paid o L. s 28
Total dividends paid 6.50 7.74

Subsequent to 31 December 2018, the Directors declared the following final dividends, which have not been provided for:

2018 017
o _ PENCE PENCE
Final ordinary dividend 215 4.42

All dividends paid during 2018 and 2017 were in cash.

Millennium & Copthorne
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29 SHARE CAPITAL

NUMBER OF

30P SHARES

ALLOTTED,

CALLEDUP AND

e e - FULLY PAID

Balance ar 1 January 2018 324,760,755
Issuc of ordinary shares on exercise of share opdions _ _ _ 30731

Balance at 31 December 2018 o 35&791.486

All of the share capital is equity share capital. Holders of these shares are entitled to dividends as declared from time to time and are entitled to one
vote per share at general meetings of the Company. All rights attached to the Company’s shares held by the Group are suspended until those shares
are reissued,

At the year end, options over 209,344 ordinary shares remain outstanding under the Sharesave Scheme and are exercisable between now and 31
January 2024 at exercise prices between £3.30 and £4.69. Awards made under the LTIP of 73,889 ordinary shares and ESP of 124,586 ordinary
shares remain unvested and may potentially vest between now and 29 March 2019 for awards under the LTIP and between now and 4 December
2021 for awards under the ESP. Lastly, 104,695 options under the ABP may potentially vest between now and 14 December 2021.

During the year Millennium & Copthorne Hotels ple issued invitations to UK employees under the Sharesave Scheme to enter into a three-year
savings contract of a five-year savings contract with an option to purchase shares at an option price of £4.36 on expiry of the savings contract.

30 RESERVES

Cash flow hedge reserve

The hedging reserve comprises the effective portion of the cumulative net change in the fair value of cash flow instruments related to the hedged
transactions that have not yet occurred (net of tax).

Translation reserve
‘The translation reserve comprises all foreign exchange differences arising from the translarion of the financial statements of foreign operations, as
well as from the wanslation of liabilities that hedge the Group’s net investment in foreign operarions (ner of tax),

Treasury share reserve

An employee benefit trust established by the Group held 2,483 shares at 31 December 2018 (2017: 3,437) to satisfy the vesting of awards. During
the year 21,411 shares (2017: 23,221) were purchased by the trust at a weighted average cost of £5.27 per share. At 31 December 2018, the cost of
shares held by the trust was £12,837 (2017: £16,575), whilst the market value of these shares at 31 December 2018 was £11,608 (2017: £20,106).
Shares purchascd by the trust are teated as treasury shares which are deducted from equity and cxcluded from the calculations of carnings per share.

Fair value reserve
The fair value reserve includes the cumulative change in the fair value of equity investments at FVOCIL

31 FINANCIAL COMMITMENTS

p213¢.) 2017
i o 7 M &M
(a) Capital commitments ar the end of the financial year which are contracted burt not provided for 94 70

The Group's share of the capital commitments of joint ventures and associates is shown in Note 15.
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(b) Total commitments under non-cancellable operating lease rentals are payable by the Group as follows:

2018 20017

S o - 7 M &M

~ less than one year 15 12
—between one and five years 45 38
— more than five years o - 198 167
258 217

(c) The Group lcascs out certain of its properties under operating leases, The future minimum lease rentals receivable by the Group under

non-cancellable leases are as follows:

208 o7

o . S . .. | M

— less than one year 38 35
— between one and five years 98 105
—more than fiveyears o ] o 12 93
258 233

Future minimum lease rentals receivable under non-cancellable Ieases includes all future rentals receivable up to the period when those leases expire
or become cancellable.

During the year ended 31 December 2018, £51m (2017: £50m) was recognised as rental income in the income statement and £3m (2017: £2m) in
respect of repairs and maintenance was recognised as an expense in the income statement relating to investment properties.

32 CONTINGENCIES AND SUBSEQUENT EVENTS

In the course of its operations the Group is routinely exposed to potential liabilities for claims made by employees and contracrual or tortious claims
made by third parties. No material losses are anticipated from such exposures. There were no contingent liabilities or guarantees other than those
arising in the ordinary course of business and on these no material losses are anticipated. The Group has insurance cover up to certain limits for
major risks on property and major claims in connection with legal liabilities arising in the course of its operations. Otherwise the Group generally
carries its own risk. The Group believes that the accruals and provisions carried on the balance sheet are sufficient to cover these risks.

Other than the above transactions, there are no events subsequent to the balance sheet date which require adjustments to or disclosure within chese
consolidated financial statements except for thosc stated below:

« On 14 February 2019, the Group provided an irrevocable undertaking to take up its full entidement of FSGL's proposed rights issue of new PCCS
for a total cost of $$53m (£30m). As part of the capital funding proposal, 1 new frec warrant will be issued for every 1 new PCCS subscribed for;
in addition, 1 new bonus warrant will be issued for every 10 existing ardinary shares held in FSGL. Also, as part of the proposal additional funds
would be required within the next five years should the Group choose to exercise its rights in tespect of the new wartrants and this will amount to
$$90m (£52m) if all warrants are exercised; and

» On 24 January 2019, FSGL acquired a bare shell 65-room hotel located in Milan, Italy for 4 total consideration of approximately €11m (£10m).

Millermium & Copthorne
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33 RELATED PARTIES

Identity of related parties

Transactions between the Company and its subsidiaries have been eliminated on consolidation and are not disclosed in this note. Details of
transactions between the Group and other relaved parties are disclosed below. All transacrions with related partics were entered into in the normal

couwrse of business and at arm’s length,
The Group has a related party relationship with its joint ventures, associates and with its Directors and executive officers.

Transactions with ultimate holding company and other related companies

The Group has a related party relationship with certain subsidiarics of Hong Leong Investment Holdings Pre. Lid (“Hong Leong”) which is the
ultimate holding and controlling company of Millennium & Copthorne Hotels ple and holds 65.2% (2017: 65.2%) of the Company’s shares via
CDL, the intermediate holding company of the Group. During the year ended 31 December 2018, the Group had the following transactions with
those subsidiaries.

The Group depasited certain surplus cash with Hong Leong Finance Limited, a subsidiary of Hong Leong, on normal commercial tetms. As at
31 December 2018, £2m (2017: £4m) of cash was deposited with Hong Leong Finance Limited.

Fees paid/payable by the Group to CDL and its other subsidiarics were £3m (2017: £3m) which included rentals paid for the Grand Shanghai
t and King's Centre; property management fees for Tanglin Shopping Centre; charges for car parking, leasing commission and professional

SErvICcEs.

‘Transactions with key management personnel
The beneficial interest of the Directots and their connected persons in the ordinary shares of the Company was 0.16% (2017: 0.16%).

In addition to their salaries, the Group also provides non-cash benefits to Directors and executive officers and conributes to a2 post-employment
defined conttibution plan depending on the date of commencement of employment. The defined coneribution plan does not have a specified
pension payable on retitement and benefits are determined by the excent to which the individual’s fund can buy an annuity in the markee ac

retirement.

Executive officers also participate in the Group’s share option programme, Long-Term Incentive Plan and the Group’s Sharesave schemes. The key
management personnel compensation is as follows:

2018 2017

o o o iM o M

Shott-term employes benefics ) - 7 6
Directors 1 1
Executives 6 5
7 )
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34 RELATED UNDERTAKINGS

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
CONTINUED

The full list of the Company's related undertakings as at 31 December 2018 are set out below:

FULL NAME

Aircon Equity Interests Inc.
Aircos GP Corporarion
Aircos, LLC

All Scasons Hoods 8¢ Resoro Limited

Anch 1 akonfs
=

ATOS Holding GmbH

Auroca Inn Operating Pertncrship LP.
Awoa Wynficld Inn, Lad.

Avea Wynfield LLC

Bejjing Fortunc Hotel Co. Ld.

Bilvmore Place Operations Corp.
Birkenhead Hoidings Pry, Led.

Birkenhead Investments Pry. Led,

Buffalo Operating Parmenhip L.P.
Buffalo RHM Operating LLC

CDL (New York) LLC

CDL (NYL} Limiced

CDL Enterinment & Leisure Pre Lod

CDL Hospitaliry Trusts'

SHAREHOLDING

PERCENTAGE

16096

1009

100%

76%

100%

1009

100%

100%

100%

100%

7096

100%

76%

1009

100%

37%

COUNTRY OF
TYPE i INCORPORATION
Indirect subsidisry New Zealand
Indirect subsidiary Unired Kingdom
Indirect wbsidiary ~ USA
Indirect subsidiary People’s Republic
of China
Indirect subsidiary UsA
Ind beidiacy Al
Inds beidinry Avseecal
TIndirect subsidiary UsA
Indirect subsidiary USA
Indirect subsidiacy USA
Indirect subsidiary USA
Indirect subsidiary USA
Ind beidiary Republicof
Singapore
A 1 ardertakings  Rermiblic of
~ Singapore
“Millenntum & Copthorm

REGISTERED OFFICE
ADDRESS

7900 East Union Avenue, Suiee
500, Denves, Colocado, 80237
7900 East Union Avenue, Suite
500, Denver, Colorado, 80237
7900 Fan Union Avenue, Sujte
500, Denver, Colorado, 80237
Level 13, 280 Queen Streer,
Anckland 1010,

New Zealand

7900 East Union Avenue, Suite
500, Denvee, Colorado, 80237

Schulhof §/1st i , 1010 Vienna,
Austria

7900 East Union Avenae, Suite
500, Denver, Colorado, 80237
7900 East Union Avenue, Suite
500, Denver, Colorado, 80237
7900 East Union Aveaue, Suive
500, Denvet, Colorado, 80237
Building No. 5, 7 DongSanHuan
Bejing, PR China 100020
7900 East Union Aveniie, Suite
500, Denver, Colorsdo, 80237
Suite 7B, Zenith Residences,
8294 Dadinghurst

Road, Pots Point,
Sydaey 2011, Australia

Suite 7B, Zenith Residences,
82-94 Daslinghucst

Road, Pores Poine,
Sydney 2011, Australia

7900 East Union Avenue, Suite
500, Denver, Colorado, 80237
7900 East Union Avenue, Suive
500, Denver, Colorado, 80237
7900 East Union Avenae, Suite
500, Denvee, Colorado, 80237
7900 East Union Avenue, Suite
500, Dexrver, Calocado, 80237
7900 East Union Avenue, Suire
500, Detrver, Colorado, 80237
9 Raffics Place

#12-01 Republic Plaza
Singapore 048619

See note below!

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES

Holding Company
Hotel ownenhip
Holding Coenpany
Dottt

Hotel owner

Hotel owhict and operatoe
Invesment holding
Houwel ownenship

Hotcl ownership

Hotel owner

Howel owner and operator

Lisuon licence holder

Property Investmen: &

Hortel owner

See note below



FULLNAME

COL Horels (Chelacs) Limited
CDL Hotels (Korea) Lod.
CDL Hotels (Labuan) Limited

CDL Hotgls (Malaysia) Sdn. Bbd.

CDL Hoxels (UK} Limited
CDL Horels Holdings Japan Lirmiced

CDL Hotels Holdings New Zealand Limized

CDL Hotels Japan Pre. Led.

CDL Hotels USA, Inc.

CDL Iovesements New Zealand Limived
CDL Land New Zealand Limited
CDL Wen 45¢h Sereer LLC
Chicago Hotel Holdings, Inc.
Cinannari §.1. Co.

City Cemury Pre. Lud,

City Elits Pre Led
City Hotels Pec Ltd.

Copthorne (Nomineces) Limited
Capthorne Aberdeen Limited
Copthothe Hotel (Birmingham) Limired
Copthome Hotel {Cardiff} Limeed
Copthorne Hoeel (Effingham Park) Limiced

SHAREHOLDING
PERCENTAGE

100%
100%
100%

100%

160%

100%

100%

100%

100%
100%
100%

100%
100%
100%
76%

100%

10096
100%

100%

171

COUNTRY OF
TYPE  INCORPORATION
Indirect subsidiary United Kingdom
Indirect subsidiary Republic of Korea
Indirect subeidiary Malsy
Indirect subsidiary United Kingdam
Associnted undertakings  Republic of
Singapare
Indirect subsidiary New Zealand
Indirect subsidtiary New Zealand
Indirect subsidiary USA
Indirect subsidiary USA
Indirect subsidiary Republic of
Singapore
Indirect subsidiary Republic of
Singapore
Indirect subsidiary Republic of
Singapote
Indirect subsidiary New Zealand
Indirect subsidiary United Kingdom
Indirect subsidiary United Kingdom
Indirect subsidiary United Kingdom
Indirec subsidiary United Kingdom
Tndicect subsidiary United Kingdom
Annual Report

& Accounts 2018

REGISTERED} OFFICE
ADDRESS

eria\l-lnu; ;'m Roud,
Horley, Surrey RH6 7AF
Jung-gu Sewolro 50, Seoul,
Sourh Koees 04637

Leve 13, 280 Queen Street,
Auckland 1010, New Zealand
9 Raffles Place

#12-01 Republic Plaza
Singapare 048619

7900 East Union Aventie, Suite
500, Denyver, Caloeado, 80237
Level 13, 280 Queen Streer,
Auckland 1010, New Zealand
Level 13, 280 Queen Stroer,
Auckland 1010, New Zealand
7900 East Union Avenue, Suite
500, Denver, Colorado, 80237
7904 East Union Avenue, Suite
500, Detiver, Colorado, 80237
7900 East Union Avenue, Suite
500, Derrver, Colorado, 80237
9 Rafflcs Place

#12-01 Republic Plaza
Singapote 048619

9 Raffles Place

#12-01 Republic Plaza
Singapore 048619

9 Raffles Place

#1201 Republic Plaza
Singapare 048619

Level 13, 280 Queen Street,
Auckland 1010, New Zealand
Vicworiz House, Vicworia Road,
Hodley, Surmey RH6 7AF
Victoriza House, Victoria Road,
Horley, Surrey RH6 7AF
Victotia House, Victoria Road,
Horley, Surrey RH6 7AF
Victoria House, Victoria Road,
Horley, Surrey RHE 7AF
Vicoria House, Victoris Road,
Horley, Surrey RH6 7AF

Houdl owner and opcrator
Hotel owner and operator

Hotel ownex and opetatot

Hoeed i holdi
company
Investment and property
Property invesuncnt and
Hord owner

Honel gwner

Hotel operator

Investment holding
Hotel management
Hotel owner and operaror
Hoxel owner and operator

Hoted owner and operator



FULLNAME o
Copehorne Hotel (Gatwick) Limited

Copthorne Hotel (Manchester) Limited
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED
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SHAREHOLDING

PERCENTAGE

1009

100%

Copthorne Hocel (Merry Hill) Construction Limited 100%

Cooch 1e} Limibed

v

Hotel (N

Copthorne Houl (Piymouth) Limiced
Coprhorne Hotel (Slough) Limied
Cogrborne Hotels Limited
Copchorne Orchid Hotel Singapoce Pre. Lod.

Copthotne Orchid Penang Sdn. Bhd.

Durham Operating Partnership LP.
Elive Hocel Management Services Pre. Lod.

First 2000 Limived

First Sponsor Group Limited

Five Star Assurance, Inc.
Four Peaks Management Camspany

Gateway Horel Holdings, Enc.
Gateway Regul Holdings L1L.C

100%
966

100%
100%
100%
100%

10096

1009

100%

100%

TYPE

COUNTRY OF
Unied Kingdom
United Kingdom
Unined Kingelom
United Kingdom
Unired Kingdom
United Kingdom
United Kingdom
Unized Kingdom
United Kingdom
Reoubiic of

:

Singapore
Malayin

E§ 8§ ¢

Millennium & Copthorme
Hotels plc

REGISTERED OFFICE

INCORPORATION 7ADD7RVESS B

Victoria House, Viemeia Road,
Houdcy, Surrcy RHG 7AF
Victotia House, Victoria Road.
Hody, Surrey RHS 7AF
Vicroria House, Victoria Roed,
Holey, Sugrey RHE 7AF
Victoria House, Victoria Rosd,
Hoxley, Surrey RHS 7TAF
Victoria House, Victosia Rood,
Hodley, Susrey RH6 7AF
Victotia House, Victotia Rosd,
Hoxlcy, Surrey RH6 7AF

2803 Geear Eagle Centre,

23 Harbour Rosd,

150 Elgin Avenue, George Town,
KY1-9005 Grand Cayman,
Cayman [slands

1401 Eyc S¢., NW, Suite 600,
“Washington Dn.C. 20005
7900 East Union Avenuc, Suite
500, Deaver, Colorado, 80237

?B;}JC[Pﬁ!, ACI'IVIT[E§
Hotel owner and operame

Hotel awner and operaror
Hotel owner and operator
Hotel owner and operator
Hotel owrier and operame
Hotel ownier and opetator

Hotel ownier and operator

Investment Holding

7900 East Union Avenue, Suire
500, Denver, Colorado, 80237
7900 East Union Avenue, Suire
500, Deaver, Calorado, 80237
7900 East Union Avenue, Suite
500, Deaver, Calorado, 80237

Hotel owner and operator



FULLLNAémi o
Grand Plaza Hotel Corporation

Harbour Land Corporaron
Harbour View Hotel Pre, Ltd.
Harrow Entertainment Pre Lod
Haong Leoog Ginza TMK

Hong Leong Horcls Pre Lod.
Hong Leong International Hoecl
(Singapore) Pic. Lud.
Hospirality Group Limired

Hospitality Venrures Pre, Led.

Horel Liverpool Limited

Hotel Liverpool Management Limived
Hotelootp New Zealan Pry: Lad.

International Design Link Pre. Lid.

King's Tanglin Shopping Pre. Lsd.

SHAREHOLDING
PERCENTAGE

66%
41%
100%

100%

L00%

76%

F00%

76%
76%

100%

100%
10096

T6%

10096

76%

100%
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Indirect sbsidiary Japan

Indirect subsidiary Taiwan
Ind beidiary Republic of
Singapore
Indirect subsidiary New Zealaind
Indirect subsidiary Republic of
Singapore
Indirect subsidiary New Zealand
Indivect subsidiary New Zealand
Indirect subsidiary Republc of
Singapore
Indirect rubsidiary United Kingdom
Indirect subsidiary Republic of
Singapare
Indirect subsidiary New Zealund
Ind buidiary Republic of
Singapore
Annual Report
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COUNTEY OF REGISTERED OFFICE
TYPE INCORPORATION ADDRESS
Indirect subsidiary Philippines 10 Floor, Heritage Howd Manila,
EDSA comer Roxas Boulevard,
Passy Ciry, Philippines 1300
Associated undertakings Philippines 10 Floor, Herirage Hotel Manila,
EDSA comer Raxas Boulevard,
Pasay City, Philippines 1300
Ind beidiary Republic of 9 Raflles Flace
Singapore #12-01 Republic Plaza
Singapore 048619
Tad beidiary Republic of 9 RafBes Place
Singapore #12-01 Republic Plaza
Singapare 048619

41 Nihonbashi 1-chome,
Chuo-a,
Tokyo, Japan

2 Soag Shou Raxad, Xinyi Dssrict,

Taipei 11051, Taiwan

PO Box 309 Ugland House,
Grand Cayman, KY1-1104
Cayman Islands

9 Raffles Place

#12-01 Republic Plaza
Singapore 048619

Level 13, 280 Queen Street,
Auckland 1010, New Zealand
9 Raffles Place

#12-01 Republic Plara
Singspore 048619

Level 13, 280 Queen Street,
Auckland 1010, New Zealand
Level 13, 280 Queen Street,
Anckland 1010, New Zealand
9 Raffles Place

#12-01 Republic Plaza
Singapore 048619

Victoria House, Victora Road,
Hotley, Sumey RH6 7AF
Victoria House, Victoria Road,
Horley, Surrcy RHé 7AF
Suite 7B, Zenith Residences,
82.94 Darlinghurst

Raoad, Potts Pont,
Sydney 2011, Ausralia

9 Raffies Place

#12-0 Republic Plaza
Singapore 048619

Level 13, 280 Queen Sereer,
Auckland 1010, New Zealand
9 Raffles Place

#12-01 Republic Plaza
Singapore 048619

I:R]{\'C]PAL i”fCiT?VlT[ES
Hotel owner and operator
and investment bolding
company

Land owner

Horel operator

Dormant and in the
process of striking off

Property owner



FULLNAME

Kingsgare Houel Pey. Lod.

Kingagare Investmencs Pry. Lod.

Lakeside Operating Parrnesship L.P.
London Britannia Hotel Limited
Lovdon Tara Hoeel Limiced

M & C (CB) Limited

M & C (CD) Limived

M & C Management Services (USA) Inc.
M & C NZ Limited

M 8¢ C Reservations Servioes Limired
MBC Business Trust Management Limited

MarC Coloeado Hotrl Corporation
M8¢C Crescent Corporation
MBcC Crescent Interests, LLC
M&cC Finance (1) Limjved

M&C Holdings (Thailand) Led.

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
CONTINUED

SHAREHOLDING

__PERCENTAGE

76%

76%

I

1009

100%

160%

_TvPE

Tndi haicl:

COUNTRY OF
INCORPORATION

Indirect subeidiary New Zealand
Indirect subsidiary New Zealand
Indirect subkidiary New Zealand
Lolinece subsidiacy United Kingdom
Indirect subsidiary Unized Kingdom
Direct aubddiary United Kingdom
Direcy subsidiary United Kingdom
Indirecr subeidiary United Kingdom
Inditect subsidiary Unired Kingdom
Indirect subsidiary United Kingdom
Indirect subsidiary United Kingdom
Indirect subsidiary Republic of
Singapare
Indirect subwidiary USA
Indirect aubsidiary United Kingdom
Millennium & Gopthorme:

Hotels pic

REGISTERED OFFICE

ADDRESS PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES

Suite 7B, Zenirth Resid Hobding company

82-94 Dadinghurst

Road, Pocus Poinr,

Sydney 2011, Anstralia

Suite 7B, Zenith Residences, Dotmant

8294 Durlinghucst

Road, Pocos Poinr,

Sydncy 2011, Austealia

Level 13, 280 Quesn Street, Franchise holder (Kingagare)

Auckland 1010, New Zealand

Level 13, 280 Quueen Strect, Dormane

Anckland 1010, New Zealand

Level 13, 280 Queen Screet, Investment holding

Auckland 1010, New Zealand

Suite 7B, Zenith Resid 1

8294 i

Road, Pous Point,

Sydney 2011, Australia

7900 East Union Avenuc, Suite Hocel ownership

500, Denvet, Colorado, 80237

Victoria House, Vicoria Road, Hotel owner and operator

Horley, Surtey RH6 7AF

Vicuoria House, Vicrocia Rowd, Hace owner and operamne

Hodley, Surrey RHE 7AF

Victorie House, Victocia Road, Finanoe company

Houley, Surrcy RHE 7AF

Vicoria House, Victoria Roed, Investment holding

Hotley, Surrey REHS 7AF

Victoria House, Victoria Road, Investment company

Hotkey, Surrey RH6 7AF

Victoria House, Vicroria Road, Tovescment holding

Hocley, Sutrcy REG 7AF

7900 Bast Unicn Aventse, Suite Management sctvices

500, Denrver, Colorado, 80237 pany

Vicsoria House, Victoria Road, Halding company

Hosley, Sutrey RH6 7AF

Victoria House, Victoria Road, Provider of reservation

Horley, Sucrey RHS 7AF scrvices o hotel owners
and cpetatars

9 Raffles Place Provision of property fund

#12-01 Republic Plaza managemett scrvices

Singapore 048613

500, Detrver, Calorado, 80237

7900 East Union Avenus, Suite Investment holding

500, Denver, Colorado, 80237

7900 East Union Avenue, Suite Propetty owner

500, Denver, Colorado, 80237

Victaria House, Viceoria Road, Finance company

Haxley, Surzey RHG 7AF

75 White Group Tower 1, Lich Tuvesrment holding and

Floor, Soi Rubts, Sukhuprvit 42 botel management

Raoad, Kwaeng Phrakanang Khee

Klongtocy, Bangkok 10110 Thailand



FELLNAME
M&C Holdings, LLC
M&Cﬂmﬂﬂ‘nﬂ'pnmm Limived

M&C Hotel Interegs, Ine.
M&C Hotel Investments Pre. Lod.

M&C Hotels France Management SARL
M&C Hoxeds France SAS

MXC Hotels Holdings USA Limired
M&C Horeels Japan Pee. Lid.

M8cC Horels Partiership France SNC

MécC Hospitality Holdings (Asia} Limited
M&cC Hospivality Envernational Limited

MacC Management Holdings Limited
M&C REIT Management Limited

MAcC New York (Times Square), LLC

MB&C New York Finance (UK) Limited
MBcC New York (Times Square) EAT ITLLC
M&C Singapore Finance (UK} Limiced
M&C Sponsanship Limired
McCormick Ranch Operaring Parmership L.F:

SHAREHOLDING

PERCENTAGE

130%

100%

100%

100%

100%

1009

10086

1009

100%

100%

100%

100%

100%

100%

10096

100%

100%

100%

100%

10086

100%

100%

100%
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COUNTRY OF
TYPE

Indirect subsidiary  USA
Indircet subsidiary USA
Indicece sabeidi Hoog Kong

Indi beidi UsA

Indirect subsidiary Republic of
Singapore

Indicect subsidiary France

Indirect subsidiary France

Inditect subsidiary Republic of
Singapore

Direct ubeidiary United Kingdom

Tod peidiary Republic of
Singapore

Indirect subsidiary France

Indirece subsidiary Hoog Kong

Indirect subsidiary Hong Kong

Indirect subsidiary Republic of
Singapoce

Indirect subsidiary United Kingdom

Indirect subsidiary UsA

Direct subsidiary United Kingdom

Diircet subsidiary United Kingdom

Indirect subsidiary Uniced Kingdom

Indirect subsidiary UsA

Annual Répor(
& Accounts 2018

INCORPORATION ADDRESS

REGISTERED OFFICE

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES
7900 East Unions Avenue, Suite Property investment
500, Denver, Colorado, 80237
7900 East Union Avenue, Suive Holding company
500, Deaver, Colorado, 80237
2803 Great Eagle Cemtre, Investment holding
23 Harbour Road, Wanchai,
Hong Kong
7900 East Union Avenue, Suite Hotel management
500, Denver, Colocado, 80237 services company
9 Raffles Place Investment holding
#12-01 Ropublic Plaza
Singapore 048519
12 Boulevard H: M. 2 pany
75009 Paris, France
12 Boulevard Haussmann, Hocel owner
75009 Paris, Fance
9 Raffles Place Investment holding
#12-01 Republic Plaxa
Singapore 048519
Victoriz House, Vicroria Road, Investment holding
Hordey, Surrcy RH6 7AF
PO Box 309 Ugland House, Investment holding
Grand Cayman,
KY1-1104 Cayman Islands
9 Raffles Place Lavestment holding
#12-01 Republic Plaza
Singapore (48619
12 Boulevard Hansxmann, Lavestment holding
75009 Paris, France
2803 Great Eagle Cenrre, [nvestment holding
23 Harbour Road, Wanchai,
Hong Kong
2803 Great Eagle: Centre, Investment holding
23 Harbour Road, Wanchai,
Hong Kong
Victoria House, Victoria Road, Lovestment holding
Hoxlcy, Surtey RHE 7AF
9 Raffles Place REIT investment
#12-01 Republic Plaza management services
Singapore 04861%
7900 East Union Avenue, Suite [nvestment holding
500, Denver, Colorado, 80237
Vicraria House, Victoria Road, Finance company
Horley, Surrey RH6E 7AF
7900 East Union Avenue, Suive Hotel owner
500, Denver, Colorado, 80237
Victoria House, Vicwria Road, Finance company
Horley, Surrey RH6 7AF
Victoria House, Victoria Roed, Investment. holding
Horley, Surrey RH6 7AF
Vicwria House, Vicroria Road, Orher sarvice activities
Horley, Surrey RH6 7AF
7900 East Union Avenue, Suite Hore! ownenship

300, Denvet, Colorado, 80237



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED

FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
CONTINUED
SHAREHOLDING COUNTRY OF REGISTERED OFFICE
FULL NAME PERCENTAGE TYPE INCORPORATION ADDRESS
MHM, Inc. 100% Indirect subsidiary USA 7900 East Union Avenue, Suite
500, Denver, Colorado, 80237
Millennium Bostonian, Inc. 100% Indirect subsidiary USA 7900 East Union Avenuoe, Suite
500, Denver, Colorado, 80237
Millennium & Copet (A 100% Direce subsidiary United Kingdom Vicroria House, Victodia Road,
Holdings) Limived Hoeley, Surrey RH6 7AF
Millkeanium & Copthorne (Jerscy Holdings) Limiced 100% Indirect subsidiary United Kingdom ~ Victoria House, Vicroris Road,
Hosley, Surrey RH6 7AF
Millennium & Copthorne Hocel Holdings 100% {ndirect subsidiary Hoog Kong 2803 Grear Eagle Cenme,
(Hong Kong) Limited 23 Harbour Roud, Wanchai,
Hoog Kong
Millennium & Copthome Hovels 100% Indirect subsidiaty Hoag Kong 2803 Great Eagle Cenere,
{Hong Kong) Limited 23 Harbour Road, Wanchai,
Hong Kong
Millennium & Copthome Hootls Limited 76% Indirect subsidiary New Zealand Level 13, 280 Queen Street,
Auckland 1030, New Zealand
Millennium & Copthorne Hotels 100% Indireer subsidisry Peoplt’s Republic #1205, No. 511 Wei Hoi Road,
(Shanghai) Limied of China Shanghai 200041, PR. China
Millennium & Copthome Hotels 76% Indirece subsidiary New Zealand Levwel 13, 280 Queen Street,
New Zealand Limited Auckland 1010, New Zealand
Millensium & Copthorne Hotls Pry, Lod. 76% Indirect subsidiary Austral Suite 7B, Zenith Rexidences,
82-94 Dardinghurst
Road, Pora Point,
Sydney 2011, Awstralia
Mill & Copthorne I ILimiwd 1009 Inad beidiury Republic of 9 RafBles Place
Singapore #1201 Republic Plaza
Singapore 048619
Millenntum & Copthorne Pension Trustee Limired 1009 Direct subsidiary Unired Kingdom Vicoria House, Vicworia Road,
Hoxkcy, Surrcy RH6 7AF
Millenniym 8 Copthorne Share Trustees Limized 1009 Direct subsidiary United Kingdom Victoria House, Vicwosia Road,
Hoxley, Surrey RHG 7AF
Millennium CDG Paris SAS 1009% Indirect subsidiary Frane: 2 Allde du Verger, 95700
Roiasy, France
Milletunium Hote? Holdings EMEA Limised 100% Direct aubsidiary United Kingdom ~ Vicuoria House, Vicoriz Road,
Houley, Surrey RH6 7AF
Millennium Horels & Resorts Services Limived 100% Indirect subsidiary United Kingdom Vicroria House, Victoria Road,
Horley, Surrey RHG 7AF
Millennium Horcls Europe Holdings Limited 100% Direct subsidiary Unined Kingrdom Victoria House, Vicworia Road,
Hodley, Surrey RHE 7AF
Millennium Howels [taly Holdings S.r.l. 100% Indirect mbsidiary Iraly Via Vireorio Veneo, n. 70,
Roma 00187, Italy
Millenniym Horels Limited 100% Indirect subsidinry United Kingdom Victoeia House, Victotia Road.
Hadey, Surrey RH6 7AF
Millennium Hotels Palace Management S.r.l. 100% Indirect minidiary Iraly Via Vittorio Veneto, n. 70,
Roma 00187, Italy
Millennium Hoeels Property S.r.1 100% Indirect subwidisry Traly Via Vitwtio Vencto, n. 70,
Roma 00187, Iraly
Hodley, Surrey RHE 7AF
Millennium Hoeels (West London) 160% Indicect subsidiary United Kingdom Vicroria House, Victoria Road,
Management Limited Hodey, Surrey REG 7AF
Millennium Horels London Limited 100% Direct subsidiary Unired Kingdom Victoria House, Victotia Road,
Hodley, Surrey RH6 7AF
Millennium & Copthome

Hotels plc

Provisian of hoed

Houels and resorts

Pensioh crust acting
on behalf of company
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SHAREHOLDING COUNTRY OF REGISTERED QFFICE
FULL NAME PERCENTAGE TYPE INCORPORATION ADDRESS PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES
Millennium Opera Paris SAS 100% Indirect subsidiary France 12 Boulevard Haussmann, Horel operator
75009 Paris, France
New Unity Holdings Lad 509 Associared underrakings BV1 PO Box 146 Road Town, Lovestment helding
Taetola, Britith Virgin [dands
New York Sign LLC 50% Agsociated undertakings  USA 7900 East Union Avenue, Suite To lease, manage, and
500, Denver, Colorado, 80237 otherwise deal with cettain
ax the Novorel hotel
Newbury [nvestments Pre Led 100% Indirect subsidiary Republic of 9 Raffles Place Investment holding
Singapoce #12-01 Republic Plaza
Singapore 048619
Park Plaza Hovel Corporation 1009 Indirect subsidiary UsA 7900 East Union Avenue, Suite Holding cympany
500, Denver, Colorado, 80237
Prestons Road Limived 17% Indirect Associate New Zealand 167 Main North Road, Service provider
Christchurch 8140, New Zealand
PT Millennium Hotels & Resarts 100% Ind beidiary Ind Jalan Fachrudin 3, Jakarea 10250,  Management services
Indonesia
PT. Millet,niumn Sirih Jakarca Horel 10096 Indirect subsidiary Indonesia Jalan Fachrudin 3, Jakarta 10250, Horel owner
Indoncsia
QINZ (Anzac Avenue) Limited 76% Indirect subsidiary New Zcaland Level 13, 280 Quceen Street, Horel owner
Anckland 1010, New Zealand
QINZ Holdings (New Zealand) Limiced 76% Indirect sbsidiary New Zeakind Level 13, 280 Queen Stzeet, Holding company
Auckland 1010, New Zealand
Quantum Limised 76% Indirect subsidiary New Zeahnd Level 13, 280 Queen Street, Holding company
Auckland 1010, New Zcaland
Regal Grand Holdings Corparation [ 1009 Lndirect subsidiary USA 7900 East Union Avenue, Suite Holding company
500, Denver, Colocado, 80237
Regal Harvest House LP 10086 Indirect subsidiary USA 7900 East Union Avenue, Suite Hotel ownership
500, Denver, Colocado, 80237
Regal Hotel Management Inc. 100% Indirect subsidiary USA 7900 East Union Avenue, Suite Holding company
500, Denver, Colorado, 80237
Republic Hotels & Resorts Limived 100% Ind baidiary Republi 9 Raffles Place Hotel operator and
Singapore #12-01 Republic Plaza invescment holding
Singapore 048619 company
Republic Hovels Suzhou Pre Led 100% Indirect subsidiary Republic of 9 Raffies Place Dormant and in the
Singapore #12-01 Republic Plaza process of sriking off
Singapore 048619
Republic Iconic Hotel Pee. Led. 100% Indirect subsidiary Republic of 9 Raffles Place Hatel opetaor
Singapore #12-01 Republic Plaza
Singapore 048619
RHH Operating LLC 100% Indirect subsidiary UsA 7900 East Union Avenue, Suite~ Hotel owner
500, Denver, Colorado, 80237
RHI Boston Holdings Cerporation 1 100:9% Indirect subsidiary USA 7900 East Union Avenue, Suite Holding company
500, Desrver, Colatada, 30237
RHI Boston Holdings Corporation 11 100% Indirect subsidiary USA 7900 East Union Avenue, Suite Holding company
500, Denver, Colorado, 80237
RHM Aurora LLC 100% Indirect subsidiary USA 7900 East Union Avenue, Suite Horel ownership
500, Denver, Colorado, 30237
RHM Holdings Corpoeration [ 100% Indirect subsidiary USA 7900 East Union Avenue, Suite Holding compaty
500, Denver, Colorads, 80237
RHM Management LLC 100% Indirect subsidiary USA 7900 Easc Union Avenue, Suite Hotel ownership
500, Denver, Colorado, 80237
RHM Rench LLC 100% Lndirect subsidincy USA 7900 East Union Avenus, Suite Horel owner

" Annual Report
& Accounts 2018

$00, Denver, Colorado, 80237



FULL\AME )
RH.MWynﬁdduC
RHM-88,LLC
Richfield Holdings Corporation T
Richficld Holdings Corporasion IT
Richfield Holdings, Inc

Rogo Investrncnts Poe, Lad.

Rogo Reakty Corporation

§.5. Resraurant Corporation
St. Louis Operating, Inc.
Sunnyvale Parmners, Led.

Tara Hotels Deutschland GbH

TOSCAP Limited

Trimark Hotd Corpacation
WHB Biltmote LLC
WHB Corporation
Wynfield GP Corpotation
Wynfield One, Lad.
Zarrio Prc Lud

Zillion Eoldings Limited

1 CDL Hospitality Trusts is & sapled group
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
CONTINUED

SHAREHOLDING

COUNTRY OF

ADDRESS

__ PERCENTAGE _ TYPE _ INCORPORATION
100% Indirect sabeidiary USA
100% Indirces subeidiary USA
100% Inclirect subsidiary USA
100% Indirect subeidiary USA
100% Indirect subsidiary Usa
1009 Indirect subeidiary Republsc of Singap
24% Asvociated undereakings  Philippines
100% Indirect subidiary UsA
100% Indirect subsidiary USA
10096 Indirect subsidiary UsA
100% Indirecz subsidiary Germany
50% Ind peidiary Beromd
104% Republic of

Singapore
100% Indirect subeidiary USA
100% Indirect subsidiary UsA
100% Indirect subsidiary USA
100% Indirect subeidiary USA
1009% Indirect subsidiary USA
100% Indirect subsidiary Republic of

Singspore
100% Indirect subeidiary Barbad
ing CDL Hospitality Real Estate I

REGISTERED OFFICE

7900 Eagt Union Avenue, Suite
500, Denver, Colorado, 80237
7900 East Union Avenue, Suite
500, Denver, Colorsdo, 80237
7900 East Unidon Avenue, Suite
500, Denver, Colorado, 80237
7900 East Union Avenue, Syire
500, Denver, Colorado, 80237
7900 East Union Avenue, Suite
500, Denves, Colorado, 80237
9 Raffles Place

#12-01 Republic Plaza

7900 East Unioh Avenue, Suite
500, Denve, Calorado, 80237
Registered ac the Trade vegiscer at

__ PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES

Hoeel ownership

Hotel owner and operatoe
Holding company
Holding company

Hotel awnership
Haotel investment holding

the local court of Hannover with the company

Jega! form of Private limired

mmplny(mmbummmﬁ}

500, Denver, Colorado, 80237

7900 East Union Avetise, Suite
500, Deaver, Colorado, 80237
9 Raffles Place

#12-01 Republic Plaza
Singapore 048619

Levestroene bolding

Lrvestment holding

Hotel gwner and operator

Hotel owner and operator

The Phoenix Centre, George Street, Investment holding

Belleville, St. Michael, Barbados

Trust {"H-REIT"), a real estate investment trust, and CDL Hospitalivy Business Teust ("HET"), 2 business

mur.H-RE!Thnmmtwdm&xﬂyﬁmﬂyma&mﬂpﬁn&mmdmwhdnmwhrwmwm

mmﬂbmmmmﬁdmmmmhmmu-mmﬁﬂm
HBT tizay aleo uhdertake otreain hospicality and hospitality-related devel

2 The Group has asesed the damification of its irvesomenty in Firet Sponsor Group Limjvd and New Unicy Holdings Limited in

projects, and §

Litmized, T Mansg

Millennbum & Copt.hom:
Hotels ple

| in Dy b

2013, In addici

mwinh 5 a maser lesee,

the Group has conchuded that under [FRS10, ix has de facto control over CDL Hospitality Trusts,

dance with [FRS10 and conclud

which ray 0ot be suitable for H-REIT. The regiswered office address of M&C REIT
of HBT is 9 Raifles Place #12-01 Republic Pleza Singapore (48619, As disclosed! in Nocz 3

2 chat it does twot have conrrol.



EXEMPTION FROM STATUTORY AUDIT

Listed below are subsidiaries controlled and consolidated by the Group, where the Directors have clected to take the exemption from having an audit

179

of their financial statements for the year ended 31 December 2018. This exemption is taken in accordance with Companies Act s479A.

Archyield Limited (1747079)

CDL Hotels (Chelsea) Limited (2845022)

CDL Hotels (UK.} Limited {2729520)

Copthome Hotel (Birmingham) Limited (1816493)
Copthorne Hotel (Cardiff) Limiced (2411296)
Copthorne Hotel (Effingham Park) Limited (1423861)
Copthorne Hotel (Gatwick) Limited (994968}
Copthorne Hotel (Manchester) Limited (1855800)
Copthornc Hotel (Merry Hill) Construction Limited (2649367)
Copthorne Hotel (Merry Hill} Limited (2590620)
Copthorne Hotel {Plymouth} Limired (3253120)
Copthorne Hotel (Slough) Limited (2300992)
Copthorne (Nominees) Limived (2574042)

Diplomat Hotel Holding Limited (1927463)

Hotel Liverpool Limited (9636541)

Hotel Liverpool Managemeny Limited (9638688)
Lendon Tara Hotel Limited (1005559)

Ma:C Asia Finance (UK) Limited {8391037)

Ma&cC Asia Holdings (UK) Limited (8382946)

M&C (CB} Limited (3846711}

Each company’s registered number is shown in brackets after its name.

M&C (CD) Limited {(3846704)

M8zC Finance (1) Limited (6783896)

M#C Hotels Holdings Limited {4407581)

M&cC Management Holdings Limited (5832248)

M&C New York Finance (UK} Limited (9060415)

M&C NZ Limited (5159722)

M&C Singapore Finance (UK) Limited (8391052)

M&C Singapore Holdings (UK} Limited (8382985)

Millennium & Copthorne (Austrian Holdings) Limited (3757378)
Millennium & Copthome (Jersey Holdings) Limited (5846574)
Millennium & Copthorne Pension Trustee Limited (6662791)
Millennium & Copthorne Share Trustees Limited (3320990)
Millennium Hotel Holdings EMEA Limited {(4592877)
Millennium Hotels Limited (3141048)

Millennium Hotels Europe Holdings Limited (8844747)
Millennium Hotels London Limited {3691885)

Millennium Hotels (West London) Limited (8599282)
Millennium Hotels (West London) Management Limired (8891908)
Millennium Hotels & Resorts Services Limited (4601112}

& Accounts 2018



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
CONTINUED

35. NON-CONTROLLING INTERESTS (“NCI")
The following subsidiaties have material NCL

OWNERSHIP INTERESTS
L B HEL D BY NCI
PRINCIPAL PLACE OF BUSINESS/
.\IA}\.[E i - ) - CUU}TTRY OF !}S}’IQBPORAH()N __Pl}lNC[PAL :":CTIV ITY_ . _1)_1_8 . 20_1?_
Millennium 8 Copthotne Hotels New
Zealand Limited CMCHNZ") New Zealand Hotel investment holding company 24% 24%
CDL Hospitality Trusts ("CDLHT™) Singaporc Real estate investment trust 63% 63%

The following is summarised financial information for MCHNZ and CDLHT, prepared in accordance with local accounting standards. The
information is before inter-company eliminations with other companies in the Group.

MC%SUBGROUR : WWCDLHT SUBCROUP L
2018 2017 1018 2017
NA{\[]E 7 -~ M B S:!\-l iM M
Revenue 114 103 112 115
Proficaftereax _ - . 32 _ % 6 2
Profit artributable oo NCI ) . ) 6 (A . 46
Other comprehensive income 6 37 - 4
Total comprehensive income _ . . B & 61 76
Towal comprehensive income atwbutable wNCT __6 .8 A8
Current assets 107 93 100 106
Non-current asscts 369 344 1,602 1.487
Current liabilities (18) (15) (174) (185)
Non-current Eabilites o . 79 0n W6y (381
Netassets R S o 384 350 _1,066 _ W27
Net assets attributable to NCI 44 39 672 647
Cash inflow from operating activities 15 29 68 78
Cash oudiow from investing activitics a7 19 2} {51
Cash (outflow)/inflow from financing activities @) (10 (40) 81
Net mua{ng(deuuse) maaha.n:l_n_aah eqlginlenrtim_ B 0) 9 26 8
Dividends paid to NCI dursing the year' 2 2 41 38

1 Included in cash flows from fnancing activities.

36. ASSETS HELD FOR SALE

On 22 December 2017, the H-REIT Group had entered into a sale and putchase agreement to sell Mercure Brisbane and Ibis Brisbanc,

Accordingly, thesc investment properties with a total carrying value of A$71m (£41m}) were classified as assets held for sale in the statemenc of
financial position as at 31 December 2017. The sale of the propertics was completed on 11 January 2018 and a gain of £3m was recognised by the

Group (Note 7}.

"Millennium & Copthorne

Hotels plc
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COMPANY STATEMENT
OF FINANCIAL POSITION

As at 31 December 2018

2018 2017

o B B o - - L :OTES M M
Non-current asseus
Property, plant and equipment (E) 2 2
Investments and other financial assets B 1,988 1,970
Deferred tax assee ] i o oz 2

o o 1992 L974
Current assets
Amounts owed by subsidiaty undertakings falling due within one year 41 41
Other receivables 15 6
Cash and cash equivalents I -~ 16 L

72 58

Other current lishilities S @ Qs 93)
Net cutrent liabilities &7 (35)
Other non-current liabilitics H) (505) (540)
Net assets 1,400 1,399
Equity
Called up share capital M 97 97
Share premium 843 843
Retained canings 464 463
Treasury share reserve ~ _ . L
Total equity 1,400 1399

These financial statements were approved by the Board of Directors on 14 February 2019 and were signed on its behalf by:

Kwek Leng Beng
Chairman

Registered No: 3004377

* Annual Report
& Accounts 2018
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COMPANY STATEMENT OF
CHANGES IN EQUITY

For the year ended 31 December 2018

TREASURY
SHARE SHARE SHARE RETAINED TOTAL
CAPITAL PREMIUM RESERVE EARNINGS EQUITY
) ) £M &M oM &M M
Balance at 1 January 2017 97 843 4 421 1,357
Profit - - - &4 64
Other compg.hegm income B - - - 4 4
Total comprehensive income - - - 68 68
Share-based payment transactions (net of tax) - - - N O
Dividends ) ~ i - - - {25) )]
Balance at 31 December 2017 97 843 4 463 1,399
Balance at 1 January 2018 97 843 4) 463 1,399
Profit - - - 17 17
Other comprehensive income N - T - _3 5
Toulmn:ngrehcnsxv:mmmc ) . - - = n n
Dividends o ) ) _ - - - @ - @2n
Balance at 31 December 2018 97 843 @ 464 1,400

The notes on pages 183 to 185 arc an integral part of these Company’s financial statements,

_Mlllennlmn & Copl.hm-r;
Hotels plc
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NOTES TO THE COMPANY
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

A Authorisation of financial statements and statement of compliance with FRS 161

The parcnt company financial statements of Millennium and Copthorne Hotels plc ("the Company”) for the year ended 31 December 2018 were
authorised for issue by the board of Direcrors and signed on its behalf on 14 February 2019. The Company is incorporated and domiciled in
England and Wales. The Company’s ordinary shares are traded on the London Stock Exchange.

These financial statements were prepared in accordance with Financial Reporting Standard 101 Reduced Disclosure Framework {FRS 101). The
financial statements ate p under che historical cost convention.

As permitted by Section 408 of the Companies Act 2006, the income statement of the Company is not presented as part of the financial statements.

The Company’s results are included in the consolidated financial statements of Millennium and Copthorne Hotels plc which are available from the
Group’s website www.millenniumhotels.com.

The accounting policics which follow set out those policies which apply in preparing the financial statements for the year ended 31 December 2018.
The financial statements are prepared in Sterling ansoare rounded to the 1 “Pa::;l?ion except when otherwise indicared.

B Accounting poiicies

The parent company financial statements of Millennium and Copthome Hotels ple have been prepared in accordance with the Companies Act 2006
and Financial R:pomnigundud 101 Reduced Disclosure Framework (*FRS 1017}, which was first applied in 2015 after notifying shareholders of
the proposed change. FRS 101 enables the financial statements of the parent company to be prepared in accordance with EU. IFRS but with
certain disclosure exemptions. The main areas of reduced disclosure are in respect of equity scttled share based payments, financial instruments, the
cash flow statement, and related party transactions with Group companies.

The Company carly adopted FRS 101 amendments before the effective date of 1 January 2016 regarding the presentation of financial statements in
compliance with the [AS 1 format.

The accounting policies adopted for the parent company are otherwise consistent with those used for the Group which are set out on pages 112
wo 122,

C  Dividends

Details of dividends paid and proposed in the current and prior year are given in Note 28 to the consolidated financial statements.

D Profir arenbutable wo members of the parent company
The profit dealt with in the financial statements of the Company is £17m (2017; £64m).

E  Propeny, plant and equipment

CAPITAL

W{RK
SOFTWARE 1N PROGRESS FOTAL
) ) &M &M M
Costar 1 January 2018 2 - 2
Depreciation - B B ) o - B - -
Cost at 31 December 2018 2 - 2

Annual Report
& Accounts 2018



NOTES TO THE COMPANY
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
CONTINUED
F Investments and other financial assets
SHARES IN LOANS TO
SUBSIDIARY SUBSITMARY GROUP SETTLED
UNDERTAKINGS UNDERTAKINGS ARRANGEMENTS TOTAL
o o - B M o 7 &M - B iM - M
Cost and net book value at 1 January 2018 1,895 68 7 1,970
Additions - 8 - 8
Foreign exchange adjustments o o L 7 ) 3 - 10
Cost and net book value at 31 December 2018 1,902 79 7 1,988
There were no provisions made against investmens in subsidiary undertakings. Reductions and additions relate to internal restructuring
transactiohs.
The Company's subsidiary undertakings at 31 December 2018 are listed in Note 34 to the consolidated financial statements.
G Other current liabilities
2018 017
N _ _ _ - - . _EM M
Bank loans and everdrafis 47 64
Bonds payable 79 _
Amounts owed to subsidiary undertakings 28 23
Other payables 4 3
Accruals and deferred income - L ~ S o 1 3
159 93
H  Other non-current liabilities
W8 2017
. . _ . ,7 L . iM M
Bank loans 83 45
Bonds payable 79 149
Amounts owed to subsidiaty undertakings 335 335
Necemployes defined beaelic liabilictes . ; 8 L
505 540
Other non-current liabilides are repayable as follows:-
2018 2017
L ,7 R e S M &M
Between one and two years 66 321
Between cwo and five years L L o . 439 219
505 540

Millenniium & Copthorne
Hotels ple



I Share capital
Details of the Compmy s share capital are given in Note 29 to the consolidated financial statements.

] Relaced parties
For the year ended 31 December 2018, fees paid/payable by the Company to Hong Leong Management Services, a subsidiary of Hong Leon
Investment Holdings Pte. Ltd. amounted to £1m (2017: £.m.l) Ar31 g-cnocmber 2018, £nil 5 (2017: £nil) of fees payable was outstanding, 8

B Ar;ual l_{eporl

& Accounts 2018



GROUP
FINANCIAL RECORD

For the year ended 31 December 2018

2018 07 2016 2015 2014

_ - _ _ . M M M M M
Income statement
Revenye . . _ o 1008 92 87 826
Operating profic 105 145 107 112 195
Ner finance expense (28) (20) (25} 20 an
Income tax {expense)/credit a» 12 (10) (12) (37)
Profit for the year o o 93 159 98 97 151
Cash flow
Cash gencrazed from operations L A .
s of finandial posith
Properry, plant, equipment and lease premium prepayment 3,256 3,232 3,345 2,858 2,851
Investment propertics 668 577 534 506 479
Investment and loans in joint ventures and associates 358 324 320 255 235
Other financial assess - } 8 - il - 3
Non-current assets 4,325 4,133 4,199 3,619 3,570
Current assets excluding cash 24 228 195 163 182
Net debt (727) (650) 707) (605) (525)
Deferred tax liabilities {172) (188) (220) 210 (221)
Provisions and other liabilities B - _ 287y @79 @y @55y @M
Net assets . . S 3,363 3249 3170 2712 2735
Share capital and share premium 940 940 940 940 940
Resrss _ ~ _ 10 176 L7s 136 L%
Total equity ateributable w equity holders 2,770 2,676 2,668 2276 2,263
Non-controlling interests. _ - . . ® 5B 2 8 4n
"Total equity 3,363 3,249 3,170 2,712 2735
Key operating statistics
Gearing 26% 24% 26% 27% 23%
Earnings pet share 13.1p 38.1p 24.0p 19.9p 34.0p
Dividends per share! 423p 6.50p 7.74p 642p 13.5
Hotzl gross operating profit margin 30.5% 322% 31.6% 34.1% 36.0%
Occupancy 73.3% 73.5% 71.8% 71.8% 74.2%
Avcrage room rate (£) £111.31 £112.68 £106.78 £100.19 £96.49
RevPAR (£) £81.57 £82.78 £76.71 £71.98 £71.55
lr\L‘J . FM Taadl, 1 At d 1. Mw“- Ex} A

"Millennium & Copthome

Hotels plc
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KEY
OPERATING STATISTICS

For the year ended 31 December 2018

YEARENDED YEARENDED YEARENDED
2018 2007 207
REFPORTED CONSTANT REFORTED
OWNED OR LEASEDHOTELS* - CURRENCY  CURRENCY  CURRENCY
Occupancy (%)
New York 863 853
Regional I._J_S _ o o 5?.6 60.0
Toral US - ) S . e 68.3
London 80.1 B83.0
Rest of Europe I ] o 2. 705
Total Europe e o 76 _ . _ 783
Singapore 859 85.6
RestofAsia S S 8 _ 664
Toinl{\:tiai o o o 75.0 o B 7?33
Ausmalasia I o 825 o _ 82
Total Group 733 73.5
Average Room Ratr (£)
New York 191.78 186.77 193.18
Regional US o o _ 10351 981  103.23
Toral US . o B 771470.9767 135.5_7 o __140_._23 )
London 127.22 132.47 132.47
Rest of Europe o e 78.94 76.43 76.16
TotalEEl.mpe; B ) ) B o 10422 _107_._27____ _ 19_7.15
Singapore 97.26 97.01 9791
Reft of Asia o _ S ?5.71 95.64 9693
Total Asia o o _ . _ . %e2 %25 97.57
A}litnlisia L B 89.61 ] ] 84.771 970.017
Total Group 11131 110.22 112.68

Annual Report
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KEY
OPERATING STATISTICS
CONTINUED

YEAR ENDED YEARENDED YEARENDED

2018 2017 2017
REPORTED  CONSTANT  REPORTED

OW NED OR LEASETMHOTELS* ~ _  CURRENCY  CURRENCY  CURRENCY
RevPAR (£)
New York 165.49 159.37 164.84
Rﬁgloml Us B ) B 52{1 5?:84 6190
Total p§ ) ) ) ~ . 9}:52 o ?g.ﬁl B 9579 B
London 101.89 109.98 10998
Rest of Europe } . 56.18 33.85 53.66
Toeal Europe __ _ ] _ - _ 7876  ®45 8235
Singapore 83.56 83.06 83.83
Rest of Asia . _ ~ , 65.17 63.53 64.39
Toral A.fl_z _ ~ 7229 71.09 ) 71_.91
Australasia - _ o ] 73.13 68.76 73.06
Total Group 81.57 80.97 8278
Gross Operating Profit Margin (%)
New York 15.6 15.1
Regional Us - . . _ _ 193 __ 22
ToulUS - N _ _ . 174 180
London 41.0 495
Rest of Europe B _ R _ ns 2
Total Europe _ L ] _ B2 _ %9
Singapore 393 405
Rutiof/m‘a . L - - B N N 34.5 L ~ _34.1__
TotalAsia o L o ~ - . 365 - 369
Australasia L B L o ~ 49.0 491
Toral Group 30.5 322

For compatability, the 31 December 2017 Average Room Rate and RevPAR have been translated at average exchanige rates for the year ended

31 December 2018.

*cududing managed, Franchised and investment botels.

Millennjym & Copﬂ;m:
Hotels plc



HOTELS

.
Fortune Plaza, 7 Dongranhuan Middle Road
Chaoysog Diswricr, Befling 100020 PRC
New World Milleanium Homg Koag Hovel
(Gwned by New Unity Holdings Limioed)
72 Mody Road, Tsimsharsui East
Kowloon, HongKoeg
JW Marriost Hotel Hoag Koag

(Owned by New Uniry Holdings Limited)
Pacific Place, 88 Queensway,

1-5-5, Asakasabashi, Taito-ku,

Tokyo 111-0053, Japan

Hotel MyStays Keinstn

5-46-5, Kamata, Ova-lou,

Tokyo 144-0052,Japan

Copthorne Orchid Hovel Penang

Jalan Tenjurg Buogah, 11200 Penang, Malzysia
Grand Milleanium Knals Lumpar

160 Jaan Bukir Bintang,

55100 Kuala Lumpur, Malzysia

Angsans Velavarn
Sourh Nilandhe Atoll,
Republic of Maldives

The Hritage Hotel Manila
Roxas Boulevard a1 coener of EDSA Pasay Ciy,
Copthorne King’s Hotel Singapoce

403 Hovelock Road, Singapore
Grand Copthorne W Houel Singap

£

M Hotel Singapare
61 Asko R Singeger

189

MAJOR
GROUP PROPERTIES

For the year ended 31 December 2018

APPROXTMATE
SITE AREA NLMRER
TENURE ]9 ;\iE;TREiS) B ij R(N?Mi
Leasehold wo year 2046 (hotel}, 9,268 517
leaschold to year 2056
(underground car park) - o o
75-year werm from 28.11.1984 and may be 2,850 464
renewrable for a furdher 75 years
o 75-year term from 18.04.1985 and may be 10,690 &02
renewable for a further 75 years (Part)
- 7i‘;e;itlghhddundﬂa}hk6uunu;umn 7349 401
(i.e- Righx to Build) and a 40-year lease
wef 14.04.1984 and 22.01.1986 for approximate site area
of 7137 sq. merres and 212 sq, merres, respectively .o - -
Frechold 564 139
- Fmd:;hﬂ 497 116
Freehold 10,329 w7
Freehold 7.670 459
50-pear title commencing from 26, 08.1997 §7.717 113
50-year lease commencing from 15.06.2006 53,576 37
Fee simple 9,888 450
99-year lease commencing from 01.02,1968 5,637 30
75-year lease commencing from 19.07.2006 10,860 574
Freehold 2,134 415

Annual Report
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HﬁOTELSi . B
Novotel Singapeee Clarke Quay
177A River Vllleynald.mi Singapore B
Orchard Hotel Singapare

442 On:hudi Road, Singapore
Scadio M Hoel

3 - - - - . !,,,
Millenninm Seoul Hilton
50 Sowol-ro, Jung-gu,
Seoul, South Kores 100-802
Land Sitz in Seoul
Loefmidat gnug-‘u.iN{mdammm 5Ga6s2-1
Grand Hyser Taiped

2, SongShou Road

Thipe, Taiwan, 11051

* Indudes Claymore Connect
Europe

HOTELS

122 Huatly Screet,
Aberdeen ABI0 15U, Scocland

O 3 77!7 7‘ l m 2 %

Paradise Circus,
Birmingham 83 3H], England
Copthome
Copthorne Way, Culverhouse Cross,
Cardiff CP56DH, Wales
Copthorne Hotel Bffinghass Gatwick
Wesr Park Road,
West Susex REN10 JEU, Faghnd
Copthorne Hotel London Gatwick
‘Way, Copthome, West Sussex
RHI03PG, Eogland
Copthorne Hotel Maach
Clippers Quay, Salford Quays,
Manchester M50 35N, England

Dudley, West Midlands DY5 1UR, Eagland
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MAJOR
GROUP PROPERTIES
CONTINUED

TENURE B o
97 years and 30 days leaschald interest
Wgﬁmb?ﬂjlsm
Frechold

’ 99-year lease commencing from
Frechold

Frochald
7501=Ar;mni.ngﬁun7Much 1950
The Jease agreement is extendable for anocher 30 years,

Millennium & Coplhol:e
Hotels plc

EFFECTIVE
APPROXIMATE GROLP
SITE ARFA NUMBER  INTEREST
(SQ.METRES)  OFROOMS (%)
12925 403 7

8.588" 656 37

2922 360 37

18,787 680 100

1,564 - 100

14,193 850 84
EFFECTIVE

APPROXIMATE GROUP
SITE AREA NUMBER  INTEREST
(SQ METRES)  OF ROOMS (%)
1,302 87 ey

2,188 211 100

26,305 135 100

161,878 122 100

404,694 227 100

9,800 166 100

13,734 138 100
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EFFECTIVE
APPRONIMATE GROUP
SITE AREA NUMRER INTEREST
HOTELS TENURE - S {SQ METRES) OF ROOE\{S {%}
Copthorne Hotd Newcasd Freehold 9,200 156 %
Tl::C'iule.mendc. Newcastk upon Tyne
N'.El 3H.Eudanlf o S o L
Copthorne Hotel Plymouth Leaschold to year 2110 1,853 135 1%
AmadaWay,Plymo\nhP’Ll 1AR, England ) S S o
Cay&uuﬂmﬂwm Frechold 6,880 219 100
Cippenham Lane, Slough, Berkshire
SL1 2YE, England o o
Copthorne Tara Hotel London Keasington Freehold 7535 833 100
Scarsdale Place, Kensingron, London
W8 55Y, England S 7 o ) )
Hard Days Night Hotel Liverpoal Leaschold to year 2129 5275 110 100
Central Buildings North John Street
Liverpol L2 6RR, Enghod o o
Hilton Camsbridge City Centre Hotel 125-year kease commencing, 3,600 198 37
Grand Arcade 20, Downing St, from 25.12.1990 and excendable
Cambndge CB23DT, Bagland fora fuscher 50 years - S
The Lowry Hotel 150-year lease commencing 2,200 165 7
50 Dearmans Place, from 18.03.1997
Salford, Manchester
M3 SLH, United Kingdom o L o
The Bailey's Hotel London Frechold 1,923 212 100
140 Gloucester Road,
Loadon SW7 4QH, Eagland oo ] -
Millenninm Gloucester Hotel London Kensington Frechold 6,348 €10 100
Gardens
London SW7 4LH, England S _ o
Millennicm Hotel Leaschold w year 2109 5,926 61 100
George Square, Glasgow G2 IDS, Senband L
Millenninm Hotel London Knightsheidge Leascheld to year 2091 809 o) 100
17 Sloanc Street, Knightsbridge,
hIxInnSW]X9NU Endlnd B i o o )
Thlllllnﬂl,Mlyﬁil LXR Hotels & Rcsocty Leaschold w year 2096 4,260 308 100
(previously Millennium Hotel London Mayfair}
44 Grosvenor Square, Mayfait,
London W1K 2HFP, England o o B S o o o i B
Milknninm Hotcl Paris Opéra Frechold 1,093 163 100
12 Boulevard Hausamana,
75009 Paris, France o 7 o
Millennium Hotel Patis Charles de Ganlle Freehold 11,657 239 100

Zone Hoteliere, Allée du Verger, 95700
Roissy-en-France, France

 Annual Report
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HOTELS o
Pullman Hotel Musich

Theodor-Dombart-Strasse 4,

Grund Horel Palace Rosse
Vi V% 70, Rome, 00117£uly

e
Vi e Coreans, 8, 50123 Floeoe faly__

North America

HOTELS

The Bostoaian Boston
26 North Screex

At Fancuil Hall Macketplace, Boston
MA 02109, USA

Buffalo, NY 14225, USA

1345 28th Street

Bolf.ld:t,Cp_Bﬂm,USA o
Milllennint Knickerbocker Hovd Chicago
163 East Walton Place, Chicago,

IL 60611, USA
Millepninm Cinclansti

150 West Fifth Street, Cincinnati,
OH 45202, USA
Millaaniam Dacken:
2800 Campus Walk Avenue, Durham,
NC 27705, Ush
Millenninm

Minneapolia
1313 Nicaklet Mall, Minneapolis,
MN 55403, l:’SA
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MAJOR
GROUP PROPERTIES
CONTINUED

TENURE o
Freehold

TENURE
Freehold

APPROXIMATE
SITEAREA  NUMBER
(SO METRES)  OFROOMS
5,169 Py
81 8
2561 158
1350 Iy
APPROXIMATE
SITE AREA NUMBER
(SQ METRES)  OFROOMS
2769 204
14,159 248
11,305 683
31726 300
4019 29
2007 36
6,839 872
2814 26
4,537 521

EFFECTIVE
GROUP
INTEREST
(%)

35

FFFECTIVE
GROUP
INTEREST
8

100

100

100



HOTELS

Millennium Maxwell House Nashville
2025 Rosa L. Parks Boulevard, Nashyille
TN 37228, USA

Millenninm &odwl;Nede Titoes Square
145 West 44th Sereer, New York,
NY 10036, USA

Millenaium Premier New Yock Timmes Square
133 Wear 44ch Streer, New York,
NY 10036.U_51_\ o

Millensinm Hiltan New York ONE UN Plazs
1 UN Plaza, 44¢h Soreet ac 1o Avenue,
New Yok, NY 10017, USA

Millenninm Hoted St Louis (cosed)
200 South 4th Screer, Sc Louis,
MO 63102, USA

The McCormick Scottadale
7421 North Scorrsdale Road,
Scottadale, AZ 85208, USA

Millennipm Hiltos New Yock Dowstown

55 Church Street, New Youk, NY 10007, USA.

Novotel New York Tiimes

ZZGWMSMNWYWE,NYIDOB.U{'\A o
Lakeside Resort

7769 W Itlo Bronson Memarial Highway,

Kissimmee, FL 34747, USA

Novotel Pesthouse

1651-65 Broadway,
New York, NY 10019, USA

Coafore Inn Near Vail Beaver Creck
161 West Beaver Creek Boulevand, Avon.
CO 81620, USA

Pine Lake Trout Clah
17021 Chillicothe Road, Chagrin Falls
OH 44023, USA

193

West tower leaschold w
year 2079

Frechold
Leaschold o year 2035
(with two 10-year options)
Frechold

Fu;mpleemte.llﬂld:ddinm
and a leased fer interest

Frechold

~ Annual Report
& Accounts 2018

APPROXIMATE
SITE AREA NUMRBER
(8Q METRES)  OFROOMS
17,140 287
1,762 626
E 124
4,554 49
17,033 780
32,819 125
1,680 569
1,977 480
93,796 475
307 -
11,209 146
331,074 6

EFFECTIVE
GROUP
INTEREST
(%)

100

100

100
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CONTINUED

Australasia

APPROXAMATE

SITE AREA
]i(Il_'ELS B - TENUREW” B . {80 METRES)
Copthome Hotel & Ap Q Lakevi Frechold/Strata vide 4713
88 Frankron Roed,
Queenscown, New Zealand N - _ - .
Copthame Hotel & Resort Bay of Islaads Leaschold land 1o year 62,834
Tan Henare Drive, Paihia, 2021 (renewal opticn to May 2087)
Newgglknd o o 7 - 7
Copthorne Haoeel 8¢ Resort Quecnstown Laloofrone Freehold 18,708
Corner Adelaide Street & Frankeon Road,
Queenstowm, NewZaaland R : - - .
Copthome Hotel Anckland City Perperual Seaschold land 2,495
150 Anzac Avenye
Aucklund, New Zealand o ] - _ , _
M Social Anckizad Freehold 2407
196-200 Quay Street
W. Nchuhndi - )
Copth Pal Nocth Frechold 15,514
110 Fizherbert Avenue,
Palmerseon Nonh, New Zealand L _ _ . .
Copthoene Hotel Rotorua Ereehold 35,935
Fenton Streer,
Rocorus, New Zcaland o - ) ) o o
Hotel Wellington Oriensal Bay Frechold 3,904
100 Oricntal Parade,
Wdﬁpﬂﬂuluhnd B o o L . o o
This Perth Frochold 1,480
334 Murray Street
mwwiw . ) o - - o
Hoted Dusedin Frechold 2,193
10 Smich Screet,
Dunedin, New Zealand - B} R — o )
Kingegate Hotel Greymoath Frochold/Perpetual 2,807
32 Mawhera Quay, leaschold land
Greymaonith, New Zealand - ‘_, . — o
Kingsgat: Hotel To At Freehold 8319
20 Lakefrom Drive,
Te Anau, New Zealand B - o o . . L
Mercare Parth Strara frechold 757
10 Erwin Street
Perth, Western Auseralia, Ausralia . - ) L o
MMenﬁm & Copthome

Hotels plc

FFFECTIVE
GROUP
NUMBER INTEREST
OFROOMS )
- 85 77;
- 180 -_-_3:7
uo 76
e 7%
l90 o 76 7
124 76
s 7
; 118 o 76"
192-_ T 37
3 76
s
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HOTELS
Millenni

-

Corner Frankron Road & Stanley Street

Queenswwn, New Zealand
Millenniam Hotdl Rotoros
Cocner Eruera & Hinemaru Streets,
Roeorua, New Zealand

MMNGWMW“;M
1 Egmont St, New Plymouch 4310, New Zealand

Novotel Beishane
200 Creek Street
Brisbane, Queensland, Australia
Grand Milleaninm Anckland

71-87 Mayocal Drive, Auckland, New Zealand

INVESTMENT PROPERTIES

PHNE

Tanglin Road, Singapore, within the Orchard Road tourist district.
The Group owns 83 out of 362 strara-titked unics and

325 car park lots.

Millensinm Mitsai Garden Hoeel Tokyo

5-11-1 Ginza, Chuo-Ku,
Tokyo 104-0061

329 bedreom hotel.
Biltnore Court & Tower

Situated at 500/520 South Grand Avenue, Los Angeles, CA 90071,

ising the Court which has 22,133 square metres Class "B*

lettable office space within the Bilimore hotel structure and the
Tower which has 12,116 square metres of Class “A” office space.

Land site in Sunnyvale

TENLURE
Frechold

;
Leaschald land

Frechold

Strata voumetric frechold

Freehold

TENLURE
Frechold

Frechold/

195

Leaschold — 30 yeass from 25 March 2009

Frechald

Frechold

_Annual Report
& Accounts 2018

AFPROXIMATE
SITE AREA
(SQ. METRES)

7453

53910

NUMBER
QF ROOMS

220

APPROXIMATE
LETTABLE
STRATA AREA

__ SQ METRES)

6,029

1,040/130
(site area)

35717

3249

EFFECTIVE

GROUP

INTEREST
N

76

EFFECTIVE
GROUP
INTEREST
(4}

100

70



GROUP PROPERTIES

OWNED BY FIRST SPONSOR GROUP LIMITED, AN

ASSOCIATE OF THE COMPANY:
Zalderhof 1
Tacheh 1121'.1 3. dn:‘ 4 ) Y

Pouctgebouw Property
3rd floor up wo and including the 9th floor of the Poortgebouw
Catharis

Hoog

Catharijne Eeplanase 13,
3SIIWK, Utrecht, the Nethetfands

Expected to comprise two hovels wich 320

booel roocus in weal oo complecion.

Arena Towers

Hoogoorddrecf 56 and 68, A dam, the Netherdand
Comprising 443 booel rooms and 509 car packlowr.
Cruwne Plaza Chengdu Weajlang Hotel 8¢ Holiday Inn Express
Chengdu Wenjiang Hotspeing Hotel

No 619 A/B North Phoenix Street,

Wenjuang Discrict, Chengdu, Sichuen Provinee, the PRC.
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MAJOR

CONTINUED

Millennium S Copﬂme-
Hotels plc

APPROXIMATE
LETTABLE
STRATA AREA
{8Q. METRES)

12,538

11,604

17,396

EFFECTIVE
GROUP
INTEREST
(%}

12
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MILLENNIUM & COPTHORNE
HOTELS WORLDWIDE

ASIA

China

Crownc Plaza Chengdu Wenjiang Hotel & Holiday Inn

Express Chengdu Wenjiang Hotspring Hotel
Grand Millennium Beijing

Grand Millennium Shanghai Honggiao
Millennium Harbourview Hotel Xiamen
Millennium Hotel Chengdu

Millennium Hotel Fuging

Millennium Hotel Wuxi

Millennium Residences @ Beijing Fortune Plaza
Millennium Resort Hangzhou

Hong Kong
JTW Marriott Hotel Hong Kong
New World Millennium Hong Kong Hotel

Indonesia
Millennium Hotel Sirih Jakarta

Japan

Hotel MyStays Asakusabashi

Hotel MyStays Kamata

Millennium Mitsui Garden Hotel Tokyo

Malaysia

Copthorne Hotel Cameron Highlands
Copthorne Orchid Hotel Penang
Grand Millennium Kuala Lumpur

Maldives
Angsana Velavaru
Dhevanafushi Maldives Luxury Resott (not open)

Philippines
The Heritage Hotel Manila

For the year ended 31 December 2018

Singapore

Copthorne King’s Hotel Singapore

Grand Copthorne Waterfront Hotel Singapore
M Hotel Singapore

M Social Singapore

Novotel Singapore Clarke Quay

Orchard Hotel Singapore

Studio M Hotel

South Korea
Millennium Seoul Hilton

Taiwan
Grand Hyatt Taipei
Millennium Hotel Taichung

Thailand
Millennium Resort Patong Phuket

AUSTRALASIA

Australia

Ibis Perth
Mercure Perth
Naovotel Brisbane

New Zealand
Copthorne Hotel Auckland City

Copthorne Hotel & Apartments Queenstown Lakeview

Copthorne Hotel Grand Central New Plymouth
Copthorne Hotel Palmerston North

Copthorne Hotel & Resort Bay of Islands
Copthorne Hotel 8 Resort Hokianga

Copthotne Hotel & Resort Queenstown Lakefront
Copthotne Hotel & Resort Solway Park Wairarapa
Copthome Hotel Rotorua

Copthorne Hotel Wellington Oriental Bay

Grand Millennium Auckland

__Annual iept;rt
& Accounts 2018
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MILLENNIUM & COPTHORNE

HOTELS WORLDWIDE
CONTINUED
Kingsgate Hotel Autolodge Paihia Qatar
Kingsgate Hotel Duncdin Copthotne Hotel Doha
Kingsgate Hotel Greymouth Kingsgate Hotel Doha
Kingsgate Hotel Te Anau Millennium Hotel Doha

Kingsgate Hotcl The Avenue Wanganui
Millennium Hotel New Plymouth, Waterfront
Millennium Hotel Queenstown

Millennium Hotel Rotorua

Millennium Hotel 8¢ Resort Manuels Taupo
M Social Auckland

MIDDLE EAST!

Iraq

Copthome Hotel Baranan

Grand Millennium Hotel Sulaimani
Millennium Kurdistan Hotel and Spa

Jordan
Grand Millennium Amman

Kuwait

Copthorne Al-Jahra Hotel & Resort

Copthorne Kuwait Ciry

Millennium Hotel and Convention Centre Kuwait

Miliennium Plaza Doha

Saudi Arabia

Copthorne Hotel Riyadh

Maldkah Millennium Hotel

Makkah Millennium Towers

M Hotel Makkah by Millennium

M Hotel Makkah Al Aziziyah
Millennium Al Aqeeq Hotel
Millennium Medina Airport
Millennium Hail Hotel Saudi Arabia
Millennium Taiba Hotel

United Arab Emirates

Bab Al Qast Hotel

Copthorne Hotel Dubai

Copthorne Hotel Sharjah

Grand Millennium Al Wahda

Grand Millennjum Business Bay

Grand Millennium Dubai

Kingsgace Hotel Abu Dhabi by Millennium

Oman M Hotel Downtown by Millennium

Grand Millennium Muscat Millennium Airpore Hotel Dubai

Millennium Executive Apartments Muscat Millennium Plaza Hotel Dubai

Millennium Resort Salalah Studio M Arabia Plaza

Millennium Resort Mussanah

Palestine

Millennium Palestine Ramallah

1 Asaresube of the wale of M8C'r joint vennuee interest in the Group's Middle East operating entity, Millennium 8¢ Coped: BMeEutl'hngllmmd(‘MCMEm') to the other sharcholder in
December 2016, properties that were previ LMnmwhhwmmm-mdﬁaﬂdni&dﬁwh > w be managed or franchised by

Mmﬂﬂ,m&mmnﬁmhawpunﬁnmhmumdmmn

Millennitm & Copthorne

Hotels plc




EUROPE

France
Millennium Hotel Paris Charles de Gaulle
Millennium Hotel Paris Opéra

Germany
Pullman Hotel Munich

Georgia
The Biltmore Hotel Thilisi

Italy
Grand Hotel Palace Rome
Hotel Cerretani Florence, Mgallery by Sofitel

Turkey
Millennium Istanbul Golden Horn

UK

Copthorne Hotel Aberdeen

Copthorne Hotel Birmingham

Copthorne Hotel Cardiff-Caerdydd
Copthorne Hotel at Chelsea Football Club
Copthorne Hotel Effingham Garwick
Copthorne Hotel London Garwick
Copthorne Hotel Manchester

Copthorne Hotel Merry Hill-Dudley
Copthorne Hotel Newcastle

Copthorne Hotel Plymouth

Copthorne Hotel Sheffield

Copthorne Hotel Slough-Windsor
Copthorne Tara Hotel London Kensington
Hard Days Night Hotel Liverpool
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Hilton Cambridge City Centre Hotel
Millennium Hotel at Chelsea Football Club
Millennium Gloucester Hotel London Kensington
Millennium Hotel Glasgow

Millennium Hotel London Knightsbridge
Millennium Madejski Hotel Reading

The Bailey's Hotel London

The Biltmore, Mayfair — LXR Hotels & Resorts
{previously Millennium Hotel London Mayfair)
The Chelsea Harbour Hotel

The Lowry Hotel

THE AMERICAS

USA

Comfort Inn Near Vail Beaver Creek
Maingate Lakeside Resort

Millennium Biltmore Los Angeles
Millennium Broadway New York Times Square
Millennium Buffalo

Millennium Cincinnati

Millennium Durham

Millennium Harvest House Boulder
Millennium Hilton New York Downtown
Millennium Hileon New York ONE UN Plaza
Millennium Hotel St Louis {closed)
Millennium Knickerbocker Hotel Chicago
Millennium Maxwell House Nashville
Millennium Minneapolis

Millennium Premier New York Times Square
Novotel New York Times Square

Pine Lake Trout Club

The Bostonian Boston

The Lakefront Anchorage

The McCormick Scottsdale



MILLENNIUM & COPTHORNE

HOTELS WORLDWIDE
CONTINUED
CORPORATE OFFICES North America
Millennium Hotels and Resorts
Asia 7900 East Union Avenue, Suite 500

Millennium & Copthorne International Limited
390 Havelock Road

#02-01 King’s Centre

Singapore 169662

Tel: + [65] 6664 8888

Fax: + [65] 6732 5435

Email: sales@millenniumhotels.com

Australasia

Millennium & Copthorne Hotels New Zcaland Limited
Level 13 280 Queen Street

Auckland 1010

New Zcaland

Tel: + [64] (9) 353 5010

Fax: + [64] (9) 309 3244

Email: sales. marketing@millenniumhotels.co.nz

Middle East

Millennium & Copthorne Middle East & Africa
H Hotel Office Tower (3rd floor)

Sheikh Zayed Road

PO Box 119666

Dubai

United Arab Emirates

Tel: + [971] (4) 309 2000

Fax: + [971] (4) 351 0508
cherry.tangpos@millenniumhotels.com

Europe

Millennium & Copthorne Hotels plc
Corporate Headquarters

Scarsdale Place, Kensington

London, W8 58Y, UK

Tel: + [44] (0) 20 7872 2444

Fax: + [44] (0) 20 7872 2460

Email: marketing.ecu@millenniumhotels.com

Denver, Colorado

80237 United States

Tel: + [1] 303 779 2000

Fax: + [1] 303 779 2001

Email: guestcomment@millenniumhotels.com

GLOBAL SALES

Asia

China, Beijing: + [86] 10 6533 0749
China, Chengdu: + [86] 28 8517 2000
China, Guangzhou: + [852] 29218328
China, Shanghai: + [86] 21 5468 BG99
Hong Kong: + [852] 2921 8328
Singapore: + [65] 6664 8888

Taipei: + [886] (2) 2729 3299

Australasia

Sydney: + [61] (2) 9358 5080
Auckland: + [64] (9} 353 5010
Wellington: + [64] (4) 382 0770

Euarope

France: + [33] (0) 1 4949 1617
Italy: + [39] (0) 6 4201 2198
UK: + [44] (0) 20 7872 2444

North America
New York: +1 212 789 7860

Millenmium & Copthorme

Hotels plc




International reservations

Asia

China North: +108 0065 00558 (toll free)
China South: +108 0026 52531 (toll free)
Hong Kong: +800 96 2541

Indonesia: +001 803 65 6541

Malaysia: +1 800 80 1063

Singapore: +65 6735 7575

Taiwan: +008 01 65 15 05 (toll free)
Thailand: +001 800 65 6544 (toll free)

Australasia
Australia: +1 800 124 420
New Zealand: +0 800 808 228

Middle East

UAE: + [971] (4) 309 9000
(Sunday — Thursday)
8:00am — 5:00pm
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Europe

When in the following countrics, please use this toll free
number:

00 800 86 86 8086

Austria, Belgium, Denmark, Finland (prefix 99¢ instead
00),

Gertnany, Ireland, Italy, The Netherlands, Norway,
Portugal, Spain,

Sweden 8 Switzerland

France: 0800 909 586

UK: 0800 41 47 41 Main reservations

0845 30 20 001 Leisure bookings

0845 30 20 002 Meectings and Events bookings

North America

When in the following countries, please use this toll free
number:

+1 866 866 8086

Canada, Puerto Rico, USA & US Virgin Islands

Annual Report
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SHAREHOLDER
INFORMATION

Analysis of shareholders as ar 31 December 2018

TOTAL PERCENTAGE

NUMBER QF ISSUED
NUMBER PRRCENTAGE  OF SHARES SHARE
NUMBER OF SHAREY o OFHOLDERS OFHOLDERS ~ MELD CAPITAL
1 - 10,000 554 76.63% 675,541 0.21%
10,001 — 25,000 38 5.26% 597,280 0.17%
25,001 - 50,000 35 484% 1,194,398 0.37%
50,001 - 100,000 24 3.32% 1,743,506 0.54%
100,001 — 500,000 42 5.51% 9,121,653 2.81%
500,001 — 1,000,000 7 097% 5,219,971 1.61%
1,000,001 — Highest - 23 3.07% 306239137  9429%
Total 723 100.00% 324,791,486 100.00%
Shareholders can find a wealth of information on the Company at Managing your shares

www.millenniumhotels.com including:

+ regular updates about our business;

+ hotel and other property information;

= the ability to book a room at one of our hotels around the world;
« share price information;

« financial results and investor information; and

* our financial calendar which includcs dividend payment dates and

amounts.

Electronic shareholder communications
Registering for online communication gives shareholders more control
of their sharcholding, The registration process is via our registrar’s

y . wWw. ' -

socure co.uk

Once registered shareholders are able to:

* clect how we communicate with them;

¢ amend their details;

« amend the way dividends are received; and
* buy or sell shares online.

This does not mean sharcholders can no longer receive paper copies of
documents. We are able to offer a range of services and ailor
communication to meet their needs.

Please contact our registrar, Equiniti, to manage your shareholding if
you wish to:

* register for electronic communications;

« transfer your shares;

» change your registered name or address;

* register a lost sharc certificate and obtain a replacement;
+ consolidate your share holdings;

* manage your dividend payments; and

* notify the death of a sharcholder.

You can also manage your sharcholding online by registering for
Shareview at www.shareview.co.uk. When contacting Equiniti or
registering online, you should have your shareholder reference number
at hand. This can be found on your share certificate or latest dividend
tax vouchet.

Contact details for our registrar:

Equiniti, Aspect House, Spencer Road, Lancing, West Sussex
BN99 6DA, United Kingdom

Telephone: 0371 384 2343*
and outside the UK +44 121 415 7047
Textphone: 0371 384 2255*
and outside the UK +44 121 415 7028

* Lines are opeh fiotn 8.30 am 10 5.30 pm, Monday to Friday, UK time.

Millennium & Copthorne
Hotels plc
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ShareGift

It may be that you have a small number of shares which would cost you
more o sell than they are worth. It is possible to donate thesc to
ShareGift, a registered charity, who provide a free service to enable you to
dispose charitably of such shares. More information on this service can be
obtained from www sharegift.org or by calling +44 (0) 207 930 3737.

Be aware of share fraudsters

Sharcholders are cautioned 1o be very wary of any unsolicired advice,
offcrs to buy shares at a discount, sell your shares at a premium or offers
of free reports on the Company.

If you do receive such an approach, you are encouraged to take the
following steps:

* obtain the full name of the person and organisation and make a record
of any other information they give you, for example telephone
number, address or web address;

« if the caller persists, simply hang up; and

* report the matter to the Financial Conduct Authority (“FCA®) so thax
they can investigate,

If you suspect that you have been approached by frandsters please tell
the FCA using the share fraud reporting form at www.fca.org.uk/
scams, where you can find out more about investment scams. You can
also call the FCA Consumer Helpline on 0800 111 6768.

You arc adviscd to deal only with financial scrvices firms that are
authorised by the FCA. Check the firm is properly authorised by the
FCA before getting involved by visiting www.fca.org.uk/register. If you

Contacts and advisers

Registered office

Victoriza House, Victotia Road, Horley, Surrey RHE 7AF,
United Kingdom

Registered in England and Wales No: 3004377

Corporate headquarters
Scarsdale Place, Kensington, London W8 55Y,
United Kingdom

Stockbroker
Credit Suisse International

Auditor
KPMG LLP

Solicitor
Hogan Lovells Intemnational LLP

Principal bankers

Bank of America Merill Lynch

DBS Bank Lid.

Mizuho Bank, Lud.

Oversea-Chinese Banking Corporation Limited
Rayal Bank of Scotland plc

Sumitomo Mitsui Banking Corporation
MUFG Bank, Ld.

The Hongkong and Shanghai Banking Corporation Limited

iy

do deal with an unauthorised firm you will not be eligible to receive g:tii‘i:iﬁ aI.:m.lted
payment undet the Financial Services Compensation Scheme if
anything go¢s wrong,
If you have lost money to investment fraud, you should reporr it to
Action Fraud on 0300 123 2040 or online at www.actionfraud.police.uk.
Find out more at www.fca.org.uld/scamsmart.

Annual Report a
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FINANCIAL
CALENDAR

2018 final dividend record date

First quarter’s results announcement
Annual General Meeting
2018 final dividend payment

Interim results announcement

2019 interim dividend record date

2019 interim dividend payment
Third quarter’s results announcement

15 March 2019
10 May 2019

| 10 May 2;);9

17 May 2019

02 Aug;éow
16 August 2019
27 Sept;x;bcr 2619
01 November 2019

Pleasc refer to the Company’s website for further updates which can be found at hups://investors. millenniumhotels.com/financial/financial-calendar.

h_ﬂillem'lmm & Copthome
Hotels plc



FURTHER INFORMATION

We value feedback and welcome
comments and questions you may
have regarding this publication.

Please email us at:
companysecretaty@millenniumhotels.co.uk

or write to:

The Company Secretary

Millennium 8 Copthorne Hotels plc Scarsdale Place
Kensington

London W8 58Y

United Kingdom
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Paper from
rasponatile SOUTCES

FSC* CO01785

This document is printed on Galerie Satin, a paper
conraining 15% recycled fibre and 85% virgin fibre
sourced from well managed, responsible, FSC® centified
forests. The pulp used in this product is bleached using
an elemental chlorine free (ECF) process.

Managed by: Black&Callow



AVL 9HY
Ad1Ing

A9JIOH

pROY BLIOYIA
9SNOH BLIOIIA
:SSDIPPE PaJo)SIIY

MN°09*S[OIOYWNIUUD[[IUU"A A A

wop3ury] pajun
ASS 8\ UOpUOT]
uoySursudy| |
90®|q d[epsIeds
:sJ911enbpeay ajetodaon)
o1d s10H duroyido)) 3 WNIUUS[[IA



